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200.83. A request for confidential treat-
ment allows the requester an oppor-
tunity to substantiate the need for 
confidentiality. No determination as to 
the validity of any request for con-
fidential treatment will be made until 
a request for disclosure of the informa-
tion under FOIA is received. 

PART 210—FORM AND CONTENT 
OF AND REQUIREMENTS FOR FI-
NANCIAL STATEMENTS, SECURI-
TIES ACT OF 1933, SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, IN-
VESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 
1940, INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT 
OF 1940, AND ENERGY POLICY 
AND CONSERVATION ACT OF 
1975 

APPLICATION OF REGULATION S-X (17 CFR 
PART 210) 

Sec. 
210.1–01 Application of Regulation S-X (17 

CFR part 210). 
210.1–02 Definitions of terms used in Regula-

tion S-X (17 CFR part 210). 

QUALIFICATIONS AND REPORTS OF 
ACCOUNTANTS 

210.2–01 Qualifications of accountants. 
210.2–02 Accountants’ reports and attesta-

tion reports. 
210.2–03 Examination of financial state-

ments by foreign government auditors. 
210.2–04 Examination of financial state-

ments of persons other than the reg-
istrant. 

210.2–05 Examination of financial state-
ments by more than one accountant. 

210.2–06 Retention of audit and review 
records. 

210.2–07 Communication with audit commit-
tees. 

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS AS TO FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

210.3–01 Consolidated balance sheets. 
210.3–02 Consolidated statements of income 

and changes in financial position. 
210.3–03 Instructions to income statement 

requirements. 
210.3–04 Changes in stockholders’ equity and 

noncontrolling interests. 
210.3–05 Financial statements of businesses 

acquired or to be acquired. 
210.3–06 Financial statements covering a pe-

riod of nine to twelve months. 
210.3–07—210.3–08 [Reserved] 
210.3–09 Separate financial statements of 

subsidiaries not consolidated and 50 per-
cent or less owned persons. 

210.3–10 Financial statements of guarantors 
and issuers of guaranteed securities reg-
istered or being registered. 

210.3–11 Financial statements of an inactive 
registrant. 

210.3–12 Age of financial statements at ef-
fective date of registration statement or 
at mailing date of proxy statement. 

210.3–13 Filing of other financial statements 
in certain cases. 

210.3–14 Special instructions for real estate 
operations to be acquired. 

210.3–15 Special provisions as to real estate 
investment trusts. 

210.3–16 Financial statements of affiliates 
whose securities collateralize an issue 
registered or being registered. 

210.3–17 Financial statements of natural 
persons. 

210.3–18 Special provisions as to registered 
management investment companies and 
companies required to be registered as 
management investment companies. 

210.3–19 [Reserved] 
210.3–20 Currency for financial statements 

of foreign private issuers. 

CONSOLIDATED AND COMBINED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

210.3A–01 Application of §§ 210.3A–01 to 
210.3A–05. 

210.3A–02 Consolidated financial statements 
of the registrant and its subsidiaries. 

210.3A–03 Statement as to principles of con-
solidation or combination followed. 

210.3A–04 Intercompany items and trans-
actions. 

RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION 

210.4–01 Form, order, and terminology. 
210.4–02 Items not material. 
210.4–03 Inapplicable captions and omission 

of unrequired or inapplicable financial 
statements. 

210.4–04 Omission of substantially identical 
notes. 

210.4–05—210.4–06 [Reserved] 
210.4–07 Discount on shares. 
210.4–08 General notes to financial state-

ments. 
210.4–09 [Reserved] 
210.4–10 Financial accounting and reporting 

for oil and gas producing activities pur-
suant to the Federal securities laws and 
the Energy Policy and Conservation Act 
of 1975. 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL COMPANIES 

210.5–01 Application of §§ 210.5–01 to 210.5–04. 
210.5–02 Balance sheets. 
210.5–03 Income statements. 
210.5–04 What schedules are to be filed. 

REGISTERED INVESTMENT COMPANIES AND 
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT COMPANIES 

210.6–01 Application of §§ 210.6–01 to 210.6–10. 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 07:58 Jul 25, 2017 Jkt 241059 PO 00000 Frm 00251 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\241059.XXX 241059js
ta

llw
or

th
 o

n 
LA

P
40

67
W

D
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 C

F
R



242 

17 CFR Ch. II (4–1–17 Edition) Pt. 210 

210.6–02 Definition of certain terms. 
210.6–03 Special rules of general application 

to registered investment companies and 
business development companies. 

210.6–04 Balance sheets. 
210.6–05 Statements of net assets. 
210.6–06 Special provisions applicable to the 

balance sheets of issuers of face-amount 
certificates. 

210.6–07 Statements of operations. 
210.6–08 Special provisions applicable to the 

statements of operations of issuers of 
face-amount certificates. 

210.6–09 Statements of changes in net as-
sets. 

210.6–10 What schedules are to be filed. 

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE, SAVINGS AND 
SIMILAR PLANS 

210.6A–01 Application of §§ 210.6A–01 to 
210.6A–05. 

210.6A–02 Special rules applicable to em-
ployee stock purchase, savings and simi-
lar plans. 

210.6A–03 Statements of financial condition. 
210.6A–04 Statements of income and 

changes in plan equity. 
210.6A–05 What schedules are to be filed. 

INSURANCE COMPANIES 

210.7–01 Application of §§ 210.7–01 to 210.7–05. 
210.7–02 General requirement. 
210.7–03 Balance sheets. 
210.7–04 Income statements. 
210.7–05 What schedules are to be filed. 

ARTICLE 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
SMALLER REPORTING COMPANIES 

210.8–01 Preliminary Notes to Article 8. 
210.8–02 Annual financial statements. 
210.8–03 Interim financial statements. 
210.8–04 Financial statements of businesses 

acquired or to be acquired. 
210.8–05 Pro forma financial information. 
210.8–06 Real estate operations acquired or 

to be acquired. 
210.8–07 Limited partnerships. 
210.8–08 Age of financial statements. 

BANK HOLDING COMPANIES 

210.9–01 Application of §§ 210.9–01 to 210.9–07. 
210.9–02 General requirement. 
210.9–03 Balance sheets. 
210.9–04 Income statements. 
210.9–05 Foreign activities. 
210.9–06 Condensed financial information of 

registrant. 
210.9–07 [Reserved] 

INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

210.10–01 Interim financial statements. 

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

210.11–01 Presentation requirements. 
210.11–02 Preparation requirements. 

210.11–03 Presentation of financial forecast. 

FORM AND CONTENT OF SCHEDULES 

GENERAL 

210.12–01 Application of §§ 210.12–01 to 210.12– 
29. 

210.12–02—210.12–03 [Reserved] 
210.12–04 Condensed financial information of 

registrant. 
210.12–05—210.12–08 [Reserved] 
210.12–09 Valuation and qualifying accounts. 
210.12–10—210.12–11 [Reserved] 

FOR MANAGEMENT INVESTMENT COMPANIES 

210.12–12 Investments in securities of unaf-
filiated issuers. 

210.12–12A Investments—securities sold 
short. 

210.12–12B Summary schedule of invest-
ments in securities of unaffiliated 
issuers. 

210.12–12C [Reserved] 
210.12–13 Open option contracts written. 
210.12–13A Open futures contracts. 
210.12–13B Open forward foreign currency 

contracts. 
210.12–13C Open swap contracts. 
210.12–13D Investments other than those 

presented in §§ 210.12–12, 12–12A, 12–12B, 
12–13, 12–13A, 12–13B, and 12–13C. 

210.12–14 Investments in and advances to af-
filiates. 

210.12–15 Summary of investments—other 
than investments in related parties. 

210.12–16 Supplementary insurance informa-
tion. 

210.12–17 Reinsurance. 
210.12–18 Supplemental information (for 

property-casualty insurance under-
writers). 

FOR FACE AMOUNT CERTIFICATE INVESTMENT 
COMPANIES 

210.12–21 Investments in securities of unaf-
filiated issuers. 

210.12–22 Investments in and advances to af-
filiates and income thereon. 

210.12–23 Mortgage loans on real estate and 
interest earned on mortgages. 

210.12–24 Real estate owned and rental in-
come. 

210.12–25 Supplementary profit and loss in-
formation. 

210.12–26 Certificate reserves. 
210.12–27 Qualified assets on deposit. 

FOR CERTAIN REAL ESTATE COMPANIES 

210.12–28 Real estate and accumulated de-
preciation. 

210.12–29 Mortgage loans on real estate. 

AUTHORITY: 15 U.S.C. 77f, 77g, 77h, 77j, 77s, 
77z–2, 77z–3, 77aa(25), 77aa(26), 77nn(25), 
77nn(26), 78c, 78j–1, 78l, 78m, 78n, 78o(d), 78q, 
78u–5, 78w, 78ll, 78mm, 80a–8, 80a–20, 80a–29, 
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80a–30, 80a–31, 80a–37(a), 80b–3, 80b–11, 7202 
and 7262, unless otherwise noted. 

ATTENTION ELECTRONIC FILERS 

THIS REGULATION SHOULD BE READ IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH REGULATION S-T 
(PART 232 OF THIS CHAPTER), WHICH 
GOVERNS THE PREPARATION AND SUB-
MISSION OF DOCUMENTS IN ELECTRONIC 
FORMAT. MANY PROVISIONS RELATING 
TO THE PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION 
OF DOCUMENTS IN PAPER FORMAT CON-
TAINED IN THIS REGULATION ARE SU-
PERSEDED BY THE PROVISIONS OF REG-
ULATION S-T FOR DOCUMENTS RE-
QUIRED TO BE FILED IN ELECTRONIC 
FORMAT. 

APPLICATION OF REGULATION S-X (17 
CFR PART 210) 

§ 210.1–01 Application of Regulation S- 
X (17 CFR part 210). 

(a) This part (together with the Fi-
nancial Reporting Releases (part 211 of 
this chapter)) sets forth the form and 
content of and requirements for finan-
cial statements required to be filed as 
a part of: 

(1) Registration statements under the 
Securities Act of 1933 (part 239 of this 
chapter), except as otherwise specifi-
cally provided in the forms which are 
to be used for registration under this 
Act; 

(2) Registration statements under 
section 12 (subpart C of part 249 of this 
chapter), annual or other reports under 
sections 13 and 15(d) (subparts D and E 
of part 249 of this chapter), and proxy 
and information statements under sec-
tion 14 of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 except as otherwise specifically 
provided in the forms which are to be 
used for registration and reporting 
under these sections of this Act; and 

(3) Registration statements and 
shareholder reports under the Invest-
ment Company Act of 1940 (part 274 of 
this chapter), except as otherwise spe-
cifically provided in the forms which 
are to be used for registration under 
this Act. 

(b) The term financial statements as 
used in this part shall be deemed to in-
clude all notes to the statements and 
all related schedules. 

(c) In addition to filings pursuant to 
the Federal securities laws, § 210.4–10 
applies to the preparation of accounts 
by persons engaged, in whole or in 

part, in the production of crude oil or 
natural gas in the United States pursu-
ant to section 503 of the Energy Policy 
and Conservation Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 
6383) (EPCA) and section 1(c) of the En-
ergy Supply and Environmental Co-
ordination Act of 1974 (15 U.S.C. 796), as 
amended by section 505 of EPCA. 

[37 FR 14593, July 21, 1972, as amended at 43 
FR 40712, Sept. 12, 1978; 45 FR 63680, 63687, 
Sept. 25, 1980; 46 FR 36124, July 14, 1981; 50 FR 
25214, June 18, 1985; 76 FR 71875, Nov. 21, 2011] 

§ 210.1–02 Definitions of terms used in 
Regulation S-X (17 CFR part 210). 

Unless the context otherwise re-
quires, terms defined in the general 
rules and regulations or in the instruc-
tions to the applicable form, when used 
in Regulation S-X (this part 210), shall 
have the respective meanings given in 
such instructions or rules. In addition, 
the following terms shall have the 
meanings indicated in this section un-
less the context otherwise requires. 

(a)(1) Accountant’s report. The term 
accountant’s report, when used in regard 
to financial statements, means a docu-
ment in which an independent public or 
certified public accountant indicates 
the scope of the audit (or examination) 
which he has made and sets forth his 
opinion regarding the financial state-
ments taken as a whole, or an asser-
tion to the effect that an overall opin-
ion cannot be expressed. When an over-
all opinion cannot be expressed, the 
reasons therefor shall be stated. 

(2) Attestation report on internal con-
trol over financial reporting. The term 
attestation report on internal control over 
financial reporting means a report in 
which a registered public accounting 
firm expresses an opinion, either un-
qualified or adverse, as to whether the 
registrant maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over 
financial reporting (as defined in 
§ 240.13a–15(f) or § 240.15d–15(f) of this 
chapter), except in the rare cir-
cumstance of a scope limitation that 
cannot be overcome by the registrant 
or the registered public accounting 
firm which would result in the ac-
counting firm disclaiming an opinion. 

(3) Attestation report on assessment of 
compliance with servicing criteria for 
asset-backed securities. The term attesta-
tion report on assessment of compliance 
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with servicing criteria for asset-backed se-
curities means a report in which a reg-
istered public accounting firm, as re-
quired by § 240.13a–18(c) or § 240.15d–18(c) 
of this chapter, expresses an opinion, 
or states that an opinion cannot be ex-
pressed, concerning an asserting par-
ty’s assessment of compliance with 
servicing criteria, as required by 
§ 240.13a–18(b) or § 240.15d–18(b) of this 
chapter, in accordance with standards 
on attestation engagements. When an 
overall opinion cannot be expressed, 
the registered public accounting firm 
must state why it is unable to express 
such an opinion. 

(4) Definitions of terms related to inter-
nal control over financial reporting. 

Material weakness means a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in in-
ternal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in § 240.13a–15(f) or § 240.15d– 
15(f) of this chapter) such that there is 
a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the registrant’s an-
nual or interim financial statements 
will not be prevented or detected on a 
timely basis. 

Significant deficiency means a defi-
ciency, or a combination of defi-
ciencies, in internal control over finan-
cial reporting that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those re-
sponsible for oversight of the reg-
istrant’s financial reporting. 

(b) Affiliate. An affiliate of, or a per-
son affiliated with, a specific person is a 
person that directly, or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, 
controls, or is controlled by, or is 
under common control with, the person 
specified. 

(c) Amount. The term amount, when 
used in regard to securities, means the 
principal amount if relating to evi-
dences of indebtedness, the number of 
shares if relating to shares, and the 
number of units if relating to any 
other kind of security. 

(d) Audit (or examination). The term 
audit (or examination), when used in re-
gard to financial statements, means an 
examination of the financial state-
ments by an independent accountant in 
accordance with generally accepted au-
diting standards, as may be modified or 
supplemented by the Commission, for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion 
thereon. 

(e) Bank holding company. The term 
bank holding company means a person 
which is engaged, either directly or in-
directly, primarily in the business of 
owning securities of one or more banks 
for the purpose, and with the effect, of 
exercising control. 

(f) Certified. The term certified, when 
used in regard to financial statements, 
means examined and reported upon 
with an opinion expressed by an inde-
pendent public or certified public ac-
countant. 

(g) Control. The term control (includ-
ing the terms controlling, controlled by 
and under common control with) means 
the possession, direct or indirect, of 
the power to direct or cause the direc-
tion of the management and policies of 
a person, whether through the owner-
ship of voting shares, by contract, or 
otherwise. 

(h) Development stage company. A 
company shall be considered to be in 
the development stage if it is devoting 
substantially all of its efforts to estab-
lishing a new business and either of the 
following conditions exists: (1) Planned 
principal operations have not com-
menced. (2) Planned principal oper-
ations have commenced, but there has 
been no significant revenue therefrom. 

(i) Equity security. The term equity se-
curity means any stock or similar secu-
rity; or any security convertible, with 
or without consideration, into such a 
security, or carrying any warrant or 
right to subscribe to or purchase such a 
security; or any such warrant or right. 

(j) Fifty-percent-owned person. The 
term 50-percent-owned person, in rela-
tion to a specified person, means a per-
son approximately 50 percent of whose 
outstanding voting shares is owned by 
the specified person either directly, or 
indirectly through one or more inter-
mediaries. 

(k) Fiscal year. The term fiscal year 
means the annual accounting period or, 
if no closing date has been adopted, the 
calendar year ending on December 31. 

(l) Foreign business. A business that is 
majority owned by persons who are not 
citizens or residents of the United 
States and is not organized under the 
laws of the United States or any state 
thereof, and either: 
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(1) More than 50 percent of its assets 
are located outside the United States; 
or 

(2) The majority of its executive offi-
cers and directors are not United 
States citizens or residents. 

(m) Insurance holding company. The 
term insurance holding company means 
a person which is engaged, either di-
rectly or indirectly, primarily in the 
business of owning securities of one or 
more insurance companies for the pur-
pose, and with the effect, of exercising 
control. 

(n) Majority-owned subsidiary. The 
term majority-owned subsidiary means a 
subsidiary more than 50 percent of 
whose outstanding voting shares is 
owned by its parent and/or the parent’s 
other majority-owned subsidiaries. 

(o) Material. The term material, when 
used to qualify a requirement for the 
furnishing of information as to any 
subject, limits the information re-
quired to those matters about which an 
average prudent investor ought reason-
ably to be informed. 

(p) Parent. A parent of a specified per-
son is an affiliate controlling such per-
son directly, or indirectly through one 
or more intermediaries. 

(q) Person. The term person means an 
individual, a corporation, a partner-
ship, an association, a joint-stock com-
pany, a business trust, or an unincor-
porated organization. 

(r) Principal holder of equity securities. 
The term principal holder of equity secu-
rities, used in respect of a registrant or 
other person named in a particular 
statement or report, means a holder of 
record or a known beneficial owner of 
more than 10 percent of any class of eq-
uity securities of the registrant or 
other person, respectively, as of the 
date of the related balance sheet filed. 

(s) Promoter. The term promoter in-
cludes: 

(1) Any person who, acting alone or 
in conjunction with one or more other 
persons, directly or indirectly takes 
initiative in founding and organizing 
the business or enterprise of an issuer; 

(2) Any person who, in connection 
with the founding and organizing of the 
business or enterprise of an issuer, di-
rectly or indirectly receives in consid-
eration of services or property, or both 
services and property, 10 percent or 

more of any class of securities of the 
issuer or 10 percent or more of the pro-
ceeds from the sale of any class of secu-
rities. However, a person who receives 
such securities or proceeds either sole-
ly as underwriting commissions or 
solely in consideration of property 
shall not be deemed a promoter within 
the meaning of this paragraph if such 
person does not otherwise take part in 
founding and organizing the enterprise. 

(t) Registrant. The term registrant 
means the issuer of the securities for 
which an application, a registration 
statement, or a report is filed. 

(u) Related parties. The term related 
parties is used as that term is defined in 
the FASB ASC Master Glossary. 

(v) Share. The term share means a 
share of stock in a corporation or unit 
of interest in an unincorporated per-
son. 

(w) Significant subsidiary. The term 
significant subsidiary means a sub-
sidiary, including its subsidiaries, 
which meets any of the following con-
ditions: 

(1) The registrant’s and its other sub-
sidiaries’ investments in and advances 
to the subsidiary exceed 10 percent of 
the total assets of the registrant and 
its subsidiaries consolidated as of the 
end of the most recently completed fis-
cal year (for a proposed combination 
between entities under common con-
trol, this condition is also met when 
the number of common shares ex-
changed or to be exchanged by the reg-
istrant exceeds 10 percent of its total 
common shares outstanding at the date 
the combination is initiated); or 

(2) The registrant’s and its other sub-
sidiaries’ proportionate share of the 
total assets (after intercompany elimi-
nations) of the subsidiary exceeds 10 
percent of the total assets of the reg-
istrants and its subsidiaries consoli-
dated as of the end of the most re-
cently completed fiscal year; or 

(3) The registrant’s and its other sub-
sidiaries’ equity in the income from 
continuing operations before income 
taxes, extraordinary items and cumu-
lative effect of a change in accounting 
principle of the subsidiary exclusive of 
amounts attributable to any non-
controlling interests exceeds 10 percent 
of such income of the registrant and its 
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subsidiaries consolidated for the most 
recently completed fiscal year. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (w): A registrant that 
files its financial statements in accordance 
with or provides a reconciliation to U.S. 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
shall make the prescribed tests using 
amounts determined under U.S. Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles. A foreign 
private issuer that files its financial state-
ments in accordance with IFRS as issued by 
the IASB shall make the prescribed tests 
using amounts determined under IFRS as 
issued by the IASB. 

COMPUTATIONAL NOTE: For purposes of 
making the prescribed income test the fol-
lowing guidance should be applied: 

1. When a loss exclusive of amounts attrib-
utable to any noncontrolling interests has 
been incurred by either the parent and its 
subsidiaries consolidated or the tested sub-
sidiary, but not both, the equity in the in-
come or loss of the tested subsidiary exclu-
sive of amounts attributable to any non-
controlling interests should be excluded 
from such income of the registrant and its 
subsidiaries consolidated for purposes of the 
computation. 

2. If income of the registrant and its sub-
sidiaries consolidated exclusive of amounts 
attributable to any noncontrolling interests 
for the most recent fiscal year is at least 10 
percent lower than the average of the income 
for the last five fiscal years, such average in-
come should be submitted for purposes of the 
computation. Any loss years should be omit-
ted for purposes of computing average in-
come. 

3. Where the test involves combined enti-
ties, as in the case of determining whether 
summarized financial data should be pre-
sented, entities reporting losses shall not be 
aggregated with entities reporting income. 

(x) Subsidiary. A subsidiary of a speci-
fied person is an affiliate controlled by 
such person directly, or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries. 

(y) Totally held subsidiary. The term 
totally held subsidiary means a sub-
sidiary (1) substantially all of whose 
outstanding equity securities are 
owned by its parent and/or the parent’s 
other totally held subsidiaries, and (2) 
which is not indebted to any person 
other than its parent and/or the par-
ent’s other totally held subsidiaries, in 
an amount which is material in rela-
tion to the particular subsidiary, ex-
cepting indebtedness incurred in the 
ordinary course of business which is 
not overdue and which matures within 
1 year from the date of its creation, 

whether evidenced by securities or not. 
Indebtedness of a subsidiary which is 
secured by its parent by guarantee, 
pledge, assignment, or otherwise is to 
be excluded for purposes of paragraph 
(x)(2) of this section. 

(z) Voting shares. The term voting 
shares means the sum of all rights, 
other than as affected by events of de-
fault, to vote for election of directors 
and/or the sum of all interests in an 
unincorporated person. 

(aa) Wholly owned subsidiary. The 
term wholly owned subsidiary means a 
subsidiary substantially all of whose 
outstanding voting shares are owned 
by its parent and/or the parent’s other 
wholly owned subsidiaries. 

(bb) Summarized financial information. 
(1) Except as provided in paragraph 
(aa)(2), summarized financial information 
referred to in this regulation shall 
mean the presentation of summarized 
information as to the assets, liabilities 
and results of operations of the entity 
for which the information is required. 
Summarized financial information 
shall include the following disclosures: 

(i) Current assets, noncurrent assets, 
current liabilities, noncurrent liabil-
ities, and, when applicable, redeemable 
preferred stocks (see § 210.5–02.27) and 
noncontrolling interests (for special-
ized industries in which classified bal-
ance sheets are normally not pre-
sented, information shall be provided 
as to the nature and amount of the ma-
jority components of assets and liabil-
ities); 

(ii) Net sales or gross revenues, gross 
profit (or, alternatively, costs and ex-
penses applicable to net sales or gross 
revenues), income or loss from con-
tinuing operations before extraor-
dinary items and cumulative effect of a 
change in accounting principle, net in-
come or loss, and net income or loss at-
tributable to the entity (for specialized 
industries, other information may be 
substituted for sales and related costs 
and expenses if necessary for a more 
meaningful presentation); and 

(2) Summarized financial information 
for unconsolidated subsidiaries and 50 
percent or less owned persons referred 
to in and required by § 210.10–01(b) for 
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interim periods shall include the infor-
mation required by paragraph 
(aa)(1)(ii) of this section. 

[37 FR 14593, July 21, 1972] 

EDITORIAL NOTE: For FEDERAL REGISTER ci-
tations affecting § 210.1–02, see the List of 
CFR Sections Affected, which appears in the 
Finding Aids section of the printed volume 
and at www.fdsys.gov. 

QUALIFICATIONS AND REPORTS OF 
ACCOUNTANTS 

SOURCE: Sections 210.2–01 through 210.2–05 
appear at 37 FR 14594, July 21, 1972, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 210.2–01 Qualifications of account-
ants. 

Preliminary Note to § 210.2–01 

1. Section 210.2–01 is designed to ensure 
that auditors are qualified and independent 
of their audit clients both in fact and in ap-
pearance. Accordingly, the rule sets forth re-
strictions on financial, employment, and 
business relationships between an account-
ant and an audit client and restrictions on 
an accountant providing certain non-audit 
services to an audit client. 

2. Section 210.2–01(b) sets forth the general 
standard of auditor independence. Para-
graphs (c)(1) to (c)(5) reflect the application 
of the general standard to particular cir-
cumstances. The rule does not purport to, 
and the Commission could not, consider all 
circumstances that raise independence con-
cerns, and these are subject to the general 
standard in § 210.2–01(b). In considering this 
standard, the Commission looks in the first 
instance to whether a relationship or the 
provision of a service: creates a mutual or 
conflicting interest between the accountant 
and the audit client; places the accountant 
in the position of auditing his or her own 
work; results in the accountant acting as 
management or an employee of the audit cli-
ent; or places the accountant in a position of 
being an advocate for the audit client. 

3. These factors are general guidance only 
and their application may depend on par-
ticular facts and circumstances. For that 
reason, § 210.2–01 provides that, in deter-
mining whether an accountant is inde-
pendent, the Commission will consider all 
relevant facts and circumstances. For the 
same reason, registrants and accountants 
are encouraged to consult with the Commis-
sion’s Office of the Chief Accountant before 
entering into relationships, including rela-
tionships involving the provision of services, 
that are not explicitly described in the rule. 

(a) The Commission will not recog-
nize any person as a certified public ac-

countant who is not duly registered 
and in good standing as such under the 
laws of the place of his residence or 
principal office. The Commission will 
not recognize any person as a public 
accountant who is not in good standing 
and entitled to practice as such under 
the laws of the place of his residence or 
principal office. 

(b) The Commission will not recog-
nize an accountant as independent, 
with respect to an audit client, if the 
accountant is not, or a reasonable in-
vestor with knowledge of all relevant 
facts and circumstances would con-
clude that the accountant is not, capa-
ble of exercising objective and impar-
tial judgment on all issues encom-
passed within the accountant’s engage-
ment. In determining whether an ac-
countant is independent, the Commis-
sion will consider all relevant cir-
cumstances, including all relationships 
between the accountant and the audit 
client, and not just those relating to 
reports filed with the Commission. 

(c) This paragraph sets forth a non- 
exclusive specification of cir-
cumstances inconsistent with para-
graph (b) of this section. 

(1) Financial relationships. An ac-
countant is not independent if, at any 
point during the audit and professional 
engagement period, the accountant has 
a direct financial interest or a material 
indirect financial interest in the ac-
countant’s audit client, such as: 

(i) Investments in audit clients. An ac-
countant is not independent when: 

(A) The accounting firm, any covered 
person in the firm, or any of his or her 
immediate family members, has any 
direct investment in an audit client, 
such as stocks, bonds, notes, options, 
or other securities. The term direct in-
vestment includes an investment in an 
audit client through an intermediary 
if: 

(1) The accounting firm, covered per-
son, or immediate family member, 
alone or together with other persons, 
supervises or participates in the 
intermediary’s investment decisions or 
has control over the intermediary; or 

(2) The intermediary is not a diversi-
fied management investment company, 
as defined by section 5(b)(1) of the In-
vestment Company Act of 1940, 15 
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U.S.C. 80a–5(b)(1), and has an invest-
ment in the audit client that amounts 
to 20% or more of the value of the 
intermediary’s total investments. 

(B) Any partner, principal, share-
holder, or professional employee of the 
accounting firm, any of his or her im-
mediate family members, any close 
family member of a covered person in 
the firm, or any group of the above per-
sons has filed a Schedule 13D or 13G (17 
CFR 240.13d–101 or 240.13d–102) with the 
Commission indicating beneficial own-
ership of more than five percent of an 
audit client’s equity securities or con-
trols an audit client, or a close family 
member of a partner, principal, or 
shareholder of the accounting firm con-
trols an audit client. 

(C) The accounting firm, any covered 
person in the firm, or any of his or her 
immediate family members, serves as 
voting trustee of a trust, or executor of 
an estate, containing the securities of 
an audit client, unless the accounting 
firm, covered person in the firm, or im-
mediate family member has no author-
ity to make investment decisions for 
the trust or estate. 

(D) The accounting firm, any covered 
person in the firm, any of his or her 
immediate family members, or any 
group of the above persons has any ma-
terial indirect investment in an audit 
client. For purposes of this paragraph, 
the term material indirect investment 
does not include ownership by any cov-
ered person in the firm, any of his or 
her immediate family members, or any 
group of the above persons of 5% or less 
of the outstanding shares of a diversi-
fied management investment company, 
as defined by section 5(b)(1) of the In-
vestment Company Act of 1940, 15 
U.S.C. 80a–5(b)(1), that invests in an 
audit client. 

(E) The accounting firm, any covered 
person in the firm, or any of his or her 
immediate family members: 

(1) Has any direct or material indi-
rect investment in an entity where: 

(i) An audit client has an investment 
in that entity that is material to the 
audit client and has the ability to exer-
cise significant influence over that en-
tity; or 

(ii) The entity has an investment in 
an audit client that is material to that 
entity and has the ability to exercise 

significant influence over that audit 
client; 

(2) Has any material investment in 
an entity over which an audit client 
has the ability to exercise significant 
influence; or 

(3) Has the ability to exercise signifi-
cant influence over an entity that has 
the ability to exercise significant influ-
ence over an audit client. 

(ii) Other financial interests in audit 
client. An accountant is not inde-
pendent when the accounting firm, any 
covered person in the firm, or any of 
his or her immediate family members 
has: 

(A) Loans/debtor-creditor relationship. 
Any loan (including any margin loan) 
to or from an audit client, or an audit 
client’s officers, directors, or record or 
beneficial owners of more than ten per-
cent of the audit client’s equity securi-
ties, except for the following loans ob-
tained from a financial institution 
under its normal lending procedures, 
terms, and requirements: 

(1) Automobile loans and leases 
collateralized by the automobile; 

(2) Loans fully collateralized by the 
cash surrender value of an insurance 
policy; 

(3) Loans fully collateralized by cash 
deposits at the same financial institu-
tion; and 

(4) A mortgage loan collateralized by 
the borrower’s primary residence pro-
vided the loan was not obtained while 
the covered person in the firm was a 
covered person. 

(B) Savings and checking accounts. 
Any savings, checking, or similar ac-
count at a bank, savings and loan, or 
similar institution that is an audit cli-
ent, if the account has a balance that 
exceeds the amount insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
or any similar insurer, except that an 
accounting firm account may have an 
uninsured balance provided that the 
likelihood of the bank, savings and 
loan, or similar institution experi-
encing financial difficulties is remote. 

(C) Broker-dealer accounts. Brokerage 
or similar accounts maintained with a 
broker-dealer that is an audit client, if: 

(1) Any such account includes any 
asset other than cash or securities 
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(within the meaning of ‘‘security’’ pro-
vided in the Securities Investor Protec-
tion Act of 1970 (‘‘SIPA’’) (15 U.S.C. 
78aaa et seq.)); 

(2) The value of assets in the ac-
counts exceeds the amount that is sub-
ject to a Securities Investor Protection 
Corporation advance, for those ac-
counts, under Section 9 of SIPA (15 
U.S.C. 78fff-3); or 

(3) With respect to non-U.S. accounts 
not subject to SIPA protection, the 
value of assets in the accounts exceeds 
the amount insured or protected by a 
program similar to SIPA. 

(D) Futures commission merchant ac-
counts. Any futures, commodity, or 
similar account maintained with a fu-
tures commission merchant that is an 
audit client. 

(E) Credit cards. Any aggregate out-
standing credit card balance owed to a 
lender that is an audit client that is 
not reduced to $10,000 or less on a cur-
rent basis taking into consideration 
the payment due date and any avail-
able grace period. 

(F) Insurance products. Any individual 
policy issued by an insurer that is an 
audit client unless: 

(1) The policy was obtained at a time 
when the covered person in the firm 
was not a covered person in the firm; 
and 

(2) The likelihood of the insurer be-
coming insolvent is remote. 

(G) Investment companies. Any finan-
cial interest in an entity that is part of 
an investment company complex that 
includes an audit client. 

(iii) Exceptions. Notwithstanding 
paragraphs (c)(1)(i) and (c)(1)(ii) of this 
section, an accountant will not be 
deemed not independent if: 

(A) Inheritance and gift. Any person 
acquires an unsolicited financial inter-
est, such as through an unsolicited gift 
or inheritance, that would cause an ac-
countant to be not independent under 
paragraph (c)(1)(i) or (c)(1)(ii) of this 
section, and the financial interest is 
disposed of as soon as practicable, but 
no later than 30 days after the person 
has knowledge of and the right to dis-
pose of the financial interest. 

(B) New audit engagement. Any person 
has a financial interest that would 
cause an accountant to be not inde-

pendent under paragraph (c)(1)(i) or 
(c)(1)(ii) of this section, and: 

(1) The accountant did not audit the 
client’s financial statements for the 
immediately preceding fiscal year; and 

(2) The accountant is independent 
under paragraph (c)(1)(i) and (c)(1)(ii) of 
this section before the earlier of: 

(i) Signing an initial engagement let-
ter or other agreement to provide 
audit, review, or attest services to the 
audit client; or 

(ii) Commencing any audit, review, or 
attest procedures (including planning 
the audit of the client’s financial state-
ments). 

(C) Employee compensation and benefit 
plans. An immediate family member of 
a person who is a covered person in the 
firm only by virtue of paragraphs 
(f)(11)(iii) or (f)(11)(iv) of this section 
has a financial interest that would 
cause an accountant to be not inde-
pendent under paragraph (c)(1)(i) or 
(c)(1)(ii) of this section, and the acqui-
sition of the financial interest was an 
unavoidable consequence of participa-
tion in his or her employer’s employee 
compensation or benefits program, pro-
vided that the financial interest, other 
than unexercised employee stock op-
tions, is disposed of as soon as prac-
ticable, but no later than 30 days after 
the person has the right to dispose of 
the financial interest. 

(iv) Audit clients’ financial relation-
ships. An accountant is not inde-
pendent when: 

(A) Investments by the audit client in 
the accounting firm. An audit client has, 
or has agreed to acquire, any direct in-
vestment in the accounting firm, such 
as stocks, bonds, notes, options, or 
other securities, or the audit client’s 
officers or directors are record or bene-
ficial owners of more than 5% of the 
equity securities of the accounting 
firm. 

(B) Underwriting. An accounting firm 
engages an audit client to act as an un-
derwriter, broker-dealer, market- 
maker, promoter, or analyst with re-
spect to securities issued by the ac-
counting firm. 

(2) Employment relationships. An ac-
countant is not independent if, at any 
point during the audit and professional 
engagement period, the accountant has 
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an employment relationship with an 
audit client, such as: 

(i) Employment at audit client of ac-
countant. A current partner, principal, 
shareholder, or professional employee 
of the accounting firm is employed by 
the audit client or serves as a member 
of the board of directors or similar 
management or governing body of the 
audit client. 

(ii) Employment at audit client of cer-
tain relatives of accountant. A close fam-
ily member of a covered person in the 
firm is in an accounting role or finan-
cial reporting oversight role at an 
audit client, or was in such a role dur-
ing any period covered by an audit for 
which the covered person in the firm is 
a covered person. 

(iii) Employment at audit client of 
former employee of accounting firm. (A) A 
former partner, principal, shareholder, 
or professional employee of an ac-
counting firm is in an accounting role 
or financial reporting oversight role at 
an audit client, unless the individual: 

(1) Does not influence the accounting 
firm’s operations or financial policies; 

(2) Has no capital balances in the ac-
counting firm; and 

(3) Has no financial arrangement 
with the accounting firm other than 
one providing for regular payment of a 
fixed dollar amount (which is not de-
pendent on the revenues, profits, or 
earnings of the accounting firm): 

(i) Pursuant to a fully funded retire-
ment plan, rabbi trust, or, in jurisdic-
tions in which a rabbi trust does not 
exist, a similar vehicle; or 

(ii) In the case of a former profes-
sional employee who was not a partner, 
principal, or shareholder of the ac-
counting firm and who has been dis-
associated from the accounting firm 
for more than five years, that is imma-
terial to the former professional em-
ployee; and 

(B) A former partner, principal, 
shareholder, or professional employee 
of an accounting firm is in a financial 
reporting oversight role at an issuer 
(as defined in section 10A(f) of the Se-
curities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 
78j–1(f)), except an issuer that is an in-
vestment company registered under 
section 8 of the Investment Company 
Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a–8), unless the 
individual: 

(1) Employed by the issuer was not a 
member of the audit engagement team 
of the issuer during the one year period 
preceding the date that audit proce-
dures commenced for the fiscal period 
that included the date of initial em-
ployment of the audit engagement 
team member by the issuer; 

(2) For purposes of paragraph 
(c)(2)(iii)(B)(1) of this section, the fol-
lowing individuals are not considered 
to be members of the audit engagement 
team: 

(i) Persons, other than the lead part-
ner and the concurring partner, who 
provided ten or fewer hours of audit, 
review, or attest services during the 
period covered by paragraph 
(c)(2)(iii)(B)(1) of this section; 

(ii) Individuals employed by the 
issuer as a result of a business com-
bination between an issuer that is an 
audit client and the employing entity, 
provided employment was not in con-
templation of the business combination 
and the audit committee of the suc-
cessor issuer is aware of the prior em-
ployment relationship; and 

(iii) Individuals that are employed by 
the issuer due to an emergency or 
other unusual situation provided that 
the audit committee determines that 
the relationship is in the interest of in-
vestors; 

(3) For purposes of paragraph 
(c)(2)(iii)(B)(1) of this section, audit 
procedures are deemed to have com-
menced for a fiscal period the day fol-
lowing the filing of the issuer’s peri-
odic annual report with the Commis-
sion covering the previous fiscal pe-
riod; or 

(C) A former partner, principal, 
shareholder, or professional employee 
of an accounting firm is in a financial 
reporting oversight role with respect to 
an investment company registered 
under section 8 of the Investment Com-
pany Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a–8), if: 

(1) The former partner, principal, 
shareholder, or professional employee 
of an accounting firm is employed in a 
financial reporting oversight role re-
lated to the operations and financial 
reporting of the registered investment 
company at an entity in the invest-
ment company complex, as defined in 
(f)(14) of this section, that includes the 
registered investment company; and 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 07:58 Jul 25, 2017 Jkt 241059 PO 00000 Frm 00260 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\241059.XXX 241059js
ta

llw
or

th
 o

n 
LA

P
40

67
W

D
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 C

F
R



251 

Securities and Exchange Commission § 210.2–01 

(2) The former partner, principal, 
shareholder, or professional employee 
of an accounting firm employed by the 
registered investment company or any 
entity in the investment company 
complex was a member of the audit en-
gagement team of the registered in-
vestment company or any other reg-
istered investment company in the in-
vestment company complex during the 
one year period preceding the date that 
audit procedures commenced that in-
cluded the date of initial employment 
of the audit engagement team member 
by the registered investment company 
or any entity in the investment com-
pany complex. 

(3) For purposes of paragraph 
(c)(2)(iii)(C)(2) of this section, the fol-
lowing individuals are not considered 
to be members of the audit engagement 
team: 

(i) Persons, other than the lead part-
ner and concurring partner, who pro-
vided ten or fewer hours of audit, re-
view or attest services during the pe-
riod covered by paragraph 
(c)(2)(iii)(C)(2) of this section; 

(ii) Individuals employed by the reg-
istered investment company or any en-
tity in the investment company com-
plex as a result of a business combina-
tion between a registered investment 
company or any entity in the invest-
ment company complex that is an 
audit client and the employing entity, 
provided employment was not in con-
templation of the business combination 
and the audit committee of the reg-
istered investment company is aware 
of the prior employment relationship; 
and 

(iii) Individuals that are employed by 
the registered investment company or 
any entity in the investment company 
complex due to an emergency or other 
unusual situation provided that the 
audit committee determines that the 
relationship is in the interest of inves-
tors. 

(4) For purposes of paragraph 
(c)(2)(iii)(C)(2) of this section, audit 
procedures are deemed to have com-
menced the day following the filing of 
the registered investment company’s 
periodic annual report with the Com-
mission. 

(iv) Employment at accounting firm of 
former employee of audit client. A former 

officer, director, or employee of an 
audit client becomes a partner, prin-
cipal, shareholder, or professional em-
ployee of the accounting firm, unless 
the individual does not participate in, 
and is not in a position to influence, 
the audit of the financial statements of 
the audit client covering any period 
during which he or she was employed 
by or associated with that audit client. 

(3) Business relationships. An account-
ant is not independent if, at any point 
during the audit and professional en-
gagement period, the accounting firm 
or any covered person in the firm has 
any direct or material indirect busi-
ness relationship with an audit client, 
or with persons associated with the 
audit client in a decision-making ca-
pacity, such as an audit client’s offi-
cers, directors, or substantial stock-
holders. The relationships described in 
this paragraph do not include a rela-
tionship in which the accounting firm 
or covered person in the firm provides 
professional services to an audit client 
or is a consumer in the ordinary course 
of business. 

(4) Non-audit services. An accountant 
is not independent if, at any point dur-
ing the audit and professional engage-
ment period, the accountant provides 
the following non-audit services to an 
audit client: 

(i) Bookkeeping or other services related 
to the accounting records or financial 
statements of the audit client. Any serv-
ice, unless it is reasonable to conclude 
that the results of these services will 
not be subject to audit procedures dur-
ing an audit of the audit client’s finan-
cial statements, including: 

(A) Maintaining or preparing the 
audit client’s accounting records; 

(B) Preparing the audit client’s fi-
nancial statements that are filed with 
the Commission or that form the basis 
of financial statements filed with the 
Commission; or 

(C) Preparing or originating source 
data underlying the audit client’s fi-
nancial statements. 

(ii) Financial information systems de-
sign and implementation. Any service, 
unless it is reasonable to conclude that 
the results of these services will not be 
subject to audit procedures during an 
audit of the audit client’s financial 
statements, including: 
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(A) Directly or indirectly operating, 
or supervising the operation of, the 
audit client’s information system or 
managing the audit client’s local area 
network; or 

(B) Designing or implementing a 
hardware or software system that ag-
gregates source data underlying the fi-
nancial statements or generates infor-
mation that is significant to the audit 
client’s financial statements or other 
financial information systems taken as 
a whole. 

(iii) Appraisal or valuation services, 
fairness opinions, or contribution-in-kind 
reports. Any appraisal service, valu-
ation service, or any service involving 
a fairness opinion or contribution-in- 
kind report for an audit client, unless 
it is reasonable to conclude that the re-
sults of these services will not be sub-
ject to audit procedures during an 
audit of the audit client’s financial 
statements. 

(iv) Actuarial services. Any actuari-
ally-oriented advisory service involv-
ing the determination of amounts re-
corded in the financial statements and 
related accounts for the audit client 
other than assisting a client in under-
standing the methods, models, assump-
tions, and inputs used in computing an 
amount, unless it is reasonable to con-
clude that the results of these services 
will not be subject to audit procedures 
during an audit of the audit client’s fi-
nancial statements. 

(v) Internal audit outsourcing services. 
Any internal audit service that has 
been outsourced by the audit client 
that relates to the audit client’s inter-
nal accounting controls, financial sys-
tems, or financial statements, for an 
audit client unless it is reasonable to 
conclude that the results of these serv-
ices will not be subject to audit proce-
dures during an audit of the audit cli-
ent’s financial statements. 

(vi) Management functions. Acting, 
temporarily or permanently, as a direc-
tor, officer, or employee of an audit cli-
ent, or performing any decision-mak-
ing, supervisory, or ongoing moni-
toring function for the audit client. 

(vii) Human resources. (A) Searching 
for or seeking out prospective can-
didates for managerial, executive, or 
director positions; 

(B) Engaging in psychological test-
ing, or other formal testing or evalua-
tion programs; 

(C) Undertaking reference checks of 
prospective candidates for an executive 
or director position; 

(D) Acting as a negotiator on the 
audit client’s behalf, such as deter-
mining position, status or title, com-
pensation, fringe benefits, or other con-
ditions of employment; or 

(E) Recommending, or advising the 
audit client to hire, a specific can-
didate for a specific job (except that an 
accounting firm may, upon request by 
the audit client, interview candidates 
and advise the audit client on the can-
didate’s competence for financial ac-
counting, administrative, or control 
positions). 

(viii) Broker-dealer, investment adviser, 
or investment banking services. Acting as 
a broker-dealer (registered or unregis-
tered), promoter, or underwriter, on be-
half of an audit client, making invest-
ment decisions on behalf of the audit 
client or otherwise having discre-
tionary authority over an audit cli-
ent’s investments, executing a trans-
action to buy or sell an audit client’s 
investment, or having custody of assets 
of the audit client, such as taking tem-
porary possession of securities pur-
chased by the audit client. 

(ix) Legal services. Providing any serv-
ice to an audit client that, under cir-
cumstances in which the service is pro-
vided, could be provided only by some-
one licensed, admitted, or otherwise 
qualified to practice law in the juris-
diction in which the service is pro-
vided. 

(x) Expert services unrelated to the 
audit. Providing an expert opinion or 
other expert service for an audit client, 
or an audit client’s legal representa-
tive, for the purpose of advocating an 
audit client’s interests in litigation or 
in a regulatory or administrative pro-
ceeding or investigation. In any litiga-
tion or regulatory or administrative 
proceeding or investigation, an ac-
countant’s independence shall not be 
deemed to be impaired if the account-
ant provides factual accounts, includ-
ing in testimony, of work performed or 
explains the positions taken or conclu-
sions reached during the performance 
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of any service provided by the account-
ant for the audit client. 

(5) Contingent fees. An accountant is 
not independent if, at any point during 
the audit and professional engagement 
period, the accountant provides any 
service or product to an audit client for 
a contingent fee or a commission, or 
receives a contingent fee or commis-
sion from an audit client. 

(6) Partner rotation. (i) Except as pro-
vided in paragraph (c)(6)(ii) of this sec-
tion, an accountant is not independent 
of an audit client when: 

(A) Any audit partner as defined in 
paragraph (f)(7)(ii) of this section per-
forms: 

(1) The services of a lead partner, as 
defined in paragraph (f)(7)(ii)(A) of this 
section, or concurring partner, as de-
fined in paragraph (f)(7)(ii)(B) of this 
section, for more than five consecutive 
years; or 

(2) One or more of the services de-
fined in paragraphs (f)(7)(ii)(C) and (D) 
of this section for more than seven con-
secutive years; 

(B) Any audit partner: 
(1) Within the five consecutive year 

period following the performance of 
services for the maximum period per-
mitted under paragraph (c)(6)(i)(A)(1) 
of this section, performs for that audit 
client the services of a lead partner, as 
defined in paragraph (f)(7)(ii)(A) of this 
section, or concurring partner, as de-
fined in paragraph (f)(7)(ii)(B) of this 
section, or a combination of those serv-
ices, or 

(2) Within the two consecutive year 
period following the performance of 
services for the maximum period per-
mitted under paragraph (c)(6)(i)(A)(2) 
of this section, performs one or more of 
the services defined in paragraph 
(f)(7)(ii) of this section. 

(ii) Any accounting firm with less 
than five audit clients that are issuers 
(as defined in section 10A(f) of the Se-
curities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 
78j–1(f))) and less than ten partners 
shall be exempt from paragraph (c)(6)(i) 
of this section provided the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board 
conducts a review at least once every 
three years of each of the audit client 
engagements that would result in a 
lack of auditor independence under this 
paragraph. 

(iii) For purposes of paragraph 
(c)(6)(i) of this section, an audit client 
that is an investment company reg-
istered under section 8 of the Invest-
ment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 
80a–8), does not include an affiliate of 
the audit client that is an entity in the 
same investment company complex, as 
defined in paragraph (f)(14) of this sec-
tion, except for another registered in-
vestment company in the same invest-
ment company complex. For purposes 
of calculating consecutive years of 
service under paragraph (c)(6)(i) of this 
section with respect to investment 
companies in an investment company 
complex, audits of registered invest-
ment companies with different fiscal 
year-ends that are performed in a con-
tinuous 12-month period count as a sin-
gle consecutive year. 

(7) Audit committee administration of 
the engagement. An accountant is not 
independent of an issuer (as defined in 
section 10A(f) of the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78j–1(f))), 
other than an issuer that is an Asset- 
Backed Issuer as defined in § 229.1101 of 
this chapter, or an investment com-
pany registered under section 8 of the 
Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 
U.S.C. 80a–8), other than a unit invest-
ment trust as defined by section 4(2) of 
the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 
U.S.C. 80a–4(2)), unless: 

(i) In accordance with Section 10A(i) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
(15 U.S.C. 78j–1(i)) either: 

(A) Before the accountant is engaged 
by the issuer or its subsidiaries, or the 
registered investment company or its 
subsidiaries, to render audit or non- 
audit services, the engagement is ap-
proved by the issuer’s or registered in-
vestment company’s audit committee; 
or 

(B) The engagement to render the 
service is entered into pursuant to pre- 
approval policies and procedures estab-
lished by the audit committee of the 
issuer or registered investment com-
pany, provided the policies and proce-
dures are detailed as to the particular 
service and the audit committee is in-
formed of each service and such poli-
cies and procedures do not include del-
egation of the audit committees re-
sponsibilities under the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934 to management; or 
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(C) With respect to the provision of 
services other than audit, review or at-
test services the pre-approval require-
ment is waived if: 

(1) The aggregate amount of all such 
services provided constitutes no more 
than five percent of the total amount 
of revenues paid by the audit client to 
its accountant during the fiscal year in 
which the services are provided; 

(2) Such services were not recognized 
by the issuer or registered investment 
company at the time of the engage-
ment to be non-audit services; and 

(3) Such services are promptly 
brought to the attention of the audit 
committee of the issuer or registered 
investment company and approved 
prior to the completion of the audit by 
the audit committee or by one or more 
members of the audit committee who 
are members of the board of directors 
to whom authority to grant such ap-
provals has been delegated by the audit 
committee. 

(ii) A registered investment com-
pany’s audit committee also must pre- 
approve its accountant’s engagements 
for non-audit services with the reg-
istered investment company’s invest-
ment adviser (not including a sub-ad-
viser whose role is primarily portfolio 
management and is sub-contracted or 
overseen by another investment ad-
viser) and any entity controlling, con-
trolled by, or under common control 
with the investment adviser that pro-
vides ongoing services to the registered 
investment company in accordance 
with paragraph (c)(7)(i) of this section, 
if the engagement relates directly to 
the operations and financial reporting 
of the registered investment company, 
except that with respect to the waiver 
of the pre-approval requirement under 
paragraph (c)(7)(i)(C) of this section, 
the aggregate amount of all services 
provided constitutes no more than five 
percent of the total amount of reve-
nues paid to the registered investment 
company’s accountant by the reg-
istered investment company, its in-
vestment adviser and any entity con-
trolling, controlled by, or under com-
mon control with the investment ad-
viser that provides ongoing services to 
the registered investment company 
during the fiscal year in which the 
services are provided that would have 

to be pre-approved by the registered in-
vestment company’s audit committee 
pursuant to this section. 

(8) Compensation. An accountant is 
not independent of an audit client if, at 
any point during the audit and profes-
sional engagement period, any audit 
partner earns or receives compensation 
based on the audit partner procuring 
engagements with that audit client to 
provide any products or services other 
than audit, review or attest services. 
Any accounting firm with fewer than 
ten partners and fewer than five audit 
clients that are issuers (as defined in 
section 10A(f) of the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78j–1(f))) 
shall be exempt from the requirement 
stated in the previous sentence. 

(d) Quality controls. An accounting 
firm’s independence will not be im-
paired solely because a covered person 
in the firm is not independent of an 
audit client provided: 

(1) The covered person did not know 
of the circumstances giving rise to the 
lack of independence; 

(2) The covered person’s lack of inde-
pendence was corrected as promptly as 
possible under the relevant cir-
cumstances after the covered person or 
accounting firm became aware of it; 
and 

(3) The accounting firm has a quality 
control system in place that provides 
reasonable assurance, taking into ac-
count the size and nature of the ac-
counting firm’s practice, that the ac-
counting firm and its employees do not 
lack independence, and that covers at 
least all employees and associated en-
tities of the accounting firm partici-
pating in the engagement, including 
employees and associated entities lo-
cated outside of the United States. 

(4) For an accounting firm that annu-
ally provides audit, review, or attest 
services to more than 500 companies 
with a class of securities registered 
with the Commission under section 12 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
(15 U.S.C. 78l), a quality control system 
will not provide such reasonable assur-
ance unless it has at least the fol-
lowing features: 

(i) Written independence policies and 
procedures; 

(ii) With respect to partners and 
managerial employees, an automated 
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system to identify their investments in 
securities that might impair the ac-
countant’s independence; 

(iii) With respect to all professionals, 
a system that provides timely informa-
tion about entities from which the ac-
countant is required to maintain inde-
pendence; 

(iv) An annual or on-going firm-wide 
training program about auditor inde-
pendence; 

(v) An annual internal inspection and 
testing program to monitor adherence 
to independence requirements; 

(vi) Notification to all accounting 
firm members, officers, directors, and 
employees of the name and title of the 
member of senior management respon-
sible for compliance with auditor inde-
pendence requirements; 

(vii) Written policies and procedures 
requiring all partners and covered per-
sons to report promptly to the ac-
counting firm when they are engaged 
in employment negotiations with an 
audit client, and requiring the firm to 
remove immediately any such profes-
sional from that audit client’s engage-
ment and to review promptly all work 
the professional performed related to 
that audit client’s engagement; and 

(viii) A disciplinary mechanism to 
ensure compliance with this section. 

(e)(1) Transition and grandfathering. 
Provided the following relationships 
did not impair the accountant’s inde-
pendence under pre-existing require-
ments of the Commission, the Inde-
pendence Standards, Board, or the ac-
counting profession in the United 
States, the existence of the relation-
ship on May 6, 2003 will not be deemed 
to impair an accountant’s independ-
ence: 

(i) Employment relationships that 
commenced at the issuer prior to May 
6, 2003 as described in paragraph 
(c)(2)(iii)(B) of this section. 

(ii) Compensation earned or received, 
as described in paragraph (c)(8) of this 
section during the fiscal year of the ac-
counting firm that includes the effec-
tive date of this section. 

(iii) Until May 6, 2004, the provision 
of services described in paragraph (c)(4) 
of this section provided those services 
are pursuant to contracts in existence 
on May 6, 2003. 

(iv) The provision of services by the 
accountant under contracts in exist-
ence on May 6, 2003 that have not been 
pre-approved by the audit committee 
as described in paragraph (c)(7) of this 
section. 

(v) Until the first day of the issuer’s 
fiscal year beginning after May 6, 2003 
by a ‘‘lead’’ partner and other audit 
partner (other than the ‘‘concurring’’ 
partner) providing services in excess of 
those permitted under paragraph (c)(6) 
of this section. An accountant’s inde-
pendence will not be deemed to be im-
paired until the first day of the issuer’s 
fiscal year beginning after May 6, 2004 
by a ‘‘concurring’’ partner providing 
services in excess of those permitted 
under paragraph (c)(6) of this section. 
For the purposes of calculating periods 
of service under paragraph (c)(6) of this 
section: 

(A) For the ‘‘lead’’ and ‘‘concurring’’ 
partner, the period of service includes 
time served as the ‘‘lead’’ or ‘‘concur-
ring’’ partner prior to May 6, 2003; and 

(B) For audit partners other than the 
‘‘lead’’ partner or ‘‘concurring’’ part-
ner, and for audit partners in foreign 
firms, the period of service does not in-
clude time served on the audit engage-
ment team prior to the first day of 
issuer’s fiscal year beginning on or 
after May 6, 2003. 

(2) Settling financial arrangements with 
former professionals. To the extent not 
required by pre-existing requirements 
of the Commission, the Independence 
Standards Board, or the accounting 
profession in the United States, the re-
quirement in paragraph (c)(2)(iii) of 
this section to settle financial arrange-
ments with former professionals ap-
plies to situations that arise after the 
effective date of this section. 

(f) Definitions of terms. For purposes 
of this section: 

(1) Accountant, as used in paragraphs 
(b) through (e) of this section, means a 
registered public accounting firm, cer-
tified public accountant or public ac-
countant performing services in con-
nection with an engagement for which 
independence is required. References to 
the accountant include any accounting 
firm with which the certified public ac-
countant or public accountant is affili-
ated. 
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(2) Accounting firm means an organi-
zation (whether it is a sole proprietor-
ship, incorporated association, partner-
ship, corporation, limited liability 
company, limited liability partnership, 
or other legal entity) that is engaged 
in the practice of public accounting 
and furnishes reports or other docu-
ments filed with the Commission or 
otherwise prepared under the securities 
laws, and all of the organization’s de-
partments, divisions, parents, subsidi-
aries, and associated entities, including 
those located outside of the United 
States. Accounting firm also includes 
the organization’s pension, retirement, 
investment, or similar plans. 

(3)(i) Accounting role means a role in 
which a person is in a position to or 
does exercise more than minimal influ-
ence over the contents of the account-
ing records or anyone who prepares 
them. 

(ii) Financial reporting oversight role 
means a role in which a person is in a 
position to or does exercise influence 
over the contents of the financial 
statements or anyone who prepares 
them, such as when the person is a 
member of the board of directors or 
similar management or governing 
body, chief executive officer, president, 
chief financial officer, chief operating 
officer, general counsel, chief account-
ing officer, controller, director of in-
ternal audit, director of financial re-
porting, treasurer, or any equivalent 
position. 

(4) Affiliate of the audit client means: 
(i) An entity that has control over 

the audit client, or over which the 
audit client has control, or which is 
under common control with the audit 
client, including the audit client’s par-
ents and subsidiaries; 

(ii) An entity over which the audit 
client has significant influence, unless 
the entity is not material to the audit 
client; 

(iii) An entity that has significant in-
fluence over the audit client, unless 
the audit client is not material to the 
entity; and 

(iv) Each entity in the investment 
company complex when the audit cli-
ent is an entity that is part of an in-
vestment company complex. 

(5) Audit and professional engagement 
period includes both: 

(i) The period covered by any finan-
cial statements being audited or re-
viewed (the ‘‘audit period’’); and 

(ii) The period of the engagement to 
audit or review the audit client’s finan-
cial statements or to prepare a report 
filed with the Commission (the ‘‘pro-
fessional engagement period’’): 

(A) The professional engagement pe-
riod begins when the accountant either 
signs an initial engagement letter (or 
other agreement to review or audit a 
client’s financial statements) or begins 
audit, review, or attest procedures, 
whichever is earlier; and 

(B) The professional engagement pe-
riod ends when the audit client or the 
accountant notifies the Commission 
that the client is no longer that ac-
countant’s audit client. 

(iii) For audits of the financial state-
ments of foreign private issuers, the 
‘‘audit and professional engagement 
period’’ does not include periods ended 
prior to the first day of the last fiscal 
year before the foreign private issuer 
first filed, or was required to file, a reg-
istration statement or report with the 
Commission, provided there has been 
full compliance with home country 
independence standards in all prior pe-
riods covered by any registration state-
ment or report filed with the Commis-
sion. 

(6) Audit client means the entity 
whose financial statements or other in-
formation is being audited, reviewed, 
or attested and any affiliates of the 
audit client, other than, for purposes of 
paragraph (c)(1)(i) of this section, enti-
ties that are affiliates of the audit cli-
ent only by virtue of paragraph 
(f)(4)(ii) or (f)(4)(iii) of this section. 

(7)(i) Audit engagement team means all 
partners, principals, shareholders and 
professional employees participating in 
an audit, review, or attestation engage-
ment of an audit client, including audit 
partners and all persons who consult 
with others on the audit engagement 
team during the audit, review, or attes-
tation engagement regarding technical 
or industry-specific issues, trans-
actions, or events. 

(ii) Audit partner means a partner or 
persons in an equivalent position, 
other than a partner who consults with 
others on the audit engagement team 
during the audit, review, or attestation 
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engagement regarding technical or in-
dustry-specific issues, transactions, or 
events, who is a member of the audit 
engagement team who has responsi-
bility for decision-making on signifi-
cant auditing, accounting, and report-
ing matters that affect the financial 
statements, or who maintains regular 
contact with management and the 
audit committee and includes the fol-
lowing: 

(A) The lead or coordinating audit 
partner having primary responsibility 
for the audit or review (the ‘‘lead part-
ner’’); 

(B) The partner performing a second 
level of review to provide additional as-
surance that the financial statements 
subject to the audit or review are in 
conformity with generally accepted ac-
counting principles and the audit or re-
view and any associated report are in 
accordance with generally accepted au-
diting standards and rules promulgated 
by the Commission or the Public Com-
pany Accounting Oversight Board (the 
‘‘concurring or reviewing partner’’); 

(C) Other audit engagement team 
partners who provide more than ten 
hours of audit, review, or attest serv-
ices in connection with the annual or 
interim consolidated financial state-
ments of the issuer or an investment 
company registered under section 8 of 
the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 
U.S.C. 80a–8); and 

(D) Other audit engagement team 
partners who serve as the ‘‘lead part-
ner’’ in connection with any audit or 
review related to the annual or interim 
financial statements of a subsidiary of 
the issuer whose assets or revenues 
constitute 20% or more of the assets or 
revenues of the issuer’s respective con-
solidated assets or revenues. 

(8) Chain of command means all per-
sons who: 

(i) Supervise or have direct manage-
ment responsibility for the audit, in-
cluding at all successively senior levels 
through the accounting firm’s chief ex-
ecutive; 

(ii) Evaluate the performance or rec-
ommend the compensation of the audit 
engagement partner; or 

(iii) Provide quality control or other 
oversight of the audit. 

(9) Close family members means a per-
son’s spouse, spousal equivalent, par-

ent, dependent, nondependent child, 
and sibling. 

(10) Contingent fee means, except as 
stated in the next sentence, any fee es-
tablished for the sale of a product or 
the performance of any service pursu-
ant to an arrangement in which no fee 
will be charged unless a specified find-
ing or result is attained, or in which 
the amount of the fee is otherwise de-
pendent upon the finding or result of 
such product or service. Solely for the 
purposes of this section, a fee is not a 
‘‘contingent fee’’ if it is fixed by courts 
or other public authorities, or, in tax 
matters, if determined based on the re-
sults of judicial proceedings or the 
findings of governmental agencies. 
Fees may vary depending, for example, 
on the complexity of services rendered. 

(11) Covered persons in the firm means 
the following partners, principals, 
shareholders, and employees of an ac-
counting firm: 

(i) The ‘‘audit engagement team’’; 
(ii) The ‘‘chain of command’’; 
(iii) Any other partner, principal, 

shareholder, or managerial employee of 
the accounting firm who has provided 
ten or more hours of non-audit services 
to the audit client for the period begin-
ning on the date such services are pro-
vided and ending on the date the ac-
counting firm signs the report on the 
financial statements for the fiscal year 
during which those services are pro-
vided, or who expects to provide ten or 
more hours of non-audit services to the 
audit client on a recurring basis; and 

(iv) Any other partner, principal, or 
shareholder from an ‘‘office’’ of the ac-
counting firm in which the lead audit 
engagement partner primarily prac-
tices in connection with the audit. 

(12) Group means two or more persons 
who act together for the purposes of 
acquiring, holding, voting, or disposing 
of securities of a registrant. 

(13) Immediate family members means a 
person’s spouse, spousal equivalent, 
and dependents. 

(14) Investment company complex. (i) 
‘‘Investment company complex’’ in-
cludes: 

(A) An investment company and its 
investment adviser or sponsor; 
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(B) Any entity controlled by or con-
trolling an investment adviser or spon-
sor in paragraph (f)(14)(i)(A) of this sec-
tion, or any entity under common con-
trol with an investment adviser or 
sponsor in paragraph (f)(14)(i)(A) of this 
section if the entity: 

(1) Is an investment adviser or spon-
sor; or 

(2) Is engaged in the business of pro-
viding administrative, custodian, un-
derwriting, or transfer agent services 
to any investment company, invest-
ment adviser, or sponsor; and 

(C) Any investment company or enti-
ty that would be an investment com-
pany but for the exclusions provided by 
section 3(c) of the Investment Company 
Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a–3(c)) that has 
an investment adviser or sponsor in-
cluded in this definition by either para-
graph (f)(14)(i)(A) or (f)(14)(i)(B) of this 
section. 

(ii) An investment adviser, for pur-
poses of this definition, does not in-
clude a sub-adviser whose role is pri-
marily portfolio management and is 
subcontracted with or overseen by an-
other investment adviser. 

(iii) Sponsor, for purposes of this def-
inition, is an entity that establishes a 
unit investment trust. 

(15) Office means a distinct sub-group 
within an accounting firm, whether 
distinguished along geographic or prac-
tice lines. 

(16) Rabbi trust means an irrevocable 
trust whose assets are not accessible to 
the accounting firm until all benefit 
obligations have been met, but are sub-
ject to the claims of creditors in bank-
ruptcy or insolvency. 

(17) Audit committee means a com-
mittee (or equivalent body) as defined 
in section 3(a)(58) of the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(58)). 

[37 FR 14594, July 21, 1972, as amended at 48 
FR 9521, Mar. 7, 1983; 65 FR 76082, Dec. 5, 2000; 
68 FR 6044, Feb. 5, 2003; 70 FR 1593, Jan. 7, 
2005] 

§ 210.2–02 Accountants’ reports and at-
testation reports. 

(a) Technical requirements for account-
ants’ reports. The accountant’s report: 

(1) Shall be dated; 
(2) Shall be signed manually; 
(3) Shall indicate the city and State 

where issued; and 

(4) Shall identify without detailed 
enumeration the financial statements 
covered by the report. 

(b) Representations as to the audit in-
cluded in accountants’ reports. The ac-
countant’s report: 

(1) Shall state whether the audit was 
made in accordance with generally ac-
cepted auditing standards; and 

(2) Shall designate any auditing pro-
cedures deemed necessary by the ac-
countant under the circumstances of 
the particular case, which have been 
omitted, and the reasons for their 
omission. Nothing in this rule shall be 
construed to imply authority for the 
omission of any procedure which inde-
pendent accountants would ordinarily 
employ in the course of an audit made 
for the purpose of expressing the opin-
ions required by paragraph (c) of this 
section. 

(c) Opinions to be expressed in account-
ants’ reports. The accountant’s report 
shall state clearly: 

(1) The opinion of the accountant in 
respect of the financial statements 
covered by the report and the account-
ing principles and practices reflected 
therein; and 

(2) the opinion of the accountant as 
to the consistency of the application of 
the accounting principles, or as to any 
changes in such principles which have 
a material effect on the financial state-
ments. 

(d) Exceptions identified in account-
ants’ reports. Any matters to which the 
accountant takes exception shall be 
clearly identified, the exception there-
to specifically and clearly stated, and, 
to the extent practicable, the effect of 
each such exception on the related fi-
nancial statements given. (See section 
101 of the Codification of Financial Re-
porting Policies.) 

(e) Paragraph (e) of this section ap-
plies only to registrants that are pro-
viding financial statements in a filing 
for a period with respect to which Ar-
thur Andersen LLP or a foreign affil-
iate of Arthur Andersen LLP (‘‘Ander-
sen’’) issued an accountants’ report. 
Notwithstanding any other Commis-
sion rule or regulation, a registrant 
that cannot obtain an accountants’ re-
port that meets the technical require-
ments of paragraph (a) of this section 
after reasonable efforts may include in 
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the document a copy of the latest 
signed and dated accountants’ report 
issued by Andersen for such period in 
satisfaction of that requirement, if 
prominent disclosure that the report is 
a copy of the previously issued Ander-
sen accountants’ report and that the 
report has not been reissued by Ander-
sen is set forth on such copy. 

(f) Attestation report on internal control 
over financial reporting. (1) Every reg-
istered public accounting firm that 
issues or prepares an accountant’s re-
port for a registrant, other than a reg-
istrant that is neither an accelerated 
filer nor a large accelerated filer (as 
defined in § 240.12b–2 of this chapter) or 
an investment company registered 
under section 8 of the Investment Com-
pany Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a–8), that 
is included in an annual report re-
quired by section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 
U.S.C. 78a et seq.) containing an assess-
ment by management of the effective-
ness of the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting must include 
an attestation report on internal con-
trol over financial reporting. 

(2) If an attestation report on inter-
nal control over financial reporting is 
included in an annual report required 
by section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securi-
ties Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78a 
et seq.), it shall clearly state the opin-
ion of the accountant, either unquali-
fied or adverse, as to whether the reg-
istrant maintained, in all material re-
spects, effective internal control over 
financial reporting, except in the rare 
circumstance of a scope limitation 
that cannot be overcome by the reg-
istrant or the registered public ac-
counting firm which would result in 
the accounting firm disclaiming an 
opinion. The attestation report on in-
ternal control over financial reporting 
shall be dated, signed manually, iden-
tify the period covered by the report 
and indicate that the accountant has 
audited the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting. The 
attestation report on internal control 
over financial reporting may be sepa-
rate from the accountant’s report. 

(g) Attestation report on assessment of 
compliance with servicing criteria for 
asset-backed securities. The attestation 
report on assessment of compliance 

with servicing criteria for asset-backed 
securities, as required by § 240.13a–18(c) 
or § 240.15d–18(c) of this chapter, shall 
be dated, signed manually, identify the 
period covered by the report and clear-
ly state the opinion of the registered 
public accounting firm as to whether 
the asserting party’s assessment of 
compliance with the servicing criteria 
is fairly stated in all material respects, 
or must include an opinion to the ef-
fect that an overall opinion cannot be 
expressed. If an overall opinion cannot 
be expressed, explain why. 

[37 FR 14594, July 21, 1972, as amended at 41 
FR 35479, Aug. 23, 1976; 45 FR 63668, Sept. 25, 
1980; 50 FR 25215, June 18, 1985; 67 FR 13533, 
Mar. 22, 2002; 68 FR 36660, June 18, 2003; 70 FR 
1593, Jan. 7, 2005; 72 FR 35321, June 27, 2007; 75 
FR 57387, Sept. 21, 2010] 

§ 210.2–03 Examination of financial 
statements by foreign government 
auditors. 

Notwithstanding any requirements 
as to examination by independent ac-
countants, the financial statements of 
any foreign governmental agency may 
be examined by the regular and cus-
tomary auditing staff of the respective 
government if public financial state-
ments of such governmental agency are 
customarily examined by such auditing 
staff. 

§ 210.2–04 Examination of financial 
statements of persons other than 
the registrant. 

If a registrant is required to file fi-
nancial statements of any other per-
son, such statements need not be exam-
ined if examination of such statements 
would not be required if such person 
were itself a registrant. 

§ 210.2–05 Examination of financial 
statements by more than one ac-
countant. 

If, with respect to the examination of 
the financial statements, part of the 
examination is made by an independent 
accountant other than the principal ac-
countant and the principal accountant 
elects to place reliance on the work of 
the other accountant and makes ref-
erence to that effect in his report, the 
separate report of the other accountant 
shall be filed. However, notwith-
standing the provisions of this section, 
reports of other accountants which 
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may otherwise be required in filings 
need not be presented in annual reports 
to security holders furnished pursuant 
to the proxy and information state-
ment rules under the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934 [§§ 240.14a–3 and 
240.14c–3]. 

[46 FR 40872, Aug. 13, 1981] 

§ 210.2–06 Retention of audit and re-
view records. 

(a) For a period of seven years after 
an accountant concludes an audit or 
review of an issuer’s financial state-
ments to which section 10A(a) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 
U.S.C. 78j-1(a)) applies, or of the finan-
cial statements of any investment 
company registered under section 8 of 
the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 
U.S.C. 80a-8), the accountant shall re-
tain records relevant to the audit or re-
view, including workpapers and other 
documents that form the basis of the 
audit or review, and memoranda, cor-
respondence, communications, other 
documents, and records (including elec-
tronic records), which: 

(1) Are created, sent or received in 
connection with the audit or review, 
and 

(2) Contain conclusions, opinions, 
analyses, or financial data related to 
the audit or review. 

(b) For the purposes of paragraph (a) 
of this section, workpapers means docu-
mentation of auditing or review proce-
dures applied, evidence obtained, and 
conclusions reached by the accountant 
in the audit or review engagement, as 
required by standards established or 
adopted by the Commission or by the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board. 

(c) Memoranda, correspondence, com-
munications, other documents, and 
records (including electronic records) 
described in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion shall be retained whether they 
support the auditor’s final conclusions 
regarding the audit or review, or con-
tain information or data, relating to a 
significant matter, that is inconsistent 
with the auditor’s final conclusions re-
garding that matter or the audit or re-
view. Significance of a matter shall be 
determined based on an objective anal-
ysis of the facts and circumstances. 
Such documents and records include, 

but are not limited to, those docu-
menting a consultation on or resolu-
tion of differences in professional judg-
ment. 

(d) For the purposes of paragraph (a) 
of this section, the term issuer means 
an issuer as defined in section 10A(f) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 
U.S.C. 78j–1(f)). 

[68 FR 4872, Jan. 30, 2003] 

§ 210.2–07 Communication with audit 
committees. 

(a) Each registered public accounting 
firm that performs for an audit client 
that is an issuer (as defined in section 
10A(f) of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78j–1(f))), other than 
an issuer that is an Asset-Backed 
Issuer as defined in § 229.1101 of this 
chapter, or an investment company 
registered under section 8 of the In-
vestment Company Act of 1940 (15 
U.S.C. 80a–8), other than a unit invest-
ment trust as defined by section 4(2) of 
the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 
U.S.C. 80a–4(2)), any audit required 
under the securities laws shall report, 
prior to the filing of such audit report 
with the Commission (or in the case of 
a registered investment company, an-
nually, and if the annual communica-
tion is not within 90 days prior to the 
filing, provide an update, in the 90 day 
period prior to the filing, of any 
changes to the previously reported in-
formation), to the audit committee of 
the issuer or registered investment 
company: 

(1) All critical accounting policies 
and practices to be used; 

(2) All alternative treatments within 
Generally Accepted Accounting Prin-
ciples for policies and practices related 
to material items that have been dis-
cussed with management of the issuer 
or registered investment company, in-
cluding: 

(i) Ramifications of the use of such 
alternative disclosures and treatments; 
and 

(ii) The treatment preferred by the 
registered public accounting firm; 

(3) Other material written commu-
nications between the registered public 
accounting firm and the management 
of the issuer or registered investment 
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company, such as any management let-
ter or schedule of unadjusted dif-
ferences; 

(4) If the audit client is an invest-
ment company, all non-audit services 
provided to any entity in an invest-
ment company complex, as defined in 
§ 210.2–01 (f)(14), that were not pre-ap-
proved by the registered investment 
company’s audit committee pursuant 
to § 210.2–01 (c)(7). 

(b) [Reserved] 

[68 FR 6048, Feb. 5, 2003, as amended at 70 FR 
1593, Jan. 7, 2005] 

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS AS TO FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

SOURCE: Sections 210.3–01 through 210.3–16 
appear at 45 FR 63687, Sept. 25, 1980, unless 
otherwise noted. 

NOTE: These instructions specify the bal-
ance sheets and statements of income and 
cash flows to be included in disclosure docu-
ments prepared in accordance with Regula-
tion S-X. Other portions of Regulation S-X 
govern the examination, form and content of 
such financial statements, including the 
basis of consolidation and the schedules to 
be filed. The financial statements described 
below shall be audited unless otherwise indi-
cated. 

For filings under the Securities Act of 1933, 
attention is directed to § 230.411(b) regarding 
incorporation by reference to financial state-
ments and to section 10(a)(3) of the Act re-
garding information required in the pro-
spectus. 

For filings under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, attention is directed to § 240.12b– 
23 regarding incorporation by reference and 
§ 240.12b–36 regarding use of financial state-
ments filed under other acts. 

[45 FR 63687, Sept. 25, 1980, as amended at 57 
FR 45292, Oct. 1, 1992] 

§ 210.3–01 Consolidated balance sheets. 
(a) There shall be filed, for the reg-

istrant and its subsidiaries consoli-
dated, audited balance sheets as of the 
end of each of the two most recent fis-
cal years. If the registrant has been in 
existence for less than one fiscal year, 
there shall be filed an audited balance 
sheet as of a date within 135 days of the 
date of filing the registration state-
ment. 

(b) If the filing, other than a filing on 
Form 10–K or Form 10, is made within 
45 days after the end of the registrant’s 
fiscal year and audited financial state-
ments for the most recent fiscal year 

are not available, the balance sheets 
may be as of the end of the two pre-
ceding fiscal years and the filing shall 
include an additional balance sheet as 
of an interim date at least as current 
as the end of the registrant’s third fis-
cal quarter of the most recently com-
pleted fiscal year. 

(c) The instruction in paragraph (b) 
of this section is also applicable to fil-
ings, other than on Form 10–K or Form 
10, made after 45 days but within the 
number of days of the end of the reg-
istrant’s fiscal year specified in para-
graph (i) of this section: Provided, that 
the following conditions are met: 

(1) The registrant files annual, quar-
terly and other reports pursuant to 
section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934 and all reports due 
have been filed; 

(2) For the most recent fiscal year for 
which audited financial statements are 
not yet available the registrant reason-
ably and in good faith expects to report 
income attributable to the registrant, 
after taxes but before extraordinary 
items and cumulative effect of a 
change in accounting principle; and 

(3) For at least one of the two fiscal 
years immediately preceding the most 
recent fiscal year the registrant re-
ported income attributable to the reg-
istrant, after taxes but before extraor-
dinary items and cumulative effect of a 
change in accounting principle. 

(d) For filings made after 45 days but 
within the number of days of the end of 
the registrant’s fiscal year specified in 
paragraph (i) of this section where the 
conditions set forth in paragraph (c) of 
this section are not met, the filing 
must include the audited balance 
sheets required by paragraph (a) of this 
section. 

(e) For filings made after the number 
of days specified in paragraph (i)(2) of 
this section, the filing shall also in-
clude a balance sheet as of an interim 
date within the following number of 
days of the date of filing: 

(1) 130 days for large accelerated fil-
ers and accelerated filers (as defined in 
§ 240.12b–2 of this chapter); and 

(2) 135 days for all other registrants. 
(f) Any interim balance sheet pro-

vided in accordance with the require-
ments of this section may be unaudited 
and need not be presented in greater 
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detail than is required by § 210.10–01. 
Notwithstanding the requirements of 
this section, the most recent interim 
balance sheet included in a filing shall 
be at least as current as the most re-
cent balance sheet filed with the Com-
mission on Form 10–Q. 

(g) For filings by registered manage-
ment investment companies, the re-
quirements of § 210.3–18 shall apply in 
lieu of the requirements of this section. 

(h) Any foreign private issuer, other 
than a registered management invest-
ment company or an employee plan, 
may file the financial statements re-
quired by Item 8.A of Form 20–F 
(§ 249.220 of this chapter) in lieu of the 
financial statements specified in this 
rule. 

(i)(1) For purposes of paragraphs (c) 
and (d) of this section, the number of 
days shall be: 

(i) 60 days (75 days for fiscal years 
ending before December 15, 2006) for 
large accelerated filers (as defined in 
§ 240.12b–2 of this chapter); 

(ii) 75 days for accelerated filers (as 
defined in § 240.12b–2 of this chapter); 
and 

(iii) 90 days for all other registrants. 
(2) For purposes of paragraph (e) of 

this section, the number of days shall 
be: 

(i) 129 days subsequent to the end of 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal year 
for large accelerated filers and acceler-
ated filers (as defined in § 240.12b–2 of 
this chapter); and 

(ii) 134 days subsequent to the end of 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal year 
for all other registrants. 

[45 FR 63687, Sept. 25, 1980, as amended at 46 
FR 12491, Feb. 17, 1981; 46 FR 36124, July 14, 
1981; 50 FR 49531, Dec. 3, 1985; 56 FR 30053, 
July 1, 1991; 64 FR 53908, Oct. 5, 1999; 67 FR 
58503, Sept. 16, 2002; 68 FR 17880, Apr. 14, 2003; 
69 FR 68235, Nov. 23, 2004; 70 FR 76640, Dec. 27, 
2005; 73 FR 952, Jan. 4, 2008; 74 FR 18614, Apr. 
23, 2009] 

§ 210.3–02 Consolidated statements of 
income and changes in financial po-
sitions. 

(a) There shall be filed, for the reg-
istrant and its subsidiaries consoli-
dated and for its predecessors, audited 
statements of income and cash flows 
for each of the three fiscal years pre-
ceding the date of the most recent au-
dited balance sheet being filed or such 

shorter period as the registrant (in-
cluding predecessors) has been in exist-
ence. 

(b) In addition, for any interim pe-
riod between the latest audited balance 
sheet and the date of the most recent 
interim balance sheet being filed, and 
for the corresponding period of the pre-
ceding fiscal year, statements of in-
come and cash flows shall be provided. 
Such interim financial statements may 
be unaudited and need not be presented 
in greater detail than is required by 
§ 210.10–01. 

(c) For filings by registered manage-
ment investment companies, the re-
quirements of § 210.3–18 shall apply in 
lieu of the requirements of this section. 

(d) Any foreign private issuer, other 
than a registered management invest-
ment company or an employee plan, 
may file the financial statements re-
quired by Item 8.A of Form 20–F 
(§ 249.220 of this chapter) in lieu of the 
financial statements specified in this 
rule. 

[45 FR 63687, Sept. 25, 1980, as amended at 46 
FR 12491, Feb. 17, 1981; 46 FR 36125, July 14, 
1981; 50 FR 49531, Dec. 3, 1985; 56 FR 30053, 
July 1, 1991; 57 FR 45292, Oct. 1, 1992; 64 FR 
53908, Oct. 5, 1999] 

§ 210.3–03 Instructions to income state-
ment requirements. 

(a) The statements required shall be 
prepared in compliance with the appli-
cable requirements of this regulation. 

(b) If the registrant is engaged pri-
marily (1) in the generation, trans-
mission or distribution of electricity, 
the manufacture, mixing, transmission 
or distribution of gas, the supplying or 
distribution of water, or the furnishing 
of telephone or telegraph service; or (2) 
in holding securities of companies en-
gaged in such businesses, it may at its 
option include statements of income 
and cash flows (which may be 
unaudited) for the twelve-month period 
ending on the date of the most recent 
balance sheet being filed, in lieu of the 
statements of income and cash flows 
for the interim periods specified. 

(c) If a period or periods reported on 
include operations of a business prior 
to the date of acquisition, or for other 
reasons differ from reports previously 
issued for any period, the statements 
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shall be reconciled as to sales or reve-
nues and net income in the statement 
or in a note thereto with the amounts 
previously reported: Provided, however, 
That such reconciliations need not be 
made (1) if they have been made in fil-
ings with the Commission in prior 
years or (2) the financial statements 
which are being retroactively adjusted 
have not previously been filed with the 
Commission or otherwise made public. 

(d) Any unaudited interim financial 
statements furnished shall reflect all 
adjustments which are, in the opinion 
of management, necessary to a fair 
statement of the results for the in-
terim periods presented. A statement 
to that effect shall be included. Such 
adjustments shall include, for example, 
appropriate estimated provisions for 
bonus and profit sharing arrangements 
normally determined or settled at 
year-end. If all such adjustments are of 
a normal recurring nature, a statement 
to that effect shall be made; otherwise, 
there shall be furnished information 
describing in appropriate detail the na-
ture and amount of any adjustments 
other than normal recurring adjust-
ments entering into the determination 
of the results shown. 

(e) Disclosures regarding segments 
required by generally accepted ac-
counting principles shall be provided 
for each year for which an audited 
statement of income is provided. To 
the extent that the segment informa-
tion presented pursuant to this in-
struction complies with the provisions 
of Item 101 of Regulation S-K, the dis-
closures may be combined by cross ref-
erencing to or from the financial state-
ments. 

[45 FR 63687, Sept. 25, 1980. Redesignated at 
47 FR 29836, July 9, 1982, and amended at 50 
FR 25215, June 18, 1985; 50 FR 49532, Dec. 3, 
1985; 57 FR 45292, Oct. 1, 1992; 64 FR 1734, Jan. 
12, 1999] 

§ 210.3–04 Changes in stockholders’ eq-
uity and noncontrolling interests. 

An analysis of the changes in each 
caption of stockholders’ equity and 
noncontrolling interests presented in 
the balance sheets shall be given in a 
note or separate statement. This anal-
ysis shall be presented in the form of a 
reconciliation of the beginning balance 
to the ending balance for each period 

for which an income statement is re-
quired to be filed with all significant 
reconciling items described by appro-
priate captions with contributions 
from and distribution to owners shown 
separately. Also, state-separately the 
adjustments to the balance at the be-
ginning of the earliest period presented 
for items which were retroactively ap-
plied to periods prior to that period. 
With respect to any dividends, state 
the amount per share and in the aggre-
gate for each class of shares. Provide a 
separate schedule in the notes to the fi-
nancial statements that shows the ef-
fects of any changes in the registrant’s 
ownership interest in a subsidiary on 
the equity attributable to the reg-
istrant. 

[74 FR 18614, Apr. 23, 2009] 

§ 210.3–05 Financial statements of 
businesses acquired or to be ac-
quired. 

(a) Financial statements required. (1) 
Financial statements prepared and au-
dited in accordance with this regula-
tion should be furnished for the periods 
specified in paragraph (b) below if any 
of the following conditions exist: 

(i) A business combination has oc-
curred or is probable (for purposes of 
this section, this encompasses the ac-
quisition of an interest in a business 
accounted for by the equity method); 
or 

(ii) Consummation of a combination 
between entities under common con-
trol is probable. 

(2) For purposes of determining 
whether the provisions of this rule 
apply, the determination of whether a 
business has been acquired should be 
made in accordance with the guidance 
set forth in § 210.11–01(d). 

(3) Acquisitions of a group of related 
businesses that are probable or that 
have occurred subsequent to the latest 
fiscal year-end for which audited finan-
cial statements of the registrant have 
been filed shall be treated under this 
section as if they are a single business 
combination. The required financial 
statements of related businesses may 
be presented on a combined basis for 
any periods they are under common 
control or management. For purposes 
of this section, businesses shall be 
deemed to be related if: 
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(i) They are under common control or 
management; 

(ii) The acquisition of one business is 
conditional on the acquisition of each 
other business; or 

(iii) Each acquisition is conditioned 
on a single common event. 

(4) This rule shall not apply to a busi-
ness which is totally held by the reg-
istrant prior to consummation of the 
transaction. 

(b) Periods to be presented. (1) If secu-
rities are being registered to be offered 
to the security holders of the business 
to be acquired, the financial state-
ments specified in §§ 210.3–01 and 210.3– 
02 shall be furnished for the business to 
be acquired, except as provided other-
wise for filings on Form N–14, S–4 or F– 
4 (§ 239.23, § 239.25 or § 239.34 of this chap-
ter). The financial statements covering 
fiscal years shall be audited except as 
provided in Item 14 of Schedule 14A 
(§ 240.14a–101 of this chapter) with re-
spect to certain proxy statements or in 
registration statements filed on Forms 
N–14, S–4 or F–4 (§ 239.23, § 239.25 or 
§ 239.34 of this chapter). 

(2) In all cases not specified in para-
graph (b)(1) of this section, financial 
statements of the business acquired or 
to be acquired shall be filed for the pe-
riods specified in this paragraph (b)(2) 
or such shorter period as the business 
has been in existence. The periods for 
which such financial statements are to 
be filed shall be determined using the 
conditions specified in the definition of 
significant subsidiary in § 210.1–02(w) as 
follows: 

(i) If none of the conditions exceeds 
20 percent, financial statements are 
not required. However, if the aggregate 
impact of the individually insignificant 
businesses acquired since the date of 
the most recent audited balance sheet 
filed for the registrant exceeds 50%, fi-
nancial statements covering at least 
the substantial majority of the busi-
nesses acquired shall be furnished. 
Such financial statements shall be for 
at least the most recent fiscal year and 
any interim periods specified in §§ 210.3– 
01 and 210.3–02. 

(ii) If any of the conditions exceeds 20 
percent, but none exceed 40 percent, fi-
nancial statements shall be furnished 
for at least the most recent fiscal year 

and any interim periods specified in 
§§ 210.3–01 and 210.3–02. 

(iii) If any of the conditions exceeds 
40 percent, but none exceed 50 percent, 
financial statements shall be furnished 
for at least the two most recent fiscal 
years and any interim periods specified 
in §§ 210.3–01 and 210.3–02. 

(iv) If any of the conditions exceed 50 
percent, the full financial statements 
specified in §§ 210.3–01 and 210.3–02 shall 
be furnished. However, financial state-
ments for the earliest of the three fis-
cal years required may be omitted if 
net revenues reported by the acquired 
business in its most recent fiscal year 
are less than $50 million. 

(3) The determination shall be made 
by comparing the most recent annual 
financial statements of each such busi-
ness, or group of related businesses on 
a combined basis, to the registrant’s 
most recent annual consolidated finan-
cial statements filed at or prior to the 
date of acquisition. However, if the reg-
istrant made a significant acquisition 
subsequent to the latest fiscal year-end 
and filed a report on Form 8–K (§ 249.308 
of this chapter) which included audited 
financial statements of such acquired 
business for the periods required by 
this section and the pro forma finan-
cial information required by § 210.11, 
such determination may be made by 
using pro forma amounts for the latest 
fiscal year in the report on Form 8–K 
(§ 249.308 of this chapter) rather than by 
using the historical amounts of the 
registrant. The tests may not be made 
by ‘‘annualizing’’ data. 

(4) Financial statements required for 
the periods specified in paragraph (b)(2) 
of this section may be omitted to the 
extent specified as follows: 

(i) Registration statements not sub-
ject to the provisions of § 230.419 of this 
chapter (Regulation C) and proxy 
statements need not include separate 
financial statements of the acquired or 
to be acquired business if it does not 
exceed any of the conditions of signifi-
cance in the definition of significant 
subsidiary in § 210.1–02 at the 50 percent 
level, and either: 

(A) The consummation of the acquisi-
tion has not yet occurred; or 

(B) The date of the final prospectus 
or prospectus supplement relating to 
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an offering as filed with the Commis-
sion pursuant to § 230.424(b) of this 
chapter, or mailing date in the case of 
a proxy statement, is no more than 74 
days after consummation of the busi-
ness combination, and the financial 
statements have not previously been 
filed by the registrant. 

(ii) An issuer, other than a foreign 
private issuer required to file reports 
on Form 6–K, that omits from its ini-
tial registration statement financial 
statements of a recently consummated 
business combination pursuant to para-
graph (b)(4)(i) of this section shall fur-
nish those financial statements and 
any pro forma information specified by 
Article 11 of this chapter under cover 
of Form 8–K (§ 249.308 of this chapter) 
no later than 75 days after consumma-
tion of the acquisition. 

(iii) Separate financial statements of 
the acquired business need not be pre-
sented once the operating results of the 
acquired business have been reflected 
in the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the registrant for a com-
plete fiscal year unless such financial 
statements have not been previously 
filed or unless the acquired business is 
of such significance to the registrant 
that omission of such financial state-
ments would materially impair an in-
vestor’s ability to understand the his-
torical financial results of the reg-
istrant. For example, if, at the date of 
acquisition, the acquired business met 
at least one of the conditions in the 
definition of significant subsidiary in 
§ 210.1–02 at the 80 percent level, the in-
come statements of the acquired busi-
ness should normally continue to be 
furnished for such periods prior to the 
purchase as may be necessary when 
added to the time for which audited in-
come statements after the purchase are 
filed to cover the equivalent of the pe-
riod specified in § 210.3–02. 

(iv) A separate audited balance sheet 
of the acquired business is not required 
when the registrant’s most recent au-
dited balance sheet required by § 210.3– 
01 is for a date after the date the acqui-
sition was consummated. 

(c) Financial statements of foreign busi-
ness. If the business acquired or to be 
acquired is a foreign business, financial 
statements of the business meeting the 
requirements of Item 17 of Form 20–F 

(§ 249.220f of this chapter) will satisfy 
this section. 

[47 FR 29836, July 9, 1982, as amended at 50 
FR 49532, Dec. 3, 1985; 51 FR 42056, Nov. 20, 
1986; 59 FR 65636, Dec. 20, 1994; 61 FR 54514, 
Oct. 18, 1996; 73 FR 952, Jan. 4, 2008; 74 FR 
18614, Apr. 23, 2009] 

§ 210.3–06 Financial statements cov-
ering a period of nine to twelve 
months. 

Except with respect to registered in-
vestment companies, the filing of fi-
nancial statements covering a period of 
9 to 12 months shall be deemed to sat-
isfy a requirement for filing financial 
statements for a period of 1 year where: 

(a) The issuer has changed its fiscal 
year; 

(b) The issuer has made a significant 
business acquisition for which finan-
cial statements are required under 
§ 210.3–05 of this chapter and the finan-
cial statements covering the interim 
period pertain to the business being ac-
quired; or 

(c) The Commission so permits pursu-
ant to § 210.3–13 of this chapter. 

Where there is a requirement for fil-
ing financial statements for a time pe-
riod exceeding one year but not exceed-
ing three consecutive years (with not 
more than 12 months included in any 
period reported upon), the filing of fi-
nancial statements covering a period of 
nine to 12 months shall satisfy a filing 
requirement of financial statements 
for one year of that time period only if 
the conditions described in either para-
graph (a), (b), or (c) of this section 
exist and financial statements are filed 
that cover the full fiscal year or years 
for all other years in the time period. 

[54 FR 10315, Mar. 13, 1989] 

§§ 210.3–07—210.3–08 [Reserved] 

§ 210.3–09 Separate financial state-
ments of subsidiaries not consoli-
dated and 50 percent or less owned 
persons. 

(a) If any of the conditions set forth 
in § 210.1–02(w), substituting 20 percent 
for 10 percent in the tests used therein 
to determine a significant subsidiary, 
are met for a majority-owned sub-
sidiary not consolidated by the reg-
istrant or by a subsidiary of the reg-
istrant, separate financial statements 
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of such subsidiary shall be filed. Simi-
larly, if either the first or third condi-
tion set forth in § 210.1–02(w), sub-
stituting 20 percent for 10 percent, is 
met by a 50 percent or less owned per-
son accounted for by the equity meth-
od either by the registrant or a sub-
sidiary of the registrant, separate fi-
nancial statements of such 50 percent 
or less owned person shall be filed. 

(b) Insofar as practicable, the sepa-
rate financial statements required by 
this section shall be as of the same 
dates and for the same periods as the 
audited consolidated financial state-
ments required by §§ 210.3–01 and 3–02. 
However, these separate financial 
statements are required to be audited 
only for those fiscal years in which ei-
ther the first or third condition set 
forth in § 210.1–02(w), substituting 20 
percent for 10 percent, is met. For pur-
poses of a filing on Form 10–K (§ 249.310 
of this chapter): 

(1) If the registrant is an accelerated 
filer (as defined in § 240.12b–2 of this 
chapter) but the 50 percent or less 
owned person is not an accelerated 
filer, the required financial statements 
may be filed as an amendment to the 
report within 90 days, or within six 
months if the 50 percent or less owned 
person is a foreign business, after the 
end of the registrant’s fiscal year. 

(2) If the fiscal year of any 50 percent 
or less owned person ends within the 
registrant’s number of filing days before 
the date of the filing, or if the fiscal 
year ends after the date of the filing, 
the required financial statements may 
be filed as an amendment to the report 
within the subsidiary’s number of filing 
days, or within six months if the 50 per-
cent or less owned person is a foreign 
business, after the end of such subsidi-
ary’s or person’s fiscal year. 

(3) The term registrant’s number of fil-
ing days means: 

(i) 60 days (75 days for fiscal years 
ending before December 15, 2006) if the 
registrant is a large accelerated filer; 

(ii) 75 days if the registrant is an ac-
celerated filer; and 

(iii) 90 days for all other registrants. 
(4) The term subsidiary’s number of fil-

ing days means: 
(i) 60 days (75 days for fiscal years 

ending before December 15, 2006) if the 

50 percent or less owned person is a 
large accelerated filer; 

(ii) 75 days if the 50 percent or less 
owned person is an accelerated filer; 
and 

(iii) 90 days for all other 50 percent or 
less owned persons. 

(c) Notwithstanding the require-
ments for separate financial state-
ments in paragraph (a) of this section, 
where financial statements of two or 
more majority-owned subsidiaries not 
consolidated are required, combined or 
consolidated statements of such sub-
sidiaries may be filed subject to prin-
ciples of inclusion and exclusion which 
clearly exhibit the financial position, 
cash flows and results of operations of 
the combined or consolidated group. 
Similarly, where financial statements 
of two or more 50 percent or less owned 
persons are required, combined or con-
solidated statements of such persons 
may be filed subject to the same prin-
ciples of inclusion or exclusion referred 
to above. 

(d) If the 50 percent or less owned 
person is a foreign business, financial 
statements of the business meeting the 
requirements of Item 17 of Form 20–F 
(§ 249.220f of this chapter) will satisfy 
this section. 

[46 FR 56179, Nov. 16, 1981, as amended at 47 
FR 29837, July 9, 1982; 57 FR 45292, Oct. 1, 
1992; 59 FR 65636, Dec. 20, 1994; 67 FR 58504, 
Sept. 16, 2002; 69 FR 68235, Nov. 23, 2004; 70 FR 
76640, Dec. 27, 2005] 

§ 210.3–10 Financial statements of 
guarantors and issuers of guaran-
teed securities registered or being 
registered. 

(a)(1) General rule. Every issuer of a 
registered security that is guaranteed 
and every guarantor of a registered se-
curity must file the financial state-
ments required for a registrant by Reg-
ulation S-X. 

(2) Operation of this rule. Paragraphs 
(b), (c), (d), (e) and (f) of this section 
are exceptions to the general rule of 
paragraph (a)(1) of this section. Only 
one of these paragraphs can apply to a 
single issuer or guarantor. Paragraph 
(g) of this section is a special rule for 
recently acquired issuers or guarantors 
that overrides each of these exceptions 
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for a specific issuer or guarantor. Para-
graph (h) of this section defines the fol-
lowing terms used in this section: 100% 
owned, full and unconditional, annual 
report, quarterly report, no inde-
pendent assets or operations, minor, fi-
nance subsidiary and operating sub-
sidiary. Paragraph (i) of this section 
states the requirements for preparing 
the condensed consolidating financial 
information required by paragraphs (c), 
(d), (e) and (f) of this section. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (a)(2). Where para-
graphs (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f) of this section 
specify the filing of financial statements of 
the parent company, the financial state-
ments of an entity that is not an issuer or 
guarantor of the registered security cannot 
be substituted for those of the parent com-
pany. 

(3) Foreign private issuers. Where any 
provision of this section requires com-
pliance with §§ 210.3–01 and 3–02, a for-
eign private issuer may comply by pro-
viding financial statements for the pe-
riods specified by Item 8.A of Form 20– 
F (§ 249.220f of this chapter). 

(b) Finance subsidiary issuer of securi-
ties guaranteed by its parent company. 
When a finance subsidiary issues secu-
rities and its parent company guaran-
tees those securities, the registration 
statement, parent company annual re-
port, or parent company quarterly re-
port need not include financial state-
ments of the issuer if: 

(1) The issuer is 100% owned by the 
parent company guarantor; 

(2) The guarantee is full and uncondi-
tional; 

(3) No other subsidiary of the parent 
company guarantees the securities; and 

(4) The parent company’s financial 
statements are filed for the periods 
specified by §§ 210.3–01 and 210.3–02 and 
include a footnote stating that the 
issuer is a 100%-owned finance sub-
sidiary of the parent company and the 
parent company has fully and uncondi-
tionally guaranteed the securities. The 
footnote also must include the nar-
rative disclosures specified in para-
graphs (i)(9) and (i)(10) of this section. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (b): Paragraph (b) is 
available if a subsidiary issuer satisfies the 
requirements of this paragraph but for the 
fact that, instead of the parent company 
guaranteeing the security, the subsidiary 
issuer co-issued the security, jointly and sev-

erally, with the parent company. In this sit-
uation, the narrative information required 
by paragraph (b)(4) must be modified accord-
ingly. 

(c) Operating subsidiary issuer of secu-
rities guaranteed by its parent company. 
When an operating subsidiary issues se-
curities and its parent company guar-
antees those securities, the registra-
tion statement, parent company an-
nual report, or parent company quar-
terly report need not include financial 
statements of the issuer if: 

(1) The issuer is 100% owned by the 
parent company guarantor; 

(2) The guarantee is full and uncondi-
tional; 

(3) No other subsidiary of the parent 
company guarantees the securities; and 

(4) The parent company’s financial 
statements are filed for the periods 
specified by §§ 210.3–01 and 210.3–02 and 
include, in a footnote, condensed con-
solidating financial information for the 
same periods with a separate column 
for: 

(i) The parent company; 
(ii) The subsidiary issuer; 
(iii) Any other subsidiaries of the 

parent company on a combined basis; 
(iv) Consolidating adjustments; and 
(v) The total consolidated amounts. 

NOTES TO PARAGRAPH (c): 1. Instead of the 
condensed consolidating financial informa-
tion required by paragraph (c)(4), the parent 
company’s financial statements may include 
a footnote stating, if true, that the parent 
company has no independent assets or oper-
ations, the guarantee is full and uncondi-
tional, and any subsidiaries of the parent 
company other than the subsidiary issuer 
are minor. The footnote also must include 
the narrative disclosures specified in para-
graphs (i)(9) and (i)(10) of this section. 

2. If the alternative disclosure permitted 
by Note 1 to this paragraph is not applicable 
because the parent company has independent 
assets or operations, the condensed consoli-
dating financial information described in 
paragraph (c)(4) may omit the column for 
‘‘any other subsidiaries of the parent com-
pany on a combined basis’’ if those other 
subsidiaries are minor. 

3. Paragraph (c) is available if a subsidiary 
issuer satisfies the requirements of this 
paragraph but for the fact that, instead of 
the parent company guaranteeing the secu-
rity, the subsidiary issuer co-issued the secu-
rity, jointly and severally, with the parent 
company. In this situation, the narrative in-
formation required by paragraph (i)(8) of this 
section must be modified accordingly. 
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(d) Subsidiary issuer of securities guar-
anteed by its parent company and one or 
more other subsidiaries of that parent 
company. When a subsidiary issues se-
curities and both its parent company 
and one or more other subsidiaries of 
that parent company guarantee those 
securities, the registration statement, 
parent company annual report, or par-
ent company quarterly report need not 
include financial statements of the 
issuer or any subsidiary guarantor if: 

(1) The issuer and all subsidiary guar-
antors are 100% owned by the parent 
company guarantor; 

(2) The guarantees are full and un-
conditional; 

(3) The guarantees are joint and sev-
eral; and 

(4) The parent company’s financial 
statements are filed for the periods 
specified by §§ 210.3–01 and 210.3–02 and 
include, in a footnote, condensed con-
solidating financial information for the 
same periods with a separate column 
for: 

(i) The parent company; 
(ii) The subsidiary issuer; 
(iii) The guarantor subsidiaries of the 

parent company on a combined basis; 
(iv) Any other subsidiaries of the par-

ent company on a combined basis; 
(v) Consolidating adjustments; and 
(vi) The total consolidated amounts. 

NOTES TO PARAGRAPH (d): 1. Paragraph (d) 
applies in the same manner whether the 
issuer is a finance subsidiary or an operating 
subsidiary. 

2. The condensed consolidating financial 
information described in paragraph (d)(4) 
may omit the column for ‘‘any other subsidi-
aries of the parent company on a combined 
basis’’ if those other subsidiaries are minor. 

3. Paragraph (d) is available if a subsidiary 
issuer satisfies the requirements of this 
paragraph but for the fact that, instead of 
the parent company guaranteeing the secu-
rity, the subsidiary issuer co-issued the secu-
rity, jointly and severally, with the parent 
company. In this situation, the narrative in-
formation required by paragraph (i)(8) of this 
section must be modified accordingly. 

4. If all of the requirements in paragraph 
(d) are satisfied except that the guarantee of 
a subsidiary is not joint and several with, as 
applicable, the parent company’s guarantee 
or the guarantees of the parent company and 
the other subsidiaries, then each subsidiary 
guarantor whose guarantee is not joint and 
several need not include separate financial 
statements, but the condensed consolidating 
financial information should include a sepa-

rate column for each guarantor whose guar-
antee is not joint and several. 

5. Instead of the condensed consolidating 
financial information required by paragraph 
(d)(4), the parent company’s financial state-
ments may include a footnote stating, if 
true, that the parent company has no inde-
pendent assets or operations, the subsidiary 
issuer is a 100% owned finance subsidiary of 
the parent company, the parent company has 
guaranteed the securities, all of the parent 
company’s subsidiaries other than the sub-
sidiary issuer have guaranteed the securi-
ties, all of the guarantees are full and uncon-
ditional, and all of the guarantees are joint 
and several. The footnote also must include 
the narrative disclosures specified in para-
graphs (i)(9) and (i)(10) of this section. 

(e) Single subsidiary guarantor of secu-
rities issued by the parent company of 
that subsidiary. When a parent company 
issues securities and one of its subsidi-
aries guarantees those securities, the 
registration statement, parent com-
pany annual report, or parent company 
quarterly report need not include fi-
nancial statements of the subsidiary 
guarantor if: 

(1) The subsidiary guarantor is 100% 
owned by the parent company issuer; 

(2) The guarantee is full and uncondi-
tional; 

(3) No other subsidiary of that parent 
guarantees the securities; and 

(4) The parent company’s financial 
statements are filed for the periods 
specified by §§ 210.3–01 and 210.3–02 and 
include, in a footnote, condensed con-
solidating financial information for the 
same periods with a separate column 
for: 

(i) The parent company; 
(ii) The subsidiary guarantor; 
(iii) Any other subsidiaries of the 

parent company on a combined basis; 
(iv) Consolidating adjustments; and 
(v) The total consolidated amounts. 

NOTES TO PARAGRAPH (e): 1. Paragraph (e) 
applies in the same manner whether the 
guarantor is a finance subsidiary or an oper-
ating subsidiary. 

2. Instead of the condensed consolidating 
financial information required by paragraph 
(e)(4), the parent company’s financial state-
ments may include a footnote stating, if 
true, that the parent company has no inde-
pendent assets or operations, the guarantee 
is full and unconditional, and any subsidi-
aries of the parent company other than the 
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subsidiary guarantor are minor. The foot-
note also must include the narrative disclo-
sures specified in paragraphs (i)(9) and (i)(10) 
of this section. 

3. If the alternative disclosure permitted 
by Note 2 to this paragraph is not applicable 
because the parent company has independent 
assets or operations, the condensed consoli-
dating financial information described in 
paragraph (e)(4) may omit the column for 
‘‘any other subsidiaries of the parent com-
pany on a combined basis’’ if those other 
subsidiaries are minor. 

4. If, instead of guaranteeing the subject 
security, a subsidiary co-issues the security 
jointly and severally with its parent com-
pany, this paragraph (e) does not apply. In-
stead, the appropriate financial information 
requirement would depend on whether the 
subsidiary is a finance subsidiary or an oper-
ating subsidiary. If the subsidiary is a fi-
nance subsidiary, paragraph (b) applies. If 
the subsidiary is an operating company, 
paragraph (c) applies. 

(f) Multiple subsidiary guarantors of se-
curities issued by the parent company of 
those subsidiaries. When a parent com-
pany issues securities and more than 
one of its subsidiaries guarantee those 
securities, the registration statement, 
parent company annual report, or par-
ent company quarterly report need not 
include financial statements of the 
subsidiary guarantors if: 

(1) Each of the subsidiary guarantors 
is 100% owned by the parent company 
issuer; 

(2) The guarantees are full and un-
conditional; 

(3) The guarantees are joint and sev-
eral; and 

(4) The parent company’s financial 
statements are filed for the periods 
specified by §§ 210.3–01 and 210.3–02 and 
include, in a footnote, condensed con-
solidating financial information for the 
same periods with a separate column 
for: 

(i) The parent company; 
(ii) The subsidiary guarantors on a 

combined basis; 
(iii) Any other subsidiaries of the 

parent company on a combined basis; 
(iv) Consolidating adjustments; and 
(v) The total consolidated amounts. 

NOTES TO PARAGRAPH (f): 1. Instead of the 
condensed consolidating financial informa-
tion required by paragraph (f)(4), the parent 
company’s financial statements may include 
a footnote stating, if true, that the parent 
company has no independent assets or oper-
ations, the guarantees are full and uncondi-

tional and joint and several, and any subsidi-
aries of the parent company other than the 
subsidiary guarantors are minor. The foot-
note also must include the narrative disclo-
sures specified in paragraphs (i)(9) and (i)(10) 
of this section. 

2. If the alternative disclosure permitted 
by Note 1 to this paragraph is not applicable 
because the parent company has independent 
assets or operations, the condensed consoli-
dating financial information described in 
paragraph (f)(4) may omit the column for 
‘‘any other subsidiaries of the parent com-
pany on a combined basis’’ if those other 
subsidiaries are minor. 

3. If any of the subsidiary guarantees is not 
joint and several with the guarantees of the 
other subsidiaries, then each subsidiary 
guarantor whose guarantee is not joint and 
several need not include separate financial 
statements, but the condensed consolidating 
financial information must include a sepa-
rate column for each subsidiary guarantor 
whose guarantee is not joint and several. 

(g) Recently acquired subsidiary issuers 
or subsidiary guarantors. (1) The Securi-
ties Act registration statement of the 
parent company must include the fi-
nancial statements specified in para-
graph (g)(2) of this section for any sub-
sidiary that otherwise meets the condi-
tions in paragraph (c), (d), (e) or (f) of 
this section for omission of separate fi-
nancial statements if: 

(i) The subsidiary has not been in-
cluded in the audited consolidated re-
sults of the parent company for at 
least nine months of the most recent 
fiscal year; and 

(ii) The net book value or purchase 
price, whichever is greater, of the sub-
sidiary is 20% or more of the principal 
amount of the securities being reg-
istered. 

(2) Financial statements required. 
(i) Audited financial statements for a 

subsidiary described in paragraph (g)(1) 
of this section must be filed for the 
subsidiary’s most recent fiscal year 
preceding the acquisition. In addition, 
unaudited financial statements must 
be filed for any interim periods speci-
fied in §§ 210.3–01 and 210.3–02. 

(ii) The financial statements must 
conform to the requirements of Regula-
tion S-X (§§ 210.1–01 through 12–29), ex-
cept that supporting schedules need 
not be filed. If the subsidiary is a for-
eign business, financial statements of 
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the subsidiary meeting the require-
ments of Item 17 of Form 20–F 
(§ 249.220f) will satisfy this item. 

(3) Instructions to paragraph (g). 
(i) The significance test of paragraph 

(g)(1)(ii) of this section should be com-
puted using net book value of the sub-
sidiary as of the most recent fiscal 
year end preceding the acquisition. 

(ii) Information required by this 
paragraph (g) is not required to be in-
cluded in an annual report or quarterly 
report. 

(iii) Acquisitions of a group of sub-
sidiary issuers or subsidiary guaran-
tors that are related prior to their ac-
quisition shall be aggregated for pur-
poses of applying the 20% test in para-
graph (g)(1)(ii) of this section. Subsidi-
aries shall be deemed to be related 
prior to their acquisition if: 

(A) They are under common control 
or management; 

(B) The acquisition of one subsidiary 
is conditioned on the acquisition of 
each subsidiary; or 

(C) The acquisition of each subsidiary 
is conditioned on a single common 
event. 

(h) Definitions. For the purposes of 
this section: 

(1) A subsidiary is ‘‘100% owned’’ if 
all of its outstanding voting shares are 
owned, either directly or indirectly, by 
its parent company. A subsidiary not 
in corporate form is 100% owned if the 
sum of all interests are owned, either 
directly or indirectly, by its parent 
company other than: 

(i) Securities that are guaranteed by 
its parent and, if applicable, other 
100%-owned subsidiaries of its parent; 
and 

(ii) Securities that guarantee securi-
ties issued by its parent and, if applica-
ble, other 100%-owned subsidiaries of 
its parent. 

(2) A guarantee is ‘‘full and uncondi-
tional,’’ if, when an issuer of a guaran-
teed security has failed to make a 
scheduled payment, the guarantor is 
obligated to make the scheduled pay-
ment immediately and, if it doesn’t, 
any holder of the guaranteed security 
may immediately bring suit directly 
against the guarantor for payment of 
all amounts due and payable. 

(3) Annual report refers to an annual 
report on Form 10–K or Form 20–F 
(§ 249.310 or § 249.220f of this chapter). 

(4) Quarterly report refers to a quar-
terly report on Form 10–Q (§ 249.308a of 
this chapter). 

(5) A parent company has no inde-
pendent assets or operations if each of 
its total assets, revenues, income from 
continuing operations before income 
taxes, and cash flows from operating 
activities (excluding amounts related 
to its investment in its consolidated 
subsidiaries) is less than 3% of the cor-
responding consolidated amount. 

(6) A subsidiary is minor if each of its 
total assets, stockholders’ equity, reve-
nues, income from continuing oper-
ations before income taxes, and cash 
flows from operating activities is less 
than 3% of the parent company’s cor-
responding consolidated amount. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (h)(6). When consid-
ering a group of subsidiaries, the definition 
applies to each subsidiary in that group indi-
vidually and to all subsidiaries in that group 
in the aggregate. 

(7) A subsidiary is a finance sub-
sidiary if it has no assets, operations, 
revenues or cash flows other than those 
related to the issuance, administration 
and repayment of the security being 
registered and any other securities 
guaranteed by its parent company. 

(8) A subsidiary is an operating sub-
sidiary if it is not a finance subsidiary. 

(i) Instructions for preparation of 
condensed consolidating financial in-
formation required by paragraphs (c), 
(d), (e) and (f) of this section. 

(1) Follow the general guidance in 
§ 210.10–01 for the form and content for 
condensed financial statements and 
present the financial information in 
sufficient detail to allow investors to 
determine the assets, results of oper-
ations and cash flows of each of the 
consolidating groups; 

(2) The financial information should 
be audited for the same periods that 
the parent company financial state-
ments are required to be audited; 

(3) The parent company column 
should present investments in all sub-
sidiaries based upon their propor-
tionate share of the subsidiary’s net as-
sets; 

(4) The parent company’s basis shall 
be ‘‘pushed down’’ to the applicable 
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subsidiary columns to the extent that 
push down would be required or per-
mitted in separate financial state-
ments of the subsidiary; 

(5) All subsidiary issuer or subsidiary 
guarantor columns should present the 
following investments in subsidiaries 
under the equity method: 

(i) Non-guarantor subsidiaries; 
(ii) Subsidiary issuers or subsidiary 

guarantors that are not 100% owned or 
whose guarantee is not full and uncon-
ditional; 

(iii) Subsidiary guarantors whose 
guarantee is not joint and several with 
the guarantees of the other subsidi-
aries; and 

(iv) Subsidiary guarantors with dif-
ferences in domestic or foreign laws 
that affect the enforceability of the 
guarantees; 

(6) Provide a separate column for 
each subsidiary issuer or subsidiary 
guarantor that is not 100% owned, 
whose guarantee is not full and uncon-
ditional, or whose guarantee is not 
joint and several with the guarantees 
of other subsidiaries. Inclusion of a 
separate column does not relieve that 
issuer or guarantor from the require-
ment to file separate financial state-
ments under paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion. However, paragraphs (b) through 
(f) of this section will provide this re-
lief if the particular paragraph is satis-
fied except that the guarantee is not 
joint and several; 

(7) Provide separate columns for each 
guarantor by legal jurisdiction if dif-
ferences in domestic or foreign laws af-
fect the enforceability of the guaran-
tees; 

(8) Include the following disclosure, if 
true: 

(i) Each subsidiary issuer or sub-
sidiary guarantor is 100% owned by the 
parent company; 

(ii) All guarantees are full and uncon-
ditional; and 

(iii) Where there is more than one 
guarantor, all guarantees are joint and 
several; 

(9) Disclose any significant restric-
tions on the ability of the parent com-
pany or any guarantor to obtain funds 
from its subsidiaries by dividend or 
loan; 

(10) Provide the disclosures pre-
scribed by § 210.4–08(e)(3) with respect 

to the subsidiary issuers and subsidiary 
guarantors; 

(11) The disclosure: 
(i) May not omit any financial and 

narrative information about each guar-
antor if the information would be ma-
terial for investors to evaluate the suf-
ficiency of the guarantee; 

(ii) Shall include sufficient informa-
tion so as to make the financial infor-
mation presented not misleading; and 

(iii) Need not repeat information that 
would substantially duplicate disclo-
sure elsewhere in the parent company’s 
consolidated financial statements; and 

(12) Where the parent company’s con-
solidated financial statements are pre-
pared on a comprehensive basis other 
than U.S. Generally Accepted Account-
ing Principles or International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Stand-
ards Board, reconcile the information 
in each column to U.S. Generally Ac-
cepted Accounting Principles to the ex-
tent necessary to allow investors to 
evaluate the sufficiency of the guaran-
tees. The reconciliation may be limited 
to the information specified by Item 17 
of Form 20–F (§ 249.220f of this chapter). 
The reconciling information need not 
duplicate information included else-
where in the reconciliation of the con-
solidated financial statements. 

[65 FR 51707, Aug. 24, 2000, as amended at 73 
FR 952, Jan. 4, 2008; 73 FR 1009, Jan. 4, 2008; 
74 FR 18615, Apr. 23, 2009] 

§ 210.3–11 Financial statements of an 
inactive registrant. 

If a registrant is an inactive entity 
as defined below, the financial state-
ments required by this regulation for 
purposes of reports pursuant to the Se-
curities Exchange Act of 1934 may be 
unaudited. An inactive entity is one 
meeting all of the following conditions: 

(a) Gross receipts from all sources for 
the fiscal year are not in excess of 
$100,000; 

(b) The registrant has not purchased 
or sold any of its own stock, granted 
options therefor, or levied assessments 
upon outstanding stock, 

(c) Expenditures for all purposes for 
the fiscal year are not in excess of 
$100,000; 

(d) No material change in the busi-
ness has occurred during the fiscal 
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year, including any bankruptcy, reor-
ganization, readjustment or succession 
or any material acquisition or disposi-
tion of plants, mines, mining equip-
ment, mine rights or leases; and 

(e) No exchange upon which the 
shares are listed, or governmental au-
thority having jurisdiction, requires 
the furnishing to it or the publication 
of audited financial statements. 

§ 210.3–12 Age of financial statements 
at effective date of registration 
statement or at mailing date of 
proxy statement. 

(a) If the financial statements in a 
filing are as of a date the number of 
days specified in paragraph (g) of this 
section or more before the date the fil-
ing is expected to become effective, or 
proposed mailing date in the case of a 
proxy statement, the financial state-
ments shall be updated, except as spec-
ified in the following paragraphs, with 
a balance sheet as of an interim date 
within the number of days specified in 
paragraph (g) of this section and with 
statements of income and cash flows 
for the interim period between the end 
of the most recent fiscal year and the 
date of the interim balance sheet pro-
vided and for the corresponding period 
of the preceding fiscal year. Such in-
terim financial statements may be 
unaudited and need not be presented in 
greater detail than is required by 
§ 210.10–01. Notwithstanding the above 
requirements, the most recent interim 
financial statements shall be at least 
as current as the most recent financial 
statements filed with the Commission 
on Form 10–Q. 

(b) Where the anticipated effective 
date of a filing, or in the case of a 
proxy statement the proposed mailing 
date, falls within the number of days 
subsequent to the end of the fiscal year 
specified in paragraph (g) of this sec-
tion, the filing need not include finan-
cial statements more current than as 
of the end of the third fiscal quarter of 
the most recently completed fiscal 
year unless the audited financial state-
ments for such fiscal year are available 
or unless the anticipated effective date 
or proposed mailing date falls after 45 
days subsequent to the end of the fiscal 
year and the registrant does not meet 
the conditions prescribed under para-

graph (c) of § 210.3–01. If the anticipated 
effective date or proposed mailing date 
falls after 45 days subsequent to the 
end of the fiscal year and the reg-
istrant does not meet the conditions 
prescribed under paragraph (c) of 
§ 210.3–01, the filing must include au-
dited financial statements for the most 
recently completed fiscal year. 

(c) Where a filing is made near the 
end of a fiscal year and audited finan-
cial statements for that fiscal year are 
not included in the filing, the filing 
shall be updated with such audited fi-
nancial statements if they become 
available prior to the anticipated effec-
tive date, or proposed mailing date in 
the case of a proxy statement. 

(d) The age of the registrant’s most 
recent audited financial statements in-
cluded in a registration statement filed 
under the Securities Act of 1933 or filed 
on Form 10 (17 CFR 249.210) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 shall 
not be more than one year and 45 days 
old at the date the registration state-
ment becomes effective if the registra-
tion statement relates to the security 
of an issuer that was not subject, im-
mediately before the time of filing the 
registration statement, to the report-
ing requirements of section 13 or 15(d) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

(e) For filings by registered manage-
ment investment companies, the re-
quirements of § 210.3–18 shall apply in 
lieu of the requirements of this section. 

(f) Any foreign private issuer may 
file financial statements whose age is 
specified in Item 8.A of Form 20–F 
(§ 249.220f of this chapter). Financial 
statements of a foreign business which 
are furnished pursuant to § 210.3–05 or 
§ 210.3–09 because it is an acquired busi-
ness or a 50 percent or less owned per-
son may be of the age specified in Item 
8.A of Form 20–F. 

(g)(1) For purposes of paragraph (a) of 
this section, the number of days shall 
be: 

(i) 130 days for large accelerated fil-
ers and accelerated filers (as defined in 
§ 240.12b–2 of this chapter); and 

(ii) 135 days for all other registrants. 
(2) For purposes of paragraph (b) of 

this section, the number of days shall 
be: 

(i) 60 days (75 days for fiscal years 
ending before December 15, 2006) for 
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large accelerated filers (as defined in 
§ 240.12b–2 of this chapter); 

(ii) 75 days for accelerated filers (as 
defined in § 240.12b–2 of this chapter); 
and 

(iii) 90 days for all other registrants. 

[45 FR 62687, Sept. 25, 1980] 

EDITORIAL NOTE: For FEDERAL REGISTER ci-
tations affecting § 210.3–12, see the List of 
CFR Sections Affected, which appears in the 
Finding Aids section of the printed volume 
and at www.fdsys.gov. 

§ 210.3–13 Filing of other financial 
statements in certain cases. 

The Commission may, upon the infor-
mal written request of the registrant, 
and where consistent with the protec-
tion of investors, permit the omission 
of one or more of the financial state-
ments herein required or the filing in 
substitution therefor of appropriate 
statements of comparable character. 
The Commission may also by informal 
written notice require the filing of 
other financial statements in addition 
to, or in substitution for, the state-
ments herein required in any case 
where such statements are necessary 
or appropriate for an adequate presen-
tation of the financial condition of any 
person whose financial statements are 
required, or whose statements are oth-
erwise necessary for the protection of 
investors. 

§ 210.3–14 Special instructions for real 
estate operations to be acquired. 

(a) If, during the period for which in-
come statements are required, the reg-
istrant has acquired one or more prop-
erties which in the aggregate are sig-
nificant, or since the date of the latest 
balance sheet required has acquired or 
proposes to acquire one or more prop-
erties which in the aggregate are sig-
nificant, the following shall be fur-
nished with respect to such properties: 

(1) Audited income statements (not 
including earnings per unit) for the 
three most recent fiscal years, which 
shall exclude items not comparable to 
the proposed future operations of the 
property such as mortgage interest, 
leasehold rental, depreciation, cor-
porate expenses and Federal and state 
income taxes: Provided, however, That 
such audited statements need be pre-

sented for only the most recent fiscal 
year if 

(i) The property is not acquired from 
a related party; 

(ii) Material factors considered by 
the registrant in assessing the property 
are described with specificity in the fil-
ing with regard to the property, includ-
ing sources of revenue (including, but 
not limited to, competition in the rent-
al market, comparative rents, occu-
pancy rates) and expense (including, 
but not limited to, utility rates, ad va-
lorem tax rates, maintenance expenses, 
capital improvements anticipated); and 

(iii) The registrant indicates in the 
appropriate filing that, after reason-
able inquiry, the registrant is not 
aware of any material factors relating 
to that specific property other than 
those discussed in response to para-
graph (a)(1)(ii) of this section that 
would cause the reported financial in-
formation not to be necessarily indic-
ative of future operating results. 

NOTE: The discussion of material factors 
considered should be combined with that re-
quired by Item 15 of Form S–11. 

(2) If the property is to be operated 
by the registrant, there shall be fur-
nished a statement showing the esti-
mated taxable operating results of the 
registrant based on the most recent 
twelve month period including such ad-
justments as can be factually sup-
ported. If the property is to be acquired 
subject to a net lease the estimated 
taxable operating results shall be based 
on the rent to be paid for the first year 
of the lease. In either case, the esti-
mated amount of cash to be made 
available by operations shall be shown. 
There shall be stated in an introduc-
tory paragraph the principal assump-
tions which have been made in pre-
paring the statements of estimated 
taxable operating results and cash to 
be made available by operations. 

(3) If appropriate under the cir-
cumstances, there shall be given in 
tablular form for a limited number of 
years the estimated cash distribution 
per unit showing the portion thereof 
reportable as taxable income and the 
portion representing a return of capital 
together with an explanation of annual 
variations, if any. If taxable net in-
come per unit will become greater than 
the cash available for distribution per 
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unit, that fact and approximate year of 
occurrence shall be stated, if signifi-
cant. 

(b) Information required by this sec-
tion is not required to be included in a 
filing on Form 10–K. 

[45 FR 63687, Sept. 25, 1980, as amended at 47 
FR 25122, June 10, 1982; 73 FR 953, Jan. 4, 2008] 

§ 210.3–15 Special provisions as to real 
estate investment trusts. 

(a)(1) The income statement prepared 
pursuant to § 210.5–03 shall include the 
following additional captions between 
those required by § 210.5–03.15 and 16: (i) 
Income or loss before gain or loss on 
sale of properties, extraordinary items 
and cumulative effects of accounting 
changes, and (ii) gain or loss on sale of 
properties, less applicable income tax. 

(2) The balance sheet required by 
§ 210.5–02 shall set forth in lieu of the 
captions required by § 210.5–02.31(a)(3): 
(i) The balance of undistributed income 
from other than gain or loss on sale of 
properties and (ii) accumulated undis-
tributed net realized gain or loss on 
sale of properties. The information 
specified in § 210.3–04 shall be modified 
similarly. 

(b) The trust’s status as a real estate 
investment trust under applicable provi-
sions of the Internal Revenue Code as 
amended shall be stated in a note re-
ferred to in the appropriate state-
ments. Such note shall also indicate 
briefly the principal present assump-
tions on which the trust has relied in 
making or not making provisons for 
Federal income taxes. 

(c) The tax status of distributions per 
unit shall be stated (e.g., ordinary in-
come, capital gain, return of capital). 

[45 FR 63687, Sept. 25, 1980, as amended at 50 
FR 49532, Dec. 3, 1985] 

§ 210.3–16 Financial statements of af-
filiates whose securities 
collateralize an issue registered or 
being registered. 

(a) For each of the registrant’s affili-
ates whose securities constitute a sub-
stantial portion of the collateral for 
any class of securities registered or 
being registered, there shall be filed 
the financial statements that would be 
required if the affiliate were a reg-
istrant and required to file financial 
statements. However, financial state-

ments need not be filed pursuant to 
this section for any person whose 
statements are otherwise separately 
included in the filing on an individual 
basis or on a basis consolidated with 
its subsidiaries. 

(b) For the purposes of this section, 
securities of a person shall be deemed 
to constitute a substantial portion of 
collateral if the aggregate principal 
amount, par value, or book value of the 
securities as carried by the registrant, 
or the market value of such securities, 
whichever is the greatest, equals 20 
percent or more of the principal 
amount of the secured class of securi-
ties. 

[65 FR 51710, Aug. 24, 2000] 

§ 210.3–17 Financial statements of nat-
ural persons. 

(a) In lieu of the financial statements 
otherwise required, a natural person 
may file an unaudited balance sheet as 
of a date within 90 days of date of filing 
and unaudited statements of income 
for each of the three most recent fiscal 
years. 

(b) Financial statements conforming 
with the instructions as to financial 
statements of subsidiaries not consoli-
dated and 50 percent or less owned per-
sons under § 210.3–09(a) shall be sepa-
rately presented for: (1) Each business 
owned as a sole proprietor, (2) each 
partnership, business trust, unincor-
porated association, or similar business 
organization of which the person holds 
a controlling interest and (3) each cor-
poration of which the person, directly 
or indirectly, owns securities rep-
resenting more than 50 percent of the 
voting power. 

(c) Separate financial statements 
may be omitted, however, for each cor-
poration, business trust, unincor-
porated association, or similar business 
organization if the person’s total in-
vestment in such entity does not ex-
ceed 5 percent of his total assets and 
the person’s total income from such en-
tity does not exceed 5 percent of his 
gross income; Provided, that the per-
son’s aggregate investment in and in-
come from all such omitted entities 
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shall not exceed 15 percent of his total 
assets and gross income, respectively. 

[46 FR 12491, Feb. 17, 1981, as amended at 50 
FR 25215, June 18, 1985] 

§ 210.3–18 Special provisions as to reg-
istered management investment 
companies and companies required 
to be registered as management in-
vestment companies. 

(a) For filings by registered manage-
ment investment companies, the fol-
lowing financial statements shall be 
filed: 

(1) An audited balance sheet or state-
ment of assets and liabilities as of the 
end of the most recent fiscal year; 

(2) An audited statement of oper-
ations for the most recent fiscal year 
conforming to the requirements of 
§ 210.6–07. 

(3) An audited statement of cash 
flows for the most recent fiscal year if 
necessary to comply with generally ac-
cepted accounting principles. (Further 
references in this rule to the require-
ment for such statement are likewise 
applicable only to the extent that they 
are consistent with the requirements of 
generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples.) 

(4) Audited statements of changes in 
net assets conforming to the require-
ments of § 210.6–09 for the two most re-
cent fiscal years. 

(b) If the filing is made within 60 
days after the end of the registrant’s 
fiscal year and audited financial state-
ments for the most recent fiscal year 
are not available, the balance sheet or 
statement of assets and liabilities may 
be as of the end of the preceding fiscal 
year and the filing shall include an ad-
ditional balance sheet or statement of 
assets and liabilities as of an interim 
date within 245 days of the date of fil-
ing. In addition, the statements of op-
erations and cash flows (if required by 
generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples) shall be provided for the pre-
ceding fiscal year and the statement of 
changes in net assets shall be provided 
for the two preceding fiscal years and 
each of the statements shall be pro-
vided for the interim period between 
the end of the preceding fiscal year and 
the date of the most recent balance 
sheet or statement of assets and liabil-
ities being filed. Financial statements 

for the corresponding period of the pre-
ceding fiscal year need not be provided. 

(c) If the most current balance sheet 
or statement of assets and liabilities in 
a filing is as of a date 245 days or more 
prior to the date the filing is expected 
to become effective, the financial 
statements shall be updated with a bal-
ance sheet or statement of assets and 
liabilities as of an interim date within 
245 days. In addition, the statements of 
operations, cash flows, and changes in 
net assets shall be provided for the in-
terim period between the end of the 
most recent fiscal year for which a bal-
ance sheet or statement of assets and 
liabilities is presented and the date of 
the most recent interim balance sheet 
or statement of assets and liabilities 
filed. 

(d) Interim financial statements pro-
vided in accordance with these require-
ments may be unaudited but shall be 
presented in the same detail as re-
quired by §§ 210.6–01 to 210.6–10. When 
unaudited financial statements are 
presented in a registration statement, 
they shall include the statement re-
quired by § 210.3–03(d). 

[46 FR 36125, July 14, 1981; 46 FR 46795, Sept. 
22, 1981, as amended at 47 FR 29837, July 9, 
1982; 47 FR 56838, Dec. 21, 1982; 57 FR 45292, 
Oct. 1, 1992; 76 FR 71875, Nov. 21, 2011] 

§ 210.3–19 [Reserved] 

§ 210.3–20 Currency for financial state-
ments of foreign private issuers. 

(a) A foreign private issuer, as de-
fined in § 230.405 of this chapter, shall 
state amounts in its primary financial 
statements in the currency which it 
deems appropriate. 

(b) The currency in which amounts in 
the financial statements are stated 
shall be disclosed prominently on the 
face of the financial statements. If 
dividends on publicly-held equity secu-
rities will be declared in a currency 
other than the reporting currency, a 
note to the financial statements shall 
identify that currency. If there are ma-
terial exchange restrictions or controls 
relating to the issuer’s reporting cur-
rency, the currency of the issuer’s 
domicile, or the currency in which the 
issuer will pay dividends, prominent 
disclosure of this fact shall be made in 
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the financial statements. If the report-
ing currency is not the U.S. dollar, dol-
lar-equivalent financial statements or 
convenience translations shall not be 
presented, except a translation may be 
presented of the most recent fiscal year 
and any subsequent interim period pre-
sented using the exchange rate as of 
the most recent balance sheet included 
in the filing, except that a rate as of 
the most recent practicable date shall 
be used if materially different. 

(c) If the financial statements of a 
foreign private issuer are stated in a 
currency of a country that has experi-
enced cumulative inflationary effects 
exceeding a total of 100 percent over 
the most recent three year period, and 
have not been recast or otherwise sup-
plemented to include information on a 
historical cost/constant currency or 
current cost basis prescribed or per-
mitted by appropriate authoritative 
standards, the issuer shall present sup-
plementary information to quantify 
the effects of changing prices upon its 
financial position and results of oper-
ations. 

(d) Notwithstanding the currency se-
lected for reporting purposes, the 
issuer shall measure separately its own 
transactions, and those of each of its 
material operations (e.g., branches, di-
visions, subsidiaries, joint ventures, 
and similar entities) that is included in 
the issuer’s consolidated financial 
statements and not located in a 
hyperinflationary environment, using 
the particular currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the 
issuer or the operation conducts its 
business. Assets and liabilities so de-
termined shall be translated into the 
reporting currency at the exchange 
rate at the balance sheet date; all reve-
nues, expenses, gains, and losses shall 
be translated at the exchange rate ex-
isting at the time of the transaction 
or, if appropriate, a weighted average 
of the exchange rates during the pe-
riod; and all translation effects of ex-
change rate changes shall be included 
as a separate component (‘‘cumulative 
translation adjustment’’) of share-
holder’s equity. For purposes of this 
paragraph, the currency of an oper-
ation’s primary economic environment 
is normally the currency in which cash 
is primarily generated and expended; a 

hyperinflationary environment is one 
that has cumulative inflation of ap-
proximately 100% or more over the 
most recent three year period. Depar-
tures from the methodology presented 
in this paragraph shall be quantified 
pursuant to Item 17(c)(2) of Form 20–F 
(§ 249.220f of this chapter). 

(e) The issuer shall state its primary 
financial statements in the same cur-
rency for all periods for which finan-
cial information is presented. If the fi-
nancial statements are stated in a cur-
rency that is different from that used 
in financial statements previously filed 
with the Commission, the issuer shall 
recast its financial statements as if the 
newly adopted currency had been used 
since at least the earliest period pre-
sented in the filing. The decision to 
change and the reason for the change 
in the reporting currency shall be dis-
closed in a note to the financial state-
ments in the period in which the 
change occurs. 

[59 FR 65631, Dec. 20, 1994, as amended at 64 
FR 53908, Oct. 5, 1999] 

CONSOLIDATED AND COMBINED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

§ 210.3A–01 Application of § 210.3A–01 
to § 210.3A–05. 

Sections 210.3A–01 to 210.3A–05 shall 
govern the presentation of consolidated 
and combined financial statements. 

[44 FR 19386, Apr. 3, 1979. Redesignated at 45 
FR 63687, Sept. 25, 1980, and amended at 50 
FR 25215, June 18, 1985] 

§ 210.3A–02 Consolidated financial 
statements of the registrant and its 
subsidiaries. 

In deciding upon consolidation pol-
icy, the registrant must consider what 
financial presentation is most mean-
ingful in the circumstances and should 
follow in the consolidated financial 
statements principles of inclusion or 
exclusion which will clearly exhibit the 
financial position and results of oper-
ations of the registrant. There is a pre-
sumption that consolidated statements 
are more meaningful than separate 
statements and that they are usually 
necessary for a fair presentation when 
one entity directly or indirectly has a 
controlling financial interest in an-
other entity. Other particular facts and 
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circumstances may require combined 
financial statements, an equity method 
of accounting, or valuation allowances 
in order to achieve a fair presentation. 
In any case, the disclosures required by 
§ 210.3A–03 should clearly explain the 
accounting policies followed by the 
registrant in this area, including the 
circumstances involved in any depar-
ture from the normal practice of con-
solidating majority owned subsidiaries 
and not consolidating entities that are 
less than majority owned. Among the 
factors that the registrant should con-
sider in determining the most mean-
ingful presentation are the following: 

(a) Majority ownership: Generally, 
registrants shall consolidate entities 
that are majority owned and shall not 
consolidate entities that are not ma-
jority owned. The determination of ma-
jority ownership requires a careful anal-
ysis of the facts and circumstances of a 
particular relationship among entities. 
In rare situations, consolidation of a 
majority owned subsidiary may not re-
sult in a fair presentation, because the 
registrant, in substance, does not have 
a controlling financial interest (for ex-
ample, when the subsidiary is in legal 
reorganization or in bankruptcy). In 
other situations, consolidation of an 
entity, notwithstanding the lack of 
technical majority ownership, is nec-
essary to present fairly the financial 
position and results of operations of 
the registrant, because of the existence 
of a parent-subsidiary relationship by 
means other than record ownership of 
voting stock. 

(b) Different fiscal periods: Generally, 
registrants shall not consolidate any 
entity whose financial statements are 
as of a date or for periods substantially 
different from those of the registrant. 
Rather, the earnings or losses of such 
entities should be reflected in the reg-
istrant’s financial statements on the 
equity method of accounting. However: 

(1) A difference in fiscal periods does 
not of itself justify the exclusion of an 
entity from consolidation. It ordinarily 
is feasible for such entity to prepare, 
for consolidation purposes, statements 
for a period which corresponds with or 
closely approaches the fiscal year of 
the registrant. Where the difference is 
not more than 93 days, it is usually ac-
ceptable to use, for consolidation pur-

poses, such entity’s statements for its 
fiscal period. Such difference, when it 
exists, should be disclosed as follows: 
the closing date of the entity should be 
expressly indicated, and the necessity 
for the use of different closing dates 
should be briefly explained. Further-
more, recognition should be given by 
disclosure or otherwise to the effect of 
intervening events which materially 
affect the financial position or results 
of operations. 

(2) Notwithstanding the 93-day provi-
sion specified in paragraph (b)(1) of this 
section, in connection with the retro-
active combination of financial state-
ments of entities following a combina-
tion between entities under common 
control, the financial statements of the 
constituents may be combined even if 
their respective fiscal periods do not 
end within 93 days, except that the fi-
nancial statements for the latest fiscal 
year shall be recast to dates which do 
not differ by more than 93 days, if prac-
ticable. Disclosure shall be made of the 
periods combined and of the sales or 
revenues, net income before extraor-
dinary items and net income of any in-
terim periods excluded from or in-
cluded more than once in results of op-
erations as a result of such recasting. 

(c) Bank Holding Company Act: Reg-
istrants shall not consolidate any sub-
sidiary or group of subsidiaries of a 
registrant subject to the Bank Holding 
Company Act of 1956 as amended as to 
which (1) a decision requiring divesti-
ture has been made, or (2) there is sub-
stantial likelihood that divestiture 
will be necessary in order to comply 
with provisions of the Bank Holding 
Company Act. 

(d) Foreign subsidiaries: Due consider-
ation shall be given to the propriety of 
consolidating with domestic corpora-
tions foreign subsidiaries which are op-
erated under political, economic or 
currency restrictions. If consolidated, 
disclosure should be made as to the ef-
fect, insofar as this can reasonably be 
determined, of foreign exchange re-
strictions upon the consolidated finan-
cial position and operating results of 
the registrant and its subsidiaries. 

[51 FR 17330, May 12, 1986, as amended at 74 
FR 18615, Apr. 23, 2009] 
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§ 210.3A–03 Statement as to principles 
of consolidation or combination fol-
lowed. 

(a) A brief description of the prin-
ciples followed in consolidating or 
combining the separate financial state-
ments, including the principles fol-
lowed in determining the inclusion or 
exclusion of (1) subsidiaries in consoli-
dated or combined financial state-
ments and (2) companies in consoli-
dated or combined financial state-
ments, shall be stated in the notes to 
the respective financial statements. 

(b) As to each consolidated financial 
statement and as to each combined fi-
nancial statement, if there has been a 
change in the persons included or ex-
cluded in the corresponding statement 
for the preceding fiscal period filed 
with the Commission which has a ma-
terial effect on the financial state-
ments, the persons included and the 
persons excluded shall be disclosed. If 
there have been any changes in the re-
spective fiscal periods of the persons 
included made during the periods of the 
report which have a material effect on 
the financial statements, indicate 
clearly such changes and the manner of 
treatment. 

[37 FR 14597, July 21, 1972. Redesignated at 45 
FR 63687, Sept. 25, 1980, and 46 FR 56179, Nov. 
16, 1981] 

§ 210.3A–04 Intercompany items and 
transactions. 

In general, there shall be eliminated 
intercompany items and transactions 
between persons included in the (a) 
consolidated financial statements 
being filed and, as appropriate, (b) un-
realized intercompany profits and 
losses on transactions between persons 
for which financial statements are 
being filed and persons the investment 
in which is presented in such state-
ments by the equity method. If such 
eliminations are not made, a statement 
of the reasons and the methods of 
treatment shall be made. 

[37 FR 14597, July 21, 1972. Redesignated at 46 
FR 56179, Nov. 16, 1981] 

RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION 

SOURCE: Sections 210.4–01 through 210.4–10 
appear at 45 FR 63669, Sept. 25, 1980, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 210.4–01 Form, order, and termi-
nology. 

(a) Financial statements should be 
filed in such form and order, and 
should use such generally accepted ter-
minology, as will best indicate their 
significance and character in the light 
of the provisions applicable thereto. 
The information required with respect 
to any statement shall be furnished as 
a minimum requirement to which shall 
be added such further material infor-
mation as is necessary to make the re-
quired statements, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they are 
made, not misleading. 

(1) Financial statements filed with 
the Commission which are not prepared 
in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles will be presumed 
to be misleading or inaccurate, despite 
footnote or other disclosures, unless 
the Commission has otherwise pro-
vided. This article and other articles of 
Regulation S-X provide clarification of 
certain disclosures which must be in-
cluded in any event, in financial state-
ments filed with the Commission. 

(2) In all filings of foreign private 
issuers (see § 230.405 of this chapter), ex-
cept as stated otherwise in the applica-
ble form, the financial statements may 
be prepared according to a comprehen-
sive set of accounting principles, other 
than those generally accepted in the 
United States or International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Stand-
ards Board, if a reconciliation to U.S. 
Generally Accepted Accounting Prin-
ciples and the provisions of Regulation 
S–X of the type specified in Item 18 of 
Form 20–F (§ 249.220f of this chapter) is 
also filed as part of the financial state-
ments. Alternatively, the financial 
statements may be prepared according 
to U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles or International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards 
Board. 

(3)(i) Notwithstanding the effective 
dates set forth in FASB ASC Topic 718, 
Compensation—Stock Compensation’’, fi-
nancial statements shall be prepared in 
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 
beginning with: 

(A) The first interim or annual re-
porting period of the registrant’s first 
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fiscal year beginning on or after June 
15, 2005, provided the registrant does 
not file as a smaller reporting com-
pany; and 

(B) The first interim or annual re-
porting period of the registrant’s first 
fiscal year beginning on or after De-
cember 15, 2005, provided the registrant 
files as a smaller reporting company. 

(ii) For periods prior to the effective 
dates set forth in this paragraph, FASB 
ASC Topic 718 and prior authoritative 
guidance, shall be considered to be gen-
erally accepted accounting principles. 

(b) All money amounts required to be 
shown in financial statements may be 
expressed in whole dollars or multiples 
thereof, as appropriate: Provided, That, 
when stated in other than whole dol-
lars, an indication to that effect is in-
serted immediately beneath the cap-
tion of the statement or schedule, at 
the top of the money columns, or at an 
appropriate point in narrative mate-
rial. 

(c) Negative amounts (red figures) 
shall be shown in a manner which 
clearly distinguishes the negative at-
tribute. When determining methods of 
display, consideration should be given 
to the limitations of reproduction and 
microfilming processes. 

[45 FR 63669, Sept. 25, 1980, as amended at 47 
FR 54767, Dec. 6, 1982; 70 FR 20719, Apr. 21, 
2005; 73 FR 953, Jan. 4, 2008; 73 FR 1009, Jan. 
4, 2008; 76 FR 50119, Aug. 12, 2011] 

§ 210.4–02 Items not material. 

If the amount which would otherwise 
be required to be shown with respect to 
any item is not material, it need not be 
separately set forth. The combination 
of insignificant amounts is permitted. 

§ 210.4–03 Inapplicable captions and 
omission of unrequired or inappli-
cable financial statements. 

(a) No caption should be shown in 
any financial statement as to which 
the items and conditions are not 
present. 

(b) Financial statements not required 
or inapplicable because the required 
matter is not present need not be filed. 

(c) The reasons for the omission of 
any required financial statements shall 
be indicated. 

§ 210.4–04 Omission of substantially 
identical notes. 

If a note covering substantially the 
same subject matter is required with 
respect to two or more financial state-
ments relating to the same or affili-
ated persons, for which separate sets of 
notes are presented, the required infor-
mation may be shown in a note to only 
one of such statements: Provided, That 
a clear and specific reference thereto is 
made in each of the other statements 
with respect to which the note is re-
quired. 

§§ 210.4–05—210.4–06 [Reserved] 

§ 210.4–07 Discount on shares. 
Discount on shares, or any 

unamortized balance thereof, shall be 
shown separately as a deduction from 
the applicable account(s) as cir-
cumstances require. 

§ 210.4–08 General notes to financial 
statements. 

If applicable to the person for which 
the financial statements are filed, the 
following shall be set forth on the face 
of the appropriate statement or in ap-
propriately captioned notes. The infor-
mation shall be provided for each 
statement required to be filed, except 
that the information required by para-
graphs (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f) shall be 
provided as of the most recent audited 
balance sheet being filed and for para-
graph (j) as specified therein. When 
specific statements are presented sepa-
rately, the pertinent notes shall ac-
company such statements unless cross- 
referencing is appropriate. 

(a) Principles of consolidation or com-
bination. With regard to consolidated or 
combined financial statements, refer to 
§§ 210.3A–01 to 3A–08 for requirements 
for supplemental information in notes 
to the financial statements. 

(b) Assets subject to lien. Assets mort-
gaged, pledged, or otherwise subject to 
lien, and the approximate amounts 
thereof, shall be designated and the ob-
ligations collateralized briefly identi-
fied. 

(c) Defaults. The facts and amounts 
concerning any default in principal, in-
terest, sinking fund, or redemption 
provisions with respect to any issue of 
securities or credit agreements, or any 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 07:58 Jul 25, 2017 Jkt 241059 PO 00000 Frm 00289 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\241059.XXX 241059js
ta

llw
or

th
 o

n 
LA

P
40

67
W

D
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 C

F
R



280 

17 CFR Ch. II (4–1–17 Edition) § 210.4–08 

breach of covenant of a related inden-
ture or agreement, which default or 
breach existed at the date of the most 
recent balance sheet being filed and 
which has not been subsequently cured, 
shall be stated in the notes to the fi-
nancial statements. If a default or 
breach exists but acceleration of the 
obligation has been waived for a stated 
period of time beyond the date of the 
most recent balance sheet being filed, 
state the amount of the obligation and 
the period of the waiver. 

(d) Preferred shares. (1) Aggregate 
preferences on involuntary liquidation, 
if other than par or stated value, shall 
be shown parenthetically in the equity 
section of the balance sheet. 

(2) Disclosure shall be made of any 
restriction upon retained earnings that 
arises from the fact that upon involun-
tary liquidation the aggregate pref-
erences of the preferred shares exceeds 
the par or stated value of such shares. 

(e) Restrictions which limit the payment 
of dividends by the registrant. (1) De-
scribe the most significant restric-
tions, other than as reported under 
paragraph (d) of this section, on the 
payment of dividends by the registrant, 
indicating their sources, their perti-
nent provisions, and the amount of re-
tained earnings or net income re-
stricted or free of restrictions. 

(2) Disclose the amount of consoli-
dated retained earnings which rep-
resents undistributed earnings of 50 
percent or less owned persons ac-
counted for by the equity method. 

(3) The disclosures in paragraphs 
(e)(3) (i) and (ii) in this section shall be 
provided when the restricted net assets 
of consolidated and unconsolidated 
subsidiaries and the parent’s equity in 
the undistributed earnings of 50 per-
cent or less owned persons accounted 
for by the equity method together ex-
ceed 25 percent of consolidated net as-
sets as of the end of the most recently 
completed fiscal year. For purposes of 
this test, restricted net assets of sub-
sidiaries shall mean that amount of the 
registrant’s proportionate share of net 
assets (after intercompany elimi-
nations) reflected in the balance sheets 
of its consolidated and unconsolidated 
subsidiaries as of the end of the most 
recent fiscal year which may not be 
transferred to the parent company in 

the form of loans, advances or cash 
dividends by the subsidiaries without 
the consent of a third party (i.e., lend-
er, regulatory agency, foreign govern-
ment, etc.). Not all limitations on 
transferability of assets are considered 
to be restrictions for purposes of this 
test, which considers only specific 
third party restrictions on the ability 
of subsidiaries to transfer funds outside 
of the entity. For example, the pres-
ence of subsidiary debt which is se-
cured by certain of the subsidiary’s as-
sets does not constitute a restriction 
under this rule. However, if there are 
any loan provisions prohibiting divi-
dend payments, loans or advances to 
the parent by a subsidiary, these are 
considered restrictions for purposes of 
computing restricted net assets. When 
a loan agreement requires that a sub-
sidiary maintain certain working cap-
ital, net tangible asset, or net asset 
levels, or where formal compensating 
arrangements exist, there is considered 
to be a restriction under the rule be-
cause the lender’s intent is normally to 
preclude the transfer by dividend or 
otherwise of funds to the parent com-
pany. Similarly, a provision which re-
quires that a subsidiary reinvest all of 
its earnings is a restriction, since this 
precludes loans, advances or dividends 
in the amount of such undistributed 
earnings by the entity. Where restric-
tions on the amount of funds which 
may be loaned or advanced differ from 
the amount restricted as to transfer in 
the form of cash dividends, the amount 
least restrictive to the subsidiary shall 
be used. Redeemable preferred stocks 
(§ 210.5–02.27) and noncontrolling inter-
ests shall be deducted in computing net 
assets for purposes of this test. 

(i) Describe the nature of any restric-
tions on the ability of consolidated 
subsidiaries and unconsolidated sub-
sidiaries to transfer funds to the reg-
istrant in the form of cash dividends, 
loans or advances (i.e., borrowing ar-
rangements, regulatory restraints, for-
eign government, etc.). 

(ii) Disclose separately the amounts 
of such restricted net assets for uncon-
solidated subsidiaries and consolidated 
subsidiaries as of the end of the most 
recently completed fiscal year. 

(f) Significant changes in bonds, mort-
gages and similar debt. Any significant 
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changes in the authorized or issued 
amounts of bonds, mortgages and simi-
lar debt since the date of the latest bal-
ance sheet being filed for a particular 
person or group shall be stated. 

(g) Summarized financial information of 
subsidiaries not consolidated and 50 per-
cent or less owned persons. (1) The sum-
marized information as to assets, li-
abilities and results of operations as 
detailed in § 210.1–02(bb) shall be pre-
sented in notes to the financial state-
ments on an individual or group basis 
for: 

(i) Subsidiaries not consolidated; or 
(ii) For 50 percent or less owned per-

sons accounted for by the equity meth-
od by the registrant or by a subsidiary 
of the registrant, if the criteria in 
§ 210.1–02(w) for a significant subsidiary 
are met: 

(A) Individually by any subsidiary 
not consolidated or any 50% or less 
owned person; or 

(B) On an aggregated basis by any 
combination of such subsidiaries and 
persons. 

(2) Summarized financial information 
shall be presented insofar as is prac-
ticable as of the same dates and for the 
same periods as the audited consoli-
dated financial statements provided 
and shall include the disclosures pre-
scribed by § 210.1–02(bb). Summarized 
information of subsidiaries not consoli-
dated shall not be combined for disclo-
sure purposes with the summarized in-
formation of 50 percent or less owned 
persons. 

(h) Income tax expense. (1) Disclosure 
shall be made in the income statement 
or a note thereto, of (i) the components 
of income (loss) before income tax ex-
pense (benefit) as either domestic or 
foreign; (ii) the components of income 
tax expense, including (A) taxes cur-
rently payable and (B) the net tax ef-
fects, as applicable, of timing dif-
ferences (indicate separately the 
amount of the estimated tax effect of 
each of the various types of timing dif-
ferences, such as depreciation, war-
ranty costs, etc., where the amount of 
each such tax effect exceeds five per-
cent of the amount computed by multi-
plying the income before tax by the ap-
plicable statutory Federal income tax 
rate; other differences may be com-
bined.) 

NOTE: Amounts applicable to United States 
Federal income taxes, to foreign income 
taxes and the other income taxes shall be 
stated separately for each major component. 
Amounts applicable to foreign income (loss) 
and amounts applicable to foreign or other 
income taxes which are less than five per-
cent of the total of income before taxes or 
the component of tax expense, respectively, 
need not be separately disclosed. For pur-
poses of this rule, foreign income (loss) is de-
fined as income (loss) generated from a reg-
istrant’s foreign operations, i.e., operations 
that are located outside of the registrant’s 
home country. 

(2) Provide a reconciliation between 
the amount of reported total income 
tax expense (benefit) and the amount 
computed by multiplying the income 
(loss) before tax by the applicable stat-
utory Federal income tax rate, showing 
the estimated dollar amount of each of 
the underlying causes for the dif-
ference. If no individual reconciling 
item amounts to more than five per-
cent of the amount computed by multi-
plying the income before tax by the ap-
plicable statutory Federal income tax 
rate, and the total difference to be rec-
onciled is less than five percent of such 
computed amount, no reconciliation 
need be provided unless it would be sig-
nificant in appraising the trend of 
earnings. Reconciling items that are 
individually less than five percent of 
the computed amount may be aggre-
gated in the reconciliation. The rec-
onciliation may be presented in per-
centages rather than in dollar 
amounts. Where the reporting person is 
a foreign entity, the income tax rate in 
that person’s country of domicile 
should normally be used in making the 
above computation, but different rates 
should not be used for subsidiaries or 
other segments of a reporting entity. 
When the rate used by a reporting per-
son is other than the United States 
Federal corporate income tax rate, the 
rate used and the basis for using such 
rate shall be disclosed. 

(3) Paragraphs (h) (1) and (2) of this 
section shall be applied in the fol-
lowing manner to financial statements 
which reflect the adoption of FASB 
ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes. 

(i) The disclosures required by para-
graph (h)(1)(ii) of this section and by 
the parenthetical instruction at the 
end of paragraph (h)(1) of this section 
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and by the introductory sentence of 
paragraph (h)(2) of this section shall 
not apply. 

(ii) The instructional note between 
paragraphs (h) (1) and (2) of this section 
and the balance of the requirements of 
paragraphs (h) (1) and (2) of this section 
shall continue to apply. 

(i) Warrants or rights outstanding. In-
formation with respect to warrants or 
rights outstanding at the date of the 
related balance sheet shall be set forth 
as follows: 

(1) Title of issue of securities called 
for by warrants or rights. 

(2) Aggregate amount of securities 
called for by warrants or rights out-
standing. 

(3) Date from which warrants or 
rights are exercisable. 

(4) Price at which warrant or right is 
exercisable. 

(j) [Reserved] 
(k) Related party transactions which 

affect the financial statements. (1) Re-
lated party transactions should be 
identified and the amounts stated on 
the face of the balance sheet, income 
statement, or statement of cash flows. 

(2) In cases where separate financial 
statements are presented for the reg-
istrant, certain investees, or subsidi-
aries, separate disclosure shall be made 
in such statements of the amounts in 
the related consolidated financial 
statements which are (i) eliminated 
and (ii) not eliminated. Also, any inter-
company profits or losses resulting 
from transactions with related parties 
and not eliminated and the effects 
thereof shall be disclosed. 

(l) [Reserved] 
(m) Repurchase and reverse repurchase 

agreements—(1) Repurchase agreements 
(assets sold under agreements to repur-
chase). (i) If, as of the most recent bal-
ance sheet date, the carrying amount 
(or market value, if higher than the 
carrying amount or if there is no car-
rying amount) of the securities or 
other assets sold under agreements to 
repurchase (repurchase agreements) ex-
ceeds 10% of total assets, disclose sepa-
rately in the balance sheet the aggre-
gate amount of liabilities incurred pur-
suant to repurchase agreements includ-
ing accrued interest payable thereon. 

(ii)(A) If, as of the most recent bal-
ance sheet date, the carrying amount 

(or market value, if higher than the 
carrying amount) of securities or other 
assets sold under repurchase agree-
ments, other than securities or assets 
specified in paragraph (m)(1)(ii)(B) of 
this section, exceeds 10% of total as-
sets, disclose in an appropriately cap-
tioned footnote containing a tabular 
presentation, segregated as to type of 
such securities or assets sold under 
agreements to repurchase (e.g., U.S. 
Treasury obligations, U.S. Government 
agency obligations and loans), the fol-
lowing information as of the balance 
sheet date for each such agreement or 
group of agreements (other than agree-
ments involving securities or assets 
specified in paragraph (m)(1)(ii)(B) of 
this section) maturing (1) overnight; (2) 
term up to 30 days; (3) term of 30 to 90 
days; (4) term over 90 days and (5) de-
mand: 

(i) The carrying amount and market 
value of the assets sold under agree-
ment to repurchase, including accrued 
interest plus any cash or other assets 
on deposit under the repurchase agree-
ments; and 

(ii) The repurchase liability associ-
ated with such transaction or group of 
transactions and the interest rate(s) 
thereon. 

(B) For purposes of paragraph 
(m)(1)(ii)(A) of this section only, do not 
include securities or other assets for 
which unrealized changes in market 
value are reported in current income or 
which have been obtained under re-
verse repurchase agreements. 

(iii) If, as of the most recent balance 
sheet date, the amount at risk under 
repurchase agreements with any indi-
vidual counterparty or group of related 
counterparties exceeds 10% of stock-
holders’ equity (or in the case of in-
vestment companies, net asset value), 
disclose the name of each such 
counterparty or group of related 
counterparties, the amount at risk 
with each, and the weighted average 
maturity of the repurchase agreements 
with each. The amount at risk under 
repurchase agreements is defined as 
the excess of carrying amount (or mar-
ket value, if higher than the carrying 
amount or if there is no carrying 
amount) of the securities or other as-
sets sold under agreement to repur-
chase, including accrued interest plus 
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any cash or other assets on deposit to 
secure the repurchase obligation, over 
the amount of the repurchase liability 
(adjusted for accrued interest). (Cash 
deposits in connection with repurchase 
agreements shall not be reported as un-
restricted cash pursuant to rule 5–02.1.) 

(2) Reverse repurchase agreements (as-
sets purchased under agreements to re-
sell). (i) If, as of the most recent bal-
ance sheet date, the aggregate carrying 
amount of reverse repurchase agreements 
(securities or other assets purchased 
under agreements to resell) exceeds 
10% of total assets: (A) Disclose sepa-
rately such amount in the balance 
sheet; and (B) disclose in an appro-
priately captioned footnote: (1) The 
registrant’s policy with regard to tak-
ing possession of securities or other as-
sets purchased under agreements to re-
sell; and (2) whether or not there are 
any provisions to ensure that the mar-
ket value of the underlying assets re-
mains sufficient to protect the reg-
istrant in the event of default by the 
counterparty and if so, the nature of 
those provisions. 

(ii) If, as of the most recent balance 
sheet date, the amount at risk under 
reverse repurchase agreements with 
any individual counterparty or group 
of related counterparties exceeds 10% 
of stockholders’ equity (or in the case 
of investment companies, net asset 
value), disclose the name of each such 
counterparty or group of related 
counterparties, the amount at risk 
with each, and the weighted average 
maturity of the reverse repurchase 
agreements with each. The amount at 
risk under reverse repurchase agree-
ments is defined as the excess of the 
carrying amount of the reverse repur-
chase agreements over the market 
value of assets delivered pursuant to 
the agreements by the counterparty to 
the registrant (or to a third party 
agent that has affirmatively agreed to 
act on behalf of the registrant) and not 
returned to the counterparty, exept in 
exchange for their approximate market 
value in a separate transaction. 

(n) Accounting policies for certain de-
rivative instruments. Disclosures regard-
ing accounting policies shall include 
descriptions of the accounting policies 
used for derivative financial instru-
ments and derivative commodity in-

struments and the methods of applying 
those policies that materially affect 
the determination of financial posi-
tion, cash flows, or results of oper-
ation. This description shall include, to 
the extent material, each of the fol-
lowing items: 

(1) A discussion of each method used 
to account for derivative financial in-
struments and derivative commodity 
instruments; 

(2) The types of derivative financial 
instruments and derivative commodity 
instruments accounted for under each 
method; (3) The criteria required to be 
met for each accounting method used, 
including a discussion of the criteria 
required to be met for hedge or deferral 
accounting and accrual or settlement 
accounting (e.g., whether and how risk 
reduction, correlation, designation, 
and effectiveness tests are applied); 

(4) The accounting method used if the 
criteria specified in paragraph (n)(3) of 
this section are not met; 

(5) The method used to account for 
terminations of derivatives designated 
as hedges or derivatives used to affect 
directly or indirectly the terms, fair 
values, or cash flows of a designated 
item; 

(6) The method used to account for 
derivatives when the designated item 
matures, is sold, is extinguished, or is 
terminated. In addition, the method 
used to account for derivatives des-
ignated to an anticipated transaction, 
when the anticipated transaction is no 
longer likely to occur; and 

(7) Where and when derivative finan-
cial instruments and derivative com-
modity instruments, and their related 
gains and losses, are reported in the 
statements of financial position, cash 
flows, and results of operations. 

Instructions to paragraph (n): 1. For purposes 
of this paragraph (n), derivative financial in-
struments and derivative commodity instru-
ments (collectively referred to as ‘‘deriva-
tives’’) are defined as follows: 

(i) Derivative financial instruments have the 
same meaning as defined by generally ac-
cepted accounting principles (see, e.g., FASB 
ASC Master Glossary, and include futures, 
forwards, swaps, options, and other financial 
instruments with similar characteristics. 

(ii) Derivative commodity instruments in-
clude, to the extent such instruments are 
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not derivative financial instruments, com-
modity futures, commodity forwards, com-
modity swaps, commodity options, and other 
commodity instruments with similar charac-
teristics that are permitted by contract or 
business custom to be settled in cash or with 
another financial instrument. For purposes 
of this paragraph, settlement in cash in-
cludes settlement in cash of the net change 
in value of the derivative commodity instru-
ment (e.g., net cash settlement based on 
changes in the price of the underlying com-
modity). 

2. For purposes of paragraphs (n)(2), (n)(3), 
(n)(4), and (n)(7), the required disclosures 
should address separately derivatives en-
tered into for trading purposes and deriva-
tives entered into for purposes other than 
trading. For purposes of this paragraph, trad-
ing purposes means dealing and other trading 
activities measured at fair value with gains 
and losses recognized in earnings. 

3. For purposes of paragraph (n)(6), antici-
pated transactions means transactions (other 
than transactions involving existing assets 
or liabilities or transactions necessitated by 
existing firm commitments) an enterprise 
expects, but is not obligated, to carry out in 
the normal course of business. 

4. Registrants should provide disclosures 
required under paragraph (n) in filings with 
the Commission that include financial state-
ments of fiscal periods ending after June 15, 
1997. 

[45 FR 63669, Sept. 25, 1980, as amended at 46 
FR 56179, Nov. 16, 1981; 50 FR 25215, June 18, 
1985; 50 FR 49532, Dec. 3, 1985; 51 FR 3770, Jan. 
30, 1986; 57 FR 45293, Oct. 1, 1992; 59 FR 65636, 
Dec. 20, 1994; 62 FR 6063, Feb. 10, 1997; 74 FR 
18615, Apr. 23, 2009; 76 FR 50119, Aug. 12, 2011] 

§ 210.4–9 [Reserved] 

§ 210.4–10 Financial accounting and 
reporting for oil and gas producing 
activities pursuant to the Federal 
securities laws and the Energy Pol-
icy and Conservation Act of 1975. 

This section prescribes financial ac-
counting and reporting standards for 
registrants with the Commission en-
gaged in oil and gas producing activi-
ties in filings under the Federal securi-
ties laws and for the preparation of ac-
counts by persons engaged, in whole or 
in part, in the production of crude oil 
or natural gas in the United States, 
pursuant to section 503 of the Energy 
Policy and Conservation Act of 1975 (42 
U.S.C. 6383) (EPCA) and section 11(c) of 
the Energy Supply and Environmental 
Coordination Act of 1974 (15 U.S.C. 796) 
(ESECA), as amended by section 505 of 
EPCA. The application of this section 

to those oil and gas producing oper-
ations of companies regulated for rate-
making purposes on an individual-com-
pany-cost-of-service basis may, how-
ever, give appropriate recognition to 
differences arising because of the effect 
of the ratemaking process. 

Exemption. Any person exempted by the 
Department of Energy from any 
record-keeping or reporting require-
ments pursuant to section 11(c) of 
ESECA, as amended, is similarly ex-
empted from the related provisions of 
this section in the preparation of ac-
counts pursuant to EPCA. This exemp-
tion does not affect the applicability of 
this section to filings pursuant to the 
Federal securities laws. 

DEFINITIONS 

(a) Definitions. The following defini-
tions apply to the terms listed below as 
they are used in this section: 

(1) Acquisition of properties. Costs in-
curred to purchase, lease or otherwise 
acquire a property, including costs of 
lease bonuses and options to purchase 
or lease properties, the portion of costs 
applicable to minerals when land in-
cluding mineral rights is purchased in 
fee, brokers’ fees, recording fees, legal 
costs, and other costs incurred in ac-
quiring properties. 

(2) Analogous reservoir. Analogous res-
ervoirs, as used in resources assess-
ments, have similar rock and fluid 
properties, reservoir conditions (depth, 
temperature, and pressure) and drive 
mechanisms, but are typically at a 
more advanced stage of development 
than the reservoir of interest and thus 
may provide concepts to assist in the 
interpretation of more limited data 
and estimation of recovery. When used 
to support proved reserves, an ‘‘analo-
gous reservoir’’ refers to a reservoir 
that shares the following characteris-
tics with the reservoir of interest: 

(i) Same geological formation (but 
not necessarily in pressure communica-
tion with the reservoir of interest); 

(ii) Same environment of deposition; 
(iii) Similar geological structure; and 
(iv) Same drive mechanism. 

Instruction to paragraph (a)(2): Reservoir 
properties must, in the aggregate, be no 
more favorable in the analog than in the res-
ervoir of interest. 
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(3) Bitumen. Bitumen, sometimes re-
ferred to as natural bitumen, is petro-
leum in a solid or semi-solid state in 
natural deposits with a viscosity great-
er than 10,000 centipoise measured at 
original temperature in the deposit and 
atmospheric pressure, on a gas free 
basis. In its natural state it usually 
contains sulfur, metals, and other non- 
hydrocarbons. 

(4) Condensate. Condensate is a mix-
ture of hydrocarbons that exists in the 
gaseous phase at original reservoir 
temperature and pressure, but that, 
when produced, is in the liquid phase at 
surface pressure and temperature. 

(5) Deterministic estimate. The method 
of estimating reserves or resources is 
called deterministic when a single 
value for each parameter (from the 
geoscience, engineering, or economic 
data) in the reserves calculation is 
used in the reserves estimation proce-
dure. 

(6) Developed oil and gas reserves. De-
veloped oil and gas reserves are re-
serves of any category that can be ex-
pected to be recovered: 

(i) Through existing wells with exist-
ing equipment and operating methods 
or in which the cost of the required 
equipment is relatively minor com-
pared to the cost of a new well; and 

(ii) Through installed extraction 
equipment and infrastructure oper-
ational at the time of the reserves esti-
mate if the extraction is by means not 
involving a well. 

(7) Development costs. Costs incurred 
to obtain access to proved reserves and 
to provide facilities for extracting, 
treating, gathering and storing the oil 
and gas. More specifically, develop-
ment costs, including depreciation and 
applicable operating costs of support 
equipment and facilities and other 
costs of development activities, are 
costs incurred to: 

(i) Gain access to and prepare well lo-
cations for drilling, including sur-
veying well locations for the purpose of 
determining specific development drill-
ing sites, clearing ground, draining, 
road building, and relocating public 
roads, gas lines, and power lines, to the 
extent necessary in developing the 
proved reserves. 

(ii) Drill and equip development 
wells, development-type stratigraphic 

test wells, and service wells, including 
the costs of platforms and of well 
equipment such as casing, tubing, 
pumping equipment, and the wellhead 
assembly. 

(iii) Acquire, construct, and install 
production facilities such as lease flow 
lines, separators, treaters, heaters, 
manifolds, measuring devices, and pro-
duction storage tanks, natural gas cy-
cling and processing plants, and cen-
tral utility and waste disposal systems. 

(iv) Provide improved recovery sys-
tems. 

(8) Development project. A develop-
ment project is the means by which pe-
troleum resources are brought to the 
status of economically producible. As 
examples, the development of a single 
reservoir or field, an incremental de-
velopment in a producing field, or the 
integrated development of a group of 
several fields and associated facilities 
with a common ownership may con-
stitute a development project. 

(9) Development well. A well drilled 
within the proved area of an oil or gas 
reservoir to the depth of a strati-
graphic horizon known to be produc-
tive. 

(10) Economically producible. The term 
economically producible, as it relates 
to a resource, means a resource which 
generates revenue that exceeds, or is 
reasonably expected to exceed, the 
costs of the operation. The value of the 
products that generate revenue shall be 
determined at the terminal point of oil 
and gas producing activities as defined 
in paragraph (a)(16) of this section. 

(11) Estimated ultimate recovery (EUR). 
Estimated ultimate recovery is the 
sum of reserves remaining as of a given 
date and cumulative production as of 
that date. 

(12) Exploration costs. Costs incurred 
in identifying areas that may warrant 
examination and in examining specific 
areas that are considered to have pros-
pects of containing oil and gas re-
serves, including costs of drilling ex-
ploratory wells and exploratory-type 
stratigraphic test wells. Exploration 
costs may be incurred both before ac-
quiring the related property (some-
times referred to in part as prospecting 
costs) and after acquiring the property. 
Principal types of exploration costs, 
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which include depreciation and appli-
cable operating costs of support equip-
ment and facilities and other costs of 
exploration activities, are: 

(i) Costs of topographical, geo-
graphical and geophysical studies, 
rights of access to properties to con-
duct those studies, and salaries and 
other expenses of geologists, geo-
physical crews, and others conducting 
those studies. Collectively, these are 
sometimes referred to as geological 
and geophysical or G&G costs. 

(ii) Costs of carrying and retaining 
undeveloped properties, such as delay 
rentals, ad valorem taxes on prop-
erties, legal costs for title defense, and 
the maintenance of land and lease 
records. 

(iii) Dry hole contributions and bot-
tom hole contributions. 

(iv) Costs of drilling and equipping 
exploratory wells. 

(v) Costs of drilling exploratory-type 
stratigraphic test wells. 

(13) Exploratory well. An exploratory 
well is a well drilled to find a new field 
or to find a new reservoir in a field pre-
viously found to be productive of oil or 
gas in another reservoir. Generally, an 
exploratory well is any well that is not 
a development well, an extension well, 
a service well, or a stratigraphic test 
well as those items are defined in this 
section. 

(14) Extension well. An extension well 
is a well drilled to extend the limits of 
a known reservoir. 

(15) Field. An area consisting of a sin-
gle reservoir or multiple reservoirs all 
grouped on or related to the same indi-
vidual geological structural feature 
and/or stratigraphic condition. There 
may be two or more reservoirs in a 
field that are separated vertically by 
intervening impervious, strata, or lat-
erally by local geologic barriers, or by 
both. Reservoirs that are associated by 
being in overlapping or adjacent fields 
may be treated as a single or common 
operational field. The geological terms 
structural feature and stratigraphic con-
dition are intended to identify localized 
geological features as opposed to the 
broader terms of basins, trends, prov-
inces, plays, areas-of-interest, etc. 

(16) Oil and gas producing activities. (i) 
Oil and gas producing activities in-
clude: 

(A) The search for crude oil, includ-
ing condensate and natural gas liquids, 
or natural gas (‘‘oil and gas’’) in their 
natural states and original locations; 

(B) The acquisition of property rights 
or properties for the purpose of further 
exploration or for the purpose of re-
moving the oil or gas from such prop-
erties; 

(C) The construction, drilling, and 
production activities necessary to re-
trieve oil and gas from their natural 
reservoirs, including the acquisition, 
construction, installation, and mainte-
nance of field gathering and storage 
systems, such as: 

(1) Lifting the oil and gas to the sur-
face; and 

(2) Gathering, treating, and field 
processing (as in the case of processing 
gas to extract liquid hydrocarbons); 
and 

(D) Extraction of saleable hydro-
carbons, in the solid, liquid, or gaseous 
state, from oil sands, shale, coalbeds, 
or other nonrenewable natural re-
sources which are intended to be up-
graded into synthetic oil or gas, and 
activities undertaken with a view to 
such extraction. 

Instruction 1 to paragraph (a)(16)(i): The oil 
and gas production function shall be re-
garded as ending at a ‘‘terminal point’’, 
which is the outlet valve on the lease or field 
storage tank. If unusual physical or oper-
ational circumstances exist, it may be ap-
propriate to regard the terminal point for 
the production function as: 

a. The first point at which oil, gas, or gas 
liquids, natural or synthetic, are delivered to 
a main pipeline, a common carrier, a refin-
ery, or a marine terminal; and 

b. In the case of natural resources that are 
intended to be upgraded into synthetic oil or 
gas, if those natural resources are delivered 
to a purchaser prior to upgrading, the first 
point at which the natural resources are de-
livered to a main pipeline, a common carrier, 
a refinery, a marine terminal, or a facility 
which upgrades such natural resources into 
synthetic oil or gas. 

Instruction 2 to paragraph (a)(16)(i): For pur-
poses of this paragraph (a)(16), the term sale-
able hydrocarbons means hydrocarbons that 
are saleable in the state in which the hydro-
carbons are delivered. 

(ii) Oil and gas producing activities 
do not include: 

(A) Transporting, refining, or mar-
keting oil and gas; 
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(B) Processing of produced oil, gas or 
natural resources that can be upgraded 
into synthetic oil or gas by a reg-
istrant that does not have the legal 
right to produce or a revenue interest 
in such production; 

(C) Activities relating to the produc-
tion of natural resources other than 
oil, gas, or natural resources from 
which synthetic oil and gas can be ex-
tracted; or 

(D) Production of geothermal steam. 
(17) Possible reserves. Possible reserves 

are those additional reserves that are 
less certain to be recovered than prob-
able reserves. 

(i) When deterministic methods are 
used, the total quantities ultimately 
recovered from a project have a low 
probability of exceeding proved plus 
probable plus possible reserves. When 
probabilistic methods are used, there 
should be at least a 10% probability 
that the total quantities ultimately re-
covered will equal or exceed the proved 
plus probable plus possible reserves es-
timates. 

(ii) Possible reserves may be assigned 
to areas of a reservoir adjacent to prob-
able reserves where data control and 
interpretations of available data are 
progressively less certain. Frequently, 
this will be in areas where geoscience 
and engineering data are unable to de-
fine clearly the area and vertical limits 
of commercial production from the res-
ervoir by a defined project. 

(iii) Possible reserves also include in-
cremental quantities associated with a 
greater percentage recovery of the hy-
drocarbons in place than the recovery 
quantities assumed for probable re-
serves. 

(iv) The proved plus probable and 
proved plus probable plus possible re-
serves estimates must be based on rea-
sonable alternative technical and com-
mercial interpretations within the res-
ervoir or subject project that are clear-
ly documented, including comparisons 
to results in successful similar 
projects. 

(v) Possible reserves may be assigned 
where geoscience and engineering data 
identify directly adjacent portions of a 
reservoir within the same accumula-
tion that may be separated from 
proved areas by faults with displace-
ment less than formation thickness or 

other geological discontinuities and 
that have not been penetrated by a 
wellbore, and the registrant believes 
that such adjacent portions are in com-
munication with the known (proved) 
reservoir. Possible reserves may be as-
signed to areas that are structurally 
higher or lower than the proved area if 
these areas are in communication with 
the proved reservoir. 

(vi) Pursuant to paragraph (a)(22)(iii) 
of this section, where direct observa-
tion has defined a highest known oil 
(HKO) elevation and the potential ex-
ists for an associated gas cap, proved 
oil reserves should be assigned in the 
structurally higher portions of the res-
ervoir above the HKO only if the higher 
contact can be established with reason-
able certainty through reliable tech-
nology. Portions of the reservoir that 
do not meet this reasonable certainty 
criterion may be assigned as probable 
and possible oil or gas based on res-
ervoir fluid properties and pressure 
gradient interpretations. 

(18) Probable reserves. Probable re-
serves are those additional reserves 
that are less certain to be recovered 
than proved reserves but which, to-
gether with proved reserves, are as 
likely as not to be recovered. 

(i) When deterministic methods are 
used, it is as likely as not that actual 
remaining quantities recovered will ex-
ceed the sum of estimated proved plus 
probable reserves. When probabilistic 
methods are used, there should be at 
least a 50% probability that the actual 
quantities recovered will equal or ex-
ceed the proved plus probable reserves 
estimates. 

(ii) Probable reserves may be as-
signed to areas of a reservoir adjacent 
to proved reserves where data control 
or interpretations of available data are 
less certain, even if the interpreted res-
ervoir continuity of structure or pro-
ductivity does not meet the reasonable 
certainty criterion. Probable reserves 
may be assigned to areas that are 
structurally higher than the proved 
area if these areas are in communica-
tion with the proved reservoir. 

(iii) Probable reserves estimates also 
include potential incremental quan-
tities associated with a greater per-
centage recovery of the hydrocarbons 
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in place than assumed for proved re-
serves. 

(iv) See also guidelines in paragraphs 
(a)(17)(iv) and (a)(17)(vi) of this section. 

(19) Probabilistic estimate. The method 
of estimation of reserves or resources 
is called probabilistic when the full 
range of values that could reasonably 
occur for each unknown parameter 
(from the geoscience and engineering 
data) is used to generate a full range of 
possible outcomes and their associated 
probabilities of occurrence. 

(20) Production costs. (i) Costs in-
curred to operate and maintain wells 
and related equipment and facilities, 
including depreciation and applicable 
operating costs of support equipment 
and facilities and other costs of oper-
ating and maintaining those wells and 
related equipment and facilities. They 
become part of the cost of oil and gas 
produced. Examples of production costs 
(sometimes called lifting costs) are: 

(A) Costs of labor to operate the 
wells and related equipment and facili-
ties. 

(B) Repairs and maintenance. 
(C) Materials, supplies, and fuel con-

sumed and supplies utilized in oper-
ating the wells and related equipment 
and facilities. 

(D) Property taxes and insurance ap-
plicable to proved properties and wells 
and related equipment and facilities. 

(E) Severance taxes. 
(ii) Some support equipment or fa-

cilities may serve two or more oil and 
gas producing activities and may also 
serve transportation, refining, and 
marketing activities. To the extent 
that the support equipment and facili-
ties are used in oil and gas producing 
activities, their depreciation and appli-
cable operating costs become explo-
ration, development or production 
costs, as appropriate. Depreciation, de-
pletion, and amortization of capital-
ized acquisition, exploration, and de-
velopment costs are not production 
costs but also become part of the cost 
of oil and gas produced along with pro-
duction (lifting) costs identified above. 

(21) Proved area. The part of a prop-
erty to which proved reserves have 
been specifically attributed. 

(22) Proved oil and gas reserves. Proved 
oil and gas reserves are those quan-
tities of oil and gas, which, by analysis 

of geoscience and engineering data, can 
be estimated with reasonable certainty 
to be economically producible—from a 
given date forward, from known res-
ervoirs, and under existing economic 
conditions, operating methods, and 
government regulations—prior to the 
time at which contracts providing the 
right to operate expire, unless evidence 
indicates that renewal is reasonably 
certain, regardless of whether deter-
ministic or probabilistic methods are 
used for the estimation. The project to 
extract the hydrocarbons must have 
commenced or the operator must be 
reasonably certain that it will com-
mence the project within a reasonable 
time. 

(i) The area of the reservoir consid-
ered as proved includes: 

(A) The area identified by drilling 
and limited by fluid contacts, if any, 
and 

(B) Adjacent undrilled portions of the 
reservoir that can, with reasonable cer-
tainty, be judged to be continuous with 
it and to contain economically produc-
ible oil or gas on the basis of available 
geoscience and engineering data. 

(ii) In the absence of data on fluid 
contacts, proved quantities in a res-
ervoir are limited by the lowest known 
hydrocarbons (LKH) as seen in a well 
penetration unless geoscience, engi-
neering, or performance data and reli-
able technology establishes a lower 
contact with reasonable certainty. 

(iii) Where direct observation from 
well penetrations has defined a highest 
known oil (HKO) elevation and the po-
tential exists for an associated gas cap, 
proved oil reserves may be assigned in 
the structurally higher portions of the 
reservoir only if geoscience, engineer-
ing, or performance data and reliable 
technology establish the higher con-
tact with reasonable certainty. 

(iv) Reserves which can be produced 
economically through application of 
improved recovery techniques (includ-
ing, but not limited to, fluid injection) 
are included in the proved classifica-
tion when: 

(A) Successful testing by a pilot 
project in an area of the reservoir with 
properties no more favorable than in 
the reservoir as a whole, the operation 
of an installed program in the reservoir 
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or an analogous reservoir, or other evi-
dence using reliable technology estab-
lishes the reasonable certainty of the 
engineering analysis on which the 
project or program was based; and 

(B) The project has been approved for 
development by all necessary parties 
and entities, including governmental 
entities. 

(v) Existing economic conditions in-
clude prices and costs at which eco-
nomic producibility from a reservoir is 
to be determined. The price shall be 
the average price during the 12-month 
period prior to the ending date of the 
period covered by the report, deter-
mined as an unweighted arithmetic av-
erage of the first-day-of-the-month 
price for each month within such pe-
riod, unless prices are defined by con-
tractual arrangements, excluding esca-
lations based upon future conditions. 

(23) Proved properties. Properties with 
proved reserves. 

(24) Reasonable certainty. If deter-
ministic methods are used, reasonable 
certainty means a high degree of con-
fidence that the quantities will be re-
covered. If probabilistic methods are 
used, there should be at least a 90% 
probability that the quantities actu-
ally recovered will equal or exceed the 
estimate. A high degree of confidence 
exists if the quantity is much more 
likely to be achieved than not, and, as 
changes due to increased availability 
of geoscience (geological, geophysical, 
and geochemical), engineering, and 
economic data are made to estimated 
ultimate recovery (EUR) with time, 
reasonably certain EUR is much more 
likely to increase or remain constant 
than to decrease. 

(25) Reliable technology. Reliable tech-
nology is a grouping of one or more 
technologies (including computational 
methods) that has been field tested and 
has been demonstrated to provide rea-
sonably certain results with consist-
ency and repeatability in the forma-
tion being evaluated or in an analogous 
formation. 

(26) Reserves. Reserves are estimated 
remaining quantities of oil and gas and 
related substances anticipated to be 
economically producible, as of a given 
date, by application of development 
projects to known accumulations. In 
addition, there must exist, or there 

must be a reasonable expectation that 
there will exist, the legal right to 
produce or a revenue interest in the 
production, installed means of deliv-
ering oil and gas or related substances 
to market, and all permits and financ-
ing required to implement the project. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (a)(26): Reserves 
should not be assigned to adjacent reservoirs 
isolated by major, potentially sealing, faults 
until those reservoirs are penetrated and 
evaluated as economically producible. Re-
serves should not be assigned to areas that 
are clearly separated from a known accumu-
lation by a non-productive reservoir (i.e., ab-
sence of reservoir, structurally low reservoir, 
or negative test results). Such areas may 
contain prospective resources (i.e., poten-
tially recoverable resources from undis-
covered accumulations). 

(27) Reservoir. A porous and per-
meable underground formation con-
taining a natural accumulation of pro-
ducible oil and/or gas that is confined 
by impermeable rock or water barriers 
and is individual and separate from 
other reservoirs. 

(28) Resources. Resources are quan-
tities of oil and gas estimated to exist 
in naturally occurring accumulations. 
A portion of the resources may be esti-
mated to be recoverable, and another 
portion may be considered to be unre-
coverable. Resources include both dis-
covered and undiscovered accumula-
tions. 

(29) Service well. A well drilled or 
completed for the purpose of sup-
porting production in an existing field. 
Specific purposes of service wells in-
clude gas injection, water injection, 
steam injection, air injection, salt- 
water disposal, water supply for injec-
tion, observation, or injection for in- 
situ combustion. 

(30) Stratigraphic test well. A strati-
graphic test well is a drilling effort, 
geologically directed, to obtain infor-
mation pertaining to a specific geo-
logic condition. Such wells custom-
arily are drilled without the intent of 
being completed for hydrocarbon pro-
duction. The classification also in-
cludes tests identified as core tests and 
all types of expendable holes related to 
hydrocarbon exploration. Stratigraphic 
tests are classified as ‘‘exploratory 
type’’ if not drilled in a known area or 
‘‘development type’’ if drilled in a 
known area. 
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(31) Undeveloped oil and gas reserves. 
Undeveloped oil and gas reserves are 
reserves of any category that are ex-
pected to be recovered from new wells 
on undrilled acreage, or from existing 
wells where a relatively major expendi-
ture is required for recompletion. 

(i) Reserves on undrilled acreage 
shall be limited to those directly off-
setting development spacing areas that 
are reasonably certain of production 
when drilled, unless evidence using re-
liable technology exists that estab-
lishes reasonable certainty of economic 
producibility at greater distances. 

(ii) Undrilled locations can be classi-
fied as having undeveloped reserves 
only if a development plan has been 
adopted indicating that they are sched-
uled to be drilled within five years, un-
less the specific circumstances, justify 
a longer time. 

(iii) Under no circumstances shall es-
timates for undeveloped reserves be at-
tributable to any acreage for which an 
application of fluid injection or other 
improved recovery technique is con-
templated, unless such techniques have 
been proved effective by actual 
projects in the same reservoir or an 
analogous reservoir, as defined in para-
graph (a)(2) of this section, or by other 
evidence using reliable technology es-
tablishing reasonable certainty. 

(32) Unproved properties. Properties 
with no proved reserves. 

SUCCESSFUL EFFORTS METHOD 

(b) A reporting entity that follows 
the successful efforts method shall 
comply with the accounting and finan-
cial reporting disclosure requirements 
of FASB ASC Topic 932, Extractive Ac-
tivities—Oil and Gas. 

FULL COST METHOD 

(c) Application of the full cost method 
of accounting. A reporting entity that 
follows the full cost method shall apply 
that method to all of its operations and 
to the operations of its subsidiaries, as 
follows: 

(1) Determination of cost centers. Cost 
centers shall be established on a coun-
try-by-country basis. 

(2) Costs to be capitalized. All costs as-
sociated with property acquisition, ex-
ploration, and development activities 
(as defined in paragraph (a) of this sec-

tion) shall be capitalized within the ap-
propriate cost center. Any internal 
costs that are capitalized shall be lim-
ited to those costs that can be directly 
identified with acquisition, explo-
ration, and development activities un-
dertaken by the reporting entity for its 
own account, and shall not include any 
costs related to production, general 
corporate overhead, or similar activi-
ties. 

(3) Amortization of capitalized costs. 
Capitalized costs within a cost center 
shall be amortized on the unit-of-pro-
duction basis using proved oil and gas 
reserves, as follows: 

(i) Costs to be amortized shall in-
clude (A) all capitalized costs, less ac-
cumulated amortization, other than 
the cost of properties described in para-
graph (ii) below; (B) the estimated fu-
ture expenditures (based on current 
costs) to be incurred in developing 
proved reserves; and (C) estimated dis-
mantlement and abandonment costs, 
net of estimated salvage values. 

(ii) The cost of investments in 
unproved properties and major develop-
ment projects may be excluded from 
capitalized costs to be amortized, sub-
ject to the following: 

(A) All costs directly associated with 
the acquisition and evaluation of 
unproved properties may be excluded 
from the amortization computation 
until it is determined whether or not 
proved reserves can be assigned to the 
properties, subject to the following 
conditions: 

(1) Until such a determination is 
made, the properties shall be assessed 
at least annually to ascertain whether 
impairment has occurred. Unevaluated 
properties whose costs are individually 
significant shall be assessed individ-
ually. Where it is not practicable to in-
dividually assess the amount of impair-
ment of properties for which costs are 
not individually significant, such prop-
erties may be grouped for purposes of 
assessing impairment. Impairment 
may be estimated by applying factors 
based on historical experience and 
other data such as primary lease terms 
of the properties, average holding peri-
ods of unproved properties, and geo-
graphic and geologic data to groupings 
of individually insignificant properties 
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and projects. The amount of impair-
ment assessed under either of these 
methods shall be added to the costs to 
be amortized. 

(2) The costs of drilling exploratory 
dry holes shall be included in the amor-
tization base immediately upon deter-
mination that the well is dry. 

(3) If geological and geophysical costs 
cannot be directly associated with spe-
cific unevaluated properties, they shall 
be included in the amortization base as 
incurred. Upon complete evaluation of 
a property, the total remaining ex-
cluded cost (net of any impairment) 
shall be included in the full cost amor-
tization base. 

(B) Certain costs may be excluded 
from amortization when incurred in 
connection with major development 
projects expected to entail significant 
costs to ascertain the quantities of 
proved reserves attributable to the 
properties under development (e.g., the 
installation of an offshore drilling plat-
form from which development wells are 
to be drilled, the installation of im-
proved recovery programs, and similar 
major projects undertaken in the ex-
pectation of significant additions to 
proved reserves). The amounts which 
may be excluded are applicable por-
tions of (1) the costs that relate to the 
major development project and have 
not previously been included in the am-
ortization base, and (2) the estimated 
future expenditures associated with the 
development project. The excluded por-
tion of any common costs associated 
with the development project should be 
based, as is most appropriate in the cir-
cumstances, on a comparison of either 
(i) existing proved reserves to total 
proved reserves expected to be estab-
lished upon completion of the project, 
or (ii) the number of wells to which 
proved reserves have been assigned and 
total number of wells expected to be 
drilled. Such costs may be excluded 
from costs to be amortized until the 
earlier determination of whether addi-
tional reserves are proved or impair-
ment occurs. 

(C) Excluded costs and the proved re-
serves related to such costs shall be 
transferred into the amortization base 
on an ongoing (well-by-well or prop-
erty-by-property) basis as the project 
is evaluated and proved reserves estab-

lished or impairment determined. Once 
proved reserves are established, there 
is no further justification for continued 
exclusion from the full cost amortiza-
tion base even if other factors prevent 
immediate production or marketing. 

(iii) Amortization shall be computed 
on the basis of physical units, with oil 
and gas converted to a common unit of 
measure on the basis of their approxi-
mate relative energy content, unless 
economic circumstances (related to the 
effects of regulated prices) indicate 
that use of units of revenue is a more 
appropriate basis of computing amorti-
zation. In the latter case, amortization 
shall be computed on the basis of cur-
rent gross revenues (excluding royalty 
payments and net profits disburse-
ments) from production in relation to 
future gross revenues, based on current 
prices (including consideration of 
changes in existing prices provided 
only by contractual arrangements), 
from estimated production of proved 
oil and gas reserves. The effect of a sig-
nificant price increase during the year 
on estimated future gross revenues 
shall be reflected in the amortization 
provision only for the period after the 
price increase occurs. 

(iv) In some cases it may be more ap-
propriate to depreciate natural gas cy-
cling and processing plants by a meth-
od other than the unit-of-production 
method. 

(v) Amortization computations shall 
be made on a consolidated basis, in-
cluding investees accounted for on a 
proportionate consolidation basis. 
Investees accounted for on the equity 
method shall be treated separately. 

(4) Limitation on capitalized costs. (i) 
For each cost center, capitalized costs, 
less accumulated amortization and re-
lated deferred income taxes, shall not 
exceed an amount (the cost center ceil-
ing) equal to the sum of: 

(A) The present value of estimated 
future net revenues computed by ap-
plying current prices of oil and gas re-
serves (with consideration of price 
changes only to the extent provided by 
contractual arrangements) to esti-
mated future production of proved oil 
and gas reserves as of the date of the 
latest balance sheet presented, less es-
timated future expenditures (based on 
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current costs) to be incurred in devel-
oping and producing the proved re-
serves computed using a discount fac-
tor of ten percent and assuming con-
tinuation of existing economic condi-
tions; plus 

(B) the cost of properties not being 
amortized pursuant to paragraph 
(i)(3)(ii) of this section; plus 

(C) the lower of cost or estimated fair 
value of unproven properties included 
in the costs being amortized; less 

(D) income tax effects related to dif-
ferences between the book and tax 
basis of the properties referred to in 
paragraphs (i)(4)(i) (B) and (C) of this 
section. 

(ii) If unamortized costs capitalized 
within a cost center, less related de-
ferred income taxes, exceed the cost 
center ceiling, the excess shall be 
charged to expense and separately dis-
closed during the period in which the 
excess occurs. Amounts thus required 
to be written off shall not be reinstated 
for any subsequent increase in the cost 
center ceiling. 

(5) Production costs. All costs relating 
to production activities, including 
workover costs incurred solely to 
maintain or increase levels of produc-
tion from an existing completion inter-
val, shall be charged to expense as in-
curred. 

(6) Other transactions. The provisions 
of paragraph (h) of this section, ‘‘Min-
eral property conveyances and related 
transactions if the successful efforts 
method of accounting is followed,’’ 
shall apply also to those reporting en-
tities following the full cost method 
except as follows: 

(i) Sales and abandonments of oil and 
gas properties. Sales of oil and gas prop-
erties, whether or not being amortized 
currently, shall be accounted for as ad-
justments of capitalized costs, with no 
gain or loss recognized, unless such ad-
justments would significantly alter the 
relationship between capitalized costs 
and proved reserves of oil and gas at-
tributable to a cost center. For in-
stance, a significant alteration would 
not ordinarily be expected to occur for 
sales involving less than 25 percent of 
the reserve quantities of a given cost 
center. If gain or loss is recognized on 
such a sale, total capitalization costs 
within the cost center shall be allo-

cated between the reserves sold and re-
serves retained on the same basis used 
to compute amortization, unless there 
are substantial economic differences 
between the properties sold and those 
retained, in which case capitalized 
costs shall be allocated on the basis of 
the relative fair values of the prop-
erties. Abandonments of oil and gas 
properties shall be accounted for as ad-
justments of capitalized costs; that is, 
the cost of abandoned properties shall 
be charged to the full cost center and 
amortized (subject to the limitation on 
capitalized costs in paragraph (b) of 
this section). 

(ii) Purchases of reserves. Purchases of 
oil and gas reserves in place ordinarily 
shall be accounted for as additional 
capitalized costs within the applicable 
cost center; however, significant pur-
chases of production payments or prop-
erties with lives substantially shorter 
than the composite productive life of 
the cost center shall be accounted for 
separately. 

(iii) Partnerships, joint ventures and 
drilling arrangements. (A) Except as pro-
vided in paragraph (i)(6)(i) of this sec-
tion, all consideration received from 
sales or transfers of properties in con-
nection with partnerships, joint ven-
ture operations, or various other forms 
of drilling arrangements involving oil 
and gas exploration and development 
activities (e.g., carried interest, turn-
key wells, management fees, etc.) shall 
be credited to the full cost account, ex-
cept to the extent of amounts that rep-
resent reimbursement of organization, 
offering, general and administrative 
expenses, etc., that are identifiable 
with the transaction, if such amounts 
are currently incurred and charged to 
expense. 

(B) Where a registrant organizes and 
manages a limited partnership in-
volved only in the purchase of proved 
developed properties and subsequent 
distribution of income from such prop-
erties, management fee income may be 
recognized provided the properties in-
volved do not require aggregate devel-
opment expenditures in connection 
with production of existing proved re-
serves in excess of 10% of the partner-
ship’s recorded cost of such properties. 
Any income not recognized as a result 
of this limitation would be credited to 
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the full cost account and recognized 
through a lower amortization provision 
as reserves are produced. 

(iv) Other services. No income shall be 
recognized in connection with contrac-
tual services performed (e.g. drilling, 
well service, or equipment supply serv-
ices, etc.) in connection with properties 
in which the registrant or an affiliate 
(as defined in § 210.1–02(b)) holds an 
ownership or other economic interest, 
except as follows: 

(A) Where the registrant acquires an 
interest in the properties in connection 
with the service contract, income may 
be recognized to the extent the cash 
consideration received exceeds the re-
lated contract costs plus the reg-
istrant’s share of costs incurred and es-
timated to be incurred in connection 
with the properties. Ownership inter-
ests acquired within one year of the 
date of such a contract are considered 
to be acquired in connection with the 
service for purposes of applying this 
rule. The amount of any guarantees or 
similar arrangements undertaken as 
part of this contract should be consid-
ered as part of the costs related to the 
properties for purposes of applying this 
rule. 

(B) Where the registrant acquired an 
interest in the properties at least one 
year before the date of the service con-
tract through transactions unrelated 
to the service contract, and that inter-
est is unaffected by the service con-
tract, income from such contract may 
be recognized subject to the general 
provisions for elimination of inter- 
company profit under generally accept-
ed accounting principles. 

(C) Notwithstanding the provisions of 
paragraphs (i)(6)(iv) (A) and (B) of this 
section, no income may be recognized 
for contractual services performed on 
behalf of investors in oil and gas pro-
ducing activities managed by the reg-
istrant or an affiliate. Furthermore, no 
income may be recognized for contrac-
tual services to the extent that the 
consideration received for such serv-
ices represents an interest in the un-
derlying property. 

(D) Any income not recognized as a 
result of these rules would be credited 
to the full cost account and recognized 
through a lower amortization provision 
as reserves are produced. 

(7) Disclosures. Reporting entities 
that follow the full cost method of ac-
counting shall disclose all of the infor-
mation required by paragraph (k) of 
this section, with each cost center con-
sidered as a separate geographic area, 
except that reasonable groupings may 
be made of cost centers that are not 
significant in the aggregate. In addi-
tion: 

(i) For each cost center for each year 
that an income statement is required, 
disclose the total amount of amortiza-
tion expense (per equivalent physical 
unit of production if amortization is 
computed on the basis of physical units 
or per dollar of gross revenue from pro-
duction if amortization is computed on 
the basis of gross revenue). 

(ii) State separately on the face of 
the balance sheet the aggregate of the 
capitalized costs of unproved properties 
and major development projects that 
are excluded, in accordance with para-
graph (i)(3) of this section, from the 
capitalized costs being amortized. Pro-
vide a description in the notes to the 
financial statements of the current sta-
tus of the significant properties or 
projects involved, including the antici-
pated timing of the inclusion of the 
costs in the amortization computation. 
Present a table that shows, by category 
of cost, (A) the total costs excluded as 
of the most recent fiscal year; and (B) 
the amounts of such excluded costs, in-
curred (1) in each of the three most re-
cent fiscal years and (2) in the aggre-
gate for any earlier fiscal years in 
which the costs were incurred. Cat-
egories of cost to be disclosed include 
acquisition costs, exploration costs, de-
velopment costs in the case of signifi-
cant development projects and capital-
ized interest. 

(8) For purposes of this paragraph (c), 
the term ‘‘current price’’ shall mean 
the average price during the 12-month 
period prior to the ending date of the 
period covered by the report, deter-
mined as an unweighted arithmetic av-
erage of the first-day-of-the-month 
price for each month within such pe-
riod, unless prices are defined by con-
tractual arrangements, excluding esca-
lations based upon future conditions. 
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INCOME TAXES 

(d) Income taxes. Comprehensive 
interperiod income tax allocation by a 
method which complies with generally 
accepted accounting principles shall be 
followed for intangible drilling and de-
velopment costs and other costs in-
curred that enter into the determina-
tion of taxable income and pretax ac-
counting income in different periods. 

[43 FR 60405, Dec. 27, 1978, as amended at 43 
FR 60417, Dec. 27, 1978; 44 FR 57036, 57038, Oct. 
9, 1979; 45 FR 27749, Apr. 24, 1980. Redesig-
nated and amended at 45 FR 63669, Sept. 25, 
1980; 47 FR 57913, Dec. 29, 1982; 48 FR 44200, 
Sept. 28, 1983; 49 FR 18473, May 1, 1984; 57 FR 
45293, Oct. 1, 1992; 61 FR 30401, June 14, 1996; 
74 FR 2190, Jan. 14, 2009; 76 FR 50119, Aug. 12, 
2011] 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL 
COMPANIES 

§ 210.5–01 Application of §§ 210.5–01 to 
210.5–04. 

Sections 210.5–01 to 210.5–04 shall be 
applicable to financial statements filed 
for all persons except— 

(a) Registered investment companies 
(see §§ 210.6–01 to 210.6–10). 

(b) Employee stock purchase, savings 
and similar plans (see §§ 210.6A–01 to 
210.6A–05). 

(c) Insurance companies (see §§ 210.7– 
01 to 210.7–05). 

(d) Bank holding companies and 
banks (see §§ 210.9–01 to 210.9–07). 

(e) Brokers and dealers when filing 
Form X–17A–5 [249.617] (see §§ 240.17a–5 
and 240.17a–10 under the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934). 

[50 FR 49533, Dec. 3, 1985] 

§ 210.5–02 Balance sheets. 
The purpose of this rule is to indicate 

the various line items and certain addi-
tional disclosures which, if applicable, 
and except as otherwise permitted by 
the Commission, should appear on the 
face of the balance sheets or related 
notes filed for the persons to whom 
this article pertains (see § 210.4–01(a)). 

ASSETS AND OTHER DEBITS 

Current Assets, when appropriate 

[See § 210.4–05] 

1. Cash and cash items. Separate disclosure 
shall be made of the cash and cash items 

which are restricted as to withdrawal or 
usage. The provisions of any restrictions 
shall be described in a note to the financial 
statements. Restrictions may include legally 
restricted deposits held as compensating bal-
ances against short-term borrowing arrange-
ments, contracts entered into with others, or 
company statements of intention with re-
gard to particular deposits; however, time 
deposits and short-term certificates of de-
posit are not generally included in legally 
restricted deposits. In cases where compen-
sating balance arrangements exist but are 
not agreements which legally restrict the 
use of cash amounts shown on the balance 
sheet, describe in the notes to the financial 
statements these arrangements and the 
amount involved, if determinable, for the 
most recent audited balance sheet required 
and for any subsequent unaudited balance 
sheet required in the notes to the financial 
statements. Compensating balances that are 
maintained under an agreement to assure fu-
ture credit availability shall be disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements along 
with the amount and terms of such agree-
ment. 

2. Marketable securities. The accounting and 
disclosure requirements for current market-
able equity securities are specified by gen-
erally accepted accounting principles. With 
respect to all other current marketable secu-
rities, state, parenthetically or otherwise, 
the basis of determining the aggregate 
amount shown in the balance sheet, along 
with the alternatives of the aggregate cost 
or the aggregate market value at the balance 
sheet date. 

3. Accounts and notes receivable. (a) State 
separately amounts receivable from (1) cus-
tomers (trade); (2) related parties (see § 210.4– 
08(k)); (3) underwriters, promoters, and em-
ployees (other than related parties) which 
arose in other than the ordinary course of 
business; and (4) others. 

(b) If the aggregate amount of notes receiv-
able exceeds 10 percent of the aggregate 
amount of receivables, the above informa-
tion shall be set forth separately, in the bal-
ance sheet or in a note thereto, for accounts 
receivable and notes receivable. 

(c) If receivables include amounts due 
under long-term contracts (see § 210.5– 
02.6(d)), state separately in the balance sheet 
or in a note to the financial statements the 
following amounts: 

(1) Balances billed but not paid by cus-
tomers under retainage provisions in con-
tracts. 

(2) Amounts representing the recognized 
sales value of performance and such amounts 
that had not been billed and were not 
billable to customers at the date of the bal-
ance sheet. Include a general description of 
the prerequisites for billing. 
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(3) Billed or unbilled amounts representing 
claims or other similar items subject to un-
certainty concerning their determination or 
ultimate realization. Include a description of 
the nature and status of the principal items 
comprising such amount. 

(4) With respect to (1) through (3) above, 
also state the amounts included in each item 
which are expected to be collected after one 
year. Also state, by year, if practicable, 
when the amounts of retainage (see (1) 
above) are expected to be collected. 

4. Allowances for doubtful accounts and notes 
receivable. The amount is to be set forth sep-
arately in the balance sheet or in a note 
thereto. 

5. Unearned income. 
6. Inventories. (a) State separately in the 

balance sheet or in a note thereto, if prac-
ticable, the amounts of major classes of in-
ventory such as: (1) Finished goods; (2) 
inventoried costs relating to long-term con-
tracts or programs (see (d) below and § 210.4– 
05); (3) work in process (see § 210.4–05); (4) raw 
materials; and (5) supplies. If the method of 
calculating a LIFO inventory does not allow 
for the practical determination of amounts 
assigned to major classes of inventory, the 
amounts of those classes may be stated 
under cost flow assumptions other that LIFO 
with the excess of such total amount over 
the aggregate LIFO amount shown as a de-
duction to arrive at the amount of the LIFO 
inventory. 

(b) The basis of determining the amounts 
shall be stated. 

If cost is used to determine any portion of 
the inventory amounts, the description of 
this method shall include the nature of the 
cost elements included in inventory. Ele-
ments of cost include, among other items, re-
tained costs representing the excess of man-
ufacturing or production costs over the 
amounts charged to cost of sales or delivered 
or in-process units, initial tooling or other 
deferred startup costs, or general and admin-
istrative costs. 

The method by which amounts are re-
moved from inventory (e.g., average cost, 
first-in, first-out, last-in, first-out, estimated av-
erage cost per unit) shall be described. If the 
estimated average cost per unit is used as a 
basis to determine amounts removed from 
inventory under a total program or similar 
basis of accounting, the principal assump-
tions (including, where meaningful, the ag-
gregate number of units expected to be deliv-
ered under the program, the number of units 
delivered to date and the number of units on 
order) shall be disclosed. 

If any general and administrative costs are 
charged to inventory, state in a note to the 
financial statements the aggregate amount 
of the general and administrative costs in-
curred in each period and the actual or esti-
mated amount remaining in inventory at the 
date of each balance sheet. 

(c) If the LIFO inventory method is used, 
the excess of replacement or current cost 
over stated LIFO value shall, if material, be 
stated parenthetically or in a note to the fi-
nancial statements. 

(d) For purposes of §§ 210.5–02.3 and 210.5– 
02.6, long-term contracts or programs in-
clude (1) all contracts or programs for which 
gross profits are recognized on a percentage- 
of-completion method of accounting or any 
variant thereof (e.g., delivered unit, cost to 
cost, physical completion), and (2) any con-
tracts or programs accounted for on a com-
pleted contract basis of accounting where, in 
either case, the contracts or programs have 
associated with them material amounts of 
inventories or unbilled receivables and where 
such contracts or programs have been or are 
expected to be performed over a period of 
more than twelve months. Contracts or pro-
grams of shorter duration may also be in-
cluded, if deemed appropriate. 

For all long-term contracts or programs, 
the following information, if applicable, 
shall be stated in a note to the financial 
statements: 

(i) The aggregate amount of manufacturing 
or production costs and any related deferred 
costs (e.g., initial tooling costs) which ex-
ceeds the aggregate estimated cost of all in- 
process and delivered units on the basis of 
the estimated average cost of all units ex-
pected to be produced under long-term con-
tracts and programs not yet complete, as 
well as that portion of such amount which 
would not be absorbed in cost of sales based 
on existing firm orders at the latest balance 
sheet date. In addition, if practicable, dis-
close the amount of deferred costs by type of 
cost (e.g., initial tooling, deferred produc-
tion, etc.). 

(ii) The aggregate amount representing 
claims or other similar items subject to un-
certainty concerning their determination or 
ultimate realization, and include a descrip-
tion of the nature and status of the principal 
items comprising such aggregate amount. 

(iii) The amount of progress payments net-
ted against inventory at the date of the bal-
ance sheet. 

7. Prepaid expenses. 
8. Other current assets. State separately, in 

the balance sheet or in a note thereto, any 
amounts in excess of five percent of total 
current assets. 

9. Total current assets, when appropriate. 
10. Securities of related parties. (See § 210.4– 

08(k).) 
11. Indebtedness of related parties—not cur-

rent. (See § 210.4–08(k).) 
12. Other investments. The accounting and 

disclosure requirements for non-current 
marketable equity securities are specified by 
generally accepted accounting principles. 
With respect to other security investments 
and any other investment, state, parentheti-
cally or otherwise, the basis of determining 
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the aggregate amounts shown in the balance 
sheet, along with the alternate of the aggre-
gate cost or aggregate market value at the 
balance sheet date. 

13. Property, plant and equipment. 
(a) State the basis of determining the 

amounts. 
(b) Tangible and intangible utility plant of 

a public utility company shall be segregated 
so as to show separately the original cost, 
plant acquisition adjustments, and plant ad-
justments, as required by the system of ac-
counts prescribed by the applicable regu-
latory authorities. This rule shall not be ap-
plicable in respect to companies which are 
not required to make such a classification. 

14. Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and 
amortization of property, plant and equipment. 
The amount is to be set forth separately in 
the balance sheet or in a note thereto. 

15. Intangible assets. State separately each 
class of such assets which is in excess of five 
percent of the total assets, along with the 
basis of determining the respective amounts. 
Any significant addition or deletion shall be 
explained in a note. 

16. Accumulated depreciation and amortiza-
tion of intangible assets. The amount is to be 
set forth separately in the balance sheet or 
in a note thereto. 

17. Other assets. State separately, in the 
balance sheet or in a note thereto, any other 
item not properly classed in one of the pre-
ceding asset captions which is in excess of 
five percent to total assets. Any significant 
addition or deletion should be explained in a 
note. With respect to any significant de-
ferred charge, state the policy for deferral 
and amortization. 

18. Total assets. 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Current Liabilities, When Appropriate (See 
§ 210.4–05) 

19. Accounts and notes payable. (a) State 
separately amounts payable to (1) banks for 
borrowings; (2) factors or other financial in-
stitutions for borrowings; (3) holders of com-
mercial paper; (4) trade creditors; (5) related 
parties (see § 210.4–08(k)); (6) underwriters, 
promoters, and employees (other than re-
lated parties); and (7) others. Amounts appli-
cable to (1), (2) and (3) may be stated sepa-
rately in the balance sheet or in a note 
thereto. 

(b) The amount and terms (including com-
mitment fees and the conditions under which 
lines may be withdrawn) of unused lines of 
credit for short-term financing shall be dis-
closed, if significant, in the notes to the fi-
nancial statements. The weighted average 
interest rate on short term borrowings out-
standing as of the date of each balance sheet 
presented shall be furnished in a note. The 
amount of these lines of credit which support 
a commercial paper borrowing arrangement 

or similar arrangements shall be separately 
identified. 

20. Other current liabilities. State sepa-
rately, in the balance sheet or in a note 
thereto, any item in excess of 5 percent of 
total current liabilities. Such items may in-
clude, but are not limited to, accrued pay-
rolls, accrued interest, taxes, indicating the 
current portion of deferred income taxes, and 
the current portion of long-term debt. Re-
maining items may be shown in one amount. 

21. Total current liabilities, when appropriate. 

Long-Term Debt 

22. Bonds, mortgages and other long-term 
debt, including capitalized leases. (a) State sep-
arately, in the balance sheet or in a note 
thereto, each issue or type of obligation and 
such information as will indicate (see § 210.4– 
06): 

(1) The general character of each type of 
debt including the rate of interest; (2) the 
date of maturity, or, if maturing serially, a 
brief indication of the serial maturities, such 
as ‘‘maturing serially from 1980 to 1990’’; (3) 
if the payment of principal or interest is con-
tingent, an appropriate indication of such 
contingency; (4) a brief indication of pri-
ority; and (5) if convertible, the basis. For 
amounts owed to related parties, see § 210.4– 
08(k). 

(b) The amount and terms (including com-
mitment fees and the conditions under which 
commitments may be withdrawn) of unused 
commitments for long-term financing ar-
rangements that would be disclosed under 
this rule if used shall be disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements if signifi-
cant. 

23. Indebtedness to related parties—noncur-
rent. Include under this caption indebtedness 
to related parties as required under § 210.4– 
08(k). 

24. Other liabilities. State separately, in the 
balance sheet or in a note thereto, any item 
not properly classified in one of the pre-
ceding liability captions which is in excess of 
5 percent of total liabilities. 

25. Commitments and contingent liabilities. 
26. Deferred credits. State separately in the 

balance sheet amounts for (a) deferred in-
come taxes, (b) deferred tax credits, and (c) 
material items of deferred income. 

Redeemable Preferred Stocks 

27. Preferred stocks subject to mandatory re-
demption requirements or whose redemption is 
outside the control of the issuer. (a) Include 
under this caption amounts applicable to 
any class of stock which has any of the fol-
lowing characteristics: (1) it is redeemable at 
a fixed or determinable price on a fixed or 
determinable date or dates, whether by oper-
ation of a sinking fund or otherwise; (2) it is 
redeemable at the option of the holder; or (3) 
it has conditions for redemption which are 
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not solely within the control of the issuer, 
such as stocks which must be redeemed out 
of future earnings. Amounts attributable to 
preferred stock which is not redeemable or is 
redeemable solely at the option of the issuer 
shall be included under § 210.5–02.28 unless it 
meets one or more of the above criteria. 

(b) State on the face of the balance sheet 
the title of each issue, the carrying amount, 
and redemption amount. (If there is more 
than one issue, these amounts may be aggre-
gated on the face of the balance sheet and 
details concerning each issue may be pre-
sented in the note required by paragraph (c) 
below.) Show also the dollar amount of any 
shares subscribed but unissued, and show the 
deduction of subscriptions receivable there-
from. If the carrying value is different from 
the redemption amount, describe the ac-
counting treatment for such difference in the 
note required by paragraph (c) below. Also 
state in this note or on the face of the bal-
ance sheet, for each issue, the number of 
shares authorized and the number of shares 
issued or outstanding, as appropriate (See 
§ 210.4–07). 

(c) State in a separate note captioned ‘‘Re-
deemable Preferred Stocks’’ (1) a general de-
scription of each issue, including its redemp-
tion features (e.g. sinking fund, at option of 
holders, out of future earnings) and the 
rights, if any, of holders in the event of de-
fault, including the effect, if any, on junior 
securities in the event a required dividend, 
sinking fund, or other redemption pay-
ment(s) is not made; (2) the combined aggre-
gate amount of redemption requirements for 
all issues each year for the five years fol-
lowing the date of the latest balance sheet; 
and (3) the changes in each issue for each pe-
riod for which an income statement is re-
quired to be filed. (See also § 210.4–08(d).) 

(d) Securities reported under this caption 
are not to be included under a general head-
ing ‘‘stockholders’ equity’’ or combined in a 
total with items described in captions 29, 30 
or 31 which follow. 

Non-Redeemable Preferred Stocks 

28. Preferred stocks which are not redeemable 
or are redeemable solely at the option of the 
issuer. State on the face of the balance sheet, 
or if more than one issue is outstanding 
state in a note, the title of each issue and 
the dollar amount thereof. Show also the 
dollar amount of any shares subscribed but 
unissued, and show the deduction of sub-
scriptions receivable therefrom. State on the 
face of the balance sheet or in a note, for 
each issue, the number of shares authorized 
and the number of shares issued or out-
standing, as appropriate (see § 210.4–07). Show 
in a note or separate statement the changes 
in each class of preferred shares reported 
under this caption for each period for which 
an income statement is required to be filed. 
(See also § 210.4–08(d).) 

Common Stocks 

29. Common stocks. For each class of com-
mon shares state, on the face of the balance 
sheet, the number of shares issued or out-
standing, as appropriate (see § 210.4–07), and 
the dollar amount thereof. If convertible, 
this fact should be indicated on the face of 
the balance sheet. For each class of common 
shares state, on the face of the balance sheet 
or in a note, the title of the issue, the num-
ber of shares authorized, and, if convertible, 
the basis of conversion (see also § 210.4–08(d)). 
Show also the dollar amount of any common 
shares subscribed but unissued, and show the 
deduction of subscriptions receivable there-
from. Show in a note or statement the 
changes in each class of common shares for 
each period for which an income statement 
is required to be filed. 

Other Stockholders’ Equity 

30. Other stockholders’ equity. (a) Separate 
captions shall be shown for (1) additional 
paid-in capital, (2) other additional capital 
and (3) retained earnings (i) appropriated and 
(ii) unappropriated. (See § 210.4–08(e).) Addi-
tional paid-in capital and other additional 
capital may be combined with the stock cap-
tion to which it applies, if appropriate. 

(b) For a period of at least 10 years subse-
quent to the effective date of a quasi-reorga-
nization, any description of retained earn-
ings shall indicate the point in time from 
which the new retained earnings dates and 
for a period of at least three years shall indi-
cate, on the face of the balance sheet, the 
total amount of the deficit eliminated. 

Noncontrolling Interests 

31. Noncontrolling interests in consolidated 
subsidiaries. State separately in a note the 
amounts represented by preferred stock and 
the applicable dividend requirements if the 
preferred stock is material in relation to the 
consolidated equity. 

32. Total liabilities and equity. 

[45 FR 63671, Sept. 25, 1980, as amended at 46 
FR 43412, Aug. 28, 1981; 47 FR 29837, July 9, 
1982; 50 FR 25215, June 18, 1985; 50 FR 49533, 
Dec. 3, 1985; 59 FR 65636, Dec. 20, 1994; 74 FR 
18615, Apr. 23, 2009] 

§ 210.5–03 Income statements. 
(a) The purpose of this rule is to indi-

cate the various line items which, if 
applicable, and except as otherwise 
permitted by the Commission, should 
appear on the face of the income state-
ments filed for the persons to whom 
this article pertains (see § 210.4–01(a)). 

(b) If income is derived from more 
than one of the subcaptions described 
under § 210.5–03.1, each class which is 
not more than 10 percent of the sum of 
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the items may be combined with an-
other class. If these items are com-
bined, related costs and expenses as de-
scribed under § 210.5–03.2 shall be com-
bined in the same manner. 

1. Net sales and gross revenues. State sepa-
rately: 

(a) Net sales of tangible products (gross 
sales less discounts, returns and allowances), 
(b) operating revenues of public utilities or 
others; (c) income from rentals; (d) revenues 
from services; and (e) other revenues. 
Amounts earned from transactions with re-
lated parties shall be disclosed as required 
under § 210.4–08(k). A public utility company 
using a uniform system of accounts or a 
form for annual report prescribed by federal 
or state authorities, or a similar system or 
report, shall follow the general segregation 
of operating revenues and operating expenses 
reported under § 210.5–03.2 prescribed by such 
system or report. If the total of sales and 
revenues reported under this caption in-
cludes excise taxes in an amount equal to 1 
percent or more of such total, the amount of 
such excise taxes shall be shown on the face 
of the statement parenthetically or 
othewise. 

2. Costs and expenses applicable to sales and 
revenues. 

State separately the amount of (a) cost of 
tangible goods sold, (b) operating expenses of 
public utilities or others, (c) expenses appli-
cable to rental income, (d) cost of services, 
and (e) expenses applicable to other reve-
nues. Merchandising organizations, both 
wholesale and retail, may include occupancy 
and buying costs under caption 2(a). 
Amounts of costs and expenses incurred from 
transactions with related parties shall be 
disclosed as required under § 210.4–08(k). 

3. Other operating costs and expenses. State 
separately any material amounts not in-
cluded under caption 2 above. 

4. Selling, general and administrative ex-
penses. 

5. Provision for doubtful accounts and notes. 
6. Other general expenses. Include items not 

normally included in caption 4 above. State 
separately any material item. 

7. Non-operating income. 
State separately in the income statement 

or in a note thereto amounts earned from (a) 
dividends, (b) interest on securities, (c) prof-
its on securities (net of losses), and (d) mis-
cellaneous other income. Amounts earned 
from transactions in securities of related 
parties shall be disclosed as required under 
§ 210.4–08(k). Material amounts included 
under miscellaneous other income shall be 
separately stated in the income statement or 
in a note thereto, indicating clearly the na-
ture of the transactions out of which the 
items arose. 

8. Interest and amortization of debt discount 
and expense. 

9. Non-operating expenses. 
State separately in the income statement 

or in a note thereto amounts of (a) losses on 
securities (net of profits) and (b) miscella-
neous income deductions. Material amounts 
included under miscellaneous income deduc-
tions shall be separately stated in the in-
come statement or in a note thereto, indi-
cating clearly the nature of the transactions 
out of which the items arose. 

10. Income or loss before income tax expense 
and appropriate items below. 

11. Income tax expense. Include under this 
caption only taxes based on income (see 
§ 210.4–08(h)). 

12. Equity in earnings of unconsolidated sub-
sidiaries and 50 percent or less owned persons. 
State, parenthetically or in a note, the 
amount of dividends received from such per-
sons. If justified by the circumstances, this 
item may be presented in a different position 
and a different manner (see § 210.4–01(a)). 

13. Income or loss from continuing operations. 
14. Discontinued operations. 
15. Income or loss before extraordinary items 

and cumulative effects of changes in accounting 
principles. 

16. Extraordinary items, less applicable tax. 
17. Cumulative effects of changes in account-

ing principles. 
18. Net income or loss. 
19. Net income attributable to the noncontrol-

ling interest. 
20. Net income attributable to the controlling 

interest. 
21. Earnings per share data. 

[45 FR 63671, Sept. 25, 1980, as amended at 45 
FR 76977, Nov. 21, 1980; 50 FR 25215, June 18, 
1985; 74 FR 18615, Apr. 23, 2009] 

§ 210.5–04 What schedules are to be 
filed. 

(a) Except as expressly provided oth-
erwise in the applicable form: 

(1) The schedules specified below in 
this Section as Schedules II and III 
shall be filed as of the date of the most 
recent audited balanced sheet for each 
person or group. 

(2) Schedule II shall be filed for each 
period for which an audited income 
statement is required to be filed for 
each person or group. 

(3) Schedules I and IV shall be filed 
as of the date and for periods specified 
in the schedule. 

(b) When information is required in 
schedules for both the registrant and 
the registrant and its subsidiaries con-
solidated it may be presented in the 
form of a single schedule: Provided, 
That items pertaining to the registrant 
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are separately shown and that such sin-
gle schedule affords a properly summa-
rized presentation of the facts. If the 
information required by any schedule 
(including the notes thereto) may be 
shown in the related financial state-
ment or in a note thereto without 
making such statement unclear or con-
fusing, that procedure may be followed 
and the schedule omitted. 

(c) The schedules shall be examined 
by the independent accountant if the 
related financial statements are so ex-
amined. 

Schedule I—Condensed financial information 
of registrant. The schedule prescribed by 
§ 210.12–04 shall be filed when the restricted 
net assets (§ 210.4–08(e)(3)) of consolidated 
subsidiaries exceed 25 percent of consoli-
dated net assets as of the end of the most re-
cently completed fiscal year. For purposes of 
the above test, restricted net assets of con-
solidated subsidiaries shall mean that 
amount of the registrant’s proportionate 
share of net assets of consolidated subsidi-
aries (after intercompany eliminations) 
which as of the end of the most recent fiscal 
year may not be transferred to the parent 
company by subsidiaries in the form of 
loans, advances or cash dividends without 
the consent of a third party (i.e., lender, reg-
ulatory agency, foreign government, etc.). 
Where restrictions on the amount of funds 
which may be loaned or advanced differ from 
the amount restricted as to transfer in the 
form of cash dividends, the amount least re-
strictive to the subsidiary shall be used. Re-
deemable preferred stocks (§ 210.5–02.27) and 
noncontrolling interests shall be deducted in 
computing net assets for purposes of this 
test. 

Schedule II—Valuation and qualifying ac-
counts. The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–09 
shall be filed in support of valuation and 
qualifying accounts included in each balance 
sheet but not included in Schedule VI. (See 
§ 210.4–02.) 

Schedule III—Real estate and accumulated 
depreciation. The schedule prescribed by 
§ 210.12–28 shall be filed for real estate (and 
the related accumulated depreciation) held 
by persons a substantial portion of 
whosebusiness is that of acquiring and hold-
ing for investment real estate or interests in 
real estate, or interests in other persons a 
substantial portion of whose business is that 
of acquiring and holding real estate or inter-
ests in real estate for investment. Real es-
tate used in the business shall be excluded 
from the schedule. 

Schedule IV—Mortgage loans on real estate. 
The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–29 shall be 
filed by persons specified under Schedule XI 

for investments in mortgage loans on real es-
tate. 

Schedule V—Supplemental Information Con-
cerning Property-casualty Insurance Oper-
ations. The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–18 
shall be filed when a registrant, its subsidi-
aries or 50%-or-less-owned equity basis 
investees, have liabilities for property-cas-
ualty (‘‘P/C’’) insurance claims. The required 
information shall be presented as of the 
same dates and for the same periods for 
which the information is reflected in the au-
dited consolidated financial statements re-
quired by §§ 210.3–01 and 3–02. The schedule 
may be omitted if reserves for unpaid P/C 
claims and claims adjustment expenses of 
the registrant and its consolidated subsidi-
aries, its unconsolidated subsidiaries and its 
50%-or-less-owned equity basis investees did 
not, in the aggregate, exceed one-half of 
common stockholders’ equity of the reg-
istrant and its consolidated subsidiaries as of 
the beginning of the fiscal year. For purposes 
of this test only the proportionate share of 
the registrant and its other subsidiaries in 
the reserves for unpaid claims and claim ad-
justment expenses of 50%-or-less-owned eq-
uity basis investees taken in the aggregate 
after intercompany eliminations shall be 
taken into account. 

[45 FR 63671, Sept. 25, 1980, as amended at 46 
FR 48137, Oct. 1, 1981; 46 FR 56180, Nov. 16, 
1981; 49 FR 47598, Dec. 6, 1984; 50 FR 25215, 
June 18, 1985; 59 FR 65636, Dec. 20, 1994; 74 FR 
18615, Apr. 23, 2009] 

REGISTERED INVESTMENT COMPANIES 
AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT COMPANIES 

SOURCE: Sections 210.6–01 through 210.6–10 
appear at 47 FR 56838, Dec. 21, 1982, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 210.6–01 Application of §§ 210.6–01 to 
210.6–10. 

Sections 210.6–01 to 210.6–10 shall be 
applicable to financial statements filed 
for registered investment companies 
and business development companies. 

[81 FR 82010, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.6–02 Definition of certain terms. 
The following terms shall have the 

meaning indicated in this rule unless 
the context otherwise requires. (Also 
see § 210.1–02 of this part.) 

(a) Affiliate. The term affiliate means 
an affiliated person as defined in section 
2(a)(3) of the Investment Company Act 
of 1940 unless otherwise indicated. The 
term control has the meaning in section 
2(a)(9) of that Act. 
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(b) Value. As used in §§ 210.6–01 to 
210.6–10, the term value shall have the 
meaning given in section 2(a)(41)(B) of 
the Investment Company Act of 1940. 

(c) Balance sheets; statements of net as-
sets. As used in §§ 210.6–01 to 210.6–10, 
the term balance sheets shall include 
statements of assets and liabilities as 
well as statements of net assets unless 
the context clearly indicates the con-
trary. 

(d) Qualified assets. (1) For companies 
issuing face-amount certificates subse-
quent to December 31, 1940 under the 
provisions of section 28 of the Invest-
ment Company Act of 1940, the term 
qualified assets means qualified invest-
ments as that term is defined in sec-
tion 28(b) of the Act. A statement to 
that effect shall be made in the balance 
sheet. 

(2) For other companies, the term 
qualified assets means cash and invest-
ments which such companies do main-
tain or are required, by applicable gov-
erning legal instruments, to maintain 
in respect of outstanding face-amount 
certificates. 

(3) Loans to certificate holders may 
be included as qualified assets in an 
amount not in excess of certificate re-
serves carried on the books of account 
in respect of each individual certificate 
upon which the loans were made. 

EFFECTIVE DATE NOTE: At 81 FR 82137, Nov. 
18, 2016, § 210.6–02 was amended by adding 
paragraph (e), effective Nov. 19, 2018. For the 
convenience of the user, the added text is set 
forth as follows: 

§ 210.6–02 Definition of certain terms. 

* * * * * 

(e) Swing pricing. The term swing pricing 
shall have the meaning given in § 270.22c– 
1(a)(3)(v)(C) of this chapter. 

§ 210.6–03 Special rules of general ap-
plication to registered investment 
companies and business develop-
ment companies. 

The financial statements filed for 
persons to which §§ 210.6–01 to 210.6–10 
are applicable shall be prepared in ac-
cordance with the following special 
rules in addition to the general rules in 
§§ 210.1–01 to 210.4–10 (Articles 1, 2, 3, 
and 4). Where the requirements of a 
special rule differ from those pre-

scribed in a general rule, the require-
ments of the special rule shall be met. 

(a) Content of financial statements. The 
financial statements shall be prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of 
this part (Regulation S–X) notwith-
standing any provision of the articles 
of incorporation, trust indenture or 
other governing legal instruments 
specifying certain accounting proce-
dures inconsistent with those required 
in §§ 210.6–01 to 210.6–10. 

(b) Audited financial statements. 
Where, under Article 3 of this part, fi-
nancial statements are required to be 
audited, the independent accountant 
shall have been selected and ratified in 
accordance with section 32 of the In-
vestment Company Act of 1940 (15 
U.S.C. 80a–31). 

(c) Consolidated and combined state-
ments. (1) Consolidated and combined 
statements filed for registered invest-
ment companies and business develop-
ment companies shall be prepared in 
accordance with §§ 210.3A–01 to 210.3A– 
04 (Article 3A) except that: 

(i) Statements of the registrant may 
be consolidated only with the state-
ments of subsidiaries which are invest-
ment companies; 

(ii) A consolidated statement of the 
registrant and any of its investment 
company subsidiaries shall not be filed 
unless accompanied by a consolidating 
statement which sets forth the indi-
vidual statements of each significant 
subsidiary included in the consolidated 
statement: Provided, however, That a 
consolidating statement need not be 
filed if all included subsidiaries are to-
tally held; and 

(iii) Consolidated or combined state-
ments filed for subsidiaries not consoli-
dated with the registrant shall not in-
clude any investment companies unless 
accompanied by consolidating or com-
bining statements which set forth the 
individual statements of each included 
investment company which is a signifi-
cant subsidiary. 

(2) If consolidating or combining 
statements are filed, the amounts in-
cluded under each caption in which fi-
nancial data pertaining to affiliates is 
required to be furnished shall be sub-
divided to show separately the 
amounts: 

(i) Eliminated in consolidation; and 
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(ii) Not eliminated in consolidation. 
(d) Valuation of investments. The bal-

ance sheets of registered investment 
companies, other than issuers of face- 
amount certificates, and business de-
velopment companies, shall reflect all 
investments at value, with the aggre-
gate cost of each category of invest-
ment reported under §§ 210.6–04.1, 6–04.2, 
6–04.3 and 6–04.9 or the aggregate cost 
of each category of investment re-
ported under § 210.6–05.1 shown par-
enthetically. State in a note the meth-
ods used in determining value of in-
vestments. As required by section 28(b) 
of the Investment Company Act of 1940 
(15 U.S.C. 80a–28(b)), qualified assets of 
face-amount certificate companies 
shall be valued in accordance with cer-
tain provisions of the Code of the Dis-
trict of Columbia. For guidance as to 
valuation of securities, see §§ 404.03 to 
404.05 of the Codification of Financial 
Reporting Policies. 

(e) Qualified assets. State in a note 
the nature of any investments and 
other assets maintained or required to 
be maintained, by applicable legal in-
struments, in respect of outstanding 
face-amount certificates. If the nature 
of the qualifying assets and amount 
thereof are not subject to the provi-
sions of section 28 of the Investment 
Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a–28), 
a statement to that effect shall be 
made. 

(f) Restricted securities. State in a note 
unless disclosed elsewhere the fol-
lowing information as to investment 
securities which cannot be offered for 
public sale without first being reg-
istered under the Securities Act of 1933 
(15 U.S.C. 77a et seq.) (restricted securi-
ties): 

(1) The policy of the person with re-
gard to acquisition of restricted securi-
ties. 

(2) The policy of the person with re-
gard to valuation of restricted securi-
ties. Specific comments shall be given 
as to the valuation of an investment in 
one or more issues of securities of a 
company or group of affiliated compa-
nies if any part of such investment is 
restricted and the aggregate value of 
the investment in all issues of such 
company or affiliated group exceeds 
five percent of the value of total assets. 
(As used in this paragraph, the term af-

filiated shall have the meaning given in 
§ 210.6–02(a).) 

(3) A description of the person’s 
rights with regard to demanding reg-
istration of any restricted securities 
held at the date of the latest balance 
sheet. 

(g) Income recognition. Dividends shall 
be included in income on the ex-divi-
dend date; interest shall be accrued on 
a daily basis. Dividends declared on 
short positions existing on the record 
date shall be recorded on the ex-divi-
dend date and included as an expense of 
the period. 

(h) Federal income taxes. (1) The com-
pany’s status as a regulated investment 
company as defined in subtitle A, chap-
ter 1, subchapter M of the Internal 
Revenue Code, as amended, shall be 
stated in a note referred to in the ap-
propriate statements. Such note shall 
also indicate briefly the principal as-
sumptions on which the company re-
lied in making or not making provi-
sions for income taxes. However, a 
company which retains realized capital 
gains and designates such gains as a 
distribution to shareholders in accord-
ance with section 852(b)(3)(D) of the In-
ternal Revenue Code shall, on the last 
day of its taxable year (and not ear-
lier), make provision for taxes on such 
undistributed capital gains realized 
during such year. 

(2) State the following amounts based 
on cost for Federal income tax pur-
poses: 

(i) Aggregate gross unrealized appre-
ciation for all investments in which 
there is an excess of value over tax 
cost; 

(ii) The aggregate gross unrealized 
depreciation for all investments in 
which there is an excess of tax cost 
over value; 

(iii) The net unrealized appreciation 
or depreciation; and 

(iv) The aggregate cost of invest-
ments for Federal income tax purposes. 

(i) Issuance and repurchase by a reg-
istered investment company or business 
development company of its own securi-
ties. Disclose for each class of the com-
pany’s securities: 

(1) The number of shares, units, or 
principal amount of bonds sold during 
the period of report, the amount re-
ceived therefor, and, in the case of 
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shares sold by closed-end management 
investment companies, the difference, 
if any, between the amount received 
and the net asset value or preference in 
involuntary liquidation (whichever is 
appropriate) of securities of the same 
class prior to such sale; and 

(2) The number of shares, units, or 
principal amount of bonds repurchased 
during the period of report and the cost 
thereof. Closed-end management in-
vestment companies shall furnish the 
following additional information as to 
securities repurchased during the pe-
riod of report: 

(i) As to bonds and preferred shares, 
the aggregate difference between cost 
and the face amount or preference in 
involuntary liquidation and, if applica-
ble net assets taken at value as of the 
date of repurchase were less than such 
face amount or preference, the aggre-
gate difference between cost and such 
net asset value; 

(ii) As to common shares, the weight-
ed average discount per share, ex-
pressed as a percentage, between cost 
of repurchase and the net asset value 
applicable to such shares at the date of 
repurchases. 

Note to paragraphs (h)(2)(i) and (ii): 
The information required by para-
graphs (h)(2)(i) and (ii) of this section 
may be based on reasonable estimates 
if it is impracticable to determine the 
exact amounts involved. 

(j) Series companies. (1) The informa-
tion required by this part shall, in the 
case of a person which in essence is 
comprised of more than one separate 
investment company, be given as if 
each class or series of such investment 
company were a separate investment 
company; this shall not prevent the in-
clusion, at the option of such person, of 
information applicable to other classes 
or series of such person on a compara-
tive basis, except as to footnotes which 
need not be comparative. 

(2) If the particular class or series for 
which information is provided may be 
affected by other classes or series of 
such investment company, such as by 
the offset of realized gains in one series 
with realized losses in another, or 
through contingent liabilities, such sit-
uation shall be disclosed. 

(k) Certificate reserves. (1) For compa-
nies issuing face-amount certificates 

subsequent to December 31, 1940 under 
the provisions of section 28 of the In-
vestment Company Act of 1940 (15 
U.S.C. 80a–28), balance sheets shall re-
flect reserves for outstanding certifi-
cates computed in accordance with the 
provisions of section 28(a) of the Act. 

(2) For other companies, balance 
sheets shall reflect reserves for out-
standing certificates determined as fol-
lows: 

(i) For certificates of the installment 
type, such amount which, together 
with the lesser of future payments by 
certificate holders as and when accu-
mulated at a rate not to exceed 31⁄2 per 
centum per annum (or such other rate 
as may be appropriate under the cir-
cumstances of a particular case) com-
pounded annually, shall provide the 
minimum maturity or face amount of 
the certificate when due. 

(ii) For certificates of the fully-paid 
type, such amount which, as and when 
accumulated at a rate not to exceed 31⁄2 
per centum per annum (or such other 
rate as may be appropriate under the 
circumstances of a particular case) 
compounded annually, shall provide 
the amount or amounts payable when 
due. 

(iii) Such amount or accrual therefor, 
as shall have been credited to the ac-
count of any certificate holder in the 
form of any credit, or any dividend, or 
any interest in addition to the min-
imum maturity or face amount speci-
fied in the certificate, plus any accu-
mulations on any amount so credited 
or accrued at rates required under the 
terms of the certificate. 

(iv) An amount equal to all advance 
payments made by certificate holders, 
plus any accumulations thereon at 
rates required under the terms of the 
certificate. 

(v) Amounts for other appropriate 
contingency reserves, for death and 
disability benefits or for reinstatement 
rights on any certificate providing for 
such benefits or rights. 

(l) Inapplicable captions. Attention is 
directed to the provisions of §§ 210.4–02 
and 210.4–03 which permit the omission 
of separate captions in financial state-
ments as to which the items and condi-
tions are not present, or the amounts 
involved not significant. However, 
amounts involving directors, officers, 
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and affiliates shall nevertheless be sep-
arately set forth except as otherwise 
specifically permitted under a par-
ticular caption. 

[81 FR 82010, Nov. 18, 2016] 

EFFECTIVE DATE NOTE: At 81 FR 82137, Nov. 
18, 2016, § 210.6–03 was amended by adding 
paragraph (m), effective Nov. 19, 2018. For 
the convenience of the user, the added text is 
set forth as follows: 

§ 210.6–03 Special rules of general applica-
tion to registered investment companies 
and business development companies. 

* * * * * 

(m) Swing pricing. For a registered invest-
ment company that has adopted swing pric-
ing policies and procedures, state in a note 
to the company’s financial statements: 

(1) The general methods used in deter-
mining whether the company’s net asset 
value per share will swing; 

(2) Whether the company’s net asset value 
per share has swung during the year; and 

(3) A general description of the effects of 
swing pricing. 

§ 210.6–04 Balance sheets. 
This section is applicable to balance 

sheets filed by registered investment 
companies and business development 
companies except for persons who sub-
stitute a statement of net assets in ac-
cordance with the requirements speci-
fied in § 210.6–05, and issuers of face- 
amount certificates which are subject 
to the special provisions of § 210.6–06. 
Balance sheets filed under this rule 
shall comply with the following provi-
sions: 

ASSETS 

1. Investments in securities of unaffili-
ated issuers. 

2. Investments in and advances to affili-
ates. State separately investments in 
and advances to: (a) Controlled compa-
nies and (b) other affiliates. 

3. Other investments. State separately 
amounts of assets related to (a) vari-
ation margin receivable on futures con-
tracts, (b) forward foreign currency 
contracts; (c) swap contracts; and (d) 
investments—other than those pre-
sented in §§ 210.12–12, 12–12A, 12–12B, 12– 
13, 12–13A, 12–13B, and 12–13C. 

4. Cash. Include under this caption 
cash on hand and demand deposits. 
Provide in a note to the financial 

statements the information required 
under § 210.5–02.1 regarding restrictions 
and compensating balances. 

5. Receivables. (a) State separately 
amounts receivable from (1) sales of in-
vestments; (2) subscriptions to capital 
shares; (3) dividends and interest; (4) 
directors and officers; and (5) others. 

(b) If the aggregate amount of notes 
receivable exceeds 10 percent of the ag-
gregate amount of receivables, the 
above information shall be set forth 
separately, in the balance sheet or in a 
note thereto, for accounts receivable 
and notes receivable. 

6. Deposits for securities sold short and 
other investments. State separately 
amounts held by others in connection 
with: (a) Short sales; (b) open option 
contracts (c) futures contracts, (d) for-
ward foreign currency contracts; (e) 
swap contracts; and (f) investments— 
other than those presented in §§ 210.12– 
12, 12–12A, 12–12B, 12–13, 12–13A, 12–13B, 
and 12–13C. 

7. Other assets. State separately (a) 
prepaid and deferred expenses; (b) pen-
sion and other special funds; (c) organi-
zation expenses; and (d) any other sig-
nificant item not properly classified in 
another asset caption. 

8. Total assets. 

LIABILITIES 

9. Other investments. State separately 
amounts of liabilities related to: (a) 
Securities sold short; (b) open option 
contracts written; (c) variation margin 
payable on futures contracts, (d) for-
ward foreign currency contracts; (e) 
swap contracts; and (f) investments— 
other than those presented in §§ 210.12– 
12, 12–12A, 12–12B, 12–13, 12–13A, 12–13B, 
and 12–13C. 

10. Accounts payable and accrued li-
abilities. State separately amounts pay-
able for: (a) Other purchases of securi-
ties; (b) capital shares redeemed; (c) 
dividends or other distributions on cap-
ital shares; and (d) others. State sepa-
rately the amount of any other liabil-
ities which are material. 

11. Deposits for securities loaned. State 
the value of securities loaned and indi-
cate the nature of the collateral re-
ceived as security for the loan, includ-
ing the amount of any cash received. 
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12. Other liabilities. State separately 
(a) amounts payable for investment ad-
visory, management and service fees; 
and (b) the total amount payable to: (1) 
Officers and directors; (2) controlled 
companies; and (3) other affiliates, ex-
cluding any amounts owing to noncon-
trolled affiliates which arose in the or-
dinary course of business and which are 
subject to usual trade terms. 

13. Notes payable, bonds and similar 
debt. (a) State separately amounts pay-
able to: (1) Banks or other financial in-
stitutions for borrowings; (2) controlled 
companies; (3) other affiliates; and (4) 
others, showing for each category 
amounts payable within one year and 
amounts payable after one year. 

(b) Provide in a note the information 
required under § 210.5–02.19(b) regarding 
unused lines of credit for short-term fi-
nancing and § 210.5–02.22(b) regarding 
unused commitments for long-term fi-
nancing arrangements. 

14. Total liabilities. 
15. Commitments and contingent liabil-

ities. 

NET ASSETS 

16. Units of capital. (a) Disclose the 
title of each class of capital shares or 
other capital units, the number author-
ized, the number outstanding, and the 
dollar amount thereof. 

(b) Unit investment trusts, including 
those which are issuers of periodic pay-
ment plan certificates, also shall state 
in a note to the financial statements: 
(1) The total cost to the investors of 
each class of units or shares; (2) the ad-
justment for market depreciation or 
appreciation; (3) other deductions from 
the total cost to the investors for fees, 
loads and other charges, including an 
explanation of such deductions; and (4) 
the net amount applicable to the inves-
tors. 

17. Accumulated undistributed income 
(loss). Disclose: 

(a) The accumulated undistributed 
investment income-net, 

(b) accumulated undistributed net re-
alized gains (losses) on investment 
transactions, and (c) net unrealized ap-
preciation (depreciation) in value of in-
vestments at the balance sheet date. 

18. Other elements of capital. Disclose 
any other elements of capital or resid-

ual interests appropriate to the capital 
structure of the reporting entity. 

19. Net assets applicable to outstanding 
units of capital. State the net asset 
value per share. 

[81 FR 82011, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.6–05 Statements of net assets. 

In lieu of the balance sheet otherwise 
required by § 210.6–04, persons may sub-
stitute a statement of net assets if at 
least 95 percent of the amount of the 
person’s total assets are represented by 
investments in securities of unaffili-
ated issuers. If presented in such in-
stances, a statement of net assets shall 
consist of the following: 

STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS 

1. A schedule of investments in secu-
rities of unaffiliated issuers as pre-
scribed in § 210.12–12. 

2. The excess (or deficiency) of other 
assets over (under) total liabilities 
stated in one amount, except that any 
amounts due from or to officers, direc-
tors, controlled persons, or other affili-
ates, excluding any amounts owing to 
noncontrolled affiliates which arose in 
the ordinary course of business and 
which are subject to usual trade terms, 
shall be stated separately. 

3. Disclosure shall be provided in the 
notes to the financial statements for 
any item required under § 210.6–04.3 and 
§§ 210.6–04.9 to 210.6–04.13. 

4. The balance of the amounts cap-
tioned as net assets. The number of out-
standing shares and net asset value per 
share shall be shown parenthetically. 

5. The information required by (i) 
§ 210.6–04.16, (ii) § 210.6–04.17 and (iii) 
§ 210.6–04.18 shall be furnished in a note 
to the financial statements. 

[81 FR 82012, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.6–06 Special provisions applica-
ble to the balance sheets of issuers 
of face-amount certificates. 

Balance sheets filed by issuers of 
face-amount certificates shall comply 
with the following provisions: 

ASSETS 

1. Investments. State separately each major 
category: such as, real estate owned, first 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 07:58 Jul 25, 2017 Jkt 241059 PO 00000 Frm 00314 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\241059.XXX 241059js
ta

llw
or

th
 o

n 
LA

P
40

67
W

D
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 C

F
R



305 

Securities and Exchange Commission § 210.6–07 

mortgage loans on real estate, other mort-
gage loans on real estate, investments in se-
curities of unaffiliated issuers, and invest-
ments in and advances to affiliates. 

2. Cash. Include under this caption cash on 
hand and demand deposits. Provide in a note 
to the financial statements the information 
required under § 210.5–02.1 regarding restric-
tions and compensating balances. 

3. Receivables. (a) State separately amounts 
receivable from (1) sales of investments; (2) 
dividends and interest; (3) directors and offi-
cers; and (4) others. 

(b) If the aggregate amount of notes receiv-
able exceeds 10 percent of the aggregate 
amount of receivables, the above informa-
tion shall be set forth separately, in the bal-
ance sheet or in a note thereto, for accounts 
receivable and notes receivable. 

4. Total qualified assets. State in a note to 
the financial statements the amount of 
qualified assets on deposit classified as to 
general categories of assets and as to general 
types of depositories, such as banks and 
states, together with a statement as to the 
purpose of the deposits. 

5. Other assets. State separately: (a) Invest-
ments in securities of unaffiliated issuers 
not included in qualifying assets in item 1 
above; (b) investments in and advances to af-
filiates not included in qualifying assets in 
item 1 above; and (c) any other significant 
item not properly classified in another asset 
caption. 

6. Total assets. 

LIABILITIES 

7. Certificate reserves. Issuers of face- 
amount certificates shall state separately 
reserves for: (a) Certificates of the install-
ment type; (b) certificates of the fully-paid 
type; (c) advance payments; (d) additional 
amounts accrued for or credited to the ac-
count of certificate holders in the form of 
any credit, dividend, or interest in addition 
to the minimum amount specified in the cer-
tificate; and (e) other certificate reserves. 
State in an appropriate manner the basis 
used in determining the reserves, including 
the rates of interest of accumulation. 

8. Notes payable, bonds and similar debt. (a) 
State separately amounts payable to: (1) 
Banks or other financial institutions for bor-
rowings; (2) controlled companies; (3) other 
affiliates; and (4) others, showing for each 
category amounts payable within one year 
and amounts payable after one year. 

(b) Provide in a note the information re-
quired under § 210.5–02.19(b) regarding unused 
lines of credit for short-term financing and 
§ 210.5–02.22(b) regarding unused commit-
ments for long-term financing arrangements. 

9. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
State separately (a) amounts payable for in-
vestment advisory, management and service 
fees; and (b) the total amount payable to: (1) 
Officers and directors; (2) controlled compa-

nies; and (3) other affiliates, excluding any 
amounts owing to noncontrolled affiliates 
which arose in the ordinary course of busi-
ness and which are subject to usual trade 
terms. State separately the amount of any 
other liabilities which are material. 

10. Total liabilities. 
11. Commitments and contingent liabilities. 

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

12. Capital shares. Disclose the title of each 
class of capital shares or other capital units, 
the number authorized, the number out-
standing and the dollar amount thereof. 
Show also the dollar amount of any capital 
shares subscribed but unissued, and show the 
deduction for subscriptions receivable there-
from. 

13. Other elements of capital. (a) Disclose 
any other elements of capital or residual in-
terests appropriate to the capital structure 
of the reporting entity. 

(b) A summary of each account under this 
caption setting forth the information pre-
scribed in § 210.3–04 shall be given in a note or 
separate statement for each period in which 
a statement of operations is presented. 

14. Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity. 

§ 210.6–07 Statements of operations. 
Statements of operations filed by 

registered investment companies, 
other than issuers of face-amount cer-
tificates, subject to the special provi-
sions of § 210.6–08, and business develop-
ment companies, shall comply with the 
following provisions: 

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

1. Investment income. State separately 
income from: (a) Dividends; (b) interest 
on securities; and (c) other income. 
Any other category of income which 
exceeds five percent of the total shown 
under this caption (e.g. income from 
non-cash dividends, income from pay-
ment-in-kind interest) shall be stated 
separately. If income from investments 
in or indebtedness of affiliates is in-
cluded hereunder, such income shall be 
segregated under an appropriate cap-
tion subdivided to show separately in-
come from: (1) Controlled companies; 
and (2) other affiliates. If income from 
non-cash dividends or payment in kind 
interest are included in income, the 
bases of recognition and measurement 
used in respect to such amounts shall 
be disclosed. 

2. Expenses. (a) State separately the 
total amount of investment advisory, 
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management and service fees, and ex-
penses in connection with research, se-
lection, supervision, and custody of in-
vestments. Amounts of expenses in-
curred from transactions with affili-
ated persons shall be disclosed together 
with the identity of and related 
amount applicable to each such person 
accounting for five percent or more of 
the total expenses shown under this 
caption together with a description of 
the nature of the affiliation. Expenses 
incurred within the person’s own orga-
nization in connection with research, 
selection and supervision of invest-
ments shall be stated separately. Re-
ductions or reimbursements of manage-
ment or service fees shall be shown as 
a negative amount or as a reduction of 
total expenses shown under this cap-
tion. 

(b) State separately any other ex-
pense item the amount of which ex-
ceeds five percent of the total expenses 
shown under this caption. 

(c) A note to the financial statements 
shall include information concerning 
management and service fees, the rate 
of fee, and the base and method of com-
putation. State separately the amount 
and a description of any fee reductions 
or reimbursements representing: (1) 
Expense limitation agreements or com-
mitments; and (2) offsets received from 
broker-dealers showing separately for 
each amount received or due from (i) 
unaffiliated persons; and (ii) affiliated 
persons. If no management or service 
fees were incurred for a period, state 
the reason therefor. 

(d) If any expenses were paid other-
wise than in cash, state the details in a 
note. 

(e) State in a note to the financial 
statements the amount of brokerage 
commissions (including dealer mark-
ups) paid to affiliated broker-dealers in 
connection with purchase and sale of 
investment securities. Open-end man-
agement companies shall state in a 
note the net amounts of sales charges 
deducted from the proceeds of sale of 
capital shares which were retained by 
any affiliated principal underwriter or 
other affiliated broker-dealer. 

(f) State separately all amounts paid 
in accordance with a plan adopted 
under 17 CFR 270.12b–1 of this chapter. 
Reimbursement to the fund of expenses 

incurred under such plan (12b–1 expense 
reimbursement) shall be shown as a 
negative amount and deducted from 
current 12b–1 expenses. If 12b–1 expense 
reimbursements exceed current 12b–1 
costs, such excess shall be shown as a 
negative amount used in the calcula-
tion of total expenses under this cap-
tion. 

(g)(1) Brokerage/Service Arrangements. 
If a broker-dealer or an affiliate of the 
broker-dealer has, in connection with 
directing the person’s brokerage trans-
actions to the broker-dealer, provided, 
agreed to provide, paid for, or agreed to 
pay for, in whole or in part, services 
provided to the person (other than bro-
kerage and research services as those 
terms are used in section 28(e) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 [15 
U.S.C. 78bb(e)]), include in the expense 
items set forth under this caption the 
amount that would have been incurred 
by the person for the services had it 
paid for the services directly in an 
arms-length transaction. 

(2) Expense Offset Arrangements. If the 
person has entered into an agreement 
with any other person pursuant to 
which such other person reduces, or 
pays a third party which reduces, by a 
specified or reasonably ascertainable 
amount, its fees for services provided 
to the person in exchange for use of the 
person’s assets, include in the expense 
items set forth under this caption the 
amount of fees that would have been 
incurred by the person if the person 
had not entered into the agreement. 

(3) Financial Statement Presentation. 
Show the total amount by which ex-
penses are increased pursuant to para-
graphs (1) and (2) of this paragraph 
(2)(g) as a corresponding reduction in 
total expenses under this caption. In a 
note to the financial statements, state 
separately the total amounts by which 
expenses are increased pursuant to 
paragraphs (1) and (2) of this paragraph 
(2)(g), and list each category of expense 
that is increased by an amount equal 
to at least 5 percent of total expenses. 
If applicable, the note should state 
that the person could have employed 
the assets used by another person to 
produce income if it had not entered 
into an arrangement described in para-
graph (2)(g)(2) of this section. 
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3. Interest and amortization of debt dis-
count and expense. Provide in the body 
of the statements or in the footnotes, 
the average dollar amount of bor-
rowings and the average interest rate. 

4. Investment income before income tax 
expense. 

5. Income tax expense. Include under 
this caption only taxes based on in-
come. 

6. Investment income-net. 
7. Realized and unrealized gain (loss) 

on investments-net. (a) State separately 
the net realized gain or loss from: (1) 
Transactions in investment securities 
of unaffiliated issuers, (2) transactions 
in investment securities of affiliated 
issuers, (3) expiration or closing of op-
tion contracts written, (4) closed short 
positions in securities, (5) expiration or 
closing of futures contracts, (6) settle-
ment of forward foreign currency con-
tracts, (7) expiration or closing of swap 
contracts, and (8) transactions in other 
investments held during the period. 

(b) Distributions of realized gains by 
other investment companies shall be 
shown separately under this caption. 

(c) State separately the amount of 
the net increase or decrease during the 
period in the unrealized appreciation or 
depreciation in the value of: (1) Invest-
ment securities of unaffiliated issuers, 
(2) investment securities of affiliated 
issuers, (3) option contracts written, (4) 
short positions in securities, (5) futures 
contracts, (6) forward foreign currency 
contracts, (7) swap contracts, and (8) 
other investments held at the end of 
the period. 

(d) State separately any: (1) Federal 
income taxes and (2) other income 
taxes applicable to realized and unreal-
ized gain (loss) on investments, distin-
guishing taxes payable currently from 
deferred income taxes. 

8. Net gain (loss) on investments. 
9. Net increase (decrease) in net assets 

resulting from operations. 

[81 FR 82012, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.6–08 Special provisions applica-
ble to the statements of operations 
of issuers of face-amount certifi-
cates. 

Statements of operations filed by 
issuers of face-amount certificates 
shall comply with the following provi-
sions: 

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

1. Investment income. State separately in-
come from: (a) Interest on mortgages; (b) in-
terest on securities; (c) dividends; (d) rental 
income; and (e) other investment income. If 
income from investments in or indebtedness 
of affiliates is included hereunder, such in-
come shall be segregated under an appro-
priate caption subdivided to show separately 
income from: (1) Controlled companies; and 
(2) other affiliates. If non-cash dividends are 
included in income, the bases of recognition 
and measurement used in respect to such 
amounts shall be disclosed. Any other cat-
egory of income which exceeds five percent 
of the total shown under this caption shall 
be stated separately. 

2. Investment expenses. (a) State separately 
the total amount of investment advisory, 
management and service fees, and expenses 
in connection with research, selection, su-
pervision, and custody of investments. 
Amounts of expenses incurred from trans-
actions with affiliated persons shall be dis-
closed together with the identity of and re-
lated amount applicable to each such person 
accounting for five percent or more of the 
total expenses shown under this caption to-
gether with a description of the nature of the 
affiliation. Expenses incurred within the per-
son’s own organization in connection with 
research, selection and supervision of invest-
ments shall be stated separately. Reductions 
or reimbursements of management or service 
fees shall be shown as a negative amount or 
as a reduction of total expenses shown under 
this caption. 

(b) State separately any other expense 
item the amount of which exceeds five per-
cent of the total expenses shown under this 
caption. 

(c) A note to the financial statements shall 
include information concerning management 
and service fees, the rate of fee, and the base 
and method of computation. State sepa-
rately the amount and a description of any 
fee reductions or reimbursements rep-
resenting: (1) Expense limitation agreements 
or commitments; and (2) offsets received 
from broker-dealers showing separately for 
each amount received or due from: (i) Unaf-
filiated persons; and (ii) affiliated persons. If 
no management or service fees were incurred 
for a period, state the reason therefor. 

(d) If any expenses were paid otherwise 
than in cash, state the details in a note. 

(e) State in a note to the financial state-
ments the amount of brokerage commissions 
(including dealer markups) paid to affiliated 
broker-dealers in connection with purchase 
and sale of investment securities. 

3. Interest and amortization of debt discount 
and expense. 

4. Provision for certificate reserves. State sep-
arately any provision for additional credits, 
or dividends, or interests, in addition to the 
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minimum maturity or face amount specified 
in the certificates. State also in an appro-
priate manner reserve recoveries from sur-
renders or other causes. 

5. Investment income before income tax ex-
pense. 

6. Income tax expense. Include under this 
caption only taxes based on income. 

7. Investment income-net. 
8. Realized gain (loss) on investments-net. 
(a) State separately the net realized gain 

or loss on transactions in: (1) Investment se-
curities of unaffiliated issuers, (2) invest-
ment securities of affiliated issuers, and (3) 
other investments. 

(b) Distributions of capital gains by other 
investment companies shall be shown sepa-
rately under this caption. 

(c) State separately any: (1) Federal in-
come taxes and (2) other income taxes appli-
cable to realized gain (loss) on investments, 
distinguishing taxes payable currently from 
deferred income taxes. 

9. Net income or loss. 

§ 210.6–09 Statements of changes in 
net assets. 

Statements of changes in net assets 
filed for persons to whom this article is 
applicable shall comply with the fol-
lowing provisions: 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

1. Operations. State separately: (a) Invest-
ment income-net as shown by § 210.6–07.6; (b) 
realized gain (loss) on investments-net of 
any Federal or other income taxes applicable 
to such amounts; (c) increase (decrease) in 
unrealized appreciation or depreciation-net 
of any Federal or other income taxes appli-
cable to such amounts; and (d) net increase 
(decrease) in net assets resulting from oper-
ations as shown by § 210.6–07.9. 

2. Net equalization charges and credits. State 
the net amount of accrued undivided earn-
ings separately identified in the price of cap-
ital shares issued and repurchased. 

3. Distributions to shareholders. State sepa-
rately distributions to shareholders from: (a) 
Investment income-net; (b) realized gain 
from investment transactions-net; and (c) 
other sources. 

4. Capital share transactions. (a) State the 
increase or decrease in net assets derived 
from the net change in the number of out-
standing shares or units. 

(b) Disclose in the body of the statements 
or in the notes, for each class of the person’s 
shares, the number and value of shares 
issued in reinvestment of dividends as well 
as the number of dollar amounts received for 
shares sold and paid for shares redeemed. 

5. Total increase (decrease). 
6. Net assets at the beginning of the period. 
7. Net assets at the end of the period. Disclose 

parenthetically the balance of undistributed 

net investment income included in net assets 
at the end of the period. 

§ 210.6–10 What schedules are to be 
filed. 

(a) When information is required in 
schedules for both the person and its 
subsidiaries consolidated, it may be 
presented in the form of a single sched-
ule, provided that items pertaining to 
the registrant are separately shown 
and that such single schedule affords a 
properly summarized presentation of 
the facts. 

(b) The schedules shall be examined 
by an independent accountant if the re-
lated financial statements are so exam-
ined. 

(c) Management investment companies. 
(1) Except as otherwise provided in the 
applicable form, the schedules specified 
in this paragraph shall be filed for 
management investment companies as 
of the dates of the most recent audited 
balance sheet and any subsequent 
unaudited statement being filed for 
each person or group. 

Schedule I—Investments in securities of 
unaffiliated issuers. The schedule pre-
scribed by § 210.12–12 shall be filed in 
support of caption 1 of each balance 
sheet. 

Schedule II—Investments in and ad-
vances to affiliates. The schedule pre-
scribed by § 210.12–14 shall be filed in 
support of caption 2 of each balance 
sheet. 

Schedule III—Investments—securities 
sold short. The schedule prescribed by 
§ 210.12–12A shall be filed in support of 
caption 9(a) of each balance sheet. 

Schedule IV—Open option contracts 
written. The schedule prescribed by 
§ 210.12–13 shall be filed in support of 
caption 9(b) of each balance sheet. 

Schedule V—Open futures contracts. 
The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–13A 
shall be filed in support of captions 3(a) 
and 9(c) of each balance sheet. 

Schedule VI—Open forward foreign cur-
rency contracts. The schedule prescribed 
by § 210.12–13B shall be filed in support 
of captions 3(b) and 9(d) of each balance 
sheet. 

Schedule VII—Open swap contracts. 
The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–13C 
shall be filed in support of captions 3(c) 
and 9(e) of each balance sheet. 

Schedule VIII—Investments—other than 
those presented in §§ 210.12–12, 12–12A, 12– 
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12B, 12–13, 12–13A, 12–13B and 12–13C. 
The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–13D 
shall be filed in support of captions 3(d) 
and 9(f) of each balance sheet. 

(2) When permitted by the applicable 
form, the schedule specified in this 
paragraph may be filed for manage-
ment investment companies as of the 
dates of the most recent audited bal-
ance sheet and any subsequent 
unaudited statement being filed for 
each person or group. 

Schedule IX—Summary schedule of in-
vestments in securities of unaffiliated 
issuers. The schedule prescribed by 
§ 210.12–12B may be filed in support of 
caption 1 of each balance sheet. 

(d) Unit investment trusts. Except as 
otherwise provided in the applicable 
form: 

(1) Schedules I and II, specified below 
in this section, shall be filed for unit 
investment trusts as of the dates of the 
most recent audited balance sheet and 
any subsequent unaudited statement 
being filed for each person or group. 

(2) Schedule III, specified below in 
this section, shall be filed for unit in-
vestment trusts for each period for 
which a statement of operations is re-
quired to be filed for each person or 
group. 

Schedule I—Investment in securities. 
The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–12 
shall be filed in support of caption 1 of 
each balance sheet (§ 210.6–04). 

Schedule II—Allocation of trust assets 
to series of trust shares. If the trust as-
sets are specifically allocated to dif-
ferent series of trust shares, and if such 
allocation is not shown in the balance 
sheet in columnar form or by the filing 
of separate statements for each series 
of trust shares, a schedule shall be filed 
showing the amount of trust assets, in-
dicated by each balance sheet filed, 
which is applicable to each series of 
trust shares. 

Schedule III—Allocation of trust income 
and distributable funds to series of trust 
shares. If the trust income and distrib-
utable funds are specifically allocated 
to different series of trust shares and if 
such allocation is not shown in the 
statement of operations in columnar 
form or by the filing of separate state-
ments for each series of trust shares, a 
schedule shall be submitted showing 
the amount of income and distribut-

able funds, indicated by each state-
ment of operations filed, which is ap-
plicable to each series of trust shares. 

(e) Face-amount certificate investment 
companies. Except as otherwise pro-
vided in the applicable form: 

(1) Schedules I, V and X, specified 
below, shall be filed for face-amount 
certificate investment companies as of 
the dates of the most recent audited 
balance sheet and any subsequent 
unaudited statement being filed for 
each person or group. 

(2) All other schedules specified 
below in this section shall be filed for 
face-amount certificate investment 
companies for each period for which a 
statement of operations is filed, except 
as indicated for Schedules III and IV. 

Schedule I—Investment in securities of 
unaffiliated issuers. The schedule pre-
scribed by § 210.12–21 shall be filed in 
support of caption 1 and, if applicable, 
caption 5(a) of each balance sheet. Sep-
arate schedules shall be furnished in 
support of each caption, if applicable. 

Schedule II—Investments in and ad-
vances to affiliates and income thereon. 
The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–22 
shall be filed in support of captions 1 
and 5(b) of each balance sheet and cap-
tion 1 of each statement of operations. 
Separate schedules shall be furnished 
in support of each caption, if applica-
ble. 

Schedule III—Mortgage loans on real 
estate and interest earned on mortgages. 
The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–23 
shall be filed in support of captions 1 
and 5(c) of each balance sheet and cap-
tion 1 of each statement of operations, 
except that only the information re-
quired by Column G and note 8 of the 
schedule need be furnished in support 
of statements of operations for years 
for which related balance sheets are 
not required. 

Schedule IV—Real estate owned and 
rental income. The schedule prescribed 
by § 210.12–24 shall be filed in support of 
captions 1 and 5(a) of each balance 
sheet and caption 1 of each statement 
of operations for rental income in-
cluded therein, except that only the in-
formation required by Columns H, I 
and J, and item ‘‘Rent from properties 
sold during the period’’ and note 4 of 
the schedule need be furnished in sup-
port of statements of operations for 
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years for which related balance sheets 
are not required. 

Schedule V—Qualified assets on de-
posit. The schedule prescribed by 
§ 210.12–27 shall be filed in support of 
the information required by caption 4 
of § 210.6–06 as to total amount of quali-
fied assets on deposit. 

Schedule VI—Certificate reserves. The 
schedule prescribed by § 210.12–26 shall 
be filed in support of caption 7 of each 
balance sheet. 

Schedule VII—Valuation and quali-
fying accounts. The schedule prescribed 
by § 210.12–09 shall be filed in support of 
all other reserves included in the bal-
ance sheet. 

[81 FR 82013, Nov. 18, 2016] 

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE, SAVINGS 
AND SIMILAR PLANS 

§ 210.6A–01 Application of §§ 210.6A–01 
to 210.6A–05. 

(a) Sections 210.6A–01 to 210.6A–05 
shall be applicable to financial state-
ments filed for employee stock pur-
chase, savings and similar plans. 

(b) [Reserved] 

[47 FR 56843, Dec. 21, 1982] 

§ 210.6A–02 Special rules applicable to 
employee stock purchase, savings 
and similar plans. 

The financial statements filed for 
persons to which this article is applica-
ble shall be prepared in accordance 
with the following special rules in ad-
dition to the general rules in §§ 210.1–01 
to 210.4–10. Where the requirements of a 
special rule differ from those pre-
scribed in a general rule, the require-
ments of the special rule shall be met. 

(a) Investment programs. If the partici-
pating employees have an option as to 
the manner in which their deposits and 
contributions may be invested, a de-
scription of each investment program 
shall be given in a footnote or other-
wise. The number of employees under 
each investment program shall be stat-
ed. 

(b) Net asset value per unit. Where ap-
propriate, the number of units and the 
net asset value per unit shall be given 
by footnote or otherwise. 

(c) Federal income taxes. (1) If the plan 
is not subject to Federal income taxes, 
a note shall so state indicating briefly 

the principal assumptions on which the 
plan relied in not making provision for 
such taxes. 

(2) State the Federal income tax sta-
tus of the employee with respect to the 
plan. 

(d) Valuation of assets. The statement 
of financial condition shall reflect all 
investments at value, showing cost 
parenthetically. For purposes of this 
rule, the term value shall mean (1) mar-
ket value for those securities having 
readily available market quotations 
and (2) fair value as determined in good 
faith by the trustee(s) for the plan (or 
by the person or persons who exercise 
similar responsibilities) with respect to 
other securities and assets. 

[47 FR 56843, Dec. 21, 1982] 

§ 210.6A–03 Statements of financial 
condition. 

Statements of financial condition 
filed under this rule shall comply with 
the following provisions: 

PLAN ASSETS 

1. Investments in securities of participating 
employers. State separately each class of se-
curities of the participating employer or em-
ployers. 

2. Investments in securities of unaffiliated 
issuers. 

(a) United States Government bonds and other 
obligations. Include only direct obligations of 
the United States Government. 

(b) Other securities. State separately (1) 
marketable securities and (2) other securi-
ties. 

3. Investments. Other than securities. State 
separately each major class. 

4. Dividends and interest receivable. 
5. Cash. 
6. Other assets. State separately (a) total of 

amounts due from participating employers 
or any of their directors, officers and prin-
cipal holders of equity securities; (b) total of 
amounts due from trustees or managers of 
the plan; and (c) any other significant 
amounts. 

LIABILITIES AND PLAN EQUITY 

7. Liabilities. State separately (a) total of 
amounts payable to participating employers; 
(b) total of amounts payable to participating 
employees; and (c) any other significant 
amounts. 

8. Reserves and other credits. State sepa-
rately each significant item and describe 
each such item by using an appropriate cap-
tion or by a footnote referred to in the cap-
tion. 
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9. Plan equity at close of period. 

[27 FR 7870, Aug. 9, 1962. Redesignated at 47 
FR 56843, Dec. 21, 1982] 

§ 210.6A–04 Statements of income and 
changes in plan equity. 

Statements of income and changes in 
plan equity filed under this rule shall 
comply with the following provisions: 

1. Net investment income. 
(a) Income. State separately income from 

(1) cash dividends; (2) interest, and (3) other 
sources. Income from investments in or in-
debtedness of participating employers shall 
be segregated under the appropriate subcap-
tion. 

(b) Expenses. State separately any signifi-
cant amounts. 

(c) Net investment income. 
2. Realized gain or loss on investments. (a) 

State separately the net of gains or losses 
arising from transactions in (1) investments 
in securities of the participating employer or 
employers; (2) other investments in securi-
ties; and (3) other investments. 

(b) State in a footnote or otherwise for 
each category of investment in paragraph (a) 
above the aggregate cost, the aggregate pro-
ceeds and the net gain or loss. State the 
principle followed in determining the cost of 
securities sold, e.g., average cost or first-in, 
first-out. 

3. Unrealized appreciation or depreciation of 
investments. (a) State the amount of increase 
or decrease in unrealized appreciation or de-
preciation of investments during the period. 

(b) State in a footnote or otherwise the 
amount of unrealized appreciation or depre-
ciation of investments at the beginning of 
the period of report, at the end of the period 
of report, and the increase or decrease during 
the period. 

4. Contributions and deposits. (a) State sepa-
rately (1) total of amounts deposited by par-
ticipating employees, and (2) total of 
amounts contributed by the participating 
employer or employers. 

(b) If employees of more than one employer 
participate in the plan, state in tabular form 
in a footnote or otherwise the amount con-
tributed by each employer and the deposits 
of the employees of each such employer. 

5. Withdrawals, lapses and forfeitures. State 
separately (a) balances of employees’ ac-
counts withdrawn, lapsed or forfeited during 
the period; (b) amounts disbursed in settle-
ment of such accounts; and (c) disposition of 
balances remaining after settlement speci-
fied in (b). 

6. Plan equity at beginning of period. 
7. Plan equity at end of period. 

[27 FR 7870, Aug. 9, 1962. Redesignated at 47 
FR 56843, Dec. 21, 1982] 

§ 210.6A–05 What schedules are to be 
filed. 

(a) Schedule I, specified below, shall 
be filed as of the most recent audited 
statement of financial condition and 
any subsequent unaudited statement of 
financial condition being filed. Sched-
ule II shall be filed as of the date of 
each statement of financial condition 
being filed. Schedule III shall be filed 
for each period for which a statement 
of income and changes in plan equity is 
filed. All schedules shall be audited if 
the related statements are audited. 

Schedule I—Investments. A schedule sub-
stantially in form prescribed by § 210.12–12 
shall be filed in support of captions 1, 2 and 
3 of each statement of financial condition 
unless substantially all of the information is 
given in the statement of financial condition 
by footnote or otherwise. 

Schedule II—Allocation of plan assets and li-
abilities to investment program. If the plan pro-
vides for separate investment programs with 
separate funds, and if the allocation of assets 
and liabilities to the several funds is not 
shown in the statement of financial condi-
tion in columnar form or by the submission 
of separate statements for each fund, a 
schedule shall be submitted showing the al-
location of each caption of each statement of 
financial condition filed to the applicable 
fund. 

Schedule III—Allocation of plan income and 
changes in plan equity to investment programs. 
If the plan provides for separate investment 
programs with separate funds, and if the al-
location of income and changes in plan eq-
uity to the several funds is not shown in the 
statement of income and changes in plan eq-
uity in columnar form or by the submission 
of separate statements for each fund, a 
schedule shall be submitted showing the al-
location of each caption of each statement of 
income and changes in plan equity filed to 
the applicable fund. 

(b) [Reserved] 

[45 FR 63676, Sept. 25, 1980. Redesignated at 
47 FR 56843, Dec. 21, 1982, and amended at 50 
FR 25215, June 18, 1985] 

INSURANCE COMPANIES 

SOURCE: Sections 210.7–01 through 210.7–05 
appears at 46 FR 54335, Nov. 2, 1981, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 210.7–01 Application of §§ 210.7–01 to 
210.7–05. 

This article shall be applicable to fi-
nancial statements filed for insurance 
companies. 
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§ 210.7–02 General requirement. 
(a) The requirements of the general 

rules in §§ 210.1–01 to 210.4–10 (Articles 1, 
2, 3, 3A and 4) shall be applicable except 
where they differ from requirements of 
§§ 210.7–01 to 210.7–05. 

(b) Financial statements filed for 
mutual life insurance companies and 
wholly owned stock insurance company 
subsidiaries of mutual life insurance 
companies may be prepared in accord-
ance with statutory accounting re-
quirements. Financial statements pre-
pared in accordance with statutory ac-
counting requirements may be con-
densed as appropriate, but the amounts 
to be reported for net gain from oper-
ations (or net income or loss) and total 
capital and surplus (or surplus as re-
gards policyholders) shall be the same 
as those reported on the corresponding 
Annual Statement. 

§ 210.7–03 Balance sheets. 
(a) The purpose of this rule is to indi-

cate the various items which, if appli-
cable, and except as otherwise per-
mitted by the Commission, should ap-
pear on the face of the balance sheets 
and in the notes thereto filed for per-
sons to whom this article pertains. 
(See § 210.4–01(a).) 

ASSETS 

1. Investments—other than investments in re-
lated parties. 

(a) Fixed maturities. 
(b) Equity securities. 
(c) Mortgage loans on real estate. 
(d) Investment real estate. 
(e) Policy loans. 
(f) Other long-term investments. 
(g) Short-term investments. 
(h) Total investments. 

NOTES: (1) State parenthetically or other-
wise in the balance sheet (a) the basis of de-
termining the amounts shown in the balance 
sheet and (b) as to fixed maturities and eq-
uity securities either aggregate cost or ag-
gregate value at the balance sheet date, 
whichever is the alternate amount of the 
carrying value in the balance sheet. Consid-
eration shall be given to the discussion of 
‘‘Valuation of Securities’’ in § 404.03 of the 
Codification of Financial Reporting Policies. 

(2) Include under fixed maturities: bonds, 
notes, marketable certificates of deposit 
with maturities beyond one year, and re-
deemable preferred stocks. Include under eq-
uity securities: common stocks and non-
redeemable preferred stocks. 

(3) State separately in the balance sheet or 
in a note thereto the amount of accumulated 
depreciation and amortization deducted from 
investment real estate. Subcaption (d) shall 
not include real estate acquired in settling 
title claims, mortgage guaranty claims, and 
similar insurance claims. Real estate ac-
quired in settling claims shall be included in 
caption 10, ‘‘Other Assets,’’ or shown sepa-
rately, if material. 

(4) Include under subcaption (g) invest-
ments maturing within one year, such as 
commercial paper maturing within one year, 
marketable certificates of deposit maturing 
within one year, savings accounts, time de-
posits and other cash accounts and cash 
equivalents earning interest. State in a note 
any amounts subject to withdrawal or usage 
restrictions. (See § 210.5–02.1.) 

(5) State separately in a note the amount 
of any class of investments included in sub-
caption (f) if such amount exceeds ten per-
cent of stockholders’ equity. 

(6) State in a note the name of any person 
in which the total amount invested in the 
person and its affiliates, included in the 
above subcaptions, exceeds ten percent of 
total stockholders’ equity. For this disclo-
sure, include in the amount invested in a 
person and its affiliates the aggregate of in-
debtedness and stocks issued by such person 
and its affiliates that is included in the sev-
eral subcaptions above, and the amount of 
any real estate included in subcaption (d) 
that was purchased or acquired from such 
person and its affiliates. Indicate the amount 
included in each subcaption. An investment 
in bonds and notes of the United States Gov-
ernment or of a United States Government 
agency or authority which exceeds ten per-
cent of total stockholders’ equity need not 
be reported. 

(7) State in a note the amount of invest-
ments included under each subcaption (a), 
(c), (d) and (f) which have been non-income 
producing for the twelve months preceding 
the balance sheet date. 

2. Cash. Cash on hand or on deposit that is 
restricted as to withdrawal or usage shall be 
disclosed separately on the balance sheet. 
The provisions of any restrictions shall be 
described in a note to the financial state-
ments. Restrictions may include legally re-
stricted deposits held as compensating bal-
ances against short-term borrowing arrange-
ments, contracts entered into with others, or 
company statements of intention with re-
gard to particular deposits. In cases where 
compensating balance arrangements exist 
but are not agreements which legally re-
strict the use of cash amounts shown on the 
balance sheet, describe in the notes to the fi-
nancial statements these arrangements and 
the amount involved, if determinable, for the 
most recent audited balance sheet required. 
Compensating balances that are maintained 
under an agreement to assure future credit 
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availability shall be disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements along with the 
amount and terms of the agreement. 

3. Securities and indebtedness of related par-
ties. State separately (a) investments in re-
lated parties and (b) indebtedness from such 
related parties. (See § 210.4–08(k).) 

4. Accrued investment income. 
5. Accounts and notes receivable. Include 

under this caption (a) amounts receivable 
from agents and insureds, (b) uncollected 
premiums and (c) other receivables. State 
separately in the balance sheet or in a note 
thereto any category of other receivable 
which is in excess of five percent of total as-
sets. State separately in the balance sheet or 
in a note thereto the amount of allowance 
for doubtful accounts that was deducted. 

6. Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses. 
7. Deferred policy acquisition costs. 
8. Property and equipment. (a) State the 

basis of determining the amounts. 
(b) State separately in the balance sheet or 

in a note thereto the amount of accumulated 
depreciation and amortization of property 
and equipment. 

9. Title plant. 
10. Other assets. State separately in the bal-

ance sheet or in a note thereto any other 
asset the amount of which exceeds five per-
cent of total assets. 

11. Assets held in separate accounts. Include 
under this caption the aggregate amount of 
assets used to fund liabilities related to vari-
able annuities, pension funds and similar ac-
tivities. The aggregate liability shall be in-
cluded under caption 18. Describe in a note 
to the financial statements the general na-
ture of the activities being reported on in 
the separate accounts. 

12. Total assets. 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

13. Policy liabilities and accruals. (a) State 
separately in the balance sheet the amounts 
of (1) future policy benefits and losses, 
claims and loss expenses, (2) unearned 
preminums and (3) other policy claims and 
benefits payable. 

(b) State in a note to the financial state-
ments the basis of assumptions (interest 
rates, mortality, withdrawals) for future pol-
icy benefits and claims and settlements 
which are stated at present value. 

(c) Information shall be given in a note 
concerning the general nature of reinsurance 
transactions, including a description of the 
significant types of reinsurance agreements 
executed. The information provided shall in-
clude (1) the nature of the contingent liabil-
ity in connection with insurance ceded and 
(2) the nature and effect of material non-
recurring reinsurance transactions. 

14. Other policyholders’ funds. (a) Include 
amounts of supplementary contracts without 
life contingencies, policyholders’ dividend 
accumulations, undistributed earnings on 

participating business, dividends to policy-
holders and retrospective return premiums 
(not included elsewhere) and any similar 
items. State separately in the balance sheet 
or in a note thereto any item the amount of 
which is in excess of five percent of total li-
abilities. 

(b) State in a note to the financial state-
ments the relative significance of partici-
pating insurance expressed as percentages of 
(1) insurance in force and (2) premium in-
come; and the method by which earnings and 
dividends allocable to such insurance is de-
termined. 

15. Other liabilities. (a) Include under this 
caption such items as accrued payrolls, ac-
crued interest and taxes. State separately in 
the balance sheet or in a note thereto any 
item included in other liabilities the amount 
of which exceeds five percent of total liabil-
ities. 

(b) State separately in the balance sheet or 
in a note thereto the amount of (1) income 
taxes payable and (2) deferred income taxes. 
Disclose separately the amount of deferred 
income taxes applicable to unrealized appre-
ciation of equity securities. 

16. Notes payable, bonds, mortgages and simi-
lar obligations, including capitalized leases. (a) 
State separately in the balance sheet the 
amounts of (1) short-term debt and (2) long- 
term debt including capitalized leases. 

(b) The disclosure required by § 210.5– 
02.19(b) shall be given if the aggregate of 
short-term borrowings from banks, factors 
and other financial institutions and commer-
cial paper issued exceeds five percent of total 
liabilities. 

(c) The disclosure requirements of § 210.5– 
02.22 shall be followed for long-term debt. 

17. Indebtedness to related parties. (See 
§ 210.4–0.8(k).) 

18. Liabilities related to separate accounts. 
[See caption 11.] 

19. Commitments and contingent liabilities. 

REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCKS 

20. Preferred stocks subject to mandatory re-
demption requirements or whose redemption is 
outside the control of the issuer. The classifica-
tion and disclosure requirements of § 210.5– 
02.27 shall be followed. 

NONREDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCKS 

21. Preferred stocks which are not redeemable 
or are redeemable solely at the option of the 
issuer. The classification and disclosure re-
quirements of § 210.5–02.28 shall be followed. 

COMMON STOCKS 

22. Common stocks. The classification and 
disclosure requirements of § 210.5–02.29 shall 
be followed. 
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OTHER STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

23. Other stockholders’ equity. (a) Separate 
captions shall be shown for (1) additional 
paid-in capital, (2) other additional capital, 
(3) unrealized appreciation or depreciation of 
equity securities less applicable deferred in-
come taxes, (4) retained earnings (i) appro-
priated and (ii) unappropriated. (See § 210.4– 
08(e).) Additional paid-in capital and other 
additional capital may be combined with the 
stock caption to which they apply, if appro-
priate. 

(b) The classification and disclosure re-
quirements of § 210.5–02.30(b) shall be followed 
for dating and effect of a quasi-reorganiza-
tion. 

(c) State in a note the following informa-
tion separately for (1) life insurance legal en-
tities, and (2) property and liability insur-
ance legal entities: the amount of statutory 
stockholders’ equity as of the date of each 
balance sheet presented and the amount of 
statutory net income or loss for each period 
for which an income statement is presented. 

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 

24. Noncontrolling interests in consolidated 
subsidiaries. The disclosure requirements of 
§ 210.5–02.31 shall be followed. 

25. Total liabilities and equity. 

[46 FR 54335, Nov. 2, 1981, as amended at 50 
FR 25215, June 18, 1985; 74 FR 18615, Apr. 23, 
2009] 

§ 210.7–04 Income statements. 
The purpose of this rule is to indicate 

the various items which, if applicable, 
should appear on the face of the income 
statements and in the notes thereto 
filed for persons to whom this article 
pertains. (See § 210.4–01(a).) 

REVENUES 

1. Premiums. Include premiums from rein-
surance assumed and deduct premiums on re-
insurance ceded. Where applicable, the 
amounts included in this caption should rep-
resent premiums earned. 

2. Net investment income. State in a note to 
the financial statements, in tabular form, 
the amounts of (a) investment income from 
each category of investments listed in the 
subcaptions of § 210.7–03.1 that exceeds five 
percent of total investment income, (b) total 
investment income, (c) applicable expenses, 
and (d) net investment income. 

3. Realized investment gains and losses. Dis-
close the following amounts: 

(a) Net realized investment gains and 
losses, which shall be shown separately re-
gardless of size. 

(b) Indicate in a footnote the registrant’s 
policy with respect to whether investment 
income and realized gains and losses allo-

cable to policyholders and separate accounts 
are included in the investment income and 
realized gain and loss amounts reported in 
the income statement. If the income state-
ment includes investment income and real-
ized gains and losses allocable to policy-
holders and separate accounts, indicate the 
amounts of such allocable investment in-
come and realized gains and losses and the 
manner in which the insurance enterprise’s 
obligation with respect to allocation of such 
investment income and realized gains and 
losses is otherwise accounted for in the fi-
nancial statements. 

(c) The method followed in determining 
the cost of investments sold (e.g., ‘‘average 
cost,’’ ‘‘first-in, first-out,’’ or ‘‘identified cer-
tificate’’) shall be disclosed. 

(d) For each period for which an income 
statement is filed, include in a note an anal-
ysis of realized and unrealized investment 
gains and losses on fixed maturities and eq-
uity securities. For each period, state sepa-
rately for fixed maturities [see § 210.7–03.1(a)] 
and for equity securities [see § 210.7–03.1(b)] 
the following amounts: 

(1) Realized investment gains and losses, 
and 

(2) The change during the period in the dif-
ference between value and cost. 
The change in the difference between value 
and cost shall be given for both categories of 
investments even though they may be shown 
on the related balance sheet on a basis other 
than value. 

4. Other income. Include all revenues not in-
cluded in captions 1 and 2 above. State sepa-
rately in the statement any amounts in ex-
cess of five percent of total revenue, and dis-
close the nature of the transactions from 
which the items arose. 

BENEFITS, LOSSES AND EXPENSES 

5. Benefits, claims, losses and settlement ex-
penses. 

6. Policyholders’ share of earnings on partici-
pating policies, dividends and similar items. 
(See § 210.7–03.14(b).) 

7. Underwriting, acquisition and insurance 
expenses. State separately in the income 
statement or in a note thereto (a) the 
amount included in this caption representing 
deferred policy acquisition costs amortized 
to income during the period, and (b) the 
amount of other operating expenses. State 
separately in the income statement any ma-
terial amount included in all other operating 
expenses. 

8. Income or loss before income tax expense 
and appropriate items below. 

9. Income tax expense. Include under this 
caption only taxes based on income. (See 
§ 210.4–08(g).) 

10. Equity in earnings of unconsolidated sub-
sidiaries and 50% or less owned persons. State, 
parenthetically or in a note, the amount of 
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dividends received from such persons. If jus-
tified by the circumstances, this item may 
be presented in a different position and a dif-
ferent manner. (See § 210.4–01(a).) 

11. Income or loss from continuing operations. 
12. Discontinued operations. 
13. Income or loss before extraordinary items 

and cumulative effects of changes in accounting 
principles. 

14. Extraordinary items, less applicable tax. 
15. Cumulative effects of changes in account-

ing principles. 
16. Net income or loss. 
17. Net income attributable to the noncontrol-

ling interest. 
18. Net income attributable to the controlling 

interest. 
19. Earnings per share data. 

[46 FR 54335, Nov. 2, 1981, as amended at 57 
FR 45293, Oct. 1, 1992; 74 FR 18615, Apr. 23, 
2009] 

§ 210.7–05 What schedules are to be 
filed. 

(a) Except as expressly provided oth-
erwise in the applicable form: 

(1) The schedule specified below in 
this section as Schedules I shall be as 
of the date of the most recent audited 
balance sheet for each person or group. 

(2) The schedules specified below in 
this section as Schedule IV and V shall 
be filed for each period for which an au-
dited income statement is required to 
be filed for each person or group. 

(3) Schedules II, III and V shall be 
filed as of the date and for periods spec-
ified in the schedule. 

(b) When information is required in 
schedules for both the registrant and 
the registrant and its subsidiaries con-
solidated it may be presented in the 
form of a single schedule: Provided, 
That items pertaining to the registrant 
are shown separately and that such sin-
gle schedule affords a properly summa-
rized presentation of the facts. If the 
information required by any schedule 
(including the notes thereto) may be 
shown in the related financial state-
ment or in a note thereto without 
making such statement unclear or con-
fusing, that procedure may be followed 
and the schedule omitted. 

(c) The schedules shall be examined 
by the independent accountant. 

Schedule I—Summary of investments—other 
than investments in related parties. The sched-
ule prescribed by § 210.12–15 shall be filed in 
support of caption 1 of the most recent au-
dited balance sheet. 

Schedule II—Condensed financial information 
of registrant. The schedule prescribed by 
§ 210.12–04 shall be filed when the restricted 
net assets (§ 210.4.08(e)(3)) of consolidated 
subsidiaries exceed 25 percent of consoli-
dated net assets as of the end of the most re-
cently completed fiscal year. For purposes of 
the above test, restricted net assets of con-
solidated subsidiaries shall mean that 
amount of the registrant’s proportionate 
share of net assets of consolidated subsidi-
aries (after intercompany eliminations) 
which as of the end of the most recent fiscal 
year may not be transferred to the parent 
company by subsidiaries in the form of 
loans, advances or cash dividends without 
the consent of a third party (i.e., lender, reg-
ulatory agency, foreign government, etc.). 
Where restrictions on the amount of funds 
which may be loaned or advanced differ from 
the amount restricted as to transfer in the 
form of cash dividends, the amount least re-
strictive to the subsidiary shall be used. Re-
deemable preferred stocks (§ 210.7–03.20) and 
noncontrolling interests shall be deducted in 
computing net assets for purposes of this 
test. 

Schedule III—Supplementary insurance infor-
mation. The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–16 
shall be filed giving segment detail in sup-
port of various balance sheet and income 
statement captions. The required balance 
sheet information shall be presented as of 
the date of each audited balance sheet filed, 
and the income statement information shall 
be presented for each period for which an au-
dited income statement is required to be 
filed, for each person or group. 

Schedule IV—Reinsurance. The schedule 
prescribed by § 210.12–17 shall be filed for re-
insurance ceded and assumed. 

Schedule V—Valuation and qualifying ac-
counts. The schedule prescribed by § 210.12–09 
shall be filed in support of valuation and 
qualifying accounts included in the balance 
sheet (see § 210.4–02). 

Schedule VI—Supplemental Information Con-
cerning Property-Casualty Insurance Oper-
ations. The information required by § 210.12– 
18 shall be presented as of the same dates 
and for the same periods for which the infor-
mation is reflected in the audited consoli-
dated financial statements required by 
§§ 210.3–01 and 3–02. The schedule may be 
omitted if reserves for unpaid property-cas-
ualty claims and claim adjustment expenses 
of the registrant and its consolidated sub-
sidiaries, its unconsolidated subsidiaries and 
its 50%-or-less-owned equity basis investees 
did not in the aggregate, exceed one-half of 
common stockholders’ equity of the reg-
istrant and its consolidated subsidiaries as of 
the beginning of the fiscal year. For purposes 
of this test, only the proportionate share of 
the registrant and its other subsidiaries in 
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the reserves for unpaid claims and claim ad-
justment expenses of 50%-or-less-owned eq-
uity investees taken in the aggregate after 
intercompany eliminations shall be taken 
into account. Article 12—Form and Content 
of Schedules (17 CFR 210) 

[46 FR 54335, Nov. 2, 1981, as amended at 47 
FR 29837, July 9, 1982; 49 FR 47598, Dec. 6, 
1984; 59 FR 65637, Dec. 20, 1994; 74 FR 18615, 
Apr. 23, 2009] 

ARTICLE 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
SMALLER REPORTING COMPANIES 

SOURCE: 73 FR 953, Jan. 4, 2008, unless oth-
erwise noted. 

§ 210.8–01 Preliminary Notes to Article 
8. 

Sections 210.8–01 to 210.8–08 shall be 
applicable to financial statements filed 
for smaller reporting companies. These 
sections are not applicable to financial 
statements prepared for the purposes of 
Item 17 or Item 18 of Form 20–F. 

NOTE 1 TO § 210.8: Financial statements of a 
smaller reporting company, as defined by 
§ 229.10(f)(1) of this chapter, its predecessors 
or any businesses to which the smaller re-
porting company is a successor shall be pre-
pared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States. 

NOTE 2 TO § 210.8: Smaller reporting compa-
nies electing to prepare their financial state-
ments with the form and content required in 
this article need not apply the other form 
and content requirements in Regulation S–X 
with the exception of the following: 

a. The report and qualifications of the 
independent accountant shall comply with 
the requirements of Article 2 of this part; 

b. The description of accounting policies 
shall comply with Article 4–08(n) of this part; 
and 

c. Smaller reporting companies engaged in 
oil and gas producing activities shall follow 
the financial accounting and reporting 
standards specified in Article 4–10 of this 
part with respect to such activities. 

To the extent that Article 11–01 of this part 
(Pro Forma Presentation Requirements) of-
fers enhanced guidelines for the preparation, 
presentation and disclosure of pro forma fi-
nancial information, smaller reporting com-
panies may wish to consider these items. 

NOTE 3 TO § 210.8: Financial statements for 
a subsidiary of a smaller reporting company 
that issues securities guaranteed by the 
smaller reporting company or guarantees se-
curities issued by the smaller reporting com-
pany must be presented as required by 
§ 210.3–10, except that the periods presented 
are those required by § 210.8–02. 

NOTE 4 TO § 210.8: Financial statements for 
a smaller reporting company’s affiliates 

whose securities constitute a substantial 
portion of the collateral for any class of se-
curities registered or being registered must 
be presented as required by § 210.3–16, except 
that the periods presented are those required 
by § 210.8–02. 

NOTE 5 TO § 210.8: The Commission, where 
consistent with the protection of investors, 
may permit the omission of one or more of 
the financial statements or the substitution 
of appropriate statements of comparable 
character. The Commission by informal 
written notice may require the filing of 
other financial statements where necessary 
or appropriate. 

NOTE 6 TO § 210.8: Section 210.4–01(a)(3) shall 
apply to the preparation of financial state-
ments of smaller reporting companies. 

§ 210.8–02 Annual financial statements. 
Smaller reporting companies shall 

file an audited balance sheet as of the 
end of each of the most recent two fis-
cal years, or as of a date within 135 
days if the issuer has existed for a pe-
riod of less than one fiscal year, and 
audited statements of income, cash 
flows and changes in stockholders’ eq-
uity for each of the two fiscal years 
preceding the date of the most recent 
audited balance sheet (or such shorter 
period as the registrant has been in 
business). 

§ 210.8–03 Interim financial state-
ments. 

Interim financial statements may be 
unaudited; however, before filing, in-
terim financial statements included in 
quarterly reports on Form 10–Q 
(§ 249.308(a) of this chapter) must be re-
viewed by an independent public ac-
countant using professional standards 
and procedures for conducting such re-
views, as established by generally ac-
cepted auditing standards, as may be 
modified or supplemented by the Com-
mission. If, in any filing, the issuer 
states that interim financial state-
ments have been reviewed by an inde-
pendent public accountant, a report of 
the accountant on the review must be 
filed with the interim financial state-
ments. Interim financial statements 
shall include a balance sheet as of the 
end of the issuer’s most recent fiscal 
quarter, a balance sheet as of the end 
of the preceding fiscal year, and in-
come statements and statements of 
cash flows for the interim period up to 
the date of such balance sheet and the 
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comparable period of the preceding fis-
cal year. 

(a) Condensed format. Interim finan-
cial statements may be condensed as 
follows: 

(1) Balance sheets should include sep-
arate captions for each balance sheet 
component presented in the annual fi-
nancial statements that represents 10% 
or more of total assets. Cash and re-
tained earnings should be presented re-
gardless of relative significance to 
total assets. Registrants that present a 
classified balance sheet in their annual 
financial statements should present to-
tals for current assets and current li-
abilities. 

(2) Income statements should include 
net sales or gross revenue, each cost 
and expense category presented in the 
annual financial statements that ex-
ceeds 20% of sales or gross revenues, 
provision for income taxes, discon-
tinued operations, extraordinary items 
and cumulative effects of changes in 
accounting principles or practices. (Fi-
nancial institutions should substitute 
net interest income for sales for pur-
poses of determining items to be dis-
closed.) Dividends per share should be 
presented. 

(3) Cash flow statements should in-
clude cash flows from operating, in-
vesting and financing activities as well 
as cash at the beginning and end of 
each period and the increase or de-
crease in such balance. 

(4) Additional line items may be pre-
sented to facilitate the usefulness of 
the interim financial statements, in-
cluding their comparability with an-
nual financial statements. 

(b) Disclosure required and additional 
instructions as to content—(1) Footnotes. 
Footnote and other disclosures should 
be provided as needed for fair presen-
tation and to ensure that the financial 
statements are not misleading. 

(2) Material subsequent events and con-
tingencies. Disclosure must be provided 
of material subsequent events and ma-
terial contingencies notwithstanding 
disclosure in the annual financial 
statements. 

(3) Significant equity investees. Sales, 
gross profit, net income (loss) from 
continuing operations, net income, and 
net income attributable to the investee 
must be disclosed for equity investees 

that constitute 20 percent or more of a 
registrant’s consolidated assets, equity 
or income from continuing operations 
attributable to the registrant. 

(4) Significant dispositions and business 
combinations. If a significant disposi-
tion or business combination has oc-
curred during the most recent interim 
period and the transaction required the 
filing of a Form 8–K (§ 249.308 of this 
chapter), pro forma data must be pre-
sented that reflects revenue, income 
from continuing operations, net in-
come, net income attributable to the 
registrant and income per share for the 
current interim period and the cor-
responding interim period of the pre-
ceding fiscal year as though the trans-
action occurred at the beginning of the 
periods. 

(5) Material accounting changes. Dis-
closure must be provided of the date 
and reasons for any material account-
ing change. The registrant’s inde-
pendent accountant must provide a let-
ter in the first Form 10–Q (§ 249.308a of 
this chapter) filed after the change in-
dicating whether or not the change is 
to a preferable method. Disclosure 
must be provided of any retroactive 
change to prior period financial state-
ments, including the effect of any such 
change on income and income per 
share. 

(6) Development stage companies. A 
registrant in the development stage 
must provide cumulative financial in-
formation from inception. 

Instruction 1 to § 210.8–03: Where Article 8 is 
applicable to a Form 10–Q and the interim 
period is more than one quarter, income 
statements must also be provided for the 
most recent interim quarter and the com-
parable quarter of the preceding fiscal year. 

Instruction 2 to § 210.8–03: Interim financial 
statements must include all adjustments 
that, in the opinion of management, are nec-
essary in order to make the financial state-
ments not misleading. An affirmative state-
ment that the financial statements have 
been so adjusted must be included with the 
interim financial statements. 

[73 FR 953, Jan. 4, 2008, as amended at 74 FR 
18615, Apr. 23, 2009] 
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§ 210.8–04 Financial statements of 
businesses acquired or to be ac-
quired. 

(a) If a business combination has oc-
curred or is probable, financial state-
ments of the business acquired or to be 
acquired shall be furnished for the peri-
ods specified in paragraph (c) of this 
section: 

(1) This encompasses the purchase of 
an interest in a business accounted for 
by the equity method. 

(2) Acquisitions of a group of related 
businesses that are probable or that 
have occurred subsequent to the latest 
fiscal year end for which audited finan-
cial statements of the issuer have been 
filed shall be treated as if they are a 
single business combination for pur-
poses of this section. The required fi-
nancial statements of related busi-
nesses may be presented on a combined 
basis for any periods they are under 
common control or management. A 
group of businesses is deemed to be re-
lated if: 

(i) They are under common control or 
management; 

(ii) The acquisition of one business is 
conditioned on the acquisition of each 
other business; or 

(iii) Each acquisition is conditioned 
on a single common event. 

(3) Annual financial statements re-
quired by this rule shall be audited. 
The form and content of the financial 
statements shall be in accordance with 
§§ 210.8–02 and 8–03. 

(b) The periods for which financial 
statements are to be presented are de-
termined by comparison of the most re-
cent annual financial statements of the 
business acquired or to be acquired and 
the smaller reporting company’s most 
recent annual financial statements 
filed at or before the date of acquisi-
tion to evaluate each of the following 
conditions: 

(1) Compare the smaller reporting 
company’s investments in and ad-
vances to the acquiree to the total con-
solidated assets of the smaller report-
ing company as of the end of the most 
recently completed fiscal year. 

(2) Compare the smaller reporting 
company’s proportionate share of the 
total assets (after intercompany elimi-
nations) of the acquiree to the total 
consolidated assets of the smaller re-

porting company as of the end of the 
most recently completed fiscal year. 

(3) Compare the smaller reporting 
company’s equity in the income from 
continuing operations before income 
taxes, extraordinary items and cumu-
lative effect of a change in accounting 
principles of the acquiree exclusive of 
amounts attributable to any non-
controlling interests to such consoli-
dated income of the smaller reporting 
company for the most recently com-
pleted fiscal year. 

COMPUTATIONAL NOTE TO § 210.8–04(b): For 
purposes of making the prescribed income 
test the following guidance should be ap-
plied: If income of the smaller reporting 
company and its subsidiaries consolidated 
exclusive of amounts attributable to any 
noncontrolling interests for the most recent 
fiscal year is at least 10 percent lower than 
the average of the income for the last five 
fiscal years, such average income should be 
substituted for purposes of the computation. 
Any loss years should be omitted for pur-
poses of computing average income. 

(c)(1) If none of the conditions speci-
fied in paragraph (b) of this section ex-
ceeds 20%, financial statements are not 
required. If any of the conditions ex-
ceed 20%, but none exceeds 40%, finan-
cial statements shall be furnished for 
the most recent fiscal year and any in-
terim periods specified in § 210.8–03. If 
any of the conditions exceed 40%, fi-
nancial statements shall be furnished 
for the two most recent fiscal years 
and any interim periods specified in 
§ 210.8–03. 

(2) The separate audited balance 
sheet of the acquired business is not re-
quired when the smaller reporting com-
pany’s most recent audited balance 
sheet filed is for a date after the acqui-
sition was consummated. 

(3) If the aggregate impact of individ-
ually insignificant businesses acquired 
since the date of the most recent au-
dited balance sheet filed for the reg-
istrant exceeds 50%, financial state-
ments covering at least the substantial 
majority of the businesses acquired 
shall be furnished. Such financial 
statements shall be for the most recent 
fiscal year and any interim periods 
specified in § 210.8–03. 

(4) Registration statements not sub-
ject to the provisions of § 230.419 of this 
chapter (Regulation C) and proxy 
statements need not include separate 
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financial statements of the acquired or 
to be acquired business if it does not 
meet or exceed any of the conditions 
specified in paragraph (b) of this sec-
tion at the 50 percent level, and either: 

(i) The consummation of the acquisi-
tion has not yet occurred; or 

(ii) The effective date of the registra-
tion statement, or mailing date in the 
case of a proxy statement, is no more 
than 74 days after consummation of the 
business combination, and the finan-
cial statements have not been filed pre-
viously by the registrant. 

(5) An issuer that omits from its ini-
tial registration statement financial 
statements of a recently consummated 
business combination pursuant to para-
graph (c)(4) of this section shall furnish 
those financial statements and any pro 
forma information specified by § 210.8– 
05 under cover of Form 8–K (§ 249.308 of 
this chapter) no later than 75 days 
after consummation of the acquisition. 

(d) If the smaller reporting company 
made a significant business acquisition 
after the latest fiscal year end and filed 
a report on Form 8–K, which included 
audited financial statements of such 
acquired business for the periods re-
quired by paragraph (c) of this section 
and the pro forma financial informa-
tion required by § 210.8–05, the deter-
mination of significance may be made 
by using pro forma amounts for the 
latest fiscal year in the report on Form 
8–K rather than by using the historical 
amounts of the registrant. The tests 
may not be made by ‘‘annualizing’’ 
data. 

(e) If the business acquired or to be 
acquired is a foreign business, financial 
statements of the business meeting the 
requirements of Item 17 of Form 20–F 
(§ 249.220f of this chapter) will satisfy 
this section. 

[73 FR 953, Jan. 4, 2008, as amended at 74 FR 
18616, Apr. 23, 2009] 

§ 210.8–05 Pro forma financial informa-
tion. 

(a) Pro forma information showing 
the effects of the acquisition shall be 
furnished if financial statements of a 
business acquired or to be acquired are 
presented. 

(b) Pro forma statements should be 
condensed, in columnar form showing 

pro forma adjustments and results, and 
should include the following: 

(1) If the transaction was con-
summated during the most recent fis-
cal year or subsequent interim period, 
pro forma statements of income re-
flecting the combined operations of the 
entities for the latest fiscal year and 
interim period, if any; or 

(2) If consummation of the trans-
action has occurred or is probable after 
the date of the most recent balance 
sheet required by § 210.8–02 or § 210.8–03, 
a pro forma balance sheet giving effect 
to the combination as of the date of 
the most recent balance sheet. For a 
purchase, pro forma statements of in-
come reflecting the combined oper-
ations of the entities for the latest fis-
cal year and interim period, if any, are 
required. 

§ 210.8–06 Real estate operations ac-
quired or to be acquired. 

If, during the period for which in-
come statements are required, the 
smaller reporting company has ac-
quired one or more properties that in 
the aggregate are significant, or since 
the date of the latest balance sheet re-
quired by § 210.8–02 or § 210.8–03, has ac-
quired or proposes to acquire one or 
more properties that in the aggregate 
are significant, the following shall be 
furnished with respect to such prop-
erties: 

(a) Audited income statements (not 
including earnings per unit) for the two 
most recent years, which shall exclude 
items not comparable to the proposed 
future operations of the property such 
as mortgage interest, leasehold rental, 
depreciation, corporate expenses and 
federal and state income taxes; Pro-
vided, however, that such audited state-
ments need be presented for only the 
most recent fiscal year if: 

(1) The property is not acquired from 
a related party; 

(2) Material factors considered by the 
smaller reporting company in assessing 
the property are described with speci-
ficity in the registration statement 
with regard to the property, including 
source of revenue (including, but not 
limited to, competition in the rental 
market, comparative rents, occupancy 
rates) and expenses (including but not 
limited to, utilities, ad valorem tax 
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rates, maintenance expenses, and cap-
ital improvements anticipated); and 

(3) The smaller reporting company 
indicates that, after reasonable in-
quiry, it is not aware of any material 
factors relating to the specific property 
other than those discussed in response 
to paragraph (a)(2) of this section that 
would cause the reported financial in-
formation not to be necessarily indic-
ative of future operating results. 

(b) If the property will be operated by 
the smaller reporting company, a 
statement shall be furnished showing 
the estimated taxable operating results 
of the smaller reporting company based 
on the most recent twelve-month pe-
riod, including such adjustments as can 
be factually supported. If the property 
will be acquired subject to a net lease, 
the estimated taxable operating results 
shall be based on the rent to be paid for 
the first year of the lease. In either 
case, the estimated amount of cash to 
be made available by operations shall 
be shown. Disclosure must be provided 
of the principal assumptions that have 
been made in preparing the statements 
of estimated taxable operating results 
and cash to be made available by oper-
ations. 

(c) If appropriate under the cir-
cumstances, a table should be provided 
that shows, for a limited number of 
years, the estimated cash distribution 
per unit, indicating the portion report-
able as taxable income and the portion 
representing a return of capital with 
an explanation of annual variations, if 
any. If taxable net income per unit will 
be greater than the cash available for 
distribution per unit, that fact and the 
approximate year of occurrence shall 
be stated, if significant. 

§ 210.8–07 Limited partnerships. 
(a) Smaller reporting companies that 

are limited partnerships must provide 
the balance sheets of the general part-
ners as described in paragraphs (b) 
through (d) of this section. 

(b) Where a general partner is a cor-
poration, the audited balance sheet of 
the corporation as of the end of its 
most recently completed fiscal year 
must be filed. Receivables, other than 
trade receivables, from affiliates of the 
general partner should be deducted 
from shareholders’ equity of the gen-

eral partner. Where an affiliate has 
committed itself to increase or main-
tain the general partner’s capital, the 
audited balance sheet of such affiliate 
must also be presented. 

(c) Where a general partner is a part-
nership, there shall be filed an audited 
balance sheet of such partnership as of 
the end of its most recently completed 
fiscal year. 

(d) Where the general partner is a 
natural person, there shall be filed, as 
supplemental information, a balance 
sheet of such natural person as of a re-
cent date. Such balance sheet need not 
be audited. The assets and liabilities 
should be carried at estimated fair 
market value, with provisions for esti-
mated income taxes on unrealized 
gains. The net worth of such general 
partner(s), based on such balance 
sheet(s), singly or in the aggregate, 
shall be disclosed in the registration 
statement. 

§ 210.8–08 Age of financial statements. 
At the date of filing, financial state-

ments included in filings other than 
filings on Form 10–K must be not less 
current than the financial statements 
that would be required in Forms 10–K 
and 10–Q if such reports were required 
to be filed. If required financial state-
ments are as of a date 135 days or more 
before the date a registration state-
ment becomes effective or proxy mate-
rial is expected to be mailed, the finan-
cial statements shall be updated to in-
clude financial statements for an in-
terim period ending within 135 days of 
the effective or expected mailing date. 
Interim financial statements must be 
prepared and presented in accordance 
with paragraph (b) of this section. 

(a) When the anticipated effective or 
mailing date falls within 45 days after 
the end of the fiscal year, the filing 
may include financial statements only 
as current as of the end of the third fis-
cal quarter; Provided, however, that if 
the audited financial statements for 
the recently completed fiscal year are 
available or become available before ef-
fectiveness or mailing, they must be 
included in the filing; and 

(b) If the effective date or anticipated 
mailing date falls after 45 days but 
within 90 days of the end of the smaller 
reporting company’s fiscal year, the 
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smaller reporting company is not re-
quired to provide the audited financial 
statements for such year end provided 
that the following conditions are met: 

(1) If the smaller reporting company 
is a reporting company, all reports due 
must have been filed; 

(2) For the most recent fiscal year for 
which audited financial statements are 
not yet available, the smaller reporting 
company reasonably and in good faith 
expects to report income from con-
tinuing operations attributable to the 
registrant before taxes; and 

(3) For at least one of the two fiscal 
years immediately preceding the most 
recent fiscal year the smaller reporting 
company reported income from con-
tinuing operations attributable to the 
registrant before taxes. 

[73 FR 953, Jan. 4, 2008, as amended at 74 FR 
18616, Apr. 23, 2009] 

BANK HOLDING COMPANIES 

SOURCE: Sections 210.9–01 through 210.9–07 
appear at 48 FR 11107, Mar. 16, 1983, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 210.9–01 Application of §§ 210.9–01 to 
210.9–07 

This article is applicable to consoli-
dated financial statements filed for 
bank holding companies and to any fi-
nancial statements of banks that are 
included in filings with the Commis-
sion. 

§ 210.9–02 General requirement. 
The requirements of the general rules 

in §§ 210.1 to 210.4 (Articles 1, 2, 3, 3A 
and 4) should be complied with where 
applicable. 

§ 210.9–03 Balance sheets. 
The purpose of this rule is to indicate 

the various items which, if applicable, 
should appear on the face of the bal-
ance sheets or in the notes thereto. 

ASSETS 

1. Cash and due from banks. The amounts in 
this caption should include all noninterest 
bearing deposits with other banks. 

(a) Any withdrawal and usage restrictions 
(including requirements of the Federal Re-
serve to maintain certain average reserve 
balances) or compensating balance require-
ments should be disclosed (see § 210.5–02–1). 

2. Interest-bearing deposits in other banks. 

3. Federal funds sold and securities purchased 
under resale agreements of similar arrange-
ments. These amounts should be presented 
gross and not netted against Federal funds 
purchased and securities sold under agree-
ment to repurchase as reported in Caption 
13. 

4. Trading account assets. Include securities 
or any other investments held for trading 
purposes only. 

5. Other short-term investments. 
6. Investment securities Include securities 

held for investment only. Disclose the aggre-
gate book value of investment securities; 
show on the balance sheet the aggregate 
market value at the balance sheet date. The 
aggregate amounts should include securities 
pledged, loaned or sold under repurchase 
agreements and similar arrangements; bor-
rowed securities and securities purchased 
under resale agreements or similar arrange-
ments should be excluded. 

(a) Disclose in a note the carrying value 
and market value of securities of (1) the U.S. 
Treasury and other U.S. Government agen-
cies and corporations; (2) states of the U.S. 
and political subdivisions; and (3) other secu-
rities. 

7. Loans. Disclose separately (1) total 
loans, (2) the related allowance for losses and 
(3) unearned income. 

(a) Disclose on the balance sheet or in a 
note the amount of total loans in each of the 
following categories: 

(1) Commercial, financial and agricultural 
(2) Real estate—construction 
(3) Real estate—mortgage 
(4) Installment loans to individuals 
(5) Lease financing 
(6) Foreign 
(7) Other (State separately any other loan 

category regardless of relative size if nec-
essary to reflect any unusual risk concentra-
tion). 

(b) A series of categories other than those 
specified in (a) above may be used to present 
details of loans if considered a more appro-
priate presentation. 

(c) The amount of foreign loans must be 
presented if the disclosures provided by 
§ 210.9–05 are required. 

(d) For each period for which an income 
statement is required, furnish in a note a 
statement of changes in the allowance for 
loan losses showing the balances at begin-
ning and end of the period provision charged 
to income, recoveries of amounts charged off 
and losses charged to the allowance. 

(e)(1)(i) As of each balance sheet date, dis-
close in a note the aggregate dollar amount 
of loans (exclusive of loans to any such per-
sons which in the aggregate do not exceed 
$60,000 during the latest year) made by the 
registrant or any of its subsidiaries to direc-
tors, executive officers, or principal holders 
of equity securities (§ 210.1–02) of the reg-
istrant or any of its significant subsidiaries 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 07:58 Jul 25, 2017 Jkt 241059 PO 00000 Frm 00331 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\241059.XXX 241059js
ta

llw
or

th
 o

n 
LA

P
40

67
W

D
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 C

F
R



322 

17 CFR Ch. II (4–1–17 Edition) § 210.9–03 

(§ 210.1–02), or to any associate of such per-
sons. For the latest fiscal year, an analysis 
of activity with respect to such aggregate 
loans to related parties should be provided. 
The analysis should include the aggregate 
amount at the beginning of the period, new 
loans, repayments, and other changes. (Other 
changes, if significant, should be explained.) 

(ii) This disclosure need not be furnished 
when the aggregate amount of such loans at 
the balance sheet date (or with respect to 
the latest fiscal year, the maximum amount 
outstanding during the period) does not ex-
ceed 5 percent of stockholders equity at the 
balance sheet date. 

(2) If a significant portion of the aggregate 
amount of loans outstanding at the end of 
the fiscal year disclosed pursuant to (e)(1)(i) 
above relates to loans which are disclosed as 
nonaccrual, past due, restructured or poten-
tial problems (see Item III.C. 1. or 2. of In-
dustry Guide 3, Statistical Disclosure by 
Bank Holding Companies), so state and dis-
close the aggregate amounts of such loans 
along with such other information necessary 
to an understanding of the effects of the 
transactions on the financial statements. 

(3) Notwithstanding the aggregate disclo-
sure called for by (e)(1) above, if any loans 
were not made in the ordinary course of 
business during any period for which an in-
come statement is required to be filed, pro-
vide an appropriate description of each such 
loan (see § 210.4–08(L)(3)). 

(4) Definition of terms. For purposes of this 
rule, the following definitions shall apply: 

Associate means (i) a corporation, venture 
or organization of which such person is a 
general partner or is, directly or indirectly, 
the beneficial owner of 10 percent or more of 
any class of equity securities; (ii) any trust 
or other estate in which such person has a 
substantial beneficial interest or for which 
such person serves as trustee or in a similar 
capacity and (iii) any member of the imme-
diate family of any of the foregoing persons. 

Executive officers means the president, any 
vice president in charge of a principal busi-
ness unit, division or function (such as loans, 
investments, operations, administration or 
finance), and any other officer or person who 
performs similar policymaking functions. 

Immediate Family means such person’s 
spouse; parents; children; siblings; mothers 
and fathers-in-law; sons and daughters-in- 
law; and brothers and sisters-in-law. 

Ordinary course of business means those 
loans which were made on substantially the 
same terms, including interest rate and col-
lateral, as those prevailing at the same time 
for comparable transactions with unrelated 
persons and did not involve more than the 
normal risk of collectibility or present other 
unfavorable features. 

8. Premises and equipment. 
9. Due from customers on acceptances. In-

clude amounts receivable from customers on 

unmatured drafts and bills of exchange that 
have been accepted by a bank subsidiary or 
by other banks for the account of a sub-
sidiary and that are outstanding—that is, 
not held by a subsidiary bank, on the report-
ing date. (If held by a bank subsidiary, they 
should be reported as ‘‘loans’’ under § 210.9– 
03.7.) 

10. Other assets. Disclose separately on the 
balance sheet or in a note thereto any of the 
following assets or any other asset the 
amount of which exceeds thirty percent of 
stockholders equity. The remaining assets 
may be shown as one amount. 

(1) Excess of cost over tangible and identi-
fiable intangible assets acquired (net of am-
ortization). 

(2) Other intangible assets (net of amorti-
zation). 

(3) Investments in and indebtness of affili-
ates and other persons. 

(4) Other real estates. 
(a) Disclose in a note the basis at which 

other real estate is carried. An reduction to 
fair market value from the carrying value of 
the related loan at the time of acquisition 
shall be accounted for as a loan loss. Any al-
lowance for losses on other real estate which 
has been established subsequent to acquisi-
tion should be deducted from other real es-
tate. For each period for which an income 
statement is required, disclosures should be 
made in a note as to the changes in the al-
lowances, including balance at beginning and 
end of period, provision charged to income, 
and losses charged to the allowance. 

11. Total assets. 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Liabilities 

12. Deposits. Disclose separately the 
amounts of noninterest bearing deposits and 
interest bearing deposits. 

(a) The amount of noninterest bearing de-
posits and interest bearing deposits in for-
eign banking offices must be presented if the 
disclosure provided by § 210.0–05 are required. 

13. Short-term borrowing. Disclosure sepa-
rately on the balance sheet or in a note, 
amounts payable for (1) Federal funds pur-
chased and securities sold under agreements 
to repurchase; (2) commercial paper, and (3) 
other short-term borrowings. 

(a) Disclose any unused lines of credit for 
short-term financing: (§ 210.5–02.19(b)). 

14. Bank acceptances outstanding. Disclose 
the aggregate of unmatured drafts and bills 
of exchange accepted by a bank subsidiary, 
or by some other bank as its agent, less the 
amount of such acceptances acquired by the 
bank subsidiary through discount or pur-
chase. 

15. Other liabilities. Disclose separately on 
the balance sheet or in a note any of the fol-
lowing liabilities or any other items which 
are individually in excess of thirty percent of 
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stockholders’ equity (except that amounts in 
excess of 5 percent of stockholders’ equity 
should be disclosed with respect to item (4)). 
The remaining items may be shown as one 
amount. 

(1) Income taxes payable. 
(2) Deferred income taxes. 
(3) Indebtedness to affiliates and other per-

sons the investments in which are accounted 
for by the equity method. 

(4) Indebtedness to directors, executive of-
ficers, and principal holders of equity securi-
ties of the registrant or any of its significant 
subsidiaries (the guidance in § 210.9–03.7(e) 
shall be used to identify related parties for 
purposes of this disclosure). 

(5) Accounts payable and accrued expenses. 
16. Long-term debt. Disclose in a note the 

information required by § 210.5–02.22. 
17. Commitments and contingent liabilities. 

Redeemable Preferred Stocks 

18. Preferred stocks subject to mandatory re-
demption requirements or whose redemption is 
outside the control of the issuer. See § 210.5– 
02.27. 

Non-redeemable Preferred Stocks 

19. Preferred stocks which are not redeemable 
or are redeemable solely at the option of the 
issuer. See § 210.5–02.28. 

Common Stocks 

20. Common stocks. See § 210.5–02.29. 

Other Stockholders’ Equity 

21. Other stockholders’ equity. See § 210.5– 
02.30. 

Noncontrolling Interests 

22. Noncontrolling interests in consolidated 
subsidiaries. The disclosure requirements of 
§ 210.5–02.31 shall be followed. 

23. Total liabilities and equity. 

[48 FR 11107, Mar. 16, 1983, as amended at 48 
FR 37612, Aug. 19, 1983; 50 FR 25215, June 18, 
1985; 74 FR 18616, Apr. 23, 2009] 

§ 210.9–04 Income statements. 
The purpose of this rule is to indicate 

the various items which, if applicable, 
should appear on the face of the income 
statement or in the notes thereto. 

1. Interest and fees on loans. Include com-
mitment and origination fees, late charges 
and current amortization of premium and ac-
cretion of discount on loans which are re-
lated to or are an adjustment of the loan in-
terest rate. 

2. Interest and dividends on investment secu-
rities. Disclosure separately (1) taxable inter-
est income, (2) nontaxable interest income, 
and (3) dividends. 

3. Trading account interest. 

4. Other interest income. 
5. Total interest income (total of lines 1 

through 4). 
6. Interest on deposits. 
7. Interest on short-term borrowings. 
8. Interest on long-term debt. 
9. Total interest expense (total of lines 6 

through 8). 
10. Net interest income (line 5 minus line 9). 
11. Provision for loan losses. 
12. Net interest income after provision for loan 

losses. 
13. Other income. Disclose separately any of 

the following amounts, or any other item of 
other income, which exceed one percent of 
the aggregate of total interest income and 
other income. The remaining amounts may 
be shown as one amount, except for invest-
ment securities gains or losses which shall 
be shown separately regardless of size. 

(a) Commissions and fees and fiduciary ac-
tivities. 

(b) Commissions, broker’s fees and mark-
ups on securities underwriting and other se-
curities activities. 

(c) Insurance commissions, fees and pre-
miums. 

(d) Fees for other customer services. 
(e) Profit or loss on transactions in securi-

ties in dealer trading account. 
(f) Equity in earnings of unconsolidated 

subsidiaries and 50 percent or less owned per-
sons. 

(g) Gains or losses on disposition of equity 
in securities of subsidiaries or 50 percent or 
less owned persons. 

(h) Investment securities gains or losses. 
The method followed in determining the cost 
of investments sold (e.g., ‘‘average cost,’’ 
‘‘first-in, first-out,’’ or ‘‘identified certifi-
cate) and related income taxes shall be dis-
closed. 

14. Other expenses. Disclose separately any 
of the following amounts, or any other item 
of other expense, which exceed one percent of 
the aggregate of total interest income and 
other income. The remaining amounts may 
be shown as one amount. 

(a) Salaries and employee benefits. 
(b) Net occupancy expense of premises. 
(c) Goodwill amortization. 
(d) Net cost of operation of other real es-

tate (including provisions for real estate 
losses, rental income and gains and losses on 
sales of real estate). 

15. Income or loss before income tax expense. 
16. Income tax expense. The information re-

quired by § 210.4–08(h) should be disclosed. 
17. Income or loss before extraordinary items 

and cumulative effects of changes in accounting 
principles. 

18. Extraordinary items, less applicable tax. 
19. Cumulative effects of changes in account-

ing principles. 
20. Net income or loss. 
21. Net income attributable to the noncontrol-

ling interest. 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 07:58 Jul 25, 2017 Jkt 241059 PO 00000 Frm 00333 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\241059.XXX 241059js
ta

llw
or

th
 o

n 
LA

P
40

67
W

D
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 C

F
R



324 

17 CFR Ch. II (4–1–17 Edition) § 210.9–05 

22. Net income attributable to the controlling 
interest. 

23. Earnings per share data. 

[48 FR 11107, Mar. 16, 1983, as amended at 50 
FR 25215, June 18, 1985; 74 FR 18616, Apr. 23, 
2009] 

§ 210.9–05 Foreign activities. 

(a) General requirement. Separate dis-
closure concerning foreign activities 
shall be made for each period in which 
either (1) assets, or (2) revenue, or (3) 
income (loss) before income tax ex-
pense, or (4) net income (loss), each as 
associated with foreign activities, ex-
ceeded ten percent of the corresponding 
amount in the related financial state-
ments. 

(b) Disclosures. (1) Disclose total iden-
tifiable assets (net of valuation allow-
ances) associated with foreign activi-
ties. 

(2) For each period for which an in-
come statement is filed, state the 
amount of revenue, income (loss) be-
fore taxes, and net income (loss) associ-
ated with foreign activities. Disclose 
significant estimates and assumptions 
(including those related to the cost of 
capital) used in allocating revenue and 
expenses to foreign activities; describe 
the nature and effects of any changes 
in such estimates and assumptions 
which have a significant impact on 
interperiod comparability. 

(3) The information in paragraph (b) 
(1) and (2) of this section shall be pre-
sented separately for each significant 
geographic area and in the aggregate 
for all other geographic areas not 
deemed significant. 

(c) Definitions. (1) Foreign activities in-
clude loans and other revenues pro-
ducing assets and transactions in 
which the debtor or customer, whether 
an affiliated or unaffiliated person, is 
domiciled outside the United States. 

(2) The term revenue includes the 
total of the amount reported at §§ 210.9– 
04.5 and 210.9–04.13. 

(3) A significant geographic area is one 
in which assets or revenue or income 
before income tax or net income exceed 
10 percent of the comparable amount as 
reported in the financial statements. 

§ 210.9–06 Condensed financial infor-
mation of registrant. 

The information prescribed by 
§ 210.12–04 shall be presented in a note 
to the financial statements when the 
restricted net assets (§ 210.4–08(e)(3)) of 
consolidated subsidiaries exceed 25 per-
cent of consolidated net assets as of 
the end of the most recently completed 
fiscal year. The investment in and in-
debtedness of and to bank subsidiaries 
shall be stated separately in the con-
densed balance sheet from amounts for 
other subsidiaries; the amount of cash 
dividends paid to the registrant for 
each of the last three years by bank 
subsidiaries shall be stated separately 
in the condensed income statement 
from amounts for other subsidiaries. 
For purposes of the above test, re-
stricted net assets of consolidated sub-
sidiaries shall mean that amount of the 
registrant’s proportionate share of net 
assets of consolidated subsidiaries 
(after intercompany eliminations) 
which as of the end of the most recent 
fiscal year may not be transferred to 
the parent company by subsidiaries in 
the form of loans, advances or cash 
dividends without the consent of a 
third party (i.e., lender, regulatory 
agency, foreign government, etc.). 
Where restrictions on the amount of 
funds which may be loaned or advanced 
differ from the amount restricted as to 
transfer in the form of cash dividends, 
the amount least restrictive to the sub-
sidiary shall be used. Redeemable pre-
ferred stocks (§ 210.5–02.27) and non-
controlling interests shall be deducted 
in computing net assets for purposes of 
this test. 

[48 FR 11107, Mar. 16, 1983, as amended at 74 
FR 18616, Apr. 23, 2009] 

§ 210.9–07 [Reserved] 

INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

§ 210.10–01 Interim financial state-
ments. 

(a) Condensed statements. Interim fi-
nancial statements shall follow the 
general form and content of presen-
tation prescribed by the other sections 
of this Regulation with the following 
exceptions: 
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(1) Interim financial statements re-
quired by this rule need only be pro-
vided as to the registrant and its sub-
sidiaries consolidated and may be 
unaudited. Separate statements of 
other entities which may otherwise be 
required by this regulation may be 
omitted. 

(2) Interim balance sheets shall in-
clude only major captions (i.e., num-
bered captions) prescribed by the appli-
cable sections of this Regulation with 
the exception of inventories. Data as to 
raw materials, work in process and fin-
ished goods inventories shall be in-
cluded either on the face of the balance 
sheet or in the notes to the financial 
statements, if applicable. Where any 
major balance sheet caption is less 
than 10% of total assets, and the 
amount in the caption has not in-
creased or decreased by more than 25% 
since the end of the preceding fiscal 
year, the caption may be combined 
with others. 

(3) Interim statements of income 
shall also include major captions pre-
scribed by the applicable sections of 
this Regulation. When any major in-
come statement caption is less than 
15% of average net income for the most 
recent three fiscal years and the 
amount in the caption has not in-
creased or decreased by more than 20% 
as compared to the corresponding in-
terim period of the preceding fiscal 
year, the caption may be combined 
with others. In calculating average net 
income, loss years should be excluded. 
If losses were incurred in each of the 
most recent three years, the average 
loss shall be used for purposes of this 
test. Notwithstanding these tests, 
§ 210.4–02 applies and de minimis 
amounts therefore need not be shown 
separately, except that registrants re-
porting under § 210.9 shall show invest-
ment securities gains or losses sepa-
rately regardless of size. 

(4) The statement of cash flows may 
be abbreviated starting with a single 
figure of net cash flows from operating 
activities and showing cash changes 
from investing and financing activities 
individually only when they exceed 
10% of the average of net cash flows 
from operating activities for the most 
recent three years. Notwithstanding 
this test, § 210.4–02 applies and de mini-

mis amounts therefore need not be 
shown separately. 

(5) The interim financial information 
shall include disclosures either on the 
face of the financial statements or in 
accompanying footnotes sufficient so 
as to make the interim information 
presented not misleading. Registrants 
may presume that users of the interim 
financial information have read or 
have access to the audited financial 
statements for the preceding fiscal 
year and that the adequacy of addi-
tional disclosure needed for a fair pres-
entation, except in regard to material 
contingencies, may be determined in 
that context. Accordingly, footnote 
disclosure which would substantially 
duplicate the disclosure contained in 
the most recent annual report to secu-
rity holders or latest audited financial 
statements, such as a statement of sig-
nificant accounting policies and prac-
tices, details of accounts which have 
not changed significantly in amount or 
composition since the end of the most 
recently completed fiscal year, and de-
tailed disclosures prescribed by Rule 4– 
08 of this Regulation, may be omitted. 
However, disclosure shall be provided 
where events subsequent to the end of 
the most recent fiscal year have oc-
curred which have a material impact 
on the registrant. Disclosures should 
encompass for example, significant 
changes since the end of the most re-
cently completed fiscal year in such 
items as: accounting principles and 
practices; estimates inherent in the 
preparation of financial statements; 
status of long-term contracts; capital-
ization including significant new bor-
rowings or modification of existing fi-
nancing arrangements; and the report-
ing entity resulting from business com-
binations or dispositions. Notwith-
standing the above, where material 
contingencies exist, disclosure of such 
matters shall be provided even though 
a significant change since year end 
may not have occurred. 

(6) Detailed schedules otherwise re-
quired by this Regulation may be omit-
ted for purposes of preparing interim 
financial statements. 

(7) In addition to the financial state-
ments required by paragraphs (a) (2), 
(3) and (4) of this section, registrants in 
the development stage shall provide 
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the cumulative financial statements 
(condensed to the same degree as al-
lowed in this paragraph) and disclo-
sures required by FASB ASC Topic 915, 
Development Stage Entities, to the date 
of the latest balance sheet presented. 

(b) Other instructions as to content. 
The following additional instructions 
shall be applicable for purposes of pre-
paring interim financial statements: 

(1) Summarized income statement in-
formation shall be given separately as 
to each subsidiary not consolidated or 
50 percent or less owned persons or as 
to each group of such subsidiaries or 
fifty percent or less owned persons for 
which separate individual or group 
statements would otherwise be re-
quired for annual periods. Such sum-
marized information, however, need 
not be furnished for any such uncon-
solidated subsidiary or person which 
would not be required pursuant to Rule 
13a–13 or 15d–13 to file quarterly finan-
cial information with the Commission 
if it were a registrant. 

(2) If appropriate, the income state-
ment shall show earnings per share and 
dividends declared per share applicable 
to common stock. The basis of the 
earnings per share computation shall 
be stated together with the number of 
shares used in the computation. In ad-
dition, see Item 601(b)(11) of Regulation 
S-K, (17 CFR 229.601(b)(11)). 

(3) If, during the most recent interim 
period presented, the registrant or any 
of its consolidated subsidiaries entered 
into a combination between entities 
under common control, the interim fi-
nancial statements for both the cur-
rent year and the preceding year shall 
reflect the combined results of the 
combined businesses. Supplemental 
disclosure of the separate results of the 
combined entities for periods prior to 
the combination shall be given, with 
appropriate explanations. 

(4) Where a material business com-
bination has occurred during the cur-
rent fiscal year, pro forma disclosure 
shall be made of the results of oper-
ations for the current year up to the 
date of the most recent interim bal-
ance sheet provided (and for the cor-
responding period in the preceding 
year) as though the companies had 
combined at the beginning of the pe-
riod being reported on. This pro forma 

information shall, at a minimum, show 
revenue, income before extraordinary 
items and the cumulative effect of ac-
counting changes, including such in-
come on a per share basis, net income, 
net income attributable to the reg-
istrant, and net income per share. 

(5) Where the registrant has reported 
a discontinued operation (as required 
by FASB ASC Subtopic 205–20, Presen-
tation of Financial Statements—Discon-
tinued Operations) during any of the pe-
riods covered by the interim financial 
statements, the effect thereof on reve-
nues and net income—total and per 
share—for all periods shall be dis-
closed. 

(6) In addition to meeting the report-
ing requirements specified by existing 
standards for accounting changes, the 
registrant shall state the date of any 
material accounting change and the 
reasons for making it. In addition, for 
filings on Form 10–Q, a letter from the 
registrant’s independent accountant 
shall be filed as an exhibit (in accord-
ance with the provisions of Item 601 of 
Regulation S–K, 17 CFR 229.601) in the 
first Form 10–Q after the date of an ac-
counting change indicating whether or 
not the change is to an alternative 
principle which, in the accountant’s 
judgment, is preferable under the cir-
cumstances; except that no letter from 
the accountant need be filed when the 
change is made in response to a stand-
ard adopted by the Financial Account-
ing Standards Board that requires such 
change. 

(7) Any material retroactive prior pe-
riod adjustment made during any pe-
riod convered by the interim financial 
statements shall be disclosed, together 
with the effect thereof upon net in-
come—total and per share—of any 
prior period included and upon the bal-
ance of retained earnings. If results of 
operations for any period presented 
have been adjusted retroactively by 
such an item subsequent to the initial 
reporting of such period, similar disclo-
sure of the effect of the change shall be 
made. 

(8) Any unaudited interim financial 
statements furnished shall reflect all 
adjustments which are, in the opinion 
of management, necessary to a fair 
statement of the results for the in-
terim periods presented. A statement 
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to that effect shall be included. Such 
adjustments shall include, for example, 
appropriate estimated provisions for 
bonus and profit sharing arrangements 
normally determined or settled at 
year-end. If all such adjustments are of 
a normal recurring nature, a statement 
to that effect shall be made; otherwise, 
there shall be furnished information 
describing in appropriate detail the na-
ture and amount of any adjustments 
other than normal recurring adjust-
ments entering into the determination 
of the results shown. 

(c) Periods to be covered. The periods 
for which interim financial statements 
are to be provided in registration state-
ments are prescribed elsewhere in this 
Regulation (see §§ 210.3–01 and 3–02). For 
filings on Form 10–Q, financial state-
ments shall be provided as set forth in 
this paragraph (c): 

(1) An interim balance sheet as of the 
end of the most recent fiscal quarter 
and a balance sheet as of the end of the 
preceding fiscal year shall be provided. 
The balance sheet as of the end of the 
preceding fiscal year may be condensed 
to the same degree as the interim bal-
ance sheet provided. An interim bal-
ance sheet as of the end of the cor-
responding fiscal quarter of the pre-
ceding fiscal year need not be provided 
unless necessary for an understanding 
of the impact of seasonal fluctuations 
on the registrant’s financial condition. 

(2) Interim statements of income 
shall be provided for the most recent 
fiscal quarter, for the period between 
the end of the preceding fiscal year and 
the end of the most recent fiscal quar-
ter, and for the corresponding periods 
of the preceding fiscal year. Such 
statements may also be presented for 
the cumulative twelve month period 
ended during the most recent fiscal 
quarter and for the corresponding pre-
ceding period. 

(3) Interim statements of cash flows 
shall be provided for the period be-
tween the end of the preceding fiscal 
year and the end of the most recent fis-
cal quarter, and for the corresponding 
period of the preceding fiscal year. 
Such statements may also be presented 
for the cumulative twelve month pe-
riod ended during the most recent fis-
cal quarter and for the corresponding 
preceding period. 

(4) Registrants engaged in seasonal 
production and sale of a single-crop ag-
ricultural commodity may provide in-
terim statements of income and cash 
flows for the twelve month period 
ended during the most recent fiscal 
quarter and for the corresponding pre-
ceding period in lieu of the year-to- 
date statements specified in (2) and (3) 
above. 

(d) Interim review by independent pub-
lic accountant. Prior to filing, interim 
financial statements included in quar-
terly reports on Form 10–Q (17 CFR 
249.308(a)) must be reviewed by an inde-
pendent public accountant using pro-
fessional standards and procedures for 
conducting such reviews, as established 
by generally accepted auditing stand-
ards, as may be modified or supple-
mented by the Commission. If, in any 
filing, the company states that interim 
financial statements have been re-
viewed by an independent public ac-
countant, a report of the accountant 
on the review must be filed with the in-
terim financial statements. 

(e) Filing of other interim financial in-
formation in certain cases. The Commis-
sion may, upon the informal written 
request of the registrant, and where 
consistent with the protection of inves-
tors, permit the omission of any of the 
interim financial information herein 
required or the filing in substitution 
thereof of appropriate information of 
comparable character. The Commission 
may also by informal written notice re-
quire the filing of other information in 
addition to, or in substitution for, the 
interim information herein required in 
any case where such information is 
necessary or appropriate for an ade-
quate presentation of the financial con-
dition of any person for which interim 
financial information is required, or 
whose financial information is other-
wise necessary for the protection of in-
vestors. 

[46 FR 12489, Feb. 17, 1981, as amended at 50 
FR 25215, June 18, 1985; 50 FR 49533, Dec. 3, 
1985; 57 FR 45293, Oct. 1, 1992; 64 FR 73401, 
Dec. 30, 1999; 73 FR 956, Jan. 4, 2008; 74 FR 
18616, Apr. 23, 2009; 76 FR 50120, Aug. 12, 2011] 

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

SOURCE: Sections 210.11–01 through 210.11–03 
appear at 47 FR 29837, July 9, 1982, unless 
otherwise noted. 
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§ 210.11–01 Presentation requirements. 
(a) Pro forma financial information 

shall be furnished when any of the fol-
lowing conditions exist: 

(1) During the most recent fiscal year 
or subsequent interim period for which 
a balance sheet is required by § 210.3–01, 
a significant business combination has 
occurred (for purposes of these rules, 
this encompasses the acquisition of an 
interest in a business accounted for by 
the equity method); 

(2) After the date of the most recent 
balance sheet filed pursuant to § 210.3– 
01, consummation of a significant busi-
ness combination or a combination of 
entities under common control has oc-
curred or is probable; 

(3) Securities being registered by the 
registrant are to be offered to the secu-
rity holders of a significant business to 
be acquired or the proceeds from the 
offered securities will be applied di-
rectly or indirectly to the purchase of 
a specific significant business; 

(4) The disposition of a significant 
portion of a business either by sale, 
abandonment or distribution to share-
holders by means of a spin-off, split-up 
or split-off has occurred or is probable 
and such disposition is not fully re-
flected in the financial statements of 
the registrant included in the filing; 

(5) During the most recent fiscal year 
or subsequent interim period for which 
a balance sheet is required by § 210.3–01, 
the registrant has acquired one or 
more real estate operations or prop-
erties which in the aggregate are sig-
nificant, or since the date of the most 
recent balance sheet filed pursuant to 
that section the registrant has ac-
quired or proposes to acquire one or 
more operations or properties which in 
the aggregate are significant. 

(6) Pro forma financial information 
required by § 229.914 is required to be 
provided in connection with a roll-up 
transaction as defined in § 229.901(c). 

(7) The registrant previously was a 
part of another entity and such presen-
tation is necessary to reflect oper-
ations and financial position of the reg-
istrant as an autonomous entity; or 

(8) Consummation of other events or 
transactions has occurred or is prob-
able for which disclosure of pro forma 
financial information would be mate-
rial to investors. 

(b) A business combination or dis-
position of a business shall be consid-
ered significant if: 

(1) A comparison of the most recent 
annual financial statements of the 
business acquired or to be acquired and 
the registrant’s most recent annual 
consolidated financial statements filed 
at or prior to the date of acquisition 
indicates that the business would be a 
significant subsidiary pursuant to the 
conditions specified in § 210.1–02(w), 
substituting 20 percent for 10 percent 
each place it appears therein; or 

(2) The business to be disposed of 
meets the conditions of a significant 
subsidiary in § 210.1–02(w). 

(c) The pro forma effects of a busi-
ness combination need not be presented 
pursuant to this section if separate fi-
nancial statements of the acquired 
business are not included in the filing. 

(d) For purposes of this rule, the 
term business should be evaluated in 
light of the facts and circumstances in-
volved and whether there is sufficient 
continuity of the acquired entity’s op-
erations prior to and after the trans-
actions so that disclosure of prior fi-
nancial information is material to an 
understanding of future operations. A 
presumption exists that a separate en-
tity, a subsidiary, or a division is a 
business. However, a lesser component 
of an entity may also constitute a busi-
ness. Among the facts and cir-
cumstances which should be considered 
in evaluating whether an acquisition of 
a lesser component of an entity con-
stitutes a business are the following: 

(1) Whether the nature of the rev-
enue-producing activity of the compo-
nent will remain generally the same as 
before the transaction; or 

(2) Whether any of the following at-
tributes remain with the component 
after the transaction: 

(i) Physical facilities, 
(ii) Employee base, 
(iii) Market distribution system, 
(iv) Sales force, 
(v) Customer base, 
(vi) Operating rights, 
(vii) Production techniques, or 
(viii) Trade names. 
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(e) This rule does not apply to trans-
actions between a parent company and 
its totally held subsidiary. 

[47 FR 29837, July 9, 1982, as amended at 50 
FR 49533, Dec. 3, 1985; 56 FR 57247, Nov. 8, 
1991; 61 FR 54514, Oct. 18, 1996; 74 FR 18616, 
Apr. 23, 2009] 

§ 210.11–02 Preparation requirements. 
(a) Objective. Pro forma financial in-

formation should provide investors 
with information about the continuing 
impact of a particular transaction by 
showing how it might have affected 
historical financial statements if the 
transaction had been consummated at 
an earlier time. Such statements 
should assist investors in analyzing the 
future prospects of the registrant be-
cause they illustrate the possible scope 
of the change in the registrant’s histor-
ical financial position and results of 
operations caused by the transaction. 

(b) Form and content. (1) Pro forma fi-
nancial information shall consist of a 
pro forma condensed balance sheet, pro 
forma condensed statements of income, 
and accompanying explanatory notes. 
In certain circumstances (i.e., where a 
limited number of pro forma adjust-
ments are required and those adjust-
ments are easily understood), a nar-
rative description of the pro forma ef-
fects of the transaction may be fur-
nished in lieu of the statements de-
scribed herein. 

(2) The pro forma financial informa-
tion shall be accompanied by an intro-
ductory paragraph which briefly sets 
forth a description of (i) the trans-
action, (ii) the entities involved, and 
(iii) the periods for which the pro 
forma information is presented. In ad-
dition, an explanation of what the pro 
forma presentation shows shall be set 
forth. 

(3) The pro forma condensed financial 
information need only include major 
captions (i.e., the numbered captions) 
prescribed by the applicable sections of 
this Regulation. Where any major bal-
ance sheet caption is less than 10 per-
cent of total assets, the caption may be 
combined with others. When any major 
income statement caption is less than 
15 percent of average net income at-
tributable to the registrant for the 
most recent three fiscal years, the cap-
tion may be combined with others. In 

calculating average net income attrib-
utable to the registrant, loss years 
should be excluded unless losses were 
incurred in each of the most recent 
three years, in which case the average 
loss shall be used for purposes of this 
test. Notwithstanding these tests, de 
minimis amounts need not be shown 
separately. 

(4) Pro forma statements shall ordi-
narily be in columnar form showing 
condensed historical statements, pro 
forma adjustments, and the pro forma 
results. 

(5) The pro forma condensed income 
statement shall disclose income (loss) 
from continuing operations before non-
recurring charges or credits directly 
attributable to the transaction. Mate-
rial nonrecurring charges or credits 
and related tax effects which result di-
rectly from the transaction and which 
will be included in the income of the 
registrant within the 12 months suc-
ceeding the transaction shall be dis-
closed separately. It should be clearly 
indicated that such charges or credits 
were not considered in the pro forma 
condensed income statement. If the 
transaction for which pro forma finan-
cial information is presented relates to 
the disposition of a business, the pro 
forma results should give effect to the 
disposition and be presented under an 
appropriate caption. 

(6) Pro forma adjustments related to 
the pro forma condensed income state-
ment shall be computed assuming the 
transaction was consummated at the 
beginning of the fiscal year presented 
and shall include adjustments which 
give effect to events that are (i) di-
rectly attributable to the transaction, 
(ii) expected to have a continuing im-
pact on the registrant, and (iii) factu-
ally supportable. Pro forma adjust-
ments related to the pro forma con-
densed balance sheet shall be computed 
assuming the transaction was con-
summated at the end of the most re-
cent period for which a balance sheet is 
required by § 210.3–01 and shall include 
adjustments which give effect to events 
that are directly attributable to the 
transaction and factually supportable 
regardless of whether they have a con-
tinuing impact or are nonrecurring. All 
adjustments should be referenced to 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 07:58 Jul 25, 2017 Jkt 241059 PO 00000 Frm 00339 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\241059.XXX 241059js
ta

llw
or

th
 o

n 
LA

P
40

67
W

D
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 C

F
R



330 

17 CFR Ch. II (4–1–17 Edition) § 210.11–02 

notes which clearly explain the as-
sumptions involved. 

(7) Historical primary and fully di-
luted per share data based on con-
tinuing operations (or net income if 
the registrant does not report either 
discontinued operations, extraordinary 
items, or the cumulative effects of ac-
counting changes) for the registrant, 
and primary and fully diluted pro 
forma per share data based on con-
tinuing operations before nonrecurring 
charges or credits directly attributable 
to the transaction shall be presented 
on the face of the pro forma condensed 
income statement together with the 
number of shares used to compute such 
per share data. For transactions in-
volving the issuance of securities, the 
number of shares used in the calcula-
tion of the pro forma per share data 
should be based on the weighted aver-
age number of shares outstanding dur-
ing the period adjusted to give effect to 
shares subsequently issued or assumed 
to be issued had the particular trans-
action or event taken place at the be-
ginning of the period presented. If a 
convertible security is being issued in 
the transaction, consideration should 
be given to the possible dilution of the 
pro forma per share data. 

(8) If the transaction is structured in 
such a manner that significantly dif-
ferent results may occur, additional 
pro forma presentations shall be made 
which give effect to the range of pos-
sible results. 

Instructions: 1. The historical statement of 
income used in the pro forma financial infor-
mation shall not report operations of a seg-
ment that has been discontinued, extraor-
dinary items, or the cumulative effects of ac-
counting changes. If the historical statement 
of income includes such items, only the por-
tion of the income statement through ‘‘in-
come from continuing operations’’ (or the 
appropriate modification thereof) should be 
used in preparing pro forma results. 

2. For a business combination, pro forma 
adjustments for the income statement shall 
include amortization, depreciation and other 
adjustments based on the allocated purchase 
price of net assets acquired. In some trans-
actions, such as in financial institution ac-
quisitions, the purchase adjustments may in-
clude significant discounts of the historical 
cost of the acquired assets to their fair value 
at the acquisition date. When such adjust-
ments will result in a significant effect on 
earnings (losses) in periods immediately sub-

sequent to the acquisition which will be pro-
gressively eliminated over a relatively short 
period, the effect of the purchase adjust-
ments on reported results of operations for 
each of the next five years should be dis-
closed in a note. 

3. For a disposition transaction, the pro 
forma financial information shall begin with 
the historical financial statements of the ex-
isting entity and show the deletion of the 
business to be divested along with the pro 
forma adjustments necessary to arrive at the 
remainder of the existing entity. For exam-
ple, pro forma adjustments would include ad-
justments of interest expense arising from 
revised debt structures and expenses which 
will be or have been incurred on behalf of the 
business to be divested such as advertising 
costs, executive salaries and other costs. 

4. For entities which were previously a 
component of another entity, pro forma ad-
justments should include adjustments simi-
lar in nature to those referred to in Instruc-
tion 3 above. Adjustments may also be nec-
essary when charges for corporate overhead, 
interest, or income taxes have been allocated 
to the entity on a basis other than one 
deemed reasonable by management. 

5. Adjustments to reflect the acquisition of 
real estate operations or properties for the 
pro forma income statement shall include a 
depreciation charge based on the new ac-
counting basis for the assets, interest financ-
ing on any additional or refinanced debt, and 
other appropriate adjustments that can be 
factually supported. See also Instruction 4 
above. 

6. When consummation of more than one 
transaction has occurred or is probable dur-
ing a fiscal year, the pro forma financial in-
formation may be presented on a combined 
basis; however, in some circumstances (e.g., 
depending upon the combination of probable 
and consummated transactions, and the na-
ture of the filing) it may be more useful to 
present the pro forma financial information 
on a disaggregated basis even though some 
or all of the transactions would not meet the 
tests of significance individually. For com-
bined presentations, a note should explain 
the various transactions and disclose the 
maximum variances in the pro forma finan-
cial information which would occur for any 
of the possible combinations. If the pro 
forma financial information is presented in a 
proxy or information statement for purposes 
of obtaining shareholder approval of one of 
the transactions, the effects of that trans-
action must be clearly set forth. 

7. Tax effects, if any, of pro forma adjust-
ments normally should be calculated at the 
statutory rate in effect during the periods 
for which pro forma condensed income state-
ments are presented and should be reflected 
as a separate pro forma adjustment. 
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(c) Periods to be presented. (1) A pro 
forma condensed balance sheet as of 
the end of the most recent period for 
which a consolidated balance sheet of 
the registrant is required by § 210.3–01 
shall be filed unless the transaction is 
already reflected in such balance sheet. 

(2)(i) Pro forma condensed state-
ments of income shall be filed for only 
the most recent fiscal year and for the 
period from the most recent fiscal year 
end to the most recent interim date for 
which a balance sheet is required. A 
pro forma condensed statement of in-
come may be filed for the cor-
responding interim period of the pre-
ceding fiscal year. A pro forma con-
densed statement of income shall not 
be filed when the historical income 
statement reflects the transaction for 
the entire period. 

(ii) For a business combination ac-
counted for as a pooling of interests, 
the pro forma income statements 
(which are in effect a restatement of 
the historical income statements as if 
the combination had been con-
summated) shall be filed for all periods 
for which historical income statements 
of the registrant are required. 

(3) Pro forma condensed statements 
of income shall be presented using the 
registrant’s fiscal year end. If the most 
recent fiscal year end of any other en-
tity involved in the transaction differs 
from the registrant’s most recent fiscal 
year end by more than 93 days, the 
other entity’s income statement shall 
be brought up to within 93 days of the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal year 
end, if practicable. This updating could 
be accomplished by adding subsequent 
interim period results to the most re-
cent fiscal year-end information and 
deducting the comparable preceding 
year interim period results. Disclosure 
shall be made of the periods combined 
and of the sales or revenues and income 
for any periods which were excluded 
from or included more than once in the 
condensed pro forma income state-
ments (e.g., an interim period that is 
included both as part of the fiscal year 
and the subsequent interim period). 
For investment companies subject to 
§§ 210.6–01 to 210.6–10, the periods cov-
ered by the pro forma statements must 
be the same. 

(4) Whenever unusual events enter 
into the determination of the results 
shown for the most recently completed 
fiscal year, the effect of such unusual 
events should be disclosed and consid-
eration should be given to presenting a 
pro forma condensed income statement 
for the most recent twelve-month pe-
riod in addition to those required in 
paragraph (c)(2)(i) above if the most re-
cent twelve-month period is more rep-
resentative of normal operations. 

[47 FR 29837, July 9, 1982, as amended at 50 
FR 49533, Dec. 3, 1985; 74 FR 18616, Apr. 23, 
2009] 

§ 210.11–03 Presentation of financial 
forecast. 

(a) A financial forecast may be filed 
in lieu of the pro forma condensed 
statements of income required by 
§ 210.11–02(b)(1). 

(1) The financial forecast shall cover 
a period of at least 12 months from the 
latest of (i) the most recent balance 
sheet included in the filing or (ii) the 
consummation date or estimated con-
summation date of the transaction. 

(2) The forecasted statement of in-
come shall be presented in the same de-
gree of detail as the pro forma con-
densed statement of income required 
by § 210.11–02(b)(3). 

(3) Assumptions particularly relevant 
to the transaction and effects thereof 
should be clearly set forth. 

(4) Historical condensed financial in-
formation of the registrant and the 
business acquired or to be acquired, if 
any, shall be presented for at least a 
recent 12 month period in parallel col-
umns with the financial forecast. 

(b) Such financial forecast shall be 
presented in accordance with the 
guidelines established by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Account-
ants. 

(c) Forecasted earnings per share 
data shall be substituted for pro forma 
per share data. 

(d) This rule does not permit the fil-
ing of a financial forecast in lieu of pro 
forma information required by gen-
erally accepted accounting principles. 
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FORM AND CONTENT OF SCHEDULES 

GENERAL 

§ 210.12–01 Application of §§ 210.12–01 
to 210.12–29. 

These sections prescribe the form and 
content of the schedules required by 
§§ 210.5–04, 210.6–10, 210.6A–05, and 210.7– 
05. 

[59 FR 65637, Dec. 20, 1994] 

§§ 210.12–02—210.12–03 [Reserved] 

§ 210.12–04 Condensed financial infor-
mation of registrant. 

(a) Provide condensed financial infor-
mation as to financial position, cash 
flows and results of operations of the 
registrant as of the same dates and for 
the same periods for which audited 
consolidated financial statements are 
required. The financial information re-
quired need not be presented in greater 
detail than is required for condensed 
statements by § 210.10–01(a) (2), (3) and 
(4). Detailed footnote disclosure which 
would normally be included with com-

plete financial statements may be 
omitted with the exception of disclo-
sures regarding material contin-
gencies, long-term obligations and 
guarantees. Descriptions of significant 
provisions of the registrant’s long-term 
obligations, mandatory dividend or re-
demption requirements of redeemable 
stocks, and guarantees of the reg-
istrant shall be provided along with a 
five-year schedule of maturities of 
debt. If the material contingencies, 
long-term obligations, redeemable 
stock requirements and guarantees of 
the registrant have been separately 
disclosed in the consolidated state-
ments, they need not be repeated in 
this schedule. 

(b) Disclose separately the amounts 
of cash dividends paid to the registrant 
for each of the last three fiscal years 
by consolidated subsidiaries, uncon-
solidated subsidiaries and 50 percent or 
less owned persons accounted for by 
the equity method, respectively. 

[46 FR 56180, Nov. 16, 1981, as amended at 57 
FR 45293, Oct. 1, 1992] 

§ 210.12–05—210.12–08 [Reserved] 

§ 210.12–09 Valuation and qualifying 
accounts. 

Column A—Description 1 
Column B—Bal-
ance at begin-
ning of period 

Column C—Additions 
Column D—De-
ductions—de-

scribe 

Column E—Bal-
ance at end of 

period 
(1)—Charged to 

costs and ex-
penses 

(2)—Charged to 
other accounts— 

describe 

1 List, by major classes, all valuation and qualifying accounts and reserves not included in specific schedules. Identify each 
class of valuation and qualifying accounts and reserves by descriptive title. Group (a) those valuation and qualifying accounts 
which are deducted in the balance sheet from the assets to which they apply and (b) those reserves which support the balance 
sheet caption, Reserves. Valuation and qualifying accounts and reserves as to which the additions, deductions, and balances 
were not individually significant may be grouped in one total and in such case the information called for under columns C and D 
need not be given. 

[37 FR 14602, July 21, 1972. Redesignated and 
amended at 45 FR 63679, Sept. 25, 1980] 

§§ 210.12–10—210.12–11 [Reserved] 

FOR MANAGEMENT INVESTMENT 
COMPANIES 
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§ 210.12–12 Investments in securities of 
unaffiliated issuers. 

[For management investment companies only] 

Col. A Col. B Col. C 

Name of issuer and title of issue 1 2 3 4 .... Balance held at close of period. Number 
of shares—principal amount of bonds 
and notes 7.

Value of each item at close of pe-
riod.5 6 8 9 10 

1 Each issue shall be listed separately: Provided, however, that an amount not exceeding five percent of the total of Column C 
may be listed in one amount as ‘‘Miscellaneous securities,’’ provided the securities so listed are not restricted, have been held 
for not more than one year prior to the date of the related balance sheet, and have not previously been reported by name to the 
shareholders of the person for which the schedule is filed or to any exchange, or set forth in any registration statement, applica-
tion, or annual report or otherwise made available to the public. If any securities are listed as ‘‘Miscellaneous securities,’’ briefly 
explain in a footnote what the term represents. 

2 Categorize the schedule by (i) the type of investment (such as common stocks, preferred stocks, convertible securities, fixed 
income securities, government securities, options purchased, warrants, loan participations and assignments, commercial paper, 
bankers’ acceptances, certificates of deposit, short-term securities, repurchase agreements, other investment companies, and so 
forth); and (ii) the related industry, country, or geographic region of the investment. Short-term debt instruments (i.e., debt instru-
ments whose maturities or expiration dates at the time of acquisition are one year or less) of the same issuer may be aggre-
gated, in which case the range of interest rates and maturity dates shall be indicated. For issuers of periodic payment plan cer-
tificates and unit investment trusts, list separately: (i) Trust shares in trusts created or serviced by the depositor or sponsor of 
this trust; (ii) trust shares in other trusts; and (iii) securities of other investment companies. Restricted securities shall not be 
combined with unrestricted securities of the same issuer. Repurchase agreements shall be stated separately showing for each 
the name of the party or parties to the agreement, the date of the agreement, the total amount to be received upon repurchase, 
the repurchase date and description of securities subject to the repurchase agreements. 

3 For options purchased, all information required by § 210.12–13 for options contracts written should be shown. Options on un-
derlying investments where the underlying investment would otherwise be presented in accordance with §§ 210.12–12, 12–13A, 
12–13B, 12–13C, or 12–13D should include the description of the underlying investment as would be required by §§ 210.12–12, 
12–13A, 12–13B, 12–13C, or 12–13D as part of the description of the option. 

4 Indicate the interest rate or preferential dividend rate and maturity date, as applicable, for preferred stocks, convertible securi-
ties, fixed income securities, government securities, loan participations and assignments, commercial paper, bankers’ accept-
ances, certificates of deposit, short-term securities, repurchase agreements, or other instruments with a stated rate of income. 
For variable rate securities, indicate a description of the reference rate and spread and: (1) The end of period interest rate or (2) 
disclose the end of period reference rate for each reference rate described in the Schedule in a note to the Schedule. For securi-
ties with payment in kind income, disclose the rate paid in kind. 

5 The subtotals for each category of investments, subdivided both by type of investment and industry, country or geographic 
region, shall be shown together with their percentage value compared to net assets. (§§ 210.6–04.19 or 210.6–05.4.) 

6 Column C shall be totaled. The total of Column C shall agree with the correlative amounts shown on the related balance 
sheet. 

7 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities which is non-income producing. Evidences of indebtedness and 
preferred shares may be deemed to be income producing if, on the respective last interest payment date or date for the declara-
tion of dividends prior to the date of the related balance sheet, there was only a partial payment of interest or a declaration of 
only a partial amount of the dividends payable; in such case, however, each such issue shall be indicated by an appropriate 
symbol referring to a note to the effect that, on the last interest or dividend date, only partial interest was paid or partial dividends 
declared. If, on such respective last interest or dividend date, no interest was paid or no cash or in kind dividends declared, the 
issue shall not be deemed to be income producing. Common shares shall not be deemed to be income producing unless, during 
the last year preceding the date of the related balance sheet, there was at least one dividend paid upon such common shares. 

8 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of restricted securities. State the following in a footnote: (a) As to each such 
issue: (1) Acquisition date, (2) carrying value per unit of investment at date of related balance sheet, e.g., a percentage of cur-
rent market value of unrestricted securities of the same issuer, etc., and (3) the cost of such securities; (b) as to each issue ac-
quired during the year preceding the date of the related balance sheet, the carrying value per unit of investment of unrestricted 
securities of the same issuer at: (1) The day the purchase price was agreed to; and (2) the day on which an enforceable right to 
acquire such securities was obtained; and (c) the aggregate value of all restricted securities and the percentage which the aggre-
gate value bears to net assets. 

9 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities whose value was determined using significant unobservable in-
puts. 

10 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities held in connection with open put or call option contracts, loans 
for short sales, or where any portion of the issue is on loan. 

[81 FR 82014, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.12–12A Investments—securities sold short. 

[For management investment companies only] 

Col. A Col. B Col. C 

Name of issuer and title of issue 1 2 3 ....... Balance of short position at close of pe-
riod (number of shares).

Value of each open short position 4 5 6 

1 Each issue shall be listed separately. 
2 Categorize the schedule as required by instruction 2 of § 210.12–12. 
3 Indicate the interest rate or preferential dividend rate and maturity date, as applicable, for preferred stocks, convertible securi-

ties, fixed income securities, government securities, loan participations and assignments, commercial paper, bankers’ accept-
ances, certificates of deposit, short-term securities, repurchase agreements, or other instruments with a stated rate of income. 
For variable rate securities, indicate a description of the reference rate and spread and: (1) The end of period interest rate or (2) 
disclose the end of period reference rate for each reference rate described in the Schedule in a note to the Schedule. For securi-
ties with payment in kind income, disclose the rate paid in kind. 

4 The subtotals for each category of investments, subdivided both by type of investment and industry, country, or geographic 
region, shall be shown together with their percentage value compared to net assets. 
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5 Column C shall be totaled. The total of Column C shall agree with the correlative amounts shown on the related balance 
sheet. 

6 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities whose value was determined using significant unobservable 
inputs. 

[81 FR 82015, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.12–12B Summary schedule of investments in securities of unaffiliated 
issuers. 

Column A Column B Column C Column D 

Name of issuer and title of 
issue 1 3 4 5 6 7 8.

Balance held at close of period. Num-
ber of shares—principal amount of 
bonds and notes 10.

Value of each item at 
close of period 2 9 11 12 13.

Percentage value com-
pared to net assets. 

1 Categorize the schedule by (a) the type of investment (such as common stocks, preferred stocks, convertible securities, fixed 
income securities, government securities, options purchased, warrants, loan participations and assignments, commercial paper, 
bankers’ acceptances, certificates of deposit, short-term securities, repurchase agreements, other investment companies, and so 
forth); and (b) the related industry, country or geographic region of the investment. 

2 The subtotals for each category of investments, subdivided both by type of investment and industry, country, or geographic 
region, shall be shown together with their percentage value compared to net assets. 

3 Indicate the interest rate or preferential dividend rate and maturity date, as applicable, for preferred stocks, convertible securi-
ties, fixed income securities, government securities, loan participations and assignments, commercial paper, bankers’ accept-
ances, certificates of deposit, short-term securities, repurchase agreements, or other instruments with a stated rate of income. 
For variable rate securities, indicate a description of the reference rate and spread and: (1) The end of period interest rate or (2) 
disclose the end of period reference rate for each reference rate described in the Schedule in a note to the Schedule. For securi-
ties with payment in kind income, disclose the rate paid in kind. 

4 Except as provided in note 6, list separately the 50 largest issues and any other issue the value of which exceeded one per-
cent of net asset value of the registrant as of the close of the period. For purposes of the list (including, in the case of short-term 
debt instruments, the first sentence of note 4), aggregate and treat as a single issue, respectively, (a) short-term debt instru-
ments (i.e., debt instruments whose maturities or expiration dates at the time of acquisition are one year or less) of the same 
issuer (indicating the range of interest rates and maturity dates); and (b) fully collateralized repurchase agreements (indicate in a 
footnote the range of dates of the repurchase agreements, the total purchase price of the securities, the total amount to be re-
ceived upon repurchase, the range of repurchase dates, and description of securities subject to the repurchase agreements). 
Restricted and unrestricted securities of the same issue should be aggregated for purposes of determining whether the issue is 
among the 50 largest issues, but should not be combined in the schedule. For purposes of determining whether the value of an 
issue exceeds one percent of net asset value, aggregate and treat as a single issue all securities of any one issuer, except that 
all fully collateralized repurchase agreements shall be aggregated and treated as a single issue. The U.S. Treasury and each 
agency, instrumentality, or corporation, including each government-sponsored entity, that issues U.S. government securities is a 
separate issuer. 

5 For options purchased, all information required by § 210.12–13 for options contracts written should be shown. Options on un-
derlying investments where the underlying investment would otherwise be presented in accordance with §§ 210.12–12, 12–13A, 
12–13B, 12–13C, or 12–13D should include the description of the underlying investment as would be required by §§ 210.12–12, 
12–13A, 12–13B, 12–13C, or 12–13D as part of the description of the option. 

6 If multiple securities of an issuer aggregate to greater than one percent of net asset value, list each issue of the issuer sepa-
rately (including separate listing of restricted and unrestricted securities of the same issue) except that the following may be ag-
gregated and listed as a single issue: (a) Fixed-income securities of the same issuer which are not among the 50 largest issues 
and whose value does not exceed one percent of net asset value of the registrant as of the close of the period (indicating the 
range of interest rates and maturity dates); and (b) U.S. government securities of a single agency, instrumentality, or corporation, 
which are not among the 50 largest issues and whose value does not exceed one percent of net asset value of the registrant as 
of the close of the period (indicating the range of interest rates and maturity dates). For each category identified pursuant to note 
1, group all issues that are neither separately listed nor included in a group of securities that is listed in the aggregate as a sin-
gle issue in a sub-category labeled ‘‘Other securities,’’ and provide the information for Columns C and D. 

7 Any securities that would be required to be listed separately or included in a group of securities that is listed in the aggregate 
as a single issue may be listed in one amount as ‘‘Miscellaneous securities,’’ provided the securities so listed are eligible to be, 
and are, categorized as ‘‘Miscellaneous securities’’ in the registrant’s Schedule of Investments in Securities of Unaffiliated 
Issuers required under § 210.12–12. However, if any security that is included in ‘‘Miscellaneous securities’’ would otherwise be 
required to be included in a group of securities that is listed in the aggregate as a single issue, the remaining securities of that 
group must nonetheless be listed as required by notes 4 and 5 even if the remaining securities alone would not otherwise be re-
quired to be listed in this manner (e.g., because the combined value of the security listed in ‘‘Miscellaneous securities’’ and the 
remaining securities of the same issuer exceeds one percent of net asset value, but the value of the remaining securities alone 
does not exceed one percent of net asset value). 

8 If any securities are listed as ‘‘Miscellaneous securities’’ pursuant to note 6 or ‘‘Other securities’’ pursuant to note 5, briefly 
explain in a footnote what those terms represent. 

9 Total Column C. The total of Column C should equal the total shown on the related balance sheet for investments in securi-
ties of unaffiliated issuers. 

10 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities which is non-income producing. Evidences of indebtedness and 
preferred shares may be deemed to be income producing if, on the respective last interest payment date or date for the declara-
tion of dividends prior to the date of the related balance sheet, there was only a partial payment of interest or a declaration of 
only a partial amount of the dividends payable; in such case, however, each such issue shall be indicated by an appropriate 
symbol referring to a note to the effect that, on the last interest or dividend date, only partial interest was paid or partial dividends 
declared. If, on such respective last interest or dividend date, no interest was paid or no cash or in kind dividends declared, the 
issue shall not be deemed to be income producing. Common shares shall not be deemed to be income producing unless, during 
the last year preceding the date of the related balance sheet, there was at least one dividend paid upon such common shares. 

11 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of restricted securities. State the following in a footnote: (a) As to each such 
issue: (1) Acquisition date, (2) carrying value per unit of investment at date of related balance sheet, e.g., a percentage of cur-
rent market value of unrestricted securities of the same issuer, etc., and (3) the cost of such securities; (b) as to each issue ac-
quired during the year preceding the date of the related balance sheet, the carrying value per unit of investment of unrestricted 
securities of the same issuer at: (1) The day the purchase price was agreed to; and (2) the day on which an enforceable right to 
acquire such securities was obtained; and (c) the aggregate value of all restricted securities and the percentage which the aggre-
gate value bears to net assets. 

12 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities whose value was determined using significant unobservable in-
puts. 

13 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities held in connection with open put or call option contracts, loans 
for short sales, or where any portion of the issue is on loan. 
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[81 FR 82015, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.12–12C [Reserved] 

§ 210.12–13 Open option contracts written. 

[For management investment companies only] 

Description 1 2 3 ..... Counterparty 4 ...... Number of 
contracts 5.

Notional 
amount.

Exercise price Expiration date Value.6 7 8 

1 Information as to put options shall be shown separately from information as to call options. 
2 Options where descriptions, counterparties, exercise prices or expiration dates differ shall be listed separately. 
3 Options on underlying investments where the underlying investment would otherwise be presented in accordance with 

§§ 210.12–12, 12–13A, 12–13B, 12–13C, or 12–13D should include the description of the underlying investment as would be re-
quired by §§ 210.12–12, 12–13A, 12–13B, 12–13C, or 12–13D as part of the description of the option. 

If the underlying investment is an index or basket of investments, and the components are publicly available on a Web site as 
of the balance sheet date, identify the index or basket. If the underlying investment is an index or basket of investments, the 
components are not publicly available on a Web site as of the balance sheet date, and the notional amount of the option contract 
does not exceed one percent of the net asset value of the registrant as of the close of the period, identify the index or basket. If 
the underlying investment is an index or basket of investments, the components are not publicly available on a Web site as of 
the balance sheet date, and the notional amount of the option contract exceeds one percent of the net asset value of the reg-
istrant as of the close of the period, provide a description of the index or custom basket and list separately: (i) The 50 largest 
components in the index or custom basket and (ii) any other components where the notional value for that components exceeds 
1% of the notional value of the index or custom basket. For each investment separately listed, include the description of the un-
derlying investment as would be required by §§ 210.12–12, 12–13, 12–13A, 12–13B, or 12–13D as part of the description, the 
quantity held (e.g., the number of shares for common stocks, principal amount for fixed income securities), the value at the close 
of the period, and the percentage value when compared to the custom basket’s net assets. 

4 Not required for exchange traded or centrally cleared options. 
5 If the number of shares subject to option is substituted for number of contracts, the column name shall reflect that change. 
6 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each investment which cannot be sold because of restrictions or conditions applicable to 

the investment. 
7 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each investment whose value was determined using significant unobservable inputs. 
8 Column G shall be totaled and shall agree with the correlative amount shown on the related balance sheet. 

[81 FR 82016, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.12–13A Open futures contracts. 

[For management investment companies only] 

Col. A Col. B Col. C Col. D Col. E Col. F 

Description 1 2 3 4 5 .................. Number of 
contracts.

Expiration 
date.

Notional amount 6 Value ............ Unrealized appreciation/de-
preciation. 

1 Information as to long purchases of futures contracts shall be shown separately from information as to futures contracts sold 
short. 

2 Futures contracts where descriptions or expiration dates differ shall be listed separately. 
3 Description should include the name of the reference asset or index. 
4 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each investment which cannot be sold because of restrictions or conditions applicable to 

the investment. 
5 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each investment whose value was determined using significant unobservable inputs. 
6 Notional amount shall be the current notional amount at close of period. 

[81 FR 82017, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.12–13B Open forward foreign currency contracts. 

[For management investment companies only] 

Col. A Col. B Col. C Col. D Col. E 

Amount and description of cur-
rency to be purchased 1.

Amount and description of 
currency to be sold 1.

Counterparty .... Settlement 
date.

Unrealized appreciation/ 
depreciation.2 3 4 

1 Forward foreign currency contracts where description of currency purchased, description of currency sold, counterparty, or 
settlement dates differ shall be listed separately. 

2 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each investment which cannot be sold because of restrictions or conditions applicable to 
the investment. 

3 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each investment whose value was determined using significant unobservable inputs. 
4 Column E shall be totaled and shall agree with the total of correlative amount(s) shown on the related balance sheet. 

[81 FR 82017, Nov. 18, 2016] 
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Securities and Exchange Commission § 210.12–14 

§ 210.12–13D Investments other than those presented in §§ 210.12–12, 12–12A, 12– 
12B, 12–13, 12–13A, 12–13B, and 12–13C. 

[For management investment companies only] 

Description 1 2 3 ..... Balance held at 
close of pe-
riod—quantity 4 5.

Value of each item 
at close of pe-
riod.6 7 8 9 

1 Each investment where any portion of the description dif-
fers shall be listed separately. 

2 Categorize the schedule by (i) the type of investment 
(such as real estate, commodities, and so forth); and, as ap-
plicable, (ii) the related industry, country, or geographic region 
of the investment. 

3 Description should include information sufficient for a user 
of financial information to understand the nature and terms of 
the investment, which may include, among other things, ref-
erence security, asset or index, currency, geographic location, 
payment terms, payment rates, call or put feature, exercise 
price, expiration date, and counterparty for non-exchange- 
traded investments. 

4 If practicable, indicate the quantity or measure in appro-
priate units. 

5 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each investment which 
is non-income producing. 

6 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each investment which 
cannot be sold because of restrictions or conditions applicable 
to the investment. 

7 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each investment whose 
value was determined using significant unobservable inputs. 

8 Indicate by an appropriate symbol investment subject to 
option. State in a footnote: (a) The quantity subject to option, 
(b) nature of option contract, (c) option price, and (d) dates 
within which options may be exercised. 

9 Column C shall be totaled and shall agree with the correl-
ative amount shown on the related balance sheet. 

[81 FR 82018, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.12–14 Investments in and advances to affiliates. 

[For management investment companies only] 

Col. A Col. B Col. C Col. D Col. E Col. F 

Name of issuer and 
title of issue or 
nature of indebt-
edness 1 2 3.

Number of 
shares—principal 
amount of 
bonds, notes 
and other indebt-
edness held at 
close of period.

Net realized gain 
or loss for the 
period 4 6.

Net increase or de-
crease in unreal-
ized appreciation 
or depreciation 
for the period 4 6.

Amount of divi-
dends or inter-
est 4 6.

(1) Credited to in-
come.

(2) Other ...............

Value of each item 
at close of pe-
riod.4 5 7 8 9 

1 (a) List each issue separately and group (1) Investments in majority-owned subsidiaries; (2) other controlled companies; and 
(3) other affiliates. (b) If during the period there has been any increase or decrease in the amount of investment in and advance 
to any affiliate, state in a footnote (or if there have been changes to numerous affiliates, in a supplementary schedule) (1) name 
of each issuer and title of issue or nature of indebtedness; (2) balance at beginning of period; (3) gross additions; (4) gross re-
ductions; (5) balance at close of period as shown in Column E. Include in the footnote or schedule comparable information as to 
affiliates in which there was an investment at any time during the period even though there was no investment at the close of the 
period of report. 

2 Categorize the schedule as required by instruction 2 of § 210.12–12. 
3 Indicate the interest rate or preferential dividend rate and maturity date, as applicable, for preferred stocks, convertible securi-

ties, fixed income securities, government securities, loan participations and assignments, commercial paper, bankers’ accept-
ances, certificates of deposit, short-term securities, repurchase agreements, or other instruments with a stated rate of income. 
For variable rate securities, indicate a description of the reference rate and spread and: (1) The end of period interest rate or (2) 
disclose the end of period reference rate for each reference rate described in the Schedule in a note to the Schedule. For securi-
ties with payment in kind income, disclose the rate paid in kind. 

4 Columns C, D, E, and F shall be totaled. The totals of Column F shall agree with the correlative amount shown on the re-
lated balance sheet. 

5 (a) Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of restricted securities. The information required by instruction 8 of 
§ 210.12–12 shall be given in a footnote. (b) Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities subject to option. The in-
formation required by § 210.12–13 shall be given in a footnote. 

6 (a) Include in Column E (1) as to each issue held at the close of the period, the dividends or interest included in caption 1 of 
the statement of operations. In addition, show as the final item in Column E (1) the aggregate of dividends and interest included 
in the statement of operations in respect of investments in affiliates not held at the close of the period. The total of this column 
shall agree with the correlative amount shown on the related statement of operations. 

(b) Include in Column E (2) all other dividends and interest. Explain in an appropriate footnote the treatment accorded each 
item. 

(c) Indicate by an appropriate symbol all non-cash dividends and interest and explain the circumstances in a footnote. 
(d) Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities which is non-income producing. Evidences of indebtedness and 

preferred shares may be deemed to be income producing if, on the respective last interest payment date or date for the declara-
tion of dividends prior to the date of the related balance sheet, there was only a partial payment of interest or a declaration of 
only a partial amount of the dividends payable; in such case, however, each such issue shall be indicated by an appropriate 
symbol referring to a note to the effect that, on the last interest or dividend date, only partial interest was paid or partial dividends 
declared. If, on such respective last interest or dividend date, no interest was paid or no cash or in kind dividends declared, the 
issue shall not be deemed to be income producing. Common shares shall not be deemed to be income producing unless, during 
the last year preceding the date of the related balance sheet, there was at least one dividend paid upon such common shares. 

(e) Include in Column C (1) as to each issue held at the close of the period, the realized gain or loss included in § 210.6–07.7 
of the statement of operations. In addition, show as the final item in Column C (1) the aggregate of realized gain or loss included 
in the statement of operations in respect of investments in affiliates not held at the close of the period. The total of this column 
shall agree with the correlative amount shown on the related statement of operations. 
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17 CFR Ch. II (4–1–17 Edition) § 210.12–15 

(f) Include in Column D (1) as to each issue held at the close of the period, the net increase or decrease in unrealized appre-
ciation or depreciation included in § 210.6–07 .7 of the statement of operations. In addition, show as the final item in Column D 
(1) the aggregate of increase or decrease in unrealized appreciation or depreciation included in the statement of operations in re-
spect of investments in affiliates not held at the close of the period. The total of this column shall agree with the correlative 
amount shown on the related statement of operations. 

7 The subtotals for each category of investments, subdivided both by type of investment and industry, country, or geographic 
region, shall be shown together with their percentage value compared to net assets. 

8 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities whose value was determined using significant unobservable in-
puts. 

9 Indicate by an appropriate symbol each issue of securities held in connection with open put or call option contracts, loans for 
short sales, or where any portion of the issue is on loan. 

[81 FR 82018, Nov. 18, 2016] 

§ 210.12–15 Summary of investments—other than investments in related parties. 
[For Insurance Companies] 

Column A Column B Column C Column D 

Type of investment Cost 1 Value 

Amount at 
which shown 

in the bal-
ance sheet 2 

Fixed maturities: 
Bonds: 

United States Government and government agencies and authorities.
States, municipalities and political subdivisions.
Foreign governments.
Public utilities.
Convertibles and bonds with warrants attached 3.
All other corporate bonds.

Certificates of deposit.
Redeemable preferred stock.

Total fixed maturities.

Equity securities: 
Common stocks: 

Public utilities.
Banks, trust and insurance companies.
Industrial, miscellaneous and all other.

Nonredeemable preferred stocks.

Total equity securities.

Mortgage loans on real estate.
Real estate 4.
Policy loans.
Other long-term investments.
Short-term investments.

Total investments.

1 Original cost of equity securities and, as to fixed maturities, original cost reduced by repayments and adjusted for amortiza-
tion of premiums or accrual of discounts. 

2 If the amount at which shown in the balance sheet is different from the amount shown in either column B or C, state the rea-
son for such difference. The total of this column should agree with the balance sheet. 

3 All convertibles and bonds with warrants shall be included in this caption, regardless of issuer. 
4 State separately any real estate acquired in satisfaction of debt. 

[46 FR 54337, Nov. 2, 1981] 
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Securities and Exchange Commission § 210.12–17 

§ 210.12–16 Supplementary insurance information. 
[For insurance companies] 

Column A Column 
B 

Column 
C 

Column 
D 

Column 
E 

Column 
F 

Column 
G 

Column 
H 

Column I Column J Column 
K 

Segment 1 

Deferred 
policy 

acquisi-
tion cost 
(caption 

7) 

Future 
policy 

benefits, 
losses, 
claims 

and loss 
ex-

penses 
(caption 
13–a–1) 

Un-
earned 

pre-
miums 

(caption 
13–a–2) 

Other 
policy 
claims 

and ben-
efits pay-

able 
(caption 
13–a–3) 

Premium 
revenue 
(caption 

1) 

Net in-
vestment 
income 
(caption 

2) 3 

Benefits, 
claims, 
losses, 
and set-
tlement 

ex-
penses 
(caption 

5) 

Amorti-
zation of 
deferred 

policy 
acquisi-

tion 
costs 4 

Other oper-
ating ex-

penses 3 4 

Pre-
miums 

written 2 

Total 5.

1 Segments shown should be the same as those presented in the footnote disclosures called for by generally accepted ac-
counting principles. 

2 Does not apply to life insurance or title insurance. This amount should include premiums from reinsurance assumed, and be 
net of premiums on reinsurance ceded. 

3 State the basis for allocation of net investment income and, where applicable, other operating expenses. 
4 The total of columns I and J should agree with the amount shown for income statement caption 7. 
5 Totals should agree with the indicated balance sheet and income statement caption amounts, where a caption number is 

shown. 

[46 FR 54338, Nov. 2, 1981, as amended at 57 FR 45293, Oct. 1, 1992; 64 FR 1734, Jan. 12, 1999] 

§ 210.12–17 Reinsurance. 
[For insurance companies] 

Column A 

Column B Column C Column D Column E Column F 

Gross amount Ceded to other 
companies 1 

Assumed from 
other compa-

nies 
Net amount 2 

Percentage of 
amount assumed to 

net 3 

Life insurance in force.
Premiums: 

Life insurance.
Accident and health insur-

ance.
Property and liability insur-

ance.
Title insurance.

Total premiums.

1 Indicate in a note any amounts of reinsurance or coinsurance income netted against premiums ceded. 
2 This Column represents the total of column B less column C plus column D. The total premiums in this column should rep-

resent the amount of premium revenue on the income statement. 
3 Calculated as the amount in column D divided by amount in column E. 

[46 FR 54338, Nov. 2, 1981] 
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§ 210.12–18 Supplemental information (for property-casualty insurance under-
writers). 

Affiliation 
with reg-

istrant 

De-
ferred 
policy 
acqui-
sition 
costs 

Re-
serves 
for un-
paid 

claims 
and 

claim 
adjust-
ment 
ex-

penses 

Dis-
count, 
if any, 

de-
ducted 
in col-
umn 
C 4 

Un-
earned 

pre-
miums 

Earned 
pre-

miums 

Net in-
vest-
ment 

income 

Claims and claim 
adjustment ex-

penses incurred 
related to 

Amorti-
zation 
of de-
ferred 
policy 
acqui-
sition 
costs 

Paid claims 
and claim ad-
justment ex-

penses 

Pre-
miums 
written (1) 

Current 
year 

(2) 
Prior 
years 

Column A Col-
umn B 

Col-
umn C 

Col-
umn D 

Col-
umn E 

Col-
umn F 

Col-
umn G 

Col-
umn H 

Col-
umn I 

Column J Col-
umn K 

(a) Consoli-
dated 
property- 
casualty 
entities 2 

(b) Uncon-
solidated 
property- 
casualty 
subsidi-
aries 2 3 

(c) Propor-
tionate 
share of 
registrant 
and its 
subsidi-
aries’ 
50%-or- 
less- 
owned 
property- 
casualty 
equity 
investee-
s 2 3 

1 Information included in audited financial statements, including other schedules, need not be repeated in this schedule. Col-
umns B, C, D, and E are as of the balance sheet dates, columns F, G, H, I, J, and K are for the same periods for which income 
statements are presented in the registrant’s audited consolidated financial statements. 

2 Present combined or consolidated amounts, as appropriate for each category, after intercompany eliminations. 
3 Information is not required here for 50%-or-less-owned equity investees that file similar information with th Commission as 

registrants in their own right, if that fact and the name of the affiliated registrant is stated. If ending reserves in any category (a), 
(b), or (c) above is less than 5% of the total reserves otherwise required to be reported in this schedule, that category may be 
omitted and that fact so noted. If the amount of the reserves attributable to 50%-or-less-owned equity investors that file this infor-
mation as registrants in their own right exceeds 95% of the total category (c) reserves, information for the other 50%-or-less- 
owned equity investees need not be provided. 

4 Disclose in a footnote to this schedule the rate, or range of rates, estimated if necessary, at which the discount was com-
puted for each category. 

[49 FR 47599, Dec. 6, 1984] 

FOR FACE-AMOUNT CERTIFICATE INVESTMENT COMPANIES 

SOURCE: Sections 210.12–21 to 210.12–41 appear at 16 FR 348, Jan. 13, 1951, unless otherwise 
noted. Redesignated at 45 FR 63679, Sept. 25, 1980. 
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Securities and Exchange Commission § 210.12–22 

§ 210.12–21 Investments in securities of unaffiliated issuers. 

Column A—Name of issuer and title of issue 1 

Column B—Bal-
ance held at close 
of period. Number 
of shares—prin-
cipal amount of 

bonds and notes 2 

Column C—Cost 
of each item 3 4 

Column D— 
Value of each 

item at close of 
period 3 5 

1 (a) The required information is to be given as to all securities held as of the close of the period of report. Each issue shall be 
listed separately. 

(b) Indicate by an appropriate symbol those securities which are non-income-producing securities. Evidences of indebtedness 
and preferred shares may be deemed to be income-producing if, on the respective last interest payment date or dates for the 
declaration of dividends prior to the date of the related balance sheet, there was only a partial payment of interest or a declara-
tion of only a partial amount of the dividends payable; in such case, however, each such issue shall be indicated by an appro-
priate symbol referring to a note to the effect that, on the last interest or dividend date, only partial interest was paid or partial 
dividends declared. If, on such respective last interest or dividend date, no interest was paid or no dividends declared, the issue 
shall not be deemed to be income-producing. Common shares shall not be deemed to be income-producing unless, during the 
last year preceding the date of the related balance sheet, there was at least one dividend paid upon such common shares. List 
separately (1) bonds; (2) preferred shares; (3) common shares. Within each of these subdivisions classify according to type of 
business, insofar as practicable: e.g., investment companies, railroads, utilities, banks, insurance companies, or industrials. Give 
totals for each group, subdivision, and class. 

2 Indicate any securities subject to option at the end of the most recent period and state in a note the amount subject to option, 
the option prices, and the dates within which such options may be exercised. 

3 Columns C and D shall be totaled. The totals of columns C and D should agree with the correlative amounts required to be 
shown by the related balance sheet captions. State in a footnote to column C the aggregate cost for Federal income tax pur-
poses. 

4 If any investments have been written down or reserved against by such companies pursuant to § 210.6–21(f), indicate each 
such item by means of an appropriate symbol and explain in a footnote. 

5 Where value is determined on any other basis than closing prices reported on any national securities exchange, explain such 
other basis in a footnote. 

[47 FR 56844, Dec. 21, 1982] 

§ 210.12–22 Investments in and advances to affiliates and income thereon. 

Column A—Name of issuer and title of 
issue or amount of indebtedness 1 

Column B— 
Balance held 

at close of pe-
riod—Number 
of shares— 

principal 
amount of 

bonds, notes 
and other in-
debtedness 2 

Column 
C—Cost of 

each 
item 3 4 

Column 
D— 

Amount at 
which car-

ried at 
close of 
period 4 5 

Column E—Amount of 
dividends or interest 4 6 Column 

F—Amount 
of equity in 
net profit 
and loss 

for the pe-
riod 7 

(1)—Cred-
ited to in-

come 
(2)—Other 

1 (a) The required information is to be given as to all investments in affiliates as of the close of the period. See captions 10, 13 
and 20 of § 210.6–22. List each issue and group separately (1) investments in majority-owned subsidiaries, segregating subsidi-
aries consolidated; (2) other controlled companies; and (3) other affiliates. Give totals for each group. If operations of any con-
trolled companies are different in character from those of the registrant, group such affiliates within divisions (1) and (2) by type 
of activities. 

(b) Changes during the period. If during the period there has been any increase or decrease in the amount of investment in 
any affiliate, state in a footnote (or if there have been changes as to numerous affiliates, in a supplementary schedule) (1) name 
of each issuer and title of issue; (2) balance at beginning of period; (3) gross purchases and additions; (4) gross sales and re-
ductions; (5) balance at close of period as shown in column C. Include in such footnote or schedule comparable information as 
to affiliates in which there was an investment at any time during the period even though there was no investment in such affiliate 
as of the close of such period. 

2 Indicate any securities subject to option at the end of the most recent period and state in a footnote the amount subject to 
option, the option prices, and the dates within which such options may be exercised. 

3 If the cost in column C represents other than cash expenditure, explain. 
4 (a) Columns C, D and E shall be totaled. The totals of columns C and D should agree with correlative amounts required to 

be shown by the related balance sheet captions. State in a footnote the aggregate cost for Federal income tax purposes. 
(b) If any investments have been written down or reserved against by such companies pursuant to § 210.6–21(f), indicate each 

such item by means of an appropriate symbol and explain in a footnote. 
5 State the basis of determining the amounts shown in column D. 
6 Show in column E(1) as to each issue held at close of period, the dividends or interest included in caption 1 of the profit and 

loss or income statement. In addition, show as the final item in column E(1) the aggregate dividends and interest included in the 
profit and loss or income statement in respect of investments in affiliates not held at the close of the period. The total of this col-
umn should agree with the amounts shown under such caption. Include in column E(2) all other dividends and interest. Explain 
briefly in an appropriate footnote the treatment accorded each item. Identify by an appropriate symbol all non-cash dividends and 
explain the circumstances in a footnote. See §§ 210.6–22(b) and 210.6–23(a). 

7 The information required by column F need be furnished only as to controlled companies. The equity in the net profit and 
loss of each person required to be listed separately shall be computed on an individual basis. In addition, there may be sub-
mitted the information required as computed on the basis of the statements of each such person and its subsidiaries 
consolidated. 
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17 CFR Ch. II (4–1–17 Edition) § 210.12–23 

§ 210.12–23 Mortgage loans on real estate and interest earned on mortgages. 1 

Part 1—Mortgage loans on real estate at close of period Part 2—Interest earned 
on mortgages 

Column A—List by classification 
indicated below 2 3 7 

Column 
B—Prior 

liens 2 

Column C— 
Carrying 

amount of 
mort-

gage 8 9 10 11 

Column D—Amount of 
principal unpaid at close 

of period 
Column 

E— 
Amount of 
mortgage 

being fore-
closed 

Column 
F—Interest 

due and 
accrued at 
end of pe-

riod 6 

Column 
G—Inter-

est income 
earned ap-
plicable to 

period 5 
(1)—Total 

(2)—Sub-
ject to de-
linquent in-

terest 4 

Liens on: 
Farms (total).
Residential (total).
Apartments and business (total).
Unimproved (total).

Total 12.

1 All money columns shall be totaled. 
2 If mortgages represent other than first liens, list separately in a schedule in a like manner, indicating briefly the nature of the 

lien. Information need not be furnished as to such liens which are fully insured or wholly guaranteed by an agency of the United 
States Government. 

3 In a separate schedule classify by states in which the mortgaged property is located the total amounts in support of columns 
B, C, D and E. 

4 (a) Interest in arrears for less than 3 months may be disregarded in computing the total amount of principal subject to delin-
quent interest. 

(b) Of the total principal amount, state the amount acquired from controlled and other affiliates. 
5 In order to reconcile the total of column G with the amount shown in the profit and loss or income statement, interest income 

earned applicable to period from mortgages sold or canceled during period should be added to the total of this column. 
6 If the information required by columns F and G is not reasonably available because the obtaining thereof would involve un-

reasonable effort or expense, such information may be omitted if the registrant shall include a statement showing that unreason-
able effort or expense would be involved. In such an event, state in column G for each of the above classes of mortgage loans 
the average gross rate of interest on mortgage loans held at the end of the fiscal period. 

7 Each mortgage loan included in column C in an amount in excess of $500,000 shall be listed separately. Loans from 
$100,000 to $500,000 shall be grouped by $50,000 groups, indicating the number of loans in each group. 

8 In a footnote to this schedule, furnish a reconciliation, in the following form, of the carrying amount of mortgage loans at the 
beginning of the period with the total amount shown in column C: 

Balance at beginning of period ................................................................................................ .................. $.
Additions during period: 

New mortgage loans ................................................................................................. .................. $.
Other (describe).

Deductions during period: 
Collections of principal .............................................................................................. .................. $.
Foreclosures.
Cost of mortgages sold.
Amortization of premium.
Other (describe).

Balance at close of period ....................................................................................................... .................. $.
If additions represent other than cash expenditures, explain. If any of the changes during the period result from transactions, 

directly or indirectly with affiliates, explain the bases of such transactions, and amounts involved. State the aggregate amount of 
mortgages (a) renewed and (b) extended. If the carrying amount of the new mortgages is in excess of the unpaid amount (not in-
cluding interest) of prior mortgages, explain. 

9 If any item of mortgage loans on real estate investments has been written down or reserved against pursuant to § 210.6–21 
describe the item and explain the basis for the write-down or reserve. 

10 State in a footnote to column C the aggregate cost for Federal income tax purposes. 
11 If the total amount shown in column C includes intercompany profits, state the bases of the transactions resulting in such 

profits and, if practicable, state the amounts thereof. 
12 Summarize the aggregate amounts for each column applicable to captions 6(b), 6(c) and 12 of § 210.6–22. 

[16 FR 348, Jan. 13, 1951, as amended at 16 FR 2655, Mar. 24, 1951] 

§ 210.12–24 Real estate owned and rental income. 1 

Part 1—Real estate owned at end of period Part 2—Rental income 

Column A—List classification 
of property as indicated 

below 2 3 

Column B— 
Amount of 

incombrances 

Col-
umn 

C—Ini-
tial 

cost to 
com-
pany 

Col-
umn 
D— 

Cost of 
im-

prove-
ments, 

etc. 

Column 
E— 

Amount 
at which 
carried at 
close of 

pe-
riod 4 5 6 7 

Col-
umn 

F—Re-
serve 
for de-
precia-

tion 

Col-
umn 
G— 

Rents 
due 

and ac-
crued 
at end 
of pe-
riod 

Col-
umn 
H— 
Total 
rental 

income 
appli-
cable 
to pe-
riod 

Col-
umn 

I—Ex-
pended 
for in-
terest, 
taxes, 
repairs 
and ex-
penses 

Col-
umn 

J—Net 
income 
appli-
cable 
to pe-
riod 

Farms.
Residential.
Apartments and business.
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Securities and Exchange Commission § 210.12–26 

Part 1—Real estate owned at end of period Part 2—Rental income 

Column A—List classification 
of property as indicated 

below 2 3 

Column B— 
Amount of 

incombrances 

Col-
umn 

C—Ini-
tial 

cost to 
com-
pany 

Col-
umn 
D— 

Cost of 
im-

prove-
ments, 

etc. 

Column 
E— 

Amount 
at which 
carried at 
close of 

pe-
riod 4 5 6 7 

Col-
umn 

F—Re-
serve 
for de-
precia-

tion 

Col-
umn 
G— 

Rents 
due 

and ac-
crued 
at end 
of pe-
riod 

Col-
umn 
H— 
Total 
rental 

income 
appli-
cable 
to pe-
riod 

Col-
umn 

I—Ex-
pended 
for in-
terest, 
taxes, 
repairs 
and ex-
penses 

Col-
umn 

J—Net 
income 
appli-
cable 
to pe-
riod 

Unimproved.

Total 8.

Rent from properties sold dur-
ing period.

Total.

1 All money columns shall be totaled. 
2 Each item of property included in column E in an amount in excess of $100,000 shall be listed separately. 
3 In a separate schedule classify by states in which the real estate owned is located the total amounts in support of columns E 

and F. 
4 In a footnote to this schedule, furnish a reconciliation, in the following form, of the total amount at which real estate was car-

ried at the beginning of the period with the total amount shown in column E: 

Balance at beginning of period ................................................................................................ .................. $.
Additions during period: 

Acquisitions through foreclosure ............................................................................... $.
Other acquisitions.
Improvements, etc.
Other (describe).

Deductions during period: 
Cost of real estate sold ............................................................................................. $.
Other (describe).

Balance at close of period ....................................................................................................... .................. $.
If additions, except acquisitions through foreclosure, represent other than cash expenditures, explain. If any of the changes 

during the period result from transactions, directly or indirectly, with affiliates, explain and state the amount of any intercompany 
gain or loss. 

5 If any item of real estate investments has been written down or reserved against pursuant to § 210.6–21(f), describe the item 
and explain the basis for the write-down or reserve. 

6 State in a footnote to column E the aggregate cost for Federal income tax purposes. 
7 The amount of all intercompany profits included in the total of column E shall be stated if material. 
8 Summarize the aggregate amounts for each column applicable to captions 7 and 12 of § 210.6–22. 

[16 FR 348, Jan. 13, 1951, as amended at 16 FR 2655, Mar. 24, 1951. Redesignated at 45 FR 63679, 
Sept. 25, 1980] 

§ 210.12–25 Supplementary profit and loss information. 

Column A—Item 1 

Column B— 
Charged to 
investment 
expense 

Column C—Charged to 
other accounts Column D— 

Total (1)—Ac-
count 

(2)— 
Amount 

1. Legal expenses (including those in connection with any matter, 
measure or proceeding before legislative bodies, officers or gov-
ernment departments).

2. Advertising and publicity.
3. Sales promotion 2.
4. Payments directly and indirectly to trade associations and service 

organizations, and contributions to other organizations.

1 Amounts resulting from transactions with affiliates shall be stated separately. 
2 State separately each category of expense representing more than 5 percent of the total expense shown under this item. 

§ 210.12–26 Certificate reserves. 

Column 
A—De-

scription 1 

Column B—Balance at begin-
ning of period 

Column C—Additions Column D—Deductions Column E—Balance at close of 
period 

(1)— 
Number 
of ac-
counts 
with se-
curity 

bidders 

(2)— 
Amount 
of matu-
rity value 

(3)— 
Amount 
of re-

served 2 

(1)— 
Charged 
to profit 
and loss 

or income 

(2)—Re-
serve 
pay-

ments 
by cer-
tificate 
holders 

(3)— 
Charged 
to other 

accounts 
describe 

(1)— 
Matu-
rities 

(2)—Cash 
surenders 

prior to ma-
turity 

(3)— 
Other— 
describe 

(1)— 
Number 
of ac-
counts 
with se-
curity 

holders 

(2)— 
Amount 
of matu-
rity value 

(3)— 
Amount 
of re-

serves 2 

.
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17 CFR Ch. II (4–1–17 Edition) § 210.12–27 

Column 
A—De-

scription 1 

Column B—Balance at begin-
ning of period 

Column C—Additions Column D—Deductions Column E—Balance at close of 
period 

(1)— 
Number 
of ac-
counts 
with se-
curity 

bidders 

(2)— 
Amount 
of matu-
rity value 

(3)— 
Amount 
of re-

served 2 

(1)— 
Charged 
to profit 
and loss 

or income 

(2)—Re-
serve 
pay-

ments 
by cer-
tificate 
holders 

(3)— 
Charged 
to other 

accounts 
describe 

(1)— 
Matu-
rities 

(2)—Cash 
surenders 

prior to ma-
turity 

(3)— 
Other— 
describe 

(1)— 
Number 
of ac-
counts 
with se-
curity 

holders 

(2)— 
Amount 
of matu-
rity value 

(3)— 
Amount 
of re-

serves 2 

.

.

1 (a) Each series of certificates shall be stated separately. The description shall include the yield to maturity on an annual payment basis. 
(b) For certificates of the installment type, information required by columns B, D (2) and (3) and E shall be given by age groupings, according to the 

number of months paid by security holders, grouped to show those upon which 1–12 monthly payments have been made, 13–24 payments, etc. 
2 (a) If the total of the reserves shown in these columns differs from the total of the reserves per the accounts, there should be stated (i) the aggregate 

difference and (ii) the difference on a $1,000 face-amount certificate basis. 
(b) There shall be shown by footnote or by supplemental schedule (i) the amounts periodically credited to each class of security holders’ accounts from 

installment payments and (ii) such other amounts periodically credited to accumulate the maturity amount of the certificate. Such information shall be stat-
ed on a $1,000 face-amount certificate basis for the term of the certificate. 

§ 210.12–27 Qualified assets on deposit. 1 

Column A—Name of depositary 2 Column B— 
Cash 

Column C—In-
vestments in 

securities 

Column D— 
First mort-
gages and 

other first liens 
on real estate 

Column E— 
Other 

Column F— 
Total 3 

1 All money columns shall be totaled. 
2 Classify names of individual depositaries under group headings, such as banks and states. 
3 Total of column F shall agree with note required by caption 11 of § 210.6–22 as to total amount of qualified Assets on 

Deposit. 

FOR CERTAIN REAL ESTATE COMPANIES 

§ 210.12–28 Real estate and accumulated depreciation. 1 
[For Certain Real Estate Companies] 

Column 
A—De-
scrip-
tion 2 

Column 
B—En-
cum-

brances 

Column C—Initial 
cost to company 

Column D—Cost 
capitalized sub-

sequent to acqui-
sition 

Column E—Gross amount 
of which carried at close of 

period 3 4 5 6 7 

Col-
umn 

F—Ac-
cumu-
lated 

depre-
ciation 

Col-
umn 
G— 

Date of 
con-
struc-
tion 

Col-
umn 
H— 
Date 
ac-

quired 

Col-
umn 

I—Life 
on 

which 
depre-
ciation 
in lat-
est in-
come 
state-
ments 
is com-
puted 

Land 

Build-
ings 

and im-
prove-
ments 

Im-
prove-
ments 

Car-
rying 
costs 

Land 

Build-
ings 

and im-
prove-
ments 

Total 

1 All money columns shall be totaled. 
2 The description for each property should include type of property (e.g., unimproved land, shopping center, garden apart-

ments, etc.) and the geographical location. 
3 The required information is to be given as to each individual investment included in column E except that an amount not ex-

ceeding 5 percent of the total of column E may be listed in one amount as ‘‘miscellaneous investments.’’ 
4 In a note to this schedule, furnish a reconciliation, in the following form, of the total amount at which real estate was carried 

at the beginning of each period for which income statements are required, with the total amount shown in column E: 

Balance at beginning of period ................ ................................ $.
Additions during period: 

Acquisitions through foreclosure $.
Other acquisitions.
Improvements, etc.
Other (describe) ........................ ................................ $.

Deductions during period: 
Cost of real estate sold ............. $.
Other (describe).

Balance at close of period ....................... ................................ $.
If additions, except acquisitions through foreclosure, represent other than cash expenditures, explain. If any of the changes 

during the period result from transactions, directly or indirectly with affiliates, explain the bases of such transactions and state the 
amounts involved. 

A similar reconciliation shall be furnished for the accumulated depreciation. 
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Securities and Exchange Commission § 210.12–29 

5 If any item of real estate investments has been written down or reserved against, describe the item and explain the basis for 
the write-down or reserve. 

6 State in a note to column E the aggregate cost for Federal income tax purposes. 
7 The amount of all intercompany profits included in the total of column E shall be stated if material. 

[38 FR 6068, Mar. 6, 1983. Redesignated at 45 FR 63630, Sept. 25, 1980] 

§ 210.12–29 Mortgage loans on real estate. 1 
[For Certain Real Estate Companies] 

Column 
A—De-
scrip-

tion 2 3 4 

Column B— 
Interest rate 

Column C— 
Final maturity 

date 

Column D— 
Periodic pay-
ment terms 5 

Column E— 
Prior liens 

Column F— 
Face amount 
of mortgages 

Column G—Car-
rying amount of 

mortgages 3 6 7 8 9 

Column H— 
Principal 

amount of 
loans subject 
to delinquent 

principal or in-
terest 10 

1 All money columns shall be totaled. 
2 The required information is to be given for each individual mortgage loan which exceeds three percent of the total of column 

G. 
3 If the portfolio includes large numbers of mortgages most of which are less than three percent of column G, the mortgages 

not required to be reported separately should be grouped by classifications that will indicate the dispersion of the portfolio, i.e., 
for a portfolio of mortgages on single family residential housing. The description should also include number of loans by original 
loan amounts (e.g., over $100,000, $50,000–$99,999, $20,000–$49,000, under $20,000) and type loan (e.g., VA, FHA, Conven-
tional). Interest rates and maturity dates may be stated in terms of ranges. Data required by columns D, E and F may be omitted 
for mortgages not required to be reported individually. 

4 Loans should be grouped by categories, e.g., first mortgage, second mortgage, construction loans, etc., and for each loan the 
type of property, e.g., shopping center, high rise apartments, etc., and its geographic location should be stated. 

5 State whether principal and interest is payable at level amount over life to maturity or at varying amounts over life to maturity. 
State amount of balloon payment at maturity, if any. Also state prepayment penalty terms, if any. 

6 In a note to this schedule, furnish a reconciliation, in the following form, of the carrying amount of mortgage loans at the be-
ginning of each period for which income statements are required, with the total amount shown in column G: 

Balance at beginning of period ................................................................................................ .................. $.
Additions during period: 

New mortgage loans ................................................................................................. $.
Other (describe) ......................................................................................................... .................. $.

Deductions during period: 
Collections of principal .............................................................................................. $.
Foreclosures .............................................................................................................. .
Cost of mortgages sold ............................................................................................. .
Amortization of premium ........................................................................................... .
Other (describe).

Balance at close of period ....................................................................................................... .................. $.
If additions represent other than cash expenditures, explain. If any of the changes during the period result from transactions, 

directly or indirectly with affiliates, explain the bases of such transactions, and state the amounts involved. State the aggregate 
mortgages (a) renewed and (b) extended. If the carrying amount of new mortgages is in excess of the unpaid amount of the ex-
tended mortgages, explain. 

7 If any item of mortgage loans on real estate investments has been written down or reserved against, describe the item and 
explain the basis for the write-down or reserve. 

8 State in a note to column G the aggregate cost for Federal income tax purposes. 
9 The amount of all intercompany profits in the total of column G shall be stated, if material. 
10 (a) Interest in arrears for less than 3 months may be disregarded in computing the total amount of principal subject to delin-

quent interest. 
(b) Of the total principal amount, state the amount acquired from controlled and other affiliates. 

[38 FR 6069, Mar. 6, 1973; 38 FR 7323, Mar. 20, 1973. Redesignated at 45 FR 63680, Sept. 25, 1980] 
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